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COUNCILLORS are respectfully requested to attend the Ordinary Meeting of the 
Horsham Rural City Council to be held in the Municipal Chambers, Civic Centre, 
Horsham at 5.30pm on 7 May 2018. 
 

Order of Business 

1. READING OF PRAYER AND THE ACKNOWLEDGEMENT OF COUNTRY STATEMENT ......... 4 

2. WELCOME TO DISTINGUISHED GUESTS OR PERSONS IN THE PUBLIC GALLERY .............. 4 

3. APOLOGIES AND REQUEST FOR LEAVE OF ABSENCE ........................................................ 4 

4. CONFIRMATION OF MINUTES AND SIGNING THEREOF.................................................... 4 

5. DISCLOSURE OF INTEREST AND DECLARATIONS OF CONFLICT OF INTEREST................... 4 

6. PUBLIC QUESTION TIME ................................................................................................... 6 

7. OTHER BUSINESS .............................................................................................................. 7 

7.1 RESUMPTION OF DEBATE ON THE MOTIONS FROM PREVIOUS MEETING ................................................... 7 

7.2 RECEPTION AND READING OF PETITIONS, MEMORIALS, JOINT LETTERS AND DEPUTATIONS ............................ 7 

7.3 MOTIONS OF WHICH PREVIOUS NOTICE HAS BEEN GIVEN ..................................................................... 7 

7.4 COUNCILLORS QUESTIONS WITH NOTICE ............................................................................................. 7 

7.5 ORDERS OF THE DAY ....................................................................................................................... 7 

8. OTHER REPORTS ............................................................................................................... 8 

8.1 ASSEMBLY OF COUNCILLORS – RECORD OF MEETINGS ............................................................................ 8 

8.2 SEALING OF DOCUMENTS .................................................................................................................. 8 

8.3 INWARD CORRESPONDENCE .............................................................................................................. 8 

8.4 COUNCIL COMMITTEE MINUTES......................................................................................................... 9 

8.4.1 Waste Strategy Steering Committee meeting held on Tuesday, 6 March, 2018 at 

4.30pm in the Reception Room. ........................................................................................ 9 

8.4.2 Haven Recreation Reserve Advisory Committee meeting held on Tuesday, 13 March 

2018 at 7.30pm at the Haven Hall, Henty Highway. ........................................................ 9 

8.4.3 Bicycle Advisory Committee meeting held on Wednesday, 28 March 2018 at 5.00pm at 

the Civic Centre. ................................................................................................................ 9 

8.4.4 Horsham Recreation Reserve Advisory Committee meeting held on Tuesday, 4 April 

2018 at 6.00pm at the AFL Wimmera Mallee Offices, 27 Hocking Street, Horsham. ....... 9 

8.4.5 Horsham Aquatic Centre Advisory Committee meeting held on Monday, 9 April, 2018 at 

12pm at the Horsham Aquatic Centre. ............................................................................. 9 

8.4.6 Horsham Tidy Towns Committee meeting held on Tuesday, 17 April 2018 at 12.30pm in 

the Middle Meeting Room, Council Offices. ...................................................................... 9 

8.4.7 Horsham Regional Livestock Exchange Board of Management meeting held on Monday, 

19 April, 2018 at 5.00pm at the Horsham Regional Livestock Exchange, Western 

Highway, Horsham. .......................................................................................................... 9 

8.4.8 Western Highway Action Committee meeting held on Friday, 20 April 2018 at 10.30am 

at the Western Highway Precinct Office, Stawell. ............................................................ 9 

9. COUNCILLORS’ REPORTS ................................................................................................. 10 
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10. OFFICERS REPORTS ......................................................................................................... 11 
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10.2 DIRECTOR OF CORPORATE SERVICES ............................................................................................. 12 

10.2.1 QUARTERLY FINANCIAL REPORT (JANUARY – MARCH 2018) ..................................... 12 

10.2.2 AMENDED COUNCIL PLAN – 2018-2022 .................................................................... 13 

10.2.3 DRAFT BUDGET 2018-19 ............................................................................................ 14 

10.2.4 DRAFT RATES STRATEGY 2018-19 .............................................................................. 19 

10.2.5 REQUEST FOR INCLUSION ON COUNCIL’S STREET NAMING LIST – BURKE AND 

NETTELBECK ............................................................................................................... 21 

10.3 DIRECTOR OF PLANNING AND ECONOMIC ...................................................................................... 24 

10.4 DIRECTOR OF COMMUNITY SERVICES ........................................................................................... 25 

10.4.1 HORSHAM AQUATIC CENTRE FEES AND CHARGES 2018/19 ...................................... 25 

10.4.2 HORSHAM COMMUNITY HOUSE ................................................................................ 26 

10.5 DIRECTOR OF TECHNICAL SERVICES .............................................................................................. 27 
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CLOSE 

 
SUNIL BHALLA 

Chief Executive Officer 
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1. READING OF PRAYER AND THE ACKNOWLEDGEMENT OF 

COUNTRY STATEMENT 

2. WELCOME TO DISTINGUISHED GUESTS OR PERSONS IN THE 

PUBLIC GALLERY 

The public are advised that the Council meeting will be recorded to maintain 

an audio archive. 

3. APOLOGIES AND REQUEST FOR LEAVE OF ABSENCE 

4. CONFIRMATION OF MINUTES AND SIGNING THEREOF 

MINUTES OF AN ORDINARY MEETING OF THE HORSHAM RURAL CITY COUNCIL HELD IN THE MUNICIPAL 

CHAMBERS, CIVIC CENTRE, HORSHAM AT 5.30PM ON 16 April 2018 

5. DISCLOSURE OF INTEREST AND DECLARATIONS OF CONFLICT OF 

INTEREST 

 
A Councillor who has a conflict of interest and is attending the Council meeting must 
make a full disclosure of that interest. 
 
(a) by either – 
 

(i) advising the Council at the meeting of the details required under 
paragraphs (b) and (c) immediately before the matter is considered at 
the meeting; or 

(ii) advising the Chief Executive Officer in writing of the details required 
under paragraphs (b) and (c) before the meeting; and 

 
(b) classifying the type of interest that has given rise to the conflict as either – 
 
 (i) a direct interest under 77B; or 

(ii) an indirect interest and specifying the particular kind of indirect 
interest under: 

 
  Section 78 – close association 
  Section 78A – financial interest 
  Section 78B – conflicting duties 
  Section 78C – receipt of an applicable gift 
  Section 78D – consequence of becoming an interested party 
  Section 78E – impact on residential amenity; and 
 
(c) describing the nature of the interest; and 
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(d) if the Councillor advised the Chief Executive Officer of the details under 
paragraph (a)(ii), the Councillor must make a disclosure of the class of interest 
only to the meeting immediately before the matter is considered at the 
meeting. 

 
Members of Staff 
 
Under Section 80C of the Local Government Act 1989, officers or people engaged 
under contract to the Council providing a report or advice to Council must disclose any 
conflicts of interests in the matter, including the type of interest. 
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6. PUBLIC QUESTION TIME 
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7. OTHER BUSINESS 

7.1 RESUMPTION OF DEBATE ON THE MOTIONS FROM PREVIOUS MEETING 

NIL 

7.2 RECEPTION AND READING OF PETITIONS, MEMORIALS, JOINT LETTERS AND 

DEPUTATIONS 

NIL 

7.3 MOTIONS OF WHICH PREVIOUS NOTICE HAS BEEN GIVEN 

NIL 

7.4 COUNCILLORS QUESTIONS WITH NOTICE 

NIL 

7.5 ORDERS OF THE DAY 

NIL 
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8. OTHER REPORTS 

8.1 ASSEMBLY OF COUNCILLORS – RECORD OF MEETINGS 

Council Briefing Meeting held on Monday 23 April, 2018 at 5.00pm in the Reception 

room. 

Refer to Appendix “8.1A”. 

Recommendation 

That Council note the Assembly of Councillors’ – Record of Meetings. 

8.2 SEALING OF DOCUMENTS 

NIL 

8.3 INWARD CORRESPONDENCE 

NIL 
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8.4 COUNCIL COMMITTEE MINUTES 

 
8.4.1 Waste Strategy Steering Committee meeting held on Tuesday, 6 March, 2018 

at 4.30pm in the Reception Room. 
 
8.4.2 Haven Recreation Reserve Advisory Committee meeting held on Tuesday, 13 

March 2018 at 7.30pm at the Haven Hall, Henty Highway. 
 
8.4.3 Bicycle Advisory Committee meeting held on Wednesday, 28 March 2018 at 

5.00pm at the Civic Centre. 
 
8.4.4 Horsham Recreation Reserve Advisory Committee meeting held on Tuesday, 

4 April 2018 at 6.00pm at the AFL Wimmera Mallee Offices, 27 Hocking 
Street, Horsham. 

 
8.4.5 Horsham Aquatic Centre Advisory Committee meeting held on Monday, 9 

April, 2018 at 12pm at the Horsham Aquatic Centre. 
 
8.4.6 Horsham Tidy Towns Committee meeting held on Tuesday, 17 April 2018 at 

12.30pm in the Middle Meeting Room, Council Offices. 
 
8.4.7 Horsham Regional Livestock Exchange Board of Management meeting held 

on Thursday, 19 April, 2018 at 5.00pm at the Horsham Regional Livestock 
Exchange, Western Highway, Horsham. 

 
8.4.8 Western Highway Action Committee meeting held on Friday, 20 April 2018 at 

10.30am at the Western Highway Precinct Office, Stawell. 
 
 
Refer to Appendix “8.4A”. 
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9. COUNCILLORS’ REPORTS 
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10. OFFICERS REPORTS 

10.1 CHIEF EXECUTIVE 

 
No reports. 
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10.2 DIRECTOR OF CORPORATE SERVICES 

10.2.1 QUARTERLY FINANCIAL REPORT (JANUARY – MARCH 2018) 
G Harrison   File Ref:  F18/A10/000001 

 
Purpose 
 
To present the quarterly financial report for the quarter ended 31 March 2018. 
 
Background 
 
Under Section 138 (1) of the Local Government Act 1989, a quarterly financial 
statement is to be provided to open Council comparing actual to budget for revenue 
and expenditure.  
 
Issues 
 
The attached report has been prepared to provide Council with an overview of 
finances year-to-date and comparisons to budget.  
 
This report has been developed to provide a simple easy to read snapshot of how 
Council is performing against budget. Appendix “10.2A”. 
 
Consultation/Communication 
 
This report together with more extensive analysis and detail is provided to Council 
each month as part of the Finance and Performance Committee agenda and to the 
Audit Committee on a quarterly basis. 

Financial 
 
Staff time to compile and prepare this report is included in the 2017-18 budget. 
 
Links To Council Plans, Strategies, Policies 
 
Goal 4 – Governance and Business excellence 
Four Year priority - 4.4.5 Improve performance reporting and regular management 
reporting across all areas of Council 
 
Recommendation 
 
That Council note the quarterly financial report for the quarter ended 31 March 2018. 
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10.2.2 AMENDED COUNCIL PLAN – 2018-2022   

L Haigh  File Ref:  F19/A11/000001 

 
Purpose 
 
To present the amended draft Council Plan 2018-2022 and the related Strategic 
Resource Plan, and invite community comments and submissions in accordance with 
Section 223 of the Local Government Act 1989 (Appendix “10.2B”). 
 
Background 
 
In December 2017 a Strategic meeting was held with Councillors and Executive 
Management Group to discuss updates to the current Council Plan as a part of the 
annual budget development process.  
 
There were minor amendments completed which has resulted in some changes that 
require Council to call for public submissions under section 125 (9) of the Local 
Government Act 1989.  
 
Issues 
 
The main amendments involved shifting four-year priorities that have been completed 
to the section titled “Achievements” (Page 36), and some minor rewording generally 
throughout the document.  
 
The following new Four Year priorities were added: 
 
Goal 2 – Sustaining the Economy and Environment 

 2.1.07    Support investigations into the community service station at Natimuk 

 2.2.10 Provide input to VicRoads on the redevelopment of the Western 
Highway/Hamilton Road/Golf Course Road intersection 

 
Goal 4 – Governance and Business excellence 

 4.2.03 Respond to emerging risks through the strategic risk register and internal 
audit 

 
Financial 
 
The Council Plan directly informs Council’s budget. 
 
Consultation/Communication 
 
Under the Local Government Act 1989 Section 223 Council must place the amended 
Council Plan available for inspection for a period of at least 28 days after the 
publication of the Public Notice announcing the amendments. All persons have a right 
to make a submission and to be heard in support of their submission, and Council has 
set aside a meeting date of the 6 June 2018 at 5.30pm for that to occur.  
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Submission should be made in writing to the Chief Executive Officer, Mr Sunil Bhalla, 
PO Box 511 Horsham Vic 3400, or via email to council@hrcc.vic.gov.au. Community 
should indicate in their submissions if they or a representative of theirs, wish to be 
heard in person by Council on 6 June 2018. 
 
A Public “drop in” information session is planned in-conjunction with the 2018-19 
Draft Budget and the 2018-19 Draft Rates Strategy. This will be held on Wednesday 23 
May 2018 from 12 to 2pm and 5 to 7pm at the Civic Centre, 18 Roberts Avenue, 
Horsham.  
 
Other planned engagement activities will occur during May 2018, including on-line 
information on council’s website, Flyers at public counters at the Civic Centre Horsham 
and Natimuk Offices, a Councillor Listening Post, static displays at the Civic Centre and 
a social media question and answer session. 
 
Links To Council Plans, Strategies, Policies 
 
Statutory requirements pursuant to section 125 (7) & (8) of The Local Government Act 
1989, “At least once in each financial year, a Council must consider whether the 
current Council Plan requires any adjustment in respect of the remaining period of the 
Council Plan”. 
 
Recommendation 
 
That Council: 
 
1. Note the amended draft Council Plan 2018-2022 and the related Strategic 

Resource Plan. 
2. Invite community comments and submissions until 5pm on the 5 June 2018 in 

accordance with Section 223 of the Local Government Act 1989. 
 
 
 
 
 
10.2.3 DRAFT BUDGET 2018-19 

G Harrison  File Ref: F18/A10/000001 

 
Purpose 
 
To present the 2018-19 Draft Budget and related Strategic Resource Plan to 2021-22 
for Council noting and public exhibition in accordance with the Local Government Act 
1989 Section 129 (3)(b) and (c) for a period of 28 days. 
 
 
 
 
 

mailto:council@hrcc.vic.gov.au
http://www.austlii.edu.au/au/legis/vic/consol_act/lga1989182/s3.html#financial_year
http://www.austlii.edu.au/au/legis/vic/consol_act/lga1989182/s3.html#council
http://www.austlii.edu.au/au/legis/vic/consol_act/lga1989182/s3.html#council
http://www.austlii.edu.au/au/legis/vic/consol_act/lga1989182/s3.html#council
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Background 
 
Council has prepared a Budget for the 2018/19 financial year that sees rate increases 
remain within the state government imposed rate cap of 2.25%, maintains service 
delivery, continues with operational initiatives to become more efficient and effective 
in the way services are delivered, whilst still investing in new and renewal of ageing 
infrastructure. Council did not apply to the Essential Services Commission for a rate 
cap variation for 2018/19. 
 
Council has a range of both internal and external cost pressures to contend with and 
still recognises the need to play an important role as the regional city for the western 
area of the state, with the provision of quality services to more than just our own 
residents.  
 
Issues 
 
In terms of ongoing operations and service delivery, Council has not made cuts to 
service levels within the community and has picked up the full year of operational 
costs for the new Kalkee Road Children’s Hub.  
 
Overall cost increases have been contained and only minor increases to staff resources 
have been factored in. Council has continued to fund $0.49 million of new initiatives 
to drive further efficiencies and improve our effectiveness, and to deliver on some 
one-off projects and strategies.  
 
Council has published its budget using the Institute of Chartered Accountants Model 
Budget. This document seeks to give consideration to longer-term plans as well as the 
current year, develops the budget in the context of the Council Plan, provides 
consistency with our annual financial statements and meets all of the requirements of 
the Planning and Reporting Regulations 2014. 
 
1. Draft Budget Document 

 
The draft budget document is in an easy to read format made up of the following three 
sections: 
 
i. Mayors Introduction and Executive Summary (Pages 3 to 12) 

This provides a very high level “snapshot” view of the budget and is intended to 
be readable by members of the community that do not have any financial 
background. If only this section is read it will give the reader an understanding of 
the key elements and issues within the budget. 

 
ii. Budget Reports (Pages 14 to 63) 

This section includes all statutory disclosures of information and detailed budget 
numbers. It includes: 
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 Explanation of the linkages with the Council Plan 

 Service summaries and indicators for councils 35 service groups and 87 
separate services including comparison’s with last year’s figures 

 Service performance outcome indicators 

 Financial statements, grants, borrowings, capital work and rates information.  

 Notes to further expand on individual lines within the financial statements 

 Financial performance indicators 
 

iii. Appendices (Pages 64 to 103) 
This section provides additional supporting information on community grants, 
operational initiatives, fees and charges and a document highlighting key capital 
works. 

  
Whilst the budget document presents Council’s budget on an accrual basis, the goal is 
to bring to balance the budget on a cash basis. This means considering the operating 
cash revenues and expenditures as well as the capital cash revenues and expenditure.  
 
Council has continued to deliver a budget that is balanced on a cash basis.  
 
2. Budget Highlights 

 
a) Operational initiatives:  

 

 Early Years Plan Review - $15k - Current plan is out of date with current 
practises and needs to reflect the new Children’s Hub operations. 

 Horsham North Urban Design Framework (UDF) Initiatives - $15k - Short term 
actions re the Horsham North UDF, including infrastructure and community 
engagement. 

 Social Infrastructure Framework - $60k - Effectively and efficiently plan for the 
physical, community and human services infrastructure across the 
municipality. 

 CBD Shop Front Enhancement and Shade Incentive - $53k - Funding for 
businesses to improve shop front appearances and verandahs in the CBD – 
funded entirely from Firebrace Street properties reserve. 

 CBD Revitalisation - $1,360k - Significant project that involves both capital and 
operational expenditure, funded from a mix of grants and the CBD reserve. 
Initiative component includes project management, operational costs and 
relocation of powerlines underground. Capital component will include 
footpaths west of Roberts Avenue, Pynsent and McLachlan Streets plus 
laneway activation and an additional public amenities building. 

 Dial Before You Dig Response Software Licence - $20k - Hosted software to 
provide a faster response times and a more efficient process to provide clear 
plans for contractors 

 Apex Island Park Reserve Precinct Planning - $20k -Develop an overall master 
plan for the Apex Island river front area. 

 Road Clearances Tree Clearing/Pruning - $90k - Increased allocation to improve 
accessibility of large farm equipment movements of rural roads. 
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 Sport and Recreation Strategy Review - $40k - Updating of the 2013-18 
Strategy to reflect the changing face of sports and recreation and its impact on 
Health and Wellbeing within the municipality. 

 Sustainability Strategy Review - $40k - Update the 2010 Strategy that reflects 
current understanding, actions and priorities. 

 
b) Capital Works Program: 

 
The capital works program for the 2018/19 year is expected to be $15.05 million. 
There will also be carried forward works uncompleted from 2017/18 but as yet these 
are not finalised or factored in to the budget. The $15.05 million of works is funded 
from, $3.48 million external grants, $0.01 million from general contributions and 
donations, $5.71 million from general revenue, $0.21 million from asset sales and 
$5.64 million from cash reserves.  
 
Council does not plan to take out any new borrowings for 2018-19. 
 
This year Council has again included the Capital Works 2018-19 as a layer on Council’s 
Community Map which can be found at the bottom of Council’s Website homepage. 
This provides more details of planned capital works based on their location and 
includes additional information and photos where applicable.  
 
Additionally Council has included a new appendix to the budget document which 
provides more detailed information of the key highlights from the planned capital 
works for 2018-19.  
 
The highlighted items included in that summary are as follows: 
 
Council Plan Goal 1 – Community and Cultural Development 

 $0.07 million (Renewal works) - Horsham Town Hall Operations - Performing 
Arts, Town Hall - Hall Selective Restumping (Infrastructure Gap Funding) 
 

Council Plan Goal 2 – Sustaining the Economy and Environment 

 $2.49 million (New works) Industrial Estates – Wimmera Intermodal Freight 
terminal - core infrastructure, including roads, drainage & power/water supply 
(Grant Dependent) 

 
Council Plan Goal 3 – Asset Management  

 $1.32 million (Renewal works) Aquatic Centre - Outdoor Pool Refurbishment - 
Pipework, Gutter, Wet-deck Concourse 

 $0.56 million (Renewal works) Footpath renewal works – Pynsent Street/Roberts 
Avenue/Wilson Street Stage 2 Paving (Grant Dependent) 

 $0.16 million (New works) Footpaths - Wimmera River Detailed design of a new 
Pedestrian Footbridge - Hamilton Street 

 $1.46 million (Renewal and upgrade works) Urban Road Reconstruction including 
final seals, road drainage and kerb & channel works 
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 $1.90 million (Renewal and upgrade works) Rural Road Reconstruction including 
final seals 

 $1.36 million (Renewal) Road rehabilitation works 

 $0.30 million (Renewal works) Road Drainage - Urban, Darlot Street Drain 

 $0.20 million (New works) Aerodrome Stormwater Detention and Retention 
System 

 $0.18 million (New works) New Public Conveniences Hamilton Street 

 $0.10 million (Upgrade works) Horsham - Operations Management, Depot 
Relocation Design and  Estimates 

 $0.10 million (New works) Sports and Recreation, Wimmera Indoor Sports 
Stadium 

 $1.71 million for plant and equipment replacements 
 

Council Plan Goal 4 – Governance and Business Excellence 

 $0.40 million (Renewal, New & Upgrade works) Civic Centre Reception 
Alterations to main customer service entrance 

 $0.10 million (New works) CBD Revitalisation Grant CBD extension to Public Wi-Fi 

 $0.08 million (New works) Council chamber amplification and sound system, 
including video conferencing and hearing loop 

 
Council Plan Goal 5 – Natural and Built Environments 

 $1.00 million (Renewal & Upgrade works) Waste Transfer Station Improvements - 
Kenny Road  Transfer station upgrade of facility (Grant Dependent) 

 $0.20 million (New works) Sustainability Projects such as, double glazing, solar 
panels and other energy efficiency projects across council facilities 

 
Consultation/Communication 
 
Under the Local Government Act 1989 Section 129 (3)(b) Council must place the 
budget to be available for inspection for a period of at least 28 days after the 
publication of the Public Notice announcing that a budget has been prepared. All 
persons have a right to make a submission [Section 129 (2)] and a meeting date has 
been set aside on Wednesday 6 June 2018 at 5.30pm for that to occur.  
 
Submission should be made in writing to the Chief Executive Officer, Mr Sunil Bhalla, 
PO Box 511 Horsham Vic 3402, or via email to council@hrcc.vic.gov.au. Community 
should indicate in their submissions if they or a representative of theirs, wish to be 
heard in person by Council on 6 June 2018. 
 
A Public “drop in” information session is planned in-conjunction with the 2018-22 
Council Plan and the 2018-19 Draft Rates Strategy. This will be held on Wednesday 23 
May 2018 from 12 to 2pm and 5 to 7pm at the Civic Centre, 18 Roberts Avenue, 
Horsham.  
 
 
 

mailto:council@hrcc.vic.gov.au


Horsham Rural City Council         Council Meeting 
Presentation of Reports  
Officers Reports        Director of Corporate Services 

Meeting Date: 7 May 2018 Page 19 

 
Other planned engagement activities will occur during May 2018, including on-line 
information on Council’s website, Flyers at public counters at the Civic Centre 
Horsham and Natimuk Offices, static displays at the Civic Centre, a Councillor Listening 
Post, a social media question and answer session, promotion of the capital works 
highlights document and budget flyers through social media. 
 
Links To Council Plans, Strategies, Policies 
 
The budget has been prepared with reference to the Draft 2018-22 Council Plan.  
Preparation of the budget is a statutory requirement. 
 
Recommendation 
 
That Council: 
 
1. Note the Draft Budget 2018-19 attached as Appendix “10.2C” and make it 

available for community comments and submissions until 5pm on the 5 June 2018. 
 

2. Note the Strategic Resource Plan included within the budget documentation for 
the four years to 2021-22.  
 

3. Consider any submissions on the Draft Budget 2018-19 on Wednesday 6 June 2018 
at 5.30pm 
 

4. Propose the rate in the dollar and charges as set out in Section 4.1 of the draft 
budget document attached as Appendix “10.2C”.  

 
 
 
10.2.4 DRAFT RATES STRATEGY 2018-19 

G Harrison  File Ref: F18/A10/000001 

 
Purpose 
 
To present the 2018-19 Draft Rates Strategy for noting and public exhibition. 
 
Background 
 
The Local Government Act 1989 does not require Council to develop a Rating Strategy; 
however, it has been strongly encouraged for Council to implement a Strategy and 
make it available to the public through the budget process. 
 
The State Government in 2016-17 introduced the “Fair Go Rates System” that places 
a cap on rates for all 79 councils across the state. The Rate Cap for 2018-19, was set 
by the Minister at 2.25%. Council did not seek a Rate Cap Variation for this year, 
instead it has still increased Infrastructure Renewal by a tagged 1% of Rates but funded 
it by making savings and efficiencies in operations. 
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Issues 
 
The Rates Strategy balances the need to fund the various Council services available to 
ratepayers with the need to consider equity in the levying of rates and services 
provided. To this end rates are levied based on property capital improved values, with 
consideration of a differential for the farming sector, a flat municipal charge, and user 
charges for garbage services.  
User fees are charged where a service provides a specific benefit to a group or 
particular individuals, as opposed to “public goods”, these being services providing a 
broad benefit to the community. In the case of public goods it is often difficult or 
impractical to exclude non-payers from the benefits or to attribute costs. 
 
Council has again considered each of the policy positions within the Rates Strategy, 
during the 2018-19 budget development process. In doing so it believes that the 
current strategy provides a fair and equitable approach to the distribution of the rate 
burden within the community.  
 
Council considered the level of the farm differential and has proposed to leave the 
differential unchanged at 80% of the general rate.  However, Council also identified 
the need to look more closely at the differential and will undertake a more detailed 
review during the early stages of the planning processes for the 2019-20 budget cycle. 
 
Council continues to fully understand the need to maintain stability in the rate burden 
and that equity principles are always considered. Council is mindful of the impact of 
changes in valuations and what that means for each sector but it is also mindful that 
a differential granted to one sector will impact on all other sectors.  
 
Consultation/Communication 
 
During 2013-14 Council undertook a significant review of its Rates Strategy. It 
considered all aspects of the current rating strategy to ask the question as to whether 
the current policy in place is still appropriate in terms of the key equity and efficiency 
principles. Council also called for submissions from the public and submissions 
received through the process were considered in the drafting of the final strategy.  
 
Under the Local Government Act section 129 (3)b] Council must place the budget to 
be available for inspection for a period of at least 28 days after the publication of the 
Public Notice announcing that a budget has been prepared. In-line with this 
requirement Council also makes the Draft Rates Strategy available for public 
submission. 
 
All persons have a right to make a submission under the Local Government Act 1989 
Section 129 (2) and to be heard by council. A meeting date has been set aside on the 
Wednesday 6 June 2018 at 5.30pm for that to occur.  
 
 
 



Horsham Rural City Council         Council Meeting 
Presentation of Reports  
Officers Reports        Director of Corporate Services 

Meeting Date: 7 May 2018 Page 21 

 
Submission should be made in writing to the Chief Executive Officer, Mr Sunil Bhalla, 
PO Box 511, Horsham 3402, or via email to council@hrcc.vic.gov.au. Community 
members should indicate in their submissions if they or a representative of theirs, wish 
to be heard in person by Council on 6 June 2018. 
 
A Public “drop in” information session is planned in-conjunction with the 2018-22 
Council Plan and the 2018-19 Draft Budget. This will be held on Wednesday 23 May 
2018 from 12 to 2pm and 5 to 7pm at the Civic Centre, 18 Roberts Avenue, Horsham.  
 
Other planned engagement activities will occur during May 2018, including on-line 
information on Council’s website, flyers at public counters at the Civic Centre Horsham 
and Natimuk Offices, static displays at the Civic Centre, a Councillor Listening Post, a 
social media question and answer session, promotion of the capital works highlights 
document and budget flyers through social media. 
 
Links To Council Plans, Strategies, Policies 
 
The Rates Strategy 2018-19 is an integral component of the 2018-19 Draft Budget and 
has been prepared with reference to the Draft Council Plan 2018-2022. 
 
Recommendation 
 
That Council: 
 
1. Note the Draft Rates Strategy 2018-19 attached as Appendix “10.2D” and make 

it available for community comments and submissions until 5pm on 5 June 2018. 
 
2. Consider any submissions on the Draft Rates Strategy 2018-19 on Tuesday 6 June 

2018 at 5.30pm. 
 
 
 
 
10.2.5 REQUEST FOR INCLUSION ON COUNCIL’S STREET NAMING LIST – BURKE AND 

NETTELBECK 
K Bell  File Ref: F27/A15/000001 

 
Purpose 
 
To seek inclusion of the names Burke and Nettelbeck to Council’s Street Naming list.   
 
Background 
 
Burke – Bronwyn Williams has submitted the name Burke for Council’s street name 
list in honour of her parents, Max and Val Burke, who were both lifelong residents of 
Horsham, volunteering for many organisations and clubs. 
 
 

mailto:council@hrcc.vic.gov.au
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Max Burke had a long and successful association with Wimmera football, and in 
particular with the Horsham Football Club.  He was also a member of the Horsham 
Carpet Bowls Association, and volunteered with Wimmera Volunteers and the 
Wimmera Regional Sports Association.  Max was an active member of the Anglican 
Church choir and hosted a radio show on community radio 3HHH for many years. 
 
As well as raising her 11 children, Val spent many hours volunteering in the community 
and helping those less fortunate.    In addition to joining Max in the Anglican Church 
choir and on the 3HHH community radio show, Val was instrumental in the setting up 
the Christian Emergency Food Centre. 
 
Further information on the achievements of Max and Val Burke is attached as 
Appendix “10.2E”. 
 
Nettelbeck – Ian Nettelbeck’s four daughters have requested that the name 
Nettelbeck be added to Council’s street name list in recognition of their father.  Ian 
Nettelbeck was a Wimmera Shire Councillor from 1983 to 1995, including two terms 
as Shire President in 1989 and 1992.  He was on various committees as part of his 
Council role. Of particular note is his involvement with the Wimmera Development 
Association. 
 
Ian moved with his wife Betty and family to “Walmer” in 1972 to carry on his farming 
enterprise.  He joined the Horsham Show Society and was a member for over 30 years.  
He was also a member of Horsham Lions Club for about 35 years, taking on the role of 
president twice and receiving the Melvin Jones Fellow award for dedicated 
humanitarian services in 2007.  Ian volunteered on the Wimmera Machinery Field 
Days committee for many years, including two terms as president.  Ian passed away 
on 8 June 2014.  Further information is attached as Appendix “10.2F”. 
 
The names Burke and Nettelbeck conform to the principles in the Naming rules for 
places in Victoria – Statutory requirements for naming roads, features and localities 
2016. 
 
Issues 
 
Council has approximately 60 names on the street name list and it can be some time 
before a developer may choose to use a particular name from the list. 
 
Financial 
 
This proposal has no financial implications.  
 
Links  to Council Plans, Strategies, Policies 
 
Council’s Street / Road / Places Naming Policy  
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Recommendation 
 
That Council approve inclusion of the names Burke and Nettelbeck to Council’s Street 
Naming list.   
 
 
 
GRAEME HARRISON 
Director Corporate Services 
 
 



Horsham Rural City Council         Council Meeting 
Presentation of Reports  
Officers Reports               Director of Planning and Economic 

Meeting Date: 7 May 2018 Page 24 

10.3 DIRECTOR OF PLANNING AND ECONOMIC  

 
No reports. 
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10.4 DIRECTOR OF COMMUNITY SERVICES 

10.4.1 HORSHAM AQUATIC CENTRE FEES AND CHARGES 2018/19 

K O’Brien  File Ref:  F06/A12/000001 

 
Purpose 
 
To approve the proposed fees and charges for the Horsham Aquatic Centre for the 
2018/19 financial year. 
 
Background 
 
Council entered into a contract with the YMCA in 2012 for management of the 
Horsham Aquatic Centre for a three-year term, with two further options for three 
years, the second of these options was recently granted by Council extending the 
contract until 30 June 2021. 
 
Under the terms of the contract, the YMCA collects and retains all fees and charges 
and as a result these charges are not reported separately through Council’s budget 
process. The YMCA employs all staff at the centre, manages programs and undertakes 
general maintenance with Council contributing an annual subsidy, which in the 
2018/19 financial year is $250,000. Council is responsible for utilities, major 
maintenance and capital requirements. 
 
Council reserves the right to annually approve all fees and admission charges levied 
through the period of the contract up to a maximum based on the Consumer Price 
Index, All Groups Melbourne (CPI). The period used for this calculation is 1 April 2017 
to 31 March 2018. 
 
The YMCA proposes to increase the fees by an average of 2.2%, which is in line with 
the Consumer Price Index, All Groups Melbourne (CPI) for the period 1 April 2017 to 
31 March 2018. 
 
The Fees and Charges have been referred to the Horsham Aquatic Centre Advisory 
Committee where there were no issues of concern. 
 
A copy of the proposed fees and charges is attached as Appendix “10.4A”. 
 
Issues 
 
Fees and Charges have a historical basis, but are also benchmarked with other facilities 
and are monitored through customer feedback in relation to affordability. If the YMCA 
requested an increase in Fees and Charges beyond the CPI figure of 2.2% there would 
need to be a reduction in the lump sum payment from Council. 
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Consultation/Communication 
 
The proposed fees and charges were referred to the Horsham Aquatic Centre Advisory 
Committee for comment. The YMCA will communicate the new fees and charges to 
members once approved by Council. 
 
Financial 
 
There are no financial implications for Council as fees and charges go to the YMCA. 
 
Links To Council Plans, Strategies, Policies 
 

 Council Plan 2017-2021 

 Municipal Public Health and Wellbeing Plan 2017-2021 

 Horsham Aquatic Centre Master Plan 2017  

 Early Years Plan 2014 
 
Recommendation 
 
That Council approve the proposed fees and charges for the Horsham Aquatic Centre 
for the 2018/2019 financial year. 
 
 
 
10.4.2 HORSHAM COMMUNITY HOUSE 

M Bride   File Ref:  99/1/4398A 

 
Recommendation 
 
That Council refer this item to the confidential briefing part of the meeting to consider 
the report from the Director Community Services in accordance with Section 89(2) (d) 
contractual matters of the Local Government Act, 1989. 
 
 
 
KEVIN O’BRIEN 
Director Community Services 
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10.5 DIRECTOR OF TECHNICAL SERVICES 

10.5.1 HAMILTON STREET PEDESTRIAN BRIDGE 
John Martin / Jessica Leslie File Ref:  F02/A01 

 
Purpose 
 
To seek Council endorsement to commence the preliminary planning for a second 
pedestrian bridge across the Wimmera River in Horsham, and to outline the planned 
community consultation which will be used to inform further planning of the bridge. 
 
Background 
 
Council completed construction of the Anzac Centenary Bridge across the Wimmera 
River at Apex Island in 2017. 
 
A second pedestrian bridge, near Hamilton St, has been proposed in various strategic 
documents for some years, including: 
 

 Wimmera Regional Transport Group “Bridges to Recovery Strategy” 2010 

 Horsham Framework for Managing Growth 2013 

 Horsham Integrated Transport Strategy (draft) 2016. 

 
The Council Plan has also made references to bridges across the Wimmera River for 
several years, for example the following was in the 2011 update to the 2009-13 Council 
Plan. 
 

3.1.1 Develop a partnership approach and plan for infrastructure development 
utilising developer contributions including Wimmera River Bridges. 

 
A second pedestrian bridge at Hamilton will provide:  
 

 A pedestrian, cyclist and mobility vehicle crossing at the eastern end of 

Horsham from residential developments on the south side of the river to 

connect to: 

o the CBD,  

o sporting facilities, 

o the Showgrounds reserve and  

o several schools. 

 A second walking / running loop along the eastern extent of the Wimmera 

River to encourage recreation and increase social interaction 

 Increased pedestrian and cyclist connectivity between the north and south 

sides of the Wimmera River, increasing the overall liveliness of the town 

 
The indicative location of the proposed bridge is shown in the plan below, along with 
some key features in the area near the proposed site. 
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Issues 
 

 Bridge Type 

 
Preliminary planning of the bridge has been for a two-span concrete beam bridge, with 
a central pier in the Wimmera River. The two spans are intended to be approximately 
40 m long and slightly arched in shape. The height of the bridge will be designed to 
allow 600 mm clearance above the 1-in-100 year flood level.  
 
This height requirement leads to the associated approach ramps needing to be of 
significant length, perhaps 30 m. 
 
The clearance of the bridge above normal weir pool levels is estimated to be about 
three metres, which should enable most regular water activities to be conducted. 
 
Consultation is proposed to be undertaken about the types of uses that might develop 
in the river to review the adequacy of this design concept in terms of height clearance 
and whether there is a need for a clear span bridge, such as the Anzac Centenary 
Bridge. 
 

 Location 

 
Three locations have been considered for the proposed bridge.  
 
Hamilton Street. Suitable areas of land exist on both sides of the river in this vicinity. 
A short walking track on the east side of the river will provide a connection to the 
Waterlink Estate and other developments on the east / south side of the river, 
including via the existing bridge across Burnt Creek. Negotiations will be required in 
relation to access to some private land on the west side of the river. 
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McBryde Street. About 180 m south of Hamilton Street, this site has problems with 
the area available for approach ramps on both sides of the river. On the east side there 
are some wetlands associated with stormwater management in the new residential 
development. On the west side, there are residential lots either side of the narrow 
road reserve. This site is not considered suitable. 
 
Baillie Street (east). Several sites in the vicinity of Baillie Street, through to near 
Rennison Street were considered. The extent of land liable to flooding on the east side 
of the River precludes residential development in this area, hence the key user 
demand for a bridge would be further to the south. A bridge in this vicinity would 
significantly increase the distance for access to the CBD and other facilities for the 
main residential areas on the east/south side of the Wimmera River, e.g. near the 
Waterlink Estate (compared to a Hamilton Street site).  
 
While Hamilton Street has been identified as the preferred location in the preliminary 
planning, for the reasons indicated. Community views will be sought to ascertain the 
optimum location. 
 

 Cultural Heritage Management Plan 

 
The area around the Wimmera River is a culturally sensitive area. Work is well 
advanced on preparation of a Cultural Heritage Management Plan (CHMP) to identify 
the presence of any culturally significant qualities or values, and how any works on the 
site should be managed to protect these. 
 

 Geotechnical Investigation 

 
Investigating the soil profile below a structure is a standard aspect of planning 
buildings and bridges, requiring drilling of the sub-soil to a depth of perhaps 5-20 m 
depending on the nature of the project. 
 
As the structure proposed for this bridge incorporates a central pier in the Wimmera 
River, drilling will also be required mid-river to understand the geology below the 
river. This will involve a barge or similar vessel fitted with a drilling rig conducting this 
work mid-river. This work is scheduled to proceed subject to approval for continued 
planning on this project. 
 
Consultation/Communication 
 
Following consideration of this report by Council, it is proposed to seek community 
and stakeholder feedback about the following elements: 
 

 The bridge location, noting the identification of the indicative site as 

discussed earlier in this report. 

 Current and future usage of the river in the vicinity of the bridge, to ascertain 

user requirements regarding vertical clearance and whether a clear span is 

required. 
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Financial 
 
The estimated construction cost of the proposed bridge is around $900,000. The type 
of construction proposed, incorporating a central pier, facilitates a reduced cost 
compared to the Anzac Centenary Bridge. Funding sources for the bridge will be 
explored during 2018-19, to inform preparation of a budget proposal in a subsequent 
Council budget. 
 
The 2017-18 budget included $50,000 to enable the preliminary planning to 
commence. 
 
The 2018-19 draft Council budget includes an allocation of $160,000 to advance the 
planning for the bridge, including geotechnical investigations, engineering design, 
tender document preparation and community engagement. 
 
An essential element of this work will be preparation of a business case report, which 
will be needed to advocate the merit of the project to Governments and other 
stakeholders who might potentially co-fund the works. 
 
Links To Council Plans, Strategies, Policies 
 
Several links to Council plans and strategies are referenced earlier in the report. 
 
The current Council Plan indicates the following priority: 
 
3.1.01  Develop improved pedestrian access (bridges) across the Wimmera River in 

Horsham, in partnership with land developers 
 
Recommendation 
 
That Council endorse the commencement of detailed planning for a pedestrian bridge 
over the Wimmera River in the vicinity of Hamilton Street, including public 
consultation and engineering design to inform the development of final plans for 
construction of the bridge. 
 
 
 
JOHN MARTIN 
Director Technical Services 
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11. URGENT BUSINESS 

NIL 
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APPENDICES 



ASSEMBLY OF COUNCILLORS REGISTER 
 

Horsham Rural City Council 
Councillor Briefing Meeting 

Monday 23 April, 2018 at 5.00pm 
Held in the Reception Room 

 
 
1.  Present 
 
Cr David Grimble,  Cr Mark  Radford,  Cr  Josh  Koenig,  Cr  Les  Power,  Cr  Alethea  Sedgman,  
Cr  John Robinson,  Sunil Bhalla, Chief  Executive,  John Martin, Director  Technical  Services; 
Kevin O’Brien, Director Community Services; Angela Murphy, Director Planning & Economic 
Martin Bride, Community  Facilitator  (until  5.20pm); Anne Donovan, Manager Community 
Development  (until 5.20pm);  Lauren Coman, Manager Regulatory Services  (until 5.45pm), 
Terry  Baker, Municipal  Building  Surveyor  (until  5.45pm); Marc  Sleeman,  CEO, Grampians 
Tourism (item 6 only). 
 
2.  Apologies 
 
Cr Pam Clarke, Mayor and Graeme Harrison, Director Corporate Services 
 
3.  Disclosure of Conflict of Interest  
 
Nil 
 
4.  Discussed the following – 

 Horsham Community House. 

Martin Bride & Anne Donovan attended 
 

 Farm Shed Policy 
 
Lauren Coman & Terry Baker attended 

 Horsham Regional Livestock Exchange Master Plan 
 

 Horsham Bypass 
 
5.  Provided for information 
 

 Sports Marketing Program 
 

 Street Names 
 
6.  Grampians Tourism 
 

Marc  Sleeman,  CEO,  Grampians  Tourism  provided  a  powerpoint  presentation  to 
Council. 

 
7.  Meeting closed at 7.30pm 
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Waste Strategy Steering Committee 
Meeting 5 
MINUTES 

__________________________________________________________ 
Held 6 March 2018 at 

Council Offices – Roberts Ave 
Reception Room 
4:30 – 6:00 p.m.  

 
1. Welcome           – Cr David Grimble, Chairman  

John Martin, Heather Phillips, Steven Schultz, Rhonda Coffey, Kelvin Howe, 
La Vergne Lehmann, David Bowe, Wendy Lynch, Jared Hammond 
 

2. Apologies 
Mick Morris, David Pratt, Daryl Hobbs 
 

3. Previous meeting 
a. Minutes of previous meetings 

Moved: Rhonda Coffey, Seconded: Wendy Lynch that the minutes 
of  the  previous  meeting  of  6  February  2018  were  a  true  and 
accurate record of that meeting.  
 

b. Action items 
Nil 
 

4. Recycling Current Issues – Update 

 This is an on going saga. The State Government has announced a $13 
million package – unclear on how it is being apportioned to Councils. 
Will be around $50,000 extra cost to this Council to 30 June. Vibes are 
that only 50% of this cost will be reimbursed.  

 The  reason  it  has  taken  so  long  to  come  out  is  that  they  need  to 
understand the complexities of all  the different councils. All Councils 
have slightly different arrangements in place.  

 This has to create new opportunities for entrepreneurs.  

 Could possibly look at green waste on worm farms 

 Sydney put in an eddy current system to separate aluminum   
 

5. Options Paper 
What  are  the  options  that make  sense  that we want  to  provide  to  the 
public? 

a. Urban Options 

 Missing an option to just having a hard waste pick up service 

 Spring could be an issue for green waste pick up 

 Need to look at the end result and work backwards from there 

 Issue with elderly putting big 240 L bin out with lawn clippings 

 Optional green waste or compulsory?  

 Will it be just green waste or organics? 
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 What will be doing with the product? Need to let people know 
about this.  

 Not  clear  on  things  that  can  be  reused  are  free  at  transfer 
station 

 Need  to have more  information  in public about  the  ‘shop’ at 
transfer station  

 Where  do  batteries  go?  Is  there  a  drop  off  point  at  transfer 
station  

 Could put information out in public notices in paper each week 

 Need  to  determine  the  best  way  to  communicate  things  to 
people 

 Add in chemical drop off service and e‐waste to promote these 
 

b. Rural Options 

 Consider transfer station upgrade?  

 Green waste drop off to be available 

 Have 120 L or 240 L bin available 

 Golden Plains dealt with special circumstances on a one by one 
basis. This was the most significant issue they came across for 
fortnightly waste services.  

 
 

c. Combined packages 

 Fortnightly waste services is what will be biggest cost reducer. 

 Has there been requests for extension of rural waste collection. 
Some people might not know that they can ask for extension to 
their road or close too.  

 Looking at solutions for end product of green waste.  

 Looking for product for worm farm – Steven to provide contact 
details to John 

 
6. General Business 

a. Items Committee members wish to raise 

 Options  for green waste – need  to ensure  that people aren’t 
opting out just because. How would it work for units? 

 When will it go to Council? Will committee meet again before it 
goes?  

o Will be around the same time.  
 

7. Next Steps 

 Develop packages into public‐friendly form 

 Present to Council as a draft 

 Engagement Process 
 

Next meeting – TBD – mid May 
 
John Martin 
Director Technical Services 
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MINUTES 
Haven Recreation Reserve Advisory Committee Meeting 

Held on Tuesday, 13 March 2018 at 7.30pm 
Haven Hall – Henty Highway  

 
 

Present:  Rod Fulton     Haven Tennis Club 
Hailey Yorke    Dog Obedience 

    Graeme Lewis    Community Representative     
    Jodie Kemp    Community Representative 

Sue Exell     Community Representative 
Mandy Kirsopp  Horsham Rural City Council 
Cr Mark Radford   Horsham Rural City Council, Chairperson 
   

Apologies:  Nil 
   

1. Welcome 
 
2. Disclosure of Conflict of Interest  

None declared 
 
3. Confirmation of Previous Minutes 

That the minutes of the meeting 17 October 2017 were a true and accurate record of 
that meeting.    
Moved:  Jodie Kemp         Seconded:  Sue Exell            CARRIED 
 

4. Administration 
4.1 Rhonda McNeil has resigned and is now working in DELWP, in the Crown lands 

section of the organisation 
 
5. Planning of Precinct 

 
5.1 Signage showing current users 
It has been requested that signs be developed identifying current users of the facility 
with relevant contact details. The information would help promote membership of the 
various clubs at the facility. Requested that signs be located in two places at the reserve 
– places to be confirmed. 

 
Action 

 Mandy Kirsopp to investigate the development and location of the signs 
 

5.2 Projects Listing 
It was noted that many of the tasks/projects have been completed 
The Chair led a discussion re possible projects associated with the Reserve.  
Key areas of discussion included: 

 Spiders in the building 

 The floor in the main hall requires sanding and nails replaced 
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 There is an occasional leak in the main hall 

 Testing and tagging of equipment is required 

 Pedestrian gate access for the Dog Obedience Club (Question: Does the Club have a 
master key?) 

 Fence between the reserve and Heather Dumesny’s residential property 

 A power upgrade required for the hall – subject to grant funding 
 
Actions 

 The projects summary sheet to be updated 

 Brett Ellis, Coordinator, Building Maintenance be invited to attend the next 
meeting 

 
6 Facility Signage 

Facility signage layout has been sent to local company to provide quotation/proof 
Facility signage layout and content was discussed and confirmed 
 
Action 

 Signs to be finalised and installed in locations  as previously discussed 
 
7 Improvement of safety 

 
7.1 Traffic Management Plan 
Discussion occurred re traffic flow into and out of the Haven PS access road. The 
situation is being monitored by relevant staff responsible for road maintenance and 
design. 

 
8 Opportunities to maximise usage 

 
8.1 Tennis Club 
Keen to obtain an administration cabin. Discussion identified that the purpose of the 
cabin would extend to provision of minimal catering. This would change the 
requirements to be considered before approval of the cabin was obtained. 
 
Queried: What is the keying system between the hall and the courts? Is it the same key? 
 
Action 

 Brett Ellis to explain keying system at the next meeting 
 
8.2 Dog Obedience Club 
Require a personal access gate to their area of the reserve. 
 
Action 

 Meeting to be arranged between Hailey Yorke and Grant Preece, HRCC 
 
8.3 Community Issue 
Graeme Lewis reported that a recent call to the After Hours number to contact the 
Ranger was not a simple process. The telephone tree approach did not allow Graeme to 
lodge his concern with the Ranger. 
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Action 

 Mandy Kirsopp to obtain information re the After Hours’ service and provide a 
summary at the next meeting. 

 
9 Next Meeting 

The next meeting is scheduled to occur Tuesday, 26 June 2018 at 7.30pm at the Haven 
Hall, Henty Highway Haven. 
Cr Radford identified that he could not attend the meeting on 12th or 19th of June (as 
scheduled) and requested that it be held 26th June. This request has been 
accommodated. 

 
10 Meeting Close 

The meeting closed at 9.15pm 
 
 

Cr Mark Radford 
Chairperson 
Haven Recreation Reserve Advisory Committee 
Click here to enter a date. 
Signature:  _____________________ 
 
Date:    _____/_____/20_____ 
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MINUTES 
Bicycle Advisory Committee 

Wednesday 28 March 2018 at 5.00 pm 
Civic Centre, Roberts Ave, Horsham 

 

Present:  Grant Hollaway    Cycling Community (Chair) 
  Gillian Vanderwaal    Cycling Community  

Janine Harfield    Health Sector  
Rudy Panozzo      Cycling Community 
Alan Bedggood    Cycling Community (later) 
Gary Aitken      Wimmera River Improvement Committee (later) 

 
Ex Officio:  Martin Duke      Manager, Infrastructure 
 
Apologies:  Mandy Kirsopp    Project Officer, Sustainability and Recreation 

Cr Alethea Gulvin    Councillor 
 

1. Welcome  
The Chair welcomed all present to the meeting, and noted that Alan and Gary expect to be late. 

 
2.    Disclosure of Conflict of Interest  

None identified. 
 
3. Confirmation of Previous Minutes  

Moved: Janine Harfield    Seconded: Gillian Vanderwaal      
That the Minutes of the meeting 14 February 2018 were an accurate record of the meeting.  
                CARRIED 

 
4. Guest Speaker 

Previously agreed that the presentation be delayed for a later meeting. 
 

5. Actions arising from previous meeting 
Agreed that Martin is to create a separate Action Table. See the table attached  
 
5.1 – Intersection of O’Callaghans Parade and Western Highway, Horsham 

Grant outlined how VicRoads had been seemingly dismissive of cyclists needs at one of his 
meetings.  Then after he pointed out the new strategic direction outlined in the recent 
Government publications, they have subsequently revised the plans to be more family and 
commuter cyclist friendly. Grant shared the latest plan. The amended plans provided 
options for bikes to exit the highway at multiple locations prior to the intersection and re‐
enter after the intersection. This options provided physical separation between traffic and 
bikes. Alan raised concern of no escape path for training cyclists in pinch points in the 
vehicle paths of the amended roundabout. 
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Action – Grant to notify VicRoads of this latter concern. 
 
 

6. Strategic Planning 
Janine led the conversation re: the draft Implementation Plan, previously circulated 
 
Map of routes and their needs 
Select the activity/destination nodes/most significant places. 
Agree on the routes to connect these 
Use an agreed checklist to assess and record the routes and their priority items. 
Have priority measures to distinguish between the routes and their needs, such as  

 Number of users 

 Connection to other routes 

 Safety 

 Existing assets 

 Alignment with other assets, routes, points of interest 

 Cycle path hierarchy. Need to create this so the maintenance of the paths can be 
prioritised and it can inform the capital works prioritising. 

 
Review selected routes and identify the gaps 
 
Then advise Council (Martin Duke) the priority of needs. This may need to be in the different 
categories of  

Low cost – easy to address ‐ $5,000 
Medium cost ‐ future Council budget bids ‐ $100,000 
High cost ‐ into long term Council planning‐ $1 million   

 
Action – Have maps available for the next Committee meeting to progress this 
 
Third criteria in the BAC Strategic Plan  
Promotion and education needs to be integrated throughout the planning, production 
phases and produced documents. 
 
Facilities 
Create an audit of Bike racks – location, type, shelter, identify gaps 
Trees and canopy cover for pleasantness of the routes  
 

7. Correspondence 
Kara Gough – keen for connection of Mackies Rd to Old Hamilton Rd, Haven. No action at 

this stage 

Annie Charlton – Tredwell management ‐ working for the West Wimmera Shire Council on their 

Recreational Trails Strategy. Response – await further interaction from West Wimmera Shire 

Martin Duke ‐ Victorian Cycling Strategy ‐ copy previously shared with committee 

members. Discussion held that it is great to see that the Committee planning is in line with 

the States strategy. 
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8. General Business 
School issues  
Janine is starting to have good interaction with some of the teachers and communicate how 
the Bicycle Advisory Committee is advancing. 
 
An area of concern is the roundabout at the intersection of Menadue St, Trinity Drive and 
Baillie Street. Janine has filmed on site and wants to help highlight the issues. May need 
separate carpark and walk routes to the school 
 
Track on south side of Wimmera River (east of weir) – Martin outlined how the Cultural 
Heritage issues are being worked though. A new fence line had been pegged, but the 
Cultural Heritage Management Plan will take more time. Members expressed concern with 
the time it has taken to get the track completed. 
 
Motorbikes on paths 
General discussion about problems caused on the Yanga track and other locations across 
the state by motorbikes– on bicycle and walking paths. No ready solution apart from trying 
to have police enforcement. 
 
Riverside paths – alerting pedestrians– lack of consideration between cyclists and walkers. 
Cyclist not ringing their bell. This needs to be promoted positively. 

 
9. Next meeting 

 
The committee felt that a meeting in 2 months’ time (June) was too long away for all the 
strategic planning that needs to occur and to keep the momentum. 
 
Action – Martin to book an interim meeting – agreed the first Wednesday in May, same 
time, same place. 
 

Overall ‐ A positive feeling that shortly the Committee will be in a good position to engage with 
the community and advise the Council. 

 
10. Meeting Close   

        The meeting closed at 6.35 pm 
 
 
 
 
Chairperson  
Grant Hollaway ______________________________________   Date __________________ 
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MINUTES 
Horsham Recreation Reserve Advisory Committee 

Tuesday 4 April 2018 at 6.00pm 
AFL Wimmera Mallee Offices, 27 Hocking Street Horsham  

 
 

Present:  Rod Dumesny    Horsham Football Netball Club 
    Steve McQueen  Wimmera League Football and Netball Association 

Mandy Kirsopp  Horsham Rural City Council 
    Rhonda McNeil  Horsham Rural City Council 

Rod Garth    Community Representative 
Alethea Gulvin   Councillor 
Tony Wills    Horsham Cricket Association 

 
Apologies:  Jason Merlo    Horsham Football Netball Club  

Chris Johnson    Horsham City Brass Band 
Simon Lynch    Horsham Pipe Band 
Bruce Hartigan  Community Representative 
John Martin    Horsham Rural City Council 
 

The earlier time of the meeting was discussed. It was recommended that the time be moved 
to 6pm for future meetings.  
Agreed that this be trialled and that the next meeting will be at 6pm. 
 

1. Welcome 
 

2. Disclosure of Conflict of Interest 
No disclosures made 
 

3. Minutes of the previous meeting  
NOTES only ‐ Wednesday 8 November 2017 
 
Motion 
That the notes of the meeting 8 November 2017 be received as a true and accurate 
record of the meeting. 
 
Moved:  Rod Dumesny     Seconded:   Alethea Gulvin       CARRIED 

 
4. Administration 

4.1 Election of Chairperson 
 
Motion 
That Rod Dumesny be elected as the Chairperson of the committee. 
 
Moved:  Tony Wills      Seconded:   Steve McQueen       CARRIED 
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5. Planning of Precinct 

5.1  Precinct planning 
Council will be engaging a consultant to undertake planning that links the City Oval 
with the Wimmera River. Discussion occurred re possible improvements to the 
precinct. Suggestions included possible closure of Hocking St and the relocation of 
the southern boundary fence. The committee is keen to participate in the review 
process. Some members expressed disappointment that previous precinct planning 
does not seem to have been implemented. This review will involve more than simply 
a review of the operation of the oval and will be extended to consideration of the 
land use near Sawyer Park and the river frontage. 
 
5.2  Electronic scoreboard 
The engineering report has been completed through the Building Department, which 
advised that an engineer has visited the site, awaiting an integrity test by the 
engineering firm then a structural engineer will advise on assessment. 
 
The electronic scoreboard being investigated will be full sized and will include 
advertising, similar to the scoreboards at Quantong and Coughlin Park. 
 
5.3  Facility signage 
The facility signage proof was tabled at the meeting. The Horsham Demons web 
address was confirmed and the signs (x 5) will be installed around the perimeter of 
City Oval. 
 
5.4  Advertising policy 
No progress. Danielle Fowler and Brooke Walsh, (Horsham Demons) will meet to 
discuss the way advertising could occur and the distribution of advertising funds. 
Funds go to both Horsham Demons and to HRCC. 
 
It was explained that advertising money goes into a ‘lighting fund’ and that as lights 
are replaced, ‘cocky spikes’ are added to poles to deter bird attack.  
 

6. Safety improvements 
6.1 Disabled car parking 
Discussion re: concerns with having parking inside the grounds. For the District 
League Grand Final there is no general parking inside the ground. Between 30‐40 
cars are allowed inside the ground.  Parking is organised via an honour system and is 
pre‐booked. 
 
For the Wimmera League Grand Final no disabled parking is provided on the ground. 
 
Discussion ensued regarding the risks associated with parking inside the ground and 
the risks of cars rolling forward. It was suggested that eventually parking inside the 
ground be banned and that alternative viewing options be provided for people who 
need additional support. 
 
It was also suggested that the raised viewing boundary on the south side of the oval 
be levelled and that this area be used for special access parking. 
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6.2  Change room carpets 
The carpets in the change rooms (home and visitors) are shredded and need 
replacement. Requested that the carpets be replaced. Until funding becomes 
available it has been recommended that the carpets be taken up. The carpet is on a 
concrete floor.  
 
Agreed that Mandy Kirsopp and Steve McQueen would meet on site to inspect the 
state. 
 
6.3  Netball line marking 
Identified that the netball lines need to be re‐marked. The circle and back square on 
the warm up court need re‐marking. Suggested a member of the committee lodge a 
Request for Service via the webpage. Members were shown the Request option and 
explained how the program works. 

 
7. Opportunities to maximise usage 

None identified – the precinct planning will assist with this. 
 

8. Next Meeting 
Next Meeting will be held at the AFL Wimmera Mallee Office 6pm Wednesday 4 July 
2018. 

 
9. Meeting Close  

The meeting was closed at 6.15pm 
 
 
Rod Dumesny 
Chairperson 
Horsham Recreation Reserve Committee of Management 
4 April 2018 
 
 
Signed:________________ 

 
Dated:   _____/_____/2018 
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MINUTES 
HORSHAM AQUATIC CENTRE ADVISORY COMMITTEE 

held on Monday 9 April 2018 at 12.00pm 
at Horsham Aquatic Centre 

 

 

Attendees:  Roger Armstrong  Community Representative 
Chris Flood  Horsham Rural City Council 
Dick Gill  Community Representative 
Mandy Kirsopp  Horsham Rural City Council 
Craig Mathieson  YMCA 
Kathy Newton  Horsham Rural City Council (minute taker) 
Kevin O’Brien  Horsham Rural City Council (from 12.50pm) 
Cr Les Power  Horsham Rural City Council 
Faye Smith  Community Representative 
Tammy Vanduren  YMCA 
Peter Walsgott  Swimming Club Representative (until  1.20pm) 
Sam Winter  Horsham Aquatic Centre Manager 

 
Apologies:  Scott Bryant  YMCA 

Brett Ellis  Horsham Rural City Council 
 
1. Welcome 

 

Cr Power welcomed all to the meeting. Sam introduced Craig Mathieson from Ballarat YMCA who 
will be stepping into Area Manager role. Sam will be going on maternity leave soon and Craig will 
cover her role. 

 
2. Disclosure of Conflict of Interest – Nil 

 

3. Minutes of the previous meeting 
 

Moved Peter Walsgott, seconded Dick Gill that the minutes of the meeting of the Horsham Aquatic 
Centre Advisory Committee held on 12 February 2018 as previously distributed and circulated with 
the agenda be confirmed and adopted.                                                                                        CARRIED 

 
4. Business Arising from Previous Minutes ‐ Nil 

 

5. Correspondence – Nil 
 

Noted in item 4.1 above. 

 
6. Reports 

 

Order of reports changed (this meeting only) 

 
a) Centre Manager (Sam Winter) 

 
Tammy  assisted  Sam  with  her  report.  Powerpoint  presented  on  screen  with  printout 
distributed as well as several other handouts including cleanliness checklist.  See appendix 
for report. 
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b) Building and Maintenance (Chris Flood) 
 

Chris discussed: 

 Indoor pool vac – has some issues, being taken to be serviced this week. 

 Corridor painting – has started. After replacement of gym floor will paint walls in gym 

as well. 

 Vinyl  floors  –  contractor  to  price  replacement  (mens  and womens  change  rooms, 

possibly include walk‐through area). 

 Padding in gym – per feedback received, needs work done (Mittons to complete). 

 Outdoor clock – we’ve been trying to have problem rectified – will now pull clock down 

and send back for possible alternative clock. 

 Toilets – to check issue with toilet flushing systems. 

 Make up valve, indoor pool – issue  being looked at. 

 Tilt doors – Chris thinks maintenance all done now. 

 Hypo bund – finished and all equipment returned. 

 Gym floor – completed (Sam passed on it looks amazing, all agreed). 

 Sound system – Brett advised new system on warranty, all sorted. Per Mark’s request, 

have received quote for second sound system for indoor pool (will pass on to Sam) – 

this is extensive (re waterproof etc). 

 Tiles  in  indoor  pool  and  expansion  joints  –  diver  from Melbourne  Pool  and  Solar 

repaired (still working on expansion joints). 

 Change rooms – hooks etc to be repaired in change rooms. 

 Exit signs – to do. 

 Noticeboards – pulled down, new blackboards to go up in gym after painting. 
 
c) Swimming Club (Peter Walsgott) 

 
Peter advised the Swimming Club is currently in recess, training will resume on 7 May. They 
had a very successful season with some new coaches coming on board, there’s a fantastic 
culture at the club and everyone is engaged. Had some children participate in the  country 
championships at Shepparton, and others achieving good personal bests. Have applied for 
community grant with Council for shade structures, spoke to Kevin about this (build shade 
structures on The Capital Motel side of the plant room – lawn area). Discussed fitting in 
with masterplan;  Kevin and Peter had agreed  shade  structures would help  in  the  short 
term, Swimming Club will contribute $5k. Council’s grants officer felt that would be enough 
to  if we got the grant. Would be 9 x 14 metres of shade, making the outdoor pool area 
much nicer on a hot summer’s day. All things positive with pool revamp. Peter has had 
discussions  with  School  Sports  Victoria  –  keen  to  access  our  pool  if  all  good with  the 
revamp.  Sam  mentioned  conversation  started  with  local  representative,  Mark 
benchmarking prices, hoping will come in under Ballarat prices; the representative is keen 
to have  conversation with  Council  and  the Aquatic  Centre.  Sam  said we  currently hold 
junior Black Ranges meet here. 

d) Contract Manager (Kevin O’Brien) 

Kevin discussed: 

 YMCA  Contract  Extension  –  awarded  three  years  at  3  April  2018  Council meeting 
(through to 2021). Business as usual per service provision. Inclusion of 24/7 gym, aim 
to have fitted out by July. YMCA will pay approximately $68k for the changes required. 
Keen to retain membership and grow it. Community wanted more flexibility in hours 
of provision and better value for membership. Extensive process to go through this. 
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Council has increased contract payment to 250k for 2018/19 financial year. YMCA put 
forward comprehensive submission. 

 
 Outdoor Pool Hours Extension (2018/19 pool season) – Diana Cook led a petition for 

an increase in outdoor pool hours. Council agreed to extension, about $8.5k additional 
funding. On a trial basis, will be triggered by temperature 24oC and above. Will monitor 
outdoor pool use over that time. Roger mentioned that people need to be given cost 
per head using outdoor pool and indoor pool. We need to separate data from indoor 
and outdoor pool, Roger was indicating that some groups are asking for some of these 
things but we need to see the different costs. Kevin mentioned how much Council is 
investing in the outdoor pool. Roger asked if the Aquatic Centre will have a website 
people can check, to which Craig responded – it depends on what’s agreed upon. He 
said other places use the 6.30pm forecast from the day before. Roger said the Bureau 
of Meteorology 4‐day  forecast  is very good, so could do  it 48 hours ahead. He also 
mentioned he thinks it is inefficient sending out texts, eg for classes cancelled; a much 
more effective way is to do this with website updates. Craig added – we’re going to 
need to be on top of communication. 

 
 Review of Terms of Reference – copy circulated with agenda. Kevin advised we need 

to discuss internally. Current community representatives are appointed for two years. 
We need to look at that, maybe four years instead of two years. Kevin has discussed 
this with the executive committee. If anyone wants to make comment back to Kevin, 
he requested they do so in the next few weeks. He said this is an opportunity to review 
this committee. 

 

 

 Transport Victoria – Kevin has had a  follow‐up conversation with Transport Victoria, 
they’re looking at a budget bid for extra funding need for Horsham bus service (initially 
they wanted  to  work within  budget).  Hopefully  this  will  be  announced  in  the  State 
budget (May), then community engagement after that. They’ve done a lot of work on it. 

 
e) Outdoor Pool Works / Tender Update (Mandy Kirsopp) 

 
Mandy advised that her report to the February meeting had an incorrect point. She said 
the  correction  should  show  “hoping  to  remove  two  small  outdoor  pools  and  fill  with 
temporary fill so that becomes another area under shade”. 

 
Mandy  advised  soil  analysis  had  been  undertaken,  report  received  in  February.  Have 
contacted engineer to design slab. Will be visible from O’Callaghan Parade; still waiting for 
that design to come through (per  last minutes). Needs to be strong enough to take  the 
filters which will be placed on slab, pipework will be exposed  (easier  for maintenance). 
Have been in contact with Steve Meikle, construction manager Commercial Aquatics, start 
date put back to 21 May 2018. We still don’t have the design. Slab will cost about $30k, 
will need quotes. Once slab down – work can start in seven days. Steve estimates it will be 
4‐6 weeks work. Re wet deck project – we’re in process of developing specifications for 
next stage of pool upgrade,  involves significant changes. Pool won’t be as deep at deep 
end as it is currently, but water volume is greater in revised pool. Will also be tendering to 
filling in two smaller pools. Plan on relining pool, wetdeck, pipes around concourse, change 
depths, take out smaller pools and fill with rubble and dirt, also now exploring possibility, 
to have shade over 1/3 of pool. We spoke to Daniel Manno re design elements. We’ll get 
information  together,  go  to market  and  see what  prices will  be.  Looking  at  other  cost 
savings in filter component for this first stage of works. Flagged to this committee – Steve 
Miekle  said  concourse  is  a  big  job, will  work  towards  having  work  completed  by mid‐ 
November. Can do the job quicker but that would involve more people working and would 
increase the price. 
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f) Wimmera Health Care Group – no report 
 
7. ACTION LIST 

 

Discussed. 

 
8. GENERAL BUSINESS 

 

8.1 Fees and Charges 

 
Kevin advised CPI comes out 23 April, then we take to Council to be endorsed, for next 
financial  year.  Sam  advised  – we’re  looking  at  1.9%  increase. We’re  looking  at  our  fee 
structure (ie aquatics only membership, Pryme etc). We’re benchmarking with Melbourne 
sites, looking at pool membership and dry membership. Watch this space, aiming for 1 July 
2018 roll out. 

 
Chris mentioned the Aquatic Centre is 11½ years old, it’s good for this Committee to know 
that Council understand that, we try and put funds aside for works. Dick added – this is a 
good facility with good water quality. 

 
8.2 Resignation 

 
Roger advised that he has resigned from this Committee and this is his last meeting. He 
said it’s good to see change, the Committee needs a more diverse range of ages and people 
on it. He acknowledged the YMCA, saying they have a difficult job. You can never can have 
too  much  data,  and  use  it  appropriately.  He  is  still  unclear    on  the  role  of    advisory 
committee / board, or reference group and encourages Council to think about this. If you 
mix the two you don’t always get the best outcomes. Referring back to comments made 
when  the  facility  was  going  to  be  built,  people  can  now  see  that  this  is  a  fantastic 
community asset. Going 24/7 is a really good move. Roger said he’s been concerned at the 
slow decline of membership over the last couple of years. He mentioned new technology, 
census, gathering information and wished the future committee good luck. 

 
Cr  Power  thanked  Roger  and  said  it  was  fantastic  having  him  on  the  committee; 
committees like this wouldn’t work without people like him. 

 
9. NEXT MEETING 

 

The next meeting of the Horsham Aquatic Centre Advisory Committee will be held on Monday 18 
June 2018 at 12noon the Horsham Aquatic Centre (note: one week later than usual rotation due 
to Queen’s Birthday public holiday). 

 
Meeting closed 1.35pm. 
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Date 
 

Item 
 

Comment 
Responsible
Officer

13/4/15  Bus service Included as part of PTV feedback. AM 
14/12/15  from Horsham  Angela advised PTV have had consultation here   

  North  mid‐year, we put this on, haven’t heard back.   
8/2/16  Advised  CEO  looking  at  this  through  regional  KO’B 

  consultation process) – to follow up.  
20/6/16  Still progressing consultation. KO’B 
10/10/16  There  is  to  be  a  community  transport  forum   

  established in the region. KO’B has contact Joe   

  Russell (PTV) regarding review of Horsham Bus   

  Routes and is waiting for a response.  
13/2/17  Correspondence with PTV (discussed in Kevin’s   

  report, item 6(a) in minutes. KO’B 
10/4/17  Forum   set   up   locally.   Children’s   Hub   also   

  looking at this. KO’B 
19/6/17  Review of Horsham bus routes to occur in the   

  next few months KO’B 
14/8/17  Should happen in September 2017 KO’B 
9/10/17  Actual forum has been held, some initial ideas   

  have been discussed including better access to   

  Aquatic Centre, still to be finalised.  
11/12/17  Write to Public Transport Minister re concerns  KO’B 

  regarding to the delay in completing the review   
12/2/18  Letter sent to Public Transport Minister  
9/4/18  Discussion with PTV, they advised looking at  KO’B 

funding needed and will put in bid for State VT 
budget (May) then community engagement 
after that.
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APPENDIX 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
Community Advisory Committee Meeting April 

2018 

What’s been Happening! 
 

• Centre Feedback Collection 

• 2017/18 Summer Wrap Up 

• Group Fitness Feedback 

• Centre Cleaning Feedback 

• Active Kids Tribe 

• 2018/19 Fee’s and Charges 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Centre Feedback Collection 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

It’s Quick and Easy 

1 Minute of Your Time 

Is invaluable to us 

All we ask is 
 

 

How was your experience? 

What did you do? 

Why did you feel this way? 

 
But this is what we get back….. 
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Individual response  Response breakdown 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Feedback timelines 
Visual Dashboard 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Unlimited Opportunity 
 

We can create a survey for anything with like 

and upload our own photos 
 

 
Being on IPad we can approach members 

individually or set it up at any part of the centre 
 

 
Surveys can also be emailed 

 
 

It’s a wrap on 17/18 Outdoor Pool 
Season 
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Moving Forward 
 

New Equipment 

 
 
 

Summer Fun Calendar 
 

• 27 local community members employed over the 
Summer Period 

• 5,748 visits to the outdoor pool during the 
2017/18 
– 1,300 more visits than 2016/17 

• Over 15 user groups accessed the outdoor pool 
• 15 first aid for the season, increase on last year 
• 10 incidents 
• 10 events held 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Summer Fun Activities Moving forward 
 

New Programs and Activities 
 
 
 
 

116 

 
97 

 
127 

 
100 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Moving forward 
 
Inflatable Parties 
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Group Fitness Feedback 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Class times 
 

6.45am Class 

34 

 
29         

 
24         

Pricing of classes 
 
• Easy Water Workout 

 

 
• Aqua Movers 

19         

 
14         

 
9 

 
• Water Workout 

 
4 

 
5
‐
/
1
01/2017  5/02/2017  5/03/2017  5/04/2017  5/05/2017  5/06/2017 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Changes made too… 
 

 
 

 
Centre Cleanliness 

• Cleaners  Checklist 

• Increased Cleaning hours 

• Duty Manager’s Open Checklist 

• Change room check expectations 

• Monthly pool deck cleaning checklist revised 

APPENDIX 8.4A



5 

 
 

 

APPENDIX 8.4A



 
 

MINUTES 
Horsham Tidy Towns Committee Meeting 

Held on Tuesday, 17 April 2018 at 12.30 pm  
Middle Meeting Room – Horsham Rural City Council Offices 

 
Attendees:  Gillian Vanderwaal ‐ Chairman, Cheryl Linke, Rae Talbot, Geraldine Drum, 

Gary Aitken, Danielle Fowler, Don  Mitchell, Jan Morris, 
 
Apologies:   Cr Les Power, John Martin, David Eltringham, Neil King, La Vergne Lehmann 

 
1. Welcome 

 
2. Minutes of the previous meeting – 13 March 2018 

Moved: Cheryl Linke, Seconded: Rae Talbot, that the minutes from the meeting 13 
March were a true and correct record of the meeting.  
 

3. Business arising from previous minutes 
Refer action list 
There is a facebook page ‘Horsham Tidy Towns Committee’ – encourage all committee 
to ‘like’ the page 

 
4. Correspondence 

4.1 Inwards 
4.2 Outwards 

 
5. General Business 

5.1 2018 Award Submissions – review 
Reviewed submissions  
‐ When judge comes have parents walking over bridge with prams, kayak on 

river 
‐ Wimmera River Experience ‐ Rae to put some words in on nature connection 
‐ Country Music Festival – many people come from the Wimmera – need more 

stats? Giving money back to community – Action: Geraldine to provide words 
to Danielle.  

‐ WW1 memorial – Ken Flack needs to be mentioned. Action: Don to provide 
photo of quote at Cemetery 

‐ Dame Phyllis Frost ‐ Gary – meet judge on river and show where flood levels 
went 

‐ Boomerang Bags – social inclusion  
‐ Young Leader – need to jazz it up a bit and make more exciting. Also need to 

have someone from aboriginal community and Tracey Rigney that can speak 
to judge 

5.2 Boomerang Bags Stand 
Moved Jan Morris, Seconded Geraldine Drum that the Horsham Mens Shed be 
paid for this stand.  

 
6. Next Meeting 

The next meeting will be held on Tuesday, 15 May 2018 commencing at 12.30pm 
in the Middle Meeting Room, Horsham Rural City Council Offices 
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7. Meeting Close 

 
Gillian Vanderwaal 
Chairman 
Horsham Tidy Towns Committee 
April 2017 
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AGENDA 
Horsham Regional Livestock Exchange Board of Management Meeting 

Held on Thursday, 19 April 2018 at 5.00pm 
Horsham Regional Livestock Exchange, Western Highway, Horsham  

 
 

 

Attendees:  Cr David Grimble – Chairman 
John Martin ‐ Director Technical Services 
Rob Moir ‐ Operations Manager 
Paul Christopher – HRLE Superintendent 
Andrew Adamson ‐ Horsham Stock Agents Association 
Neville McIntyre ‐ Victorian Farmers Federation Representative 
Kevin Pymer ‐ Victorian Farmers Federation Representative 

 
Apologies:  Ray Zippel ‐ Community Representative 

Gordon Fischer ‐ Livestock Transporters Association of Victoria 
 

Agenda Items: 
 
1. Welcome 

The meeting commenced with an inspection of the EID equipment which is 90% 
installed. 

 
2. Disclosure of Conflicts of Interest 

Nil 
 
3. Minutes of the previous meeting –  Thursday, 15 February 2018 

Moved: Neville McIntyre, Seconded: Andrew Adamson, that the minutes from the 
meeting of 15 February, are a true and accurate record of that meeting.  

 
4. Business arising from previous minutes 

Actions are addressed in the agenda. 
Note that old ramps will be sold soon.  

 Action – liaise with Elders so that they can link to that on their website. 
 
5. Correspondence  

5.1 Inwards 

 ALSA Media Release, Vale David Pollock 

 ALSA Media Release, RFID 
5.2 Outwards 

 
Noted 

 
6. Business arising from correspondence 

Nil 
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7. Reports –  

7.1 Chairman’s Report ‐ Cr David Grimble 
Nil 

 
7.2 Financial Report – HRCC – John Martin 

 Income down due to numbers, but agistment income helps this – it is well up 
about $20,000 or more up. 

 Expenditure areas are all within budget, except vegetation management which is 
only a small amount over. 

 The position is looking positive overall, despite low numbers, with a projected 
transfer to reserves of around $49,000 which is much better than the budgetted 
$7000. This reflects tight expenditure control by Paul. 

 
7.3 Operations of Exchange ‐ Mr Paul Christopher 
 Average sale numbers – Average of 7,244 head over 8 sales  
 Have watered paddocks from the recycle dam to help mitigate dust. 

 Lease land to the east of the saleyards is now licensed to O’Sullivans. This could 
impact on agistment income – but this has not been the case to date. 

 The first EID scanning sale was conducted on 4 April 2018. The fixed equipment 
was not ready at this stage, so contract manual scanning in pens was conducted 
– this has been funded by DEDJTR. ScanClear has been conducting the scanning. 
As a result, we are complying with the requirement for 80% of lamb’s tags to be 
read. Generally, the scanning process is working ok. 

 The implementation of the Agrinous software has been running smoothly. 

 Will need a focus on re‐tagging sheep – at the moment this is not a major issue 
with the 80% compliance target, but this will increase as the compliance 
requirement is gradually increasing in the years ahead. 

 VicPol attended the sale at the start of April to improve their awareness of 
tagging and scanning operations, in relation to stock theft. 
 

7.4 Council Operations Manager ‐ Mr Rob Moir 

 Working on finalising implementation of the EID equipment, including the auto 
drafter. 

 
7.5 Horsham Stock Agents Association ‐ Mr Andrew Adamson 

 Everything has gone well with the first few EID sales. No delays. 

 Agrinous people have been very good in support of their software system. 

 Issues will arise as the compliance requirement increases. There will be time 
spent identifying individual sheep without tags. 

 Agents have announced a charge of $1 per head where lots are split, due to the 
re‐scanning requirement. 

 Prices for lambs are down – this will have an impact on throughput through the 
exchange, instead they will go over the hooks. [Lambs sold over the hooks can’t 
be transferred via the exchange, without being scanned – for which a fee will be 
incurred.] 

 
7.6 Buyers Representative ‐ Mr Graeme Astbury 
Not present 
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7.7 VFF Representative ‐ Mr Neville McIntyre 

 Neville will be an apology for the next 2 meetings. Kevin Pymer will be acting on 
his behalf. [girvanlea@activ8.net.au] 

 Issues with Leader tags not reading well in some circumstances. Discussion about 
the placement of tags being important – closer to the head is preferable. 

 Suggestion at one other exchange where a $5 per sheep charge is proposed if the 
tag can’t be read. [Horsham fee will be $2, with the provision to review this if it is 
being over‐used, subject to consideration by the Board.] 

 
7.8 DEDJTR ‐ Ms Nicole Decourcy‐Ireland 
Not present 

 
7.9 Throughput  
Combined sheep and lambs 322,918 for the financial year to the end of March, 
which is around 6,000 down on the same time last year. As discussed earlier a higher 
price currently being paid over the hooks, leading to reduced sales through yards. 

 
Moved: Andrew Adamson, Seconded: Neville McIntyre that the reports be accepted.  

 
8. General Business 
 

8.1 Master Plan – Review of sub‐committee meeting outcomes 

 A report had been prepared on the recent sub‐committee meeting regarding 
the master plan. 

 Some minor amendments required to the document, which will be included 
as a cover page, reflecting Council’s consideration of the report. 

 The retention of ownership by Council is to be highlighted as a strategic 
recommendation. 

 Noted that there was no specific advice provided about the day of the week 
for conducting the sale. 

 Provide a copy of the report to Yarriambiack Shire. 

 Include a recommendation that the yards ownership and operational control 
retain with Council. 

 
Moved Andrew Adamson, Seconded: Neville McIntyre, that we adopt the report and 
the recommendations in the Council officer’s report from the sub‐committee 
meeting. Carried. 

 
8.2 Roofing – Business case / tender documentation preparation 

 Master Plan did not provide enough numerical information to fully justify the 
roofing. A consultant has been engaged to provide the data to do this 
justification. Is in progress. 

 Discussion about the clear worker safety benefits – this helps in attracting 
employees.  

 
8.3 Potential developments on Burnt Creek estate. 

 

 Two potential developers looking, one food industry and one materials recovery 
possibly including composting. 

 Both are in early stages of discussions. 

 Visual appearance of the developments is important. 
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8.4 Agents MOU re EID 

 Was needed for the funding. A draft will be provided to the Agents Association 
for review before signing. 

 
9. Next Meetings 

21 June 2018 
16 August 2018 
18 October 2018 
13 December 2018 

 
10. Meeting Close 
6:58 pm. 
 
Cr David Grimble 
Chairman 
Horsham Regional Livestock Exchange Board of Management 
1 May 2018 
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Western Highway Action Committee 
________________________________________________________________ 

Address correspondence to: WHAC Secretariat, PO Box 511 Horsham VIC 3402 
Phone 03 5382 9724     Email danielle.fowler@hrcc.vic.gov.au      

 
Western Highway Action Committee Members 

Melton City    Moorabool Shire    Ballarat City    Pyrenees Shire    Ararat Rural City     Yarriambiack Shire 
Northern Grampians Shire        Horsham Rural City     Hindmarsh Shire     West Wimmera Shire      

WESTERN HIGHWAY ACTION COMMITTEE (WHAC) 
10.30AM Friday 20 April 2018 

Western Highway Precinct Office, Stawell 
 

MINUTES 
 

1. Welcome & Open Meeting Chair, Cr Kevin Erwin  
 
Cr Kevin Erwin, Northern Grampians 
Cr Michael O’Connor, Pyrenees 
Cr Grant Tillett, Ballarat 
Cr David Grimble, Horsham 
Cr Ron Ismay, Hindmarsh 
Cr John Keogh, Moorabool 
Cr Richard Hicks, West Wimmera 
Chris Adams, Northern Grampians 
Douglas Gowans, Pyrenees 
John Martin, Horsham 
Ralph Kenyon, Wimmera Development Association 
Mal Kersting, VicRoads 
Nigel Powers, VicRoads 
Phil Jeffrey, Moorabool 
Peter Rogers, West Wimmera 
Vaughan Notting – Director Infrastructure and Environment, Ballarat 
 
11:38 
Cr Jo Armstrong, Ararat 
Tim Day, Ararat 
 

2. Apologies  
Cr Shane Roberts – Yarriambiack  
Shane Power – Hindmarsh  
Maree McNeilly and Angela Daraxoglou– TfV 
 
Moved: Cr Richard Hicks, Seconded: Cr Michael O’Connor, that the apologies be 
accepted. CARRIED 

 
3.  Minutes of Meeting held 23 February 2018 

Moved: Cr Grant Tillett, Seconded: Cr Ron Ismay, that the minutes from the previous 
meeting 23 February 2018, were a true and accurate record of that meeting. 
CARRIED  

 
4.  Business from Minutes 

 Ararat seeking further direct engagement from VicRoads re Ararat Bypass 

 Circulation of Wire Rope Safety Barrier technical information.  
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Western Highway Action Committee 
________________________________________________________________ 

Address correspondence to: WHAC Secretariat, PO Box 511 Horsham VIC 3402 
Phone 03 5382 9724     Email danielle.fowler@hrcc.vic.gov.au      

 
Western Highway Action Committee Members 

Melton City    Moorabool Shire    Ballarat City    Pyrenees Shire    Ararat Rural City     Yarriambiack Shire 
Northern Grampians Shire        Horsham Rural City     Hindmarsh Shire     West Wimmera Shire      

 Correspondence (as below) 

 Corridor Strategy – responses to TfV  
 

5.  Correspondence   
Inward   

Date  From  Subject 

  Nil   

Outward  

Date  To  Subject 

10 April  Transport Accident Commission  Wire Rope Safety Barriers 

11 April  Minister Wynne and Donnellan 

Western Highway Duplication letter of 
thanks 
Also seeking commitments for next 
stages 

12 April 

Andrew Broad / Dan Tehan 
(copies to Louise Staley / Emma 
Kealy) 
Deputy PM Michael McCormack 
Anthony Albanese 

Advocating for funding for next stages 

 
Moved: Cr Richard Hicks, Seconded: Cr David Grimble, that the correspondence be received.  
 
6.  Financial Statement (Attached) 

Current balance ‐ $60,600.62 
 

Moved: John Martin, Seconded: Cr Grant Tillett, that the financial report be 
accepted. CARRIED  

 
7.  Reports 

 VicRoads 
Nigel Powers – Western Highway Project Director 

 Work on defects repair now essentially complete, and will be monitored in the 
months ahead. A bit of a patchwork quilt. Defects period has been extended by 2 
years. 

 Main project is now Stage 2B – Buangor to Ararat. Contract has been awarded. 
Approvals for some elements, e.g. management plans, are being finalised. Site 
establishment to occur very shortly. Some works will be able to be completed 
over winter, including tree removal, in preparation for major earthworks soon 
after. A current focus is on seed collection and habitat creation. Many felled 
trees will be left on the side of the reserve to help create habitat, some root balls 
will also be used to provide habitat in waterways.  

 Section 3 – Ararat to Stawell. The Business Case has been renewed and updated, 
and submitted for the next budget. The updated cost is around $400 M. Recent 
changes to the native vegetation management guidelines have significantly 
increased costs. The request for the 2018‐19 budget is to complete pre‐
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construction in Stage 3, at around $30 ‐ $40 million (State and Federal request). 
VicRoads has been considering staging options for contracting, which will 
probably be design and construct. 

 Halletts Way. Works well advanced. Halletts Way was closed for two weeks 
during school holidays to do interface works. This weekend the shared user path 
beams will be installed – with overnight closures this weekend on the Freeway. 
[Technical issues subsequently delayed this] 

 
Mal Kersting – Regional Director 

 VicRoads has been looking at all corridors into Melbourne, to facilitate 85 tonne 
trucks. Ten bridges identified as requiring works. Four of these on Western 
Highway, with Pykes Ck bridge being the final of these four for works. Work 
currently progressing on this, with contra‐flow in place to facilitate construction. 
Some pavement strengthening underway in an adjacent section of freeway. 

 There are significant rehabilitation works along the entire length of the highway, 
plus extensive safety barrier works between Ballarat and Melbourne. 

 VicRoads is looking at setting up a bluetooth linked app to advise travel times at 
various points. 

 Asphalting works commencing in Horsham next week. Some additional 
rehabilitation works about to commence. 

 Planning work advancing on Horsham Bypass. Currently gathering the previous 
work, and updating this for a new planning scheme amendment. An Advisory 
Committee will be established for this. The formal application for this new 
process will be submitted to DELWP soon. The Minister will be the Planning 
Authority. The extent of public consultation will be considered by the Planning 
Minister. 

 Beaufort and Ararat Bypasses. Extensive community consultation has been 
occurring recently. Issues being identified at Beaufort include visual impact, noise 
impact, and environmental issues. Further engagement has occurred with both 
Councils. 

o Comment ‐ The Beaufort community is seeking some focus to finalise a 
short list of preferred alignments to lead to a timely decision. Response – 
this process is planned to conclude in about early 2019. 

 Work on the railway bridge at Beaufort is due to commence late‐April, and will 
continue for around three months. 

 Question – Woodmans Hill planning status? 
o An internal review has occurred on the scope of the study for this area. 

Detailed planning will commence shortly – shouldn’t be a long study. 
o Potential parking area at Warrenheip for railway station may need 

consideration in this planning 

 Question – how can applications for A‐double routes be advanced, e.g. through 
northern Victoria towards Queensland. Mal discussed this. 

 Question – will the higher level of funding for maintenance be continued in this 
coming year’s budget? Mal – has no feedback on this yet. Proposals continue to 
be put up for further funding. It was pointed out by a member that the coalition 
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has indicated its commitment to re‐introduction of the Country Roads and 
Bridges program. 

o Comment – the higher level of funding is leading to market distortion in 
contract pricing, impacting on Councils and VicRoads alike. To create real, 
stable jobs requires a more stable level of higher funding so that the 
appropriate level of investment can be made into business development. 

 Wire Rope Safety Barrier. Bryan Sherritt (Director Road Safety) is available to 
present to this Committee if desired. VicRoads has been aiming to enhance its 
maintenance program for these barriers.  Action – Invite Bryan Sherritt to the 
next WHAC meeting 

o Discussion about the inside lane on divided roads, sometimes the barriers 
are only 1m from the fog line. Sometimes cars break down in the right 
lane. Portarlington Rd was cited as an example where problems with this 
have been observed. Other roads in the region identified where the 4 m 
offset has not been achieved. 

 Comment re centre line rumble strips on the Dimboola – Rainbow Rd – a bigger 
problem on this road is the large drop‐offs on the shoulders, in some places up to 
150 mm, on a road with a relatively narrow seal. Due to the narrow seal, trucks 
are often straddling the centre line at times. This is a busy road for gypsum 
cartage. Preference would have been to upgrade the shoulders. 

o Response – there is an extensive program on centre line rumble marking. 
This is linked to road safety with vehicle collisions where cars cross the 
centre line. Acknowledge that there is a problem with shoulder 
maintenance. Several members advised that the issue of shoulder 
maintenance on VicRoads roads has been raised in other communities in 
recent months. All maintenance issues like this should be phoned in to 
VicRoads maintenance number 13 11 70 so that they can be addressed. 

o Growth of trees in table drains has impacted on drain capacity. This is a 
related issue as safe run‐off on shoulders is required. 

 

 Members 
Ralph Kenyon – WDA 

 Delegation of Mayors and CEOs visited Canberra in late‐February. The clear 
message is the ongoing commitment to continued progressive funding for 
Western Highway duplication. 

 Grampians Cycling Trail project is continuing. Business Cases on a ten‐year 
prioritised program are being considered. A final report is due by about June. 

 
Ballarat – Cr Grant Tillett 

 Some issues covered earlier.  
 

Horsham – Cr David Grimble / John Martin 

 Works around Green Lake and Horsham have been well appreciated. 

 Intersection on Stawell Rd at Williams Rd is often congested, often backed up to 
the McPherson St roundabout. Requesting some review of the timing of the 
traffic signals. 
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 Our group should provide an updated list of priorities to Ministers. 

 An opinion piece on road funding in The Age. Discusses funding needs, and ability 
to get this in regional areas. Suggests more funds should go into public transport. 

 Discussions with VicRoads re McPherson St roundabout and Stawell Rd / Henty 
Highway intersection. 

 Western Rail project still progressing – receiving good publicity and widespread 
support. 

 
Moorabool – Cr John Keogh / Phil Jeffrey 

 Works around Bacchus Marsh area, causing disruption, but good communication 
with the community 

 Development pressures in Bacchus Marsh – keen to advance the Eastern Link 
planning. The scope of these discussions needs to be expanded. 

 Point to point cameras have been installed near Ballan. Some trucks are turning 
off the highway to avoid the cameras.  

 Coming up out of Pykes Ck towards Ballarat, where it comes from two lanes into 
one, with the contra‐flow, the sign is on the wrong side of the road – is confusing 
– multi‐coloured sign. 

 
Northern Grampians – Cr Kevin Erwin / Chris Adams 

 Great Western Bypass – seeking to engage with VicRoads in the detail of gateway 
treatments for Great Western. Similarly, the approach into Stawell onto London 
Rd needs consideration. Nigel is willing to meet with Council in this regard. 

 Appreciate the work on the Grampians Rd slip‐lane. 
 

Pyrenees – Cr Michael O’Connor / Douglas Gowans 

 There are sections of old highway in the Beaufort area that are now “orphaned”. 
What is the status of these sections of road re handover as Council roads? 

 Still working on designs for new signage for Pyrenees on the Freeway. 

 The Bypass consultation sessions were very well conducted by VicRoads. 

 The change in traffic light cycle was appreciated over Easter, however, there was 
a significant holdup through Beaufort – up to an hour to get through, and backed 
up as far as Trawalla at times. The cycle doesn’t seem to have been changed back 
to the normal non‐peak period cycle. 

 Work between Burrumbeet and Beaufort is appreciated. Sometimes there are 
speed limit signs appearing without any road work being apparent. This is a 
frustration. 

 
West Wimmera – Cr Richard Hicks / Peter Rogers 

 At a rural councils meeting recently, the Premier seemed unaware of the 
Western Rail project. 

 Thanks to VicRoads for the renewal of the main street of Kaniva. 

 A delegation from West Wimmera met with various politicians and the Roads 
Minister’s advisor. 

 Further long term planning is required. 
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o Mal Kersting comment. A broad review of maintenance programming is 
occurring. Also, waiting to hear on the outcomes of the Parliament 
Inquiry into the Management of Country Roads by VicRoads. 

 
Hindmarsh – Cr Ron Ismay 

 Nil 
 

Ararat – Cr Jo Armstrong / Tim Day 

 Was unable to attend the recent VicRoads engagement activities re the Bypass, 
but appreciates the efforts by VicRoads in this regard, similarly the presentation 
to Councillors. The engagement has been very well managed, and well received 
by the community. 

 Is it possible to outline how much SSRIP funding has been provided to the 
Western Highway? 

 
Moved: Cr David Grimble, Seconded: Cr Ron Ismay, that the reports be accepted. CARRIED  
 
8.  General Business  

 Upgrade of our Priorities / Lobbying Document 
o To be updated. 

 Action ‐ JM to circulate through Officers, and then Councillors. 
o Should also get input from regional transport groups in this regard. 

 Action – JM to do this through Officer input. 
o Note that Halletts Way is now nearly completed 

 

 RACV Lobbying 
o We should engage with them again to support our priorities 
o Similarly VTA   
o Invite them to a meeting specifically. . 

 

 Bypass Alignments 
o Request for a brief presentation showing the current information about 

the location of potential bypass routes at Beaufort and Ararat.  
 Action – Request VicRoads to arrange at next meeting. 

 
9.  Next Meetings  
    22 June 2018 – Ballarat – VicRoads Project Office 
    24 August 2018 
    26 October 2018 
    14 December 2018 
 
10.  Close 
 
Cr Kevin Erwin 
Chair 
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Finance & Performance Report - 31 March 2018
Financial Snapshot

      The Revised Budget includes carried forward of $3.7m & excludes WIFT development $2.09m

      Revised Budget excludes CBD Revitalisation ($1.6m) - (will be added in when grant is received)
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TOP 5 FINANCE & PERFORMANCE OBSERVATIONS:

1. Initiatives Spend
Current not seeing any significant spend against initiatives, forecasting that there are 15 initiatives that 
won't be started until next financial year ($2mil including $1.6mil CBD Revitalisation).

2. Service Delivery
Most departments are inline with YTD projections. 
Majority of the variance in Tech Services is linked to timing of projects in the waste management program.

3. Capital Spend
The Capital Works program needs renewed focus by management as Council has slipped 5% behind forecast 
for March. 
The forecast has been developed by identifying projects that we had hoped would be underway this 
financial year but due to grants or other delays Council will be unable to commence these works in the 
financial year. Further details are provided in the capital works section. 

4. Total Income
Favourable variance is due $314k Performing Arts, $450k Stawell tyres, early receive / unbudgeted of grants 
($828k operational & $798k capitals), $215k sale of industrial land & $276k for VicRoads works.

5. Carry Forward
Council carried forward 175 projects into 2017/18, of these 48 have been completed.
There are currently 76 carried forward projects that haven't had any significant spend this financial year. 
Only 12% of initiatives carry forward have been complete whilst 30% has been completed in each of 
operations, capital & grants. Further investigation is underway by the directors.
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Finance & Performance Report - 31 March 2018
Overview

Overall Cash Budget Summary   -   $'000

 Business Activity
Actuals
16/17

Adopted 
Budget
17/18

Revised 
Budget
17/18

Budgets 
YTD

17/18

Actuals 
YTD

17/18

YTD 
Variance

17/18
Variance 

% Note
Income Service Delivery -14,065 -12,773 -12,773 -9,269 -11,102 1,833 19.8% 1

General Revenue -31,438 -29,175 -26,171 -25,300 -25,410 110 0.4%
Exclude -91 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 0.0%
Capital -9,243 -13,803 -15,331 -2,811 -3,987 1,176 41.9% 2
Initiatives -82 -1,728 -1,796 -                 -160 160 0.0%
Projects -624 -460 -460 -386 -281 -105 -27.2%
Reserves -136 -547 -547 -                 -                 -                 0.0%

Income Total -55,679 -58,486 -57,077 -37,765 -40,940 3,175 8.4%
Expenditure Service Delivery 31,855 33,124 33,378 23,860 22,114 1,746 7.3% 3

Financing 439 439 439 -                 0 -0 0.0%
Capital 17,950 21,036 25,352 13,789 11,537 2,252 16.3% 4
Initiatives 467 2,195 2,950 1,868 376 1,492 79.9% 5
Projects 1,817 1,624 3,240 2,108 1,670 437 20.7%
Reserves 54 68 68 -                 -                 -                 0.0%

Expenditure Total 52,581 58,485 65,427 41,625 35,698 5,928 14.2%
Grand Total -3,098 -1 8,350 3,860 -5,242 9,102 235.8%

General Revenue - Details   -   $'000

 Sub Description
Actuals
16/17

Adopted 
Budget
17/18

Revised 
Budget 
17/18

Budgets 
YTD 

17/18

Actuals 
YTD 

17/18

YTD 
Variance

17/18
Variance 

% Note
Rates Rates & Charges -22,084 -22,720 -22,720 -22,720 -22,776 56 0.2%
Grants Grants & Subsidies Recurrent -8,809 -5,805 -2,801 -2,101 -2,305 205 9.8%
Fees & Charges User Fees & Charges -                 -20 -20 -15 -                 -15 -100.0%
Other Income Cncl Contributions -                 -40 -40 -30 -                 -30 -100.0%

Interest & Investment Income -503 -530 -530 -389 -296 -94 -24.0%
Recharge Overhead Recovery -41 -60 -60 -45 -32 -13 -29.8%
Grand Total -31,438 -29,175 -26,171 -25,300 -25,410 110 0.4%

Rates
$22,720 

87%

Other Income
$571 
2%

Grants
$2,801 
11%

Recharge
$60 
0%

Fees & Charges
$20 
0%

General Revenue Budget 17/18 $'000

Rates
50%

Grants
31%

Fees & Charges
13%

Other Income
6%

Operating Income Budget 17/18

Comments:
1. Service Delivery income is in a favourable position YTD. Key variances include; ($450k) Stawell tyres (profit will be transferred to reserve), ($314k) delivering additional shows at the Performing Arts Centre,

($231k) VicRoads provisional works & ($828k) various operational grants.

2.   Capital Income - ($301k) for sports & recreation, ($276k) VicRoads claim 2 for Polkemet road widening Quantong Rd Intersection,($215k) for the sale of industrial land , ($533k) Kalkee Road Childrens Hub grant 

3.   Service Delivery Expenditure - Key variances are; $1.1 million waste management - rehabilitation of cell 1, waste cartage & EPA landfill levy, $332k delivering of community development program.

4. Capital Expenditure - Key variances are; Budget variance is driven by projects that for various reasons won't commence this financial year. Further breakout is available in the capital section.

5.   Initiatives Expenditure - Current area of focus with managers & project leads. Management is currently working through a proposal  to help  the delivery of stratigies.
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Finance & Performance Report - 31 March 2018
Service Delivery Expenditure

Key variances:  $'000 Budget
YTD 

Budget
YTD 

Actual
YTD 

Variance
Variance

% Comments
Corporate Services 6,300 4,554 4,188 366 8.0%  
Management & Admin 1,400 1,019 948 71 6.9% Some savings backfill of staff
Financial Services 930 657 610 47 7.2%
Organisational Development 765 567 532 35 6.2%
Governance & Leadership 1,106 769 767 2 0.3%
Rates and Property Services 489 367 288 79 21.6% Savings on backfill & timing of valuation costs
Information & Technology 1,310 953 875 78 8.2%
Community Services 7,913 5,683 5,286 396 7.0%  
Management & Admin 405 298 299 -0 -0.1%
Community Development 1,342 1,029 697 332 32.2% $157k Rural Disability Access, $54k Community Engagement, $52 

aged friendly action & $69 other various
Early Years 715 516 435 81 15.6% Salaries underspent across various services
Library 741 429 408 21 4.9%
Performing Arts 1,549 1,141 1,371 -229 -20.1% Offset by increased income (see HTH report)
Visual Arts 616 438 413 25 5.8%
Aged & Disability 2,192 1,565 1,422 142 9.1% Wimmera Health are behind on sending their bills, $39k Personal 

Care & $37k Home Care
Planning & Economic Services 4,319 3,039 2,888 151 5.0%  
Management & Admin 557 415 350 65 15.6% Recruitment lag savings - vacancy of manager
Building Asset Management 476 368 392 -24 -6.5%
Building Services Regulatory 637 471 352 119 25.3% ESM inspections, determinations & documentation
Planning Services 580 259 291 -31 -12.1% Budget phasing of payments to Strategic Planner
Parking & Traffic Management 376 282 197 84 29.9% Combination of wages & meter maintenance
Animal Management 307 222 294 -72 -32.2% Additional staff allocation (from parking & traffic)
Economic Development 599 439 481 -42 -9.6%
Promotions & Tourism 662 488 456 33 6.7%
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Finance & Performance Report - 31 March 2018
Service Delivery Expenditure

Key variances:  $'000 Budget
YTD 

Budget
YTD 

Actual
YTD 

Variance
Variance

% Comments
Technical Services 17,636 12,354 11,132 1,222 9.9%  
Operations Management 108 82 81 1 1.6%
Management & Admin 2,198 1,614 1,407 207 12.8% $129k reduced FTE & extended sick leave, $80k plans & strategies
Business Activities 760 571 490 81 14.1% $46k livestock exchange (timing of payments), $18k private works
Infrastructure - Urban 1,487 1,055 1,114 -59 -5.6%
Infrastructure - Rural 2,480 1,822 2,067 -245 -13.5% Rural road maintenance is ahead of schedule
Streetscape & Public Conveniences 1,139 828 752 76 9.2%
Parks & Gardens 2,421 1,786 1,654 132 7.4% Underspend on various services & parks
Sports & Recreation 1,503 1,054 997 57 5.4% $63k aquatic centre, $64k other clubs & amenities & ($50k) for Dooen Motocross critical infrastructure (grant funded)
Waste Management Services 4,839 3,038 1,923 1,115 36.7% $430k rehabilitation of cell 1, $351 waste cartage, $125k EPA landfill levy
Natural Resource Management 297 211 396 -185 -87.5% Additional spend for the CCTV community crime prevention project which is offset by grant income
Emergency Support 389 292 247 45 15.5%

 -

 250

 500

 750

 1,000

 1,250

 1,500

 1,750

 2,000

 2,250

 2,500

Operations
Management

Management &
Admin

Business
Activities

Infrastructure -
Urban

Infrastructure -
Rural

Streetscape &
Public

Conveniences

Parks &
Gardens

Sports &
Recreation

Waste
Management

Services

Natural
Resource

Management

Emergency
Support

$'
00

0

Technical Services
YTD Act YTD Bud FY Bud -6,750

-6,000

-5,250

-4,500

-3,750

-3,000

-2,250

-1,500

-750

 -
Fees & Charges Grants Other Income Waste Charge

$'
00

0

Funding Sources for Service Delivery

YTD Act YTD Bud FY Bud

2018-09_Finance & Performance  -  Service Page 4 of 10 6/04/2018   3:54 PM

APPENDIX 10.2A



Finance & Performance Report - 31 March 2018
Capital

New Renew Upgrade

YTD Actual $3,708 $6,960 $753

YTD Budget $5,033 $7,477 $1,279

FY Budget $7,876 $11,665 $3,055
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Comments:
The adopted full year capital budget was $18.280 million after carrying forward uncompleted works of $4.316 
million gives a revised full year budget of $22,596 million.

The following budgeted projects ($4.48 million) won't have significant spend this financial year;
$2M - WIFT Precinct Industrial Estate Development - grant dependant
$1M - Upgrade Kenny Rd transfer station facilities - grant application currently being lodged
$880k - Livestock Exchange roofing - awaiting funding opportunities 
$500k - CBD stage 2 footpaths - application has just been lodged
$135k - Hamilton street public convenience
$130k - Cornell Park public convenience
$108k - Basketball side store room
$100k - Aerodrome land purchases - negotiations continuing

Carried Forward:
Of the 77 capital projects carried forward 24 have been completed.
There are 39 projects that haven't had any financial activity up until YTD March.
29% of carried forward capital works had been completed as at the end of March.

New Works
Buildings are nearing the full year budget, driven by the North Children's hub nearing completion.

New Roads are behind forecast, delays have been caused while Council wait for announcement of a 
grant for the WIFT precinct ($2M). Due to this delay it is unlikely that any significant spend will occur 
this financial year.

Renewal works
Road construction is $474k behind YTD expectation but still on track to deliver the 2017/18 program.
Buildings is below YTD budget due to grant funding of the Laharum Camerons Oval Changerooms not being 
received.
Favourable plant spend is driven by the earlier than budgeted delivery of two pieces of major (grader & truck).
The reserve funded renewal for waste management (putrescible cell 2) has over spent budget. This was driven 
by the additional consulting cost to address new EPA requirements, as well as the budget being set prior to the 
contract to build the new cell being awarded. 

Upgrade works
Upgrade of Kenny road transfer station is 
wont happen this FY.

Upgrade road construction is $240k 
behind YTD budget. 

Upgrade of basketball store room won't 
occur this FY. 

Footpath upgrades will fall short for the 
FY due to grant timing for the CBD 
project
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Finance & Performance Report - 31 March 2018
Initiatives & Projects

Initiatives with Revised FY Budget greater than $40,000   -   $'000

 WO Description
Adopted 
Budget

Revised 
Budget

Budgets 
YTD

Actuals 
YTD

YTD 
Variance 

Corporate Services Civic Centre Refurbishment Detailed Design -               40 27 -                 27
Community Services Youth Strategy 40 40 40 12 28

Health Manager Data Base 40 40 40 13 27
Planning and Economic ServicesHorsham South Structure Plan -               120 75 -                 75

Economic Development Strategy -               85 85 61 24
ESM Initial Determinations and Documents by Contractor -               48 38 1 37
ESM Compliance Works 20 44 29 15 14
Asbestos Auditing Additional 17/18 40 40 40 57 -17

Technical Services CBD Revitalisation relocate powerlines underground 1,600 1,600 800 -                 800
Town Entrances Streetscape Refurbishment 30 67 37 5 32
Hazardous Tree Removal 20 60 60 16 44
Road Clearances Tree Clearing/Pruning 60 60 30 26 4
Livestock Exchange Detailed Design Roofing Selling Area 50 50 50 -                 50
Stormwater Drainage Condition Audit 40 40 20 -                 20

Other Initiatives Initiatives less then $40,000 budget 255 616 497 170 328
Grand Total 2,195 2,950 1,868 376 1,492

Non-operational Initiatives - Special

 WO Description

 Revised
Budget 
$'000 

 Budgets 
YTD 

$'000 

 Actuals 
YTD 

$'000 

 YTD 
Variance

$'000 
Income Grampians Peak Trail Parks Victoria expenditure -3,068 -                 -1,243 1,243
Expenditure Grampians Peak Trail Parks Victoria expenditure 3,068 -                 1,243 -1,243

Grampians Peak Trail HRCC expenses -               -                 3 -3
Grand Total -               -                 3 -3

Reserves
344 

CBD Revitalisation 
Grant
1,065 

Other Gransts
740 Carry Forward

520 

General Revenue
281 

Funding Streams for Operational Initiatives $'000

Comments:

A fair few initiatives are to do with new studies, strategies & plans, of which some 
are yet to commence.

There are 44 initiatives less that $40k that combined have a full year revised 
budget of $616k & YTD underspend of $328k. ($93k strategies & reviews, $39k 
surveys & inspections, $71k software/hardware improvements)

There are 23 initiatives that planning or works has commenced but they haven't 
had any financial activity but were forecast to have had some expenditure by YTD 
March.

Learning for future budget phasing is to phase according to expected payment 
milestones and not project delivery. Project managers need to consider carefully 
when payments are expected to occur.

Carried Forward:

Of the 26 initiative projects carried forward 3 have been completed.
There are 13 projects that haven't had any financial activity up until YTD March.
12% of carried forward initiative works had been completed as at the end of March.

Comments:
Initiatives are one off projects that are outside of normal service delivery business 
activities & usually run for one financial year.

Funding sources this year include funding from cash reserves held ($0.34m), one major 
grant for CBD Revitalisation ($1.065m), General Revenue ($0.28m), carry forward 
($0.52) and other grants of ($0.74m).
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Finance & Performance Report - 31 March 2018
Contract Variations, New Contracts & Exemptions from Procurement

Contract Variations [Accepted Under Instrument Of Delegation]    -    (GST exclusive)

Item 
No Contract No

Date 
Approved

Delegated 
Officer Contract Description Contractor Description of Variation Addition Deduction

1 18/012 14/03/2018 M Duke Reconstruction Clear Lake Sherwoods Dam Road Bitu-Mil Stabilisation of Subbase $12,645

2 18/007 15/03/2018 M Duke Flood Damage Works Package 1 Grampians Excavations Headwalls $6,069
5/03/2018 Alteration reinforcement into Edge beams $32,912
5/03/2018 Replacement of Culvert $4,050

3 17/004 13/03/2018 K O'Brien Childrens Hub Locks Signage $8,000
Supply and Install Breast Feeding Screen $3,000

New Contracts Signed off by the Chief Executive or a Director or Council    -    (GST exclusive)

Item 
No Contract No

Date 
Approved

Required 
Signatories Contractor Expense Revenue

1 19/02/2018 Council Contract of Employment for Sunil Bhalla, CEO
2 14/03/2018 Council Burnt Creek Drive farm lease between HRCC & Gavin & Peter O'Sullivan
3 14/03/2018 Council Lease of farm land at Kenny Road between HRCC & Tim Rethus

Exemptions from Procurement    -    (GST exclusive)

Item 
No

Purchase 
Order No

Date 
Approved

Delegated 
Officer Reason Exemption Description Supplier Expense

1 27/03/2018 G Harrison Online Training - LGPro eLearning Shared Services $12,337

Contract Description
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Finance & Performance Report - 31 March 2018
Investments & Loans

Interest
Rate

11 a.m. Investment 1.25%
7 Term Deposits 1.50% - 2.55%     Ranging 13 Days to 196 Days
Last investment 1.79%     27 Days 13/03/2018 to 09/04/2018

Breakout of Loans Outstanding

Purpose
Interest 

Rate
Original 
Principal

Outstanding 
at 30 Jun 17 Start Date

Year End 
Date

No. of 
Years

Horsham Regional Livestock Exchange 3.59% 400,000 57,618 01 Jun 99 01 Jun 19 20 P & I
Aquatic Centre 6.44% 2,195,000 803,155 16 Jun 06 01 Jun 22 15 P & I
Drainage Works 7.46% 140,000 -                      25 Jun 07 01 Jun 17 10 P & I
City Oval Lighting 7.88% 250,000 96,107 29 Jun 10 01 Jun 20 10 P & I
Unfunded Defined Superannuation 7.57% 500,000 244,935 20 Jun 11 01 Jun 21 10 P & I
Drainage Works 7.57% 200,000 97,974 20 Jun 11 01 Jun 21 10 P & I
Aerodrome Runway 7.57% 300,000 146,961 20 Jun 11 01 Jun 21 10 P & I
Drainage Works 5.73% 500,000 285,336 20 Jun 12 01 Jun 22 10 P & I
Wimmera Intermodal Freight Hub 5.73% 500,000 285,336 20 Jun 12 01 Jun 22 10 P & I
Anzac Pedestrian Bridge 3.97% 500,000 500,000 23 Jun 16 01 Jun 26 10 I
Horsham North Children's Hub 3.97% 100,000 100,000 23 Jun 16 01 Jun 26 10 I
City Oval Clubroom Purchase 3.97% 230,000 230,000 23 Jun 16 01 Jun 26 10 I
Horsham Town Hall Refurbishment 3.97% 3,475,000 3,475,000 23 Jun 16 01 Jun 26 10 I
Proposed 17/18 North Childrens Precinct 4.00% 759,000 759,000 23 Jun 18 01 Jun 28 10 I
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Finance & Performance Report - 31 March 2018
Grants

Application Status of Non-Recurrent Grant Applications

Project 
Project 

Year Sponsor
Total 

Project 
Grant 

Request
Council 

Contribution 
Other 

Sources
Possible funding 

source Status Comments
A C T I V E   P R O J E C T S

CBD Revitalisation - Stage 1 Improved Urban 
Design

2017/18 Martin, J  3,250,000  1,625,000  1,625,000 Department of 
Infrastructure

Application lodged Application lodged with Better Building Regions Fund Round 2 - 
19/12/2017. Awaiting outcome.

Jubilee Hall Creating a home for Oasis 2018/19 O'Brien K  99,905 66,600 33,305 Multicultural 
Commission

Application lodged Advice of SUCCESS 30/3/2018.  Grant allocation $33,300

Wonwondah Dadswells Bridge Road Final Stage 2018/19 Duke, M  257,000 128,500 128,500 DEDJTR Local 
Roads to Mark

Application lodged Application lodged 1/12/2017. Awaiting funding announcement

Wonwondah Dadswells Bridge Road Final Stage 2018/19 Duke, M  257,000 128,500 128,500 Heavy Vehicle 
Round 6

Application lodged

CBD Revitalisation Stage 1 2018/19 Martin, J  3,370,000  1,685,000  1,685,000 Building Better 
Regions Fed

Application lodged Application lodged 15/12/2017. Awaiting funding announcement

Horsham Transfer Station Upgrade 2018/19 Martin, J  100,000  50,000  50,000 Sustainability 
Victoria

Application lodged Application lodged 12/1/2018.  Awaiting funding announcement

Community Stories - Local Emergencies 2018/20 P Kuhne  7,800  7,800 Public Records 
Office

Application lodged Application lodged 31/1/2018. Awaiting funding announcement

Racecourse fitness station shade sails Not 
Budgeted

Newall, S  32,000  16,000  16,000 RDV Application ready Requires project scoping and suitable funding program. Investigating 
application under RDV Stronger Regional Communities Program 
March 2018.

Aquatic Centre - Outdoor pool shade 2017/18 Newall, S  40,000  36,000  4,000 Not identified Application ready Master Plan complete and project ready for future application when 
suitable funding program is available

Aquatic Centre - Solar panels 2017/18 Newall, S  155,000  154,614  386 Sustainability 
Victoria

Design & scoping 
required

Potential project under Local Government Energy Saver Program

Relocation of Depot - feasibility and design 2017/18 Martin, J  100,000  30,000  70,000 Not identified Design & scoping 
required

No grants currently available

Livestock Exchange - Roofing selling area 2017/18 Moir, R  880,000  700,000  180,000 Not identified Design and Scoping 
required

Full design and costing required following completion of the 
Livestock exchange Master Plan

Commemmorating Armistice Day - 100 years on 2019/20 Martin, J  13,785  12,785  1,000 Armistice 
Centenary 

Application 
unsuccessful

Advised unsuccessful 23/2/2018.  Application to be lodged with State 
DVA for reduced grant of $4,000

I N A C T I V E   P R O J E C T S
Wimmera Events Centre - Strategic Master Plan 2017/18 Field Days  45,000  30,000  15,000 Not identified Design & scoping 

required 
Scope requires more detail - No state government funding currently 
available for Master Plans

Horsham Motorcycle Club Infrastructure upgrade 2017/18 Martin, J  529,533  275,000  55,390  199,143 RDV Application 
unsuccessful

Tourism Demand Driver Infrastructure Fund application 
unsuccessful. Lodge project proposal with RDV in March 2017 - full 
application lodged 30/5/2017. 
RDV advised application unsuccessful in November 2017. 

World Junior Motocross Championships 
Marketing funding 

Not 
Budgeted

Pykett, S  30,000  30,000 Tourism Victoria Application 
unsuccessful

Advised of no success 22/2/2018

Horsham North Outdoor Community Multi Sports 
Court

2017/18 McNeil, R  149,000  70,000  79,000 RDV Design & scoping 
required

Project on hold due to land use / ownership issues along the rail 
corridor
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Finance & Performance Report - 31 March 2018
Grants

Application Status of Non-Recurrent Grant Applications

Project 
Project 

Year Sponsor
Total 

Project 
Grant 

Request
Council 

Contribution 
Other 

Sources
Possible funding 

source Status Comments
S U C C E S S F U L   A P P L I C A T I O N S

WIFT - Industrial Estate 2017/18 Martin, J  2,495,208  1,245,208  1,250,000 RDV Application 
successful

Fund application lodged 22/11/2016. Application approved May 
2017

CCTV Infrastructure - Stage 2 2017/18 Duke, M  280,000  250,000  30,000 Department of 
Justice

Application 
successful

Application successful 15/12/2016. Project works commenced

Laharum Precinct Development - Changerooms 2017/18 McNeil, R  650,000  100,000  400,000  150,000 SRV Application 
successful

SRV grant of $100,000 approved.  Project proceeding

Kalkee Road Children's & Community Hub 2017/18 O'Brien K  2,150,000  1,650,000  500,000 Multiple Application 
successful

Construction underway, project due for completion Jan 2018

Livestock Exchange - RFID equipment 2017/18 Moir, R  400,000  400,000 DEDJTR Application 
successful

Application successful. Grant allocation of $379,883 (exc GST)

Culvert widening at Lower Norton Nurrabiel Road 2018/19 Duke, M  100,000  50,000  50,000 Bridges Renewal 
Rd 3

Application 
successful

Application successful. Grant allocation of $50,000

Dudley Cornell Park New Female Change Rooms 2018/19 McNeil, R  260,000  100,000  160,000 SRV CSIF - Female Application 
successful

Application successful. Grant allocation of $100,000

Horsham Olympic Pool Renewal 2018/19 McNeil, R  1,316,160  200,000  1,116,160 SRV CSIF Small 
Aquatics

Application 
successful

Application successful. Grant allocation of $200,000

Natimuk United Football Netball Club Oval 
Lighting upgrade

2018/19 McNeil, R  98,644  93,644  5,000  35,823 SRV CFN Application 
successful

Application successful. Grant allocation of $98,644

Curtis Road Wonwondah Road Henty Highway 
intersection upgrade

2018/19 Duke, M  100,000  50,000  50,000 VicRoads Application 
successful

Application successful. Grant allocation of $50,000

Improving cyclist safety through the 
Hamilton/Firebrace Street roundabout

2018/19 Duke, M  80,586  40,293  40,293 TAC Application 
successful

Application successful. Grant allocation of $40,293

Horsham Raccourse Reserve Public Safety 
Improvements

2018/19 McNeil, R  221,650  192,035  29,615 Public Safety 
Infrastructure

Application 
successful

Application successful. Grant allocation of $192,035

Central Park Tennis Court - 4th Bay 2018/19 McNeil, R  180,000  15,000  25,000  140,000 Tennis Australia Application 
successful

Application successful. Grant allocation of $15,000. CFN Grant of 
$100,000

Horsham City Bowling Club Synthetic Green 2018/19 McNeil, R  177,120  100,000  5,000  72,120 SRV Application 
successful

Application successful. Approved 15/2/2018

Horsham South Structure Plan Not 
Budgeted

Irvine, E  120,000  120,000 VPA Application 
successful

Application successful. Approved 17/8/2017

Combined Planning Scheme Amendment C79 Not 
Budgeted

Irvine, E  60,000  60,000 DELWP Application 
successful

Application successful. Approved 4/7/2017

Improving Safety and Security - Football/Netball 
Administration Hub

Not 
Budgeted

Ellis, B  6,706  6,706 Department of 
Justice

Application 
successful

Application successful. Approved 9/10/2017

Dooen Hall - restoration of 2 Honour Boards Not 
Budgeted

Surridge, S  2,910  2,910 DVA Application 
successful

Application successful. Approved 30/11/2017

Brimpaen War Memorial Gates Restoration Not 
Budgeted

Surridge, S  4,955  4,955 DVA Application 
successful

Application successful. Approved 30/11/2017

Enriched Learning for Remote Schools Not 
Budgeted

Harding, A  98,000  98,000 Dep of Education Application 
successful

Application successful. Approved 15/12/2017

Engage 2018-2020 - Young Generation Not 
Budgeted

Donovan, A  100,000  100,000 Youth Affairs Application 
successful

Application successful. Approved 5/1/2018

Electronic NLIS Transition Package - Saleyards 
Phase 2

Not 
Budgeted

Martin, J  379,883  379,883 DEDJTR Application 
successful

Application successful. Approved 12/12/2017
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If you would like to receive this 
publication in another format, please 
contact Reception at the Civic Centre 
Municipal Office on telephone  
(03) 5382 9777 or email us on 
council@hrcc.vic.gov.au 

If you require an interpreter service, 
please contact the Translating and 
Interpreter Service (TIS National) on  
131 450 and ask them to contact 
Horsham Rural City Council Reception on 
telephone (03) 5382 9777.   

Our business hours are 8.30am to 
5.00pm Monday to Friday.  

Recognition of our land’s 
traditional owners 

Horsham Rural City Council recognises 
the five Traditional Owner groups of this 
land: the Wotjobaluk, Wergaia, Jupagulk, 
Jaadwa and Jadawadjali people. 

Horsham Rural City Council 
Civic Centre Municipal Office  
18 Roberts Avenue (PO Box 511) 
Horsham Vic 3402 

P: (03) 5382 9777 

F: (03) 5382 1111 

E: council@hrcc.vic.gov.au 

W: www.hrcc.vic.gov.au 

 

Designed and Illustrated by: 
Adelle Rohrsheim 
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FROM THE MAYOR, CR PAM CLARKE 

Welcome to the 2018-2022 Council 
Plan for the Horsham Rural City 
Council.   

Following the election of our new Council in 
November 2016, we  undertook an extensive 
review of the Council Plan in accordance with 
the requirements of the Local Government Act 
1989.   

This four year rolling plan sets the strategic 
direction for Council and highlights priorities for 
new and existing services, capital works, 
maintenance and advocacy on behalf of our 
community.   

The Council Plan contains five long-term 
community goals: 
 • Goal 1 – Community and Cultural 
   Development 
 • Goal 2 – Sustaining the Economy 
 • Goal 3 – Asset Management 
 • Goal 4 – Governance and Business 
   Excellence 
 • Goal 5 – Natural and Built Environments 

Council services are linked to these goals and 
performance measures are in place so that we 
can track our progress and performance. 

It is important that the Council Plan is 
considered as part of the annual budget process. 
A key component of this document is the 
Strategic Resource Plan which translates the 
requirements of the Council Plan into a four year 
forward projection of Council’s financial 
position.   

The Council Plan is an important document that 
provides direction to management, indicating 
where and how the available resources will be 
allocated. 

I encourage you to read through the Council Plan 
and familiarise yourself with the strategic 
direction of your Council.  We welcome your 
feedback at any time. 

Cr Pam Clarke 
Mayor  
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Horsham Rural City Council has seven 
Councillors elected every four years by the 
residents of the municipality. Voting is 
conducted via postal vote with the most recent 
election held on 22 October 2016. 

The Mayor is elected for a one year period 
each November and is voted in by the 
Councillors. 

The seven Councillors are the elected 
representatives of all residents and ratepayers 
across the municipality. They have 
responsibility for setting the strategic direction 
for the Horsham Rural City Council, policy 
development, identifying service standards and 
monitoring performance across the 
organisation. Councillors have  a portfolio of 
local committees that they attend, providing a 
valuable link between community and Council. 

Council meetings are held on the first and third 
Monday of every month (excluding January) at 
the Civic Centre Municipal Offices in Horsham, 
commencing at 5.30pm. Meetings are open to 
the general public and new employees are 
encouraged to attend to familiarise themselves 
with Council operations. 

Directors and Managers consult with 
Councillors and develop reports that are 
presented to Council meetings for deliberation 
and determination by Councillors. 

Details about meeting dates are advertised in 
the press, on Facebook, and can be found on 
the Horsham Rural City Council website. Copies 
of the agenda for each meeting of Council can 
be obtained by contacting the Executive 
Assistant to the Chief Executive. Agendas and 
minutes are also published on the Horsham 
Rural City Council website. 

From top to bottom: Mayor Cr Pam Clarke,  
Cr David Grimble, Cr Josh Koenig, Cr Les Power, 
Cr Mark Radford, Cr John Robinson, Cr Alethea Gulvin. 
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A vibrant, inclusive community to live, work, play and invest  

Horsham Rural City Council, working with the community, will develop the municipality through 
strong leadership, vision, good governance, responsive services and quality infrastructure, whilst 
enhancing our economy, our liveability and natural environment 

– we will be …
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The Horsham Rural City Council Plan contains the following five goals: 

1. Community and Cultural Development 

2. Sustaining the Economy 

3. Asset Management 

4. Governance and Business Excellence 

5. Natural Environment 

 

The Local Government Act 1989 requires all 
Victorian Councils to produce a four year 
Council Plan which must be reviewed annually. 
The 2018–2022 Council Plan sets the strategic 
direction of Council over the next four years, 
linking the community’s vision to Long-term 

community goals, Four-year outcomes 
and Four-year priorities for Horsham 
Rural City Council. The Council Plan 
provides direction to management and 
includes the indicators that Council will 
use to deliver key outcomes. 
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Council has taken the approach to have a four 
year rolling Council Plan that is reviewed and 
revised on an annual basis for the following four 
years. The report distinguishes between specific 
four year outcomes and priorities that can be 
directly linked to services that Council deliver and 
are essentially ongoing in nature. Council services 
have also been linked to each of the goals, and 
performance measures have been articulated as 
to how Council will track our progress against 
these measures. 

There are a number of guiding principles that sit 
across each of the five goals as well as information 
on the external factors that are influencing our 
current plan. The Local Government Performance 
Reporting Framework has also been incorporated 
into the Council Plans reportable measures. 

A key component of the Council Plan is how this 
relates to Council’s yearly budget process. As part 
of that budget, a Strategic Resource Plan has been 
developed, which translates the requirements of 
the Council Plan in to a four year forward 
projection of Council’s financial position and 
results. The Strategic Resource Plan is included as 
part of this Council Plan. 

Other important documents in Council’s Planning 
Framework are the Municipal Strategic Statement 
which is a requirement of the Planning and 
Environment Act 1987, and outlines Councils 
objectives for the future growth, development 
and management of land in the municipality, and 
sets out strategies to achieve these objectives. 

The Health and Wellbeing Plan is another 
important document that helps guide Councils 
decision making processes. It is a requirement 
under the Public Health and Wellbeing Act 2008 
and outlines goals and actions that guide Council 
in creating a local community in which people can 
achieve maximum health and wellbeing.  
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Horsham Rural City is a vibrant, diverse 
community situated approximately 300 
kilometres north-west of Melbourne and north 
of the Grampians National Park, in the heart of 
the Wimmera region of Victoria. Horsham 
Rural City Council has a population of 19,801 
(June 2017) and covers an area of 4,267 square 
kilometres.  Almost three quarters of residents 
live in the urban area of Horsham.  

Horsham is the major provider of retail, 
community and government services in the 
Wimmera, with dryland and broadacre 
agriculture being our major industry. The 
Grains Innovation Park, a nationally acclaimed 
agricultural research centre, is based in 
Horsham. There are a range of quality 
educational and health care facilities including 
secondary colleges, a university and an 

agricultural college. We also have a diverse 
array of natural assets including recreational 
lakes, wetlands, the Wimmera River, Mount 
Arapiles, the Wartook Valley and the 
Grampians National Park is nearby.     

Horsham Rural City Council includes the major 
centres of Horsham and Natimuk, and the 
localities of: Arapiles, Blackheath, Brimpaen, 
Bungalally, Clear Lake, Dadswells Bridge, 
Dooen, Douglas, Drung, Duchembegarra, Grass 
Flat, Green Lake, Greenland Dam, Haven, 
Jilpanger, Jung, Kalkee, Kanagulk, Kewell, 
Laharum, Longerenong, Lower Norton, 
McKenzie Creek, Mitre, Mockinya, Mount 
Talbot, Murra Warra, Noradjuha, Nurrabiel, 
Pimpinio, Quantong, Riverside, St Helens 
Plains, Telangatuk East, Tooan, Toolondo, 
Vectis, Wail, Wartook and Wonwondah. 

 

APPENDIX 10.2B



   Council Plan 2017 – 2021       10 

 

 

Population 19,801 (June 2017) 

Area 4,267 square kilometres 

Road Length 2,946 kilometres 

Number of Council Employees 184.7 EFT 

Number of Councillors 7 

Rateable Properties 12,276 

Total Revenue (including grants) $55,547,000 

Rate and Charge Revenue $22,080,000 

Major Employment Sector in Municipality Agriculture, Retail, Health Care and Social 
Assistance 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Data sourced from: 
Department of Health, Regional Health Status Profiles Grampians Region, 2012 
Regional Development Australia, Grampians, 2013 
Health.vic.gov.au, 2013 
Vic Health Survey results, 2014 
Department of Employment, 2016 
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The following principles inform the work that 
Council undertakes. 

Horsham Rural City Council will: 

 Recognise our place and importance as 
a regional centre 

 Recognise the significance of our 
agricultural community  

 Consult, engage and work 
transparently with the community 

 Recognise and support the important 
role of volunteers in our community 

 Liaise with Federal and State 
Government Ministers, Parliamentary 
representatives and neighbouring 
municipalities 

 Monitor changes in Federal and State 
Government policies and their impact 
on the funding of Council service 
delivery 

 Participate in appropriate peak state 
and regional level forums 

 Recognise the important and ongoing 
place that all indigenous people hold in 
our community 

 Foster an environment that embraces 
diversity as an integral part of our 
community 

 Promote and protect human rights 

 Protect and promote the municipality 
as a safe place to live 

 

 Continue to work with the community 
and community groups to address 
gender inequality issues 

 Attract and retain youth, professionals 
and people from all cultures to the 
municipality 

 Provide information to the community 
in a variety of formats using plain 
language where possible 

 Respect and protect our natural 
environment 

 Consider the impact of climate change 
in our key programs 

 Provide accessible and quality services 
in a timely and efficient manner 

 Comply with all statutory requirements 

 Provide accountable financial 
management and reporting 

 Evaluate refurbishment of appropriate 
Council assets before construction of 
new facilities 

 Value our local heritage and history 

 Seek creative, innovative solutions for 
continuous improvement in line with 
our vision for the future 

 Work with our community, 
government and agencies to deliver 
quality outcomes 

 Adopt standards before they become 
mandatory  

 Recognise the importance of economic 
growth and development 

 Promote and protect the rights of all 
children 
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Advocacy on behalf of the Horsham and wider 
Wimmera community is an important role for 
Council. We strive to work hard on a wide 
number of advocacy issues with our goal for 
the 2018-2022 Council Plan to advocate for 
the following: 

 

 Improved education and health 
outcomes for the community 

 Total mobile phone coverage across 
the municipality 

 The retention of recreational lakes or 
other recreational water facilities with 
the purpose of securing water based 
recreational opportunities in the 
municipality 

 Improved facilities at Horsham Police 
Station 

 Improved residential aged care 
facilities – particularly high need care 

 More flexibility and less onerous 
conditions in compliance with 
Environment Protection Authority 
requirements for landfill 

 Support upgrade of facilities and 
infrastructure at Longerenong College 
– shearing, chemical, class rotation, 
administration 

 Encourage the establishment of a 
passenger air service from Horsham to 
Melbourne and Adelaide 

 Affordable housing and social housing 

 Review of Council funding system by 
State and Federal Governments 

 Develop incentives program to attract 
in-demand skills to the region 

 

 Work with our regional partners to 
increase collaboration between 
communities, industry, businesses and 
government to address the most 
important challenges and opportunities 
in our region 

 Duplication of the Western Highway to 
Stawell and improved safety through to 
the South Australia border 

 Return of passenger rail 

 Horsham Road Bypass (alignment) and 
construction 

 Actively pursue the retention and 
further development of rail freight 
services for the region and lobby for 
containerised transport subsidy 

 Relocation of Horsham North School to 
the Kalkee Road Children’s Hub area 

 Family violence support and safety hub 
in Horsham  

 Alcohol and Drugs Rehabilitation Clinic 

 Attracting services: Medical, aged care, 
early years etc. 

 Wimmera Health Care Group Laundry 
redevelopment 

 Funding for second river road crossing 

 Electric vehicle charging points 

 Road funding for flood impact 
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  Our economy is evolving 
 The farming sector is diversifying as new technologies and practices are being adopted to 

adapt to global economic and climate changes 

 The continued consolidation of farming enterprises to create larger corporate entities 

 Mining in the municipality may increase, providing economic activity and employment 
opportunities 

 Horsham is leading the way in cropping research 

 We are a service centre for the region – cultural, health etc. 

 Rollout of the national broadband network will provide opportunities for the business and 
community sectors 

 Changing technology will provide us with more innovative business opportunities especially 
around online retailing, e-commerce and social media 

 Water savings from the Wimmera Mallee pipeline providing more economic, business, 
recreation and tourism opportunities 

 The Wimmera Intermodal Freight Terminal and surrounding precinct will provide numerous 
economic opportunities 

 Changes to the Local Government Act 

 Increase in Regulatory oversight 

 Availability of contractors from time to time 
 

Our community is changing 
 The municipality is continuing to experience some population increase, mainly with people 

moving to Horsham from surrounding areas 

 Our population is living longer and baby boomers are looking to retire to a place that meets 
their needs 

 There is an increase in people from diverse cultures moving to our municipality 

 Volunteer groups need help to be sustainable  

 A need to create community infrastructure which is more accessible 

 Effects of technology 

 Aged care reform 

 Visitor economy is changing 

 Increased rates of family violence 

 Community awareness and attitude towards non-acceptance of violence against women  

 
To attract and retain people in our municipality, quality services and cultural activities are 
needed including: 

 A range of public and private education facilities (from early years through to tertiary and 
lifelong learning) 

 High quality acute, allied health, mental health and residential aged care services 

 A choice of specialist health services and preventative health care programs 

 Appropriate and affordable housing 

 State-of-the-art cultural venues and events 

 Opportunities for sport, recreation and physical activity 

 Efficient and effective public transport within Horsham and connecting to larger centres 

 Opportunities for social connection 

 Importance of early years services 

For the municipality to be a good place to live and preserve our natural environments we 
need to: 

 Have connected and accessible urban and rural environments 

 Make greater use of assets such as the Wimmera River and recreational lakes 

 Maintain and develop assets that meet the community’s needs 

 Better manage our green and hard waste and educate the community on recycling and 
energy efficiency 

 Plan for the impacts of climate change 
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Community and Cultural Development 
Develop Horsham and the municipality as a diverse, inclusive and vibrant community 
 

  What we’ll aim for:  We’ll track progress in terms of: 

Long-term 
community goal 

Community and Cultural 
Development 

  

The Council’s 
four-year 
outcomes 

1.1 Contribute to building a 
vibrant, diverse and resilient 
community 

 100%  completion of construction of 
the Kalkee Road Children's and 
Community Hub and commencement 
of  operations by April 2018 

 1.2 Develop a safe, active and 
healthy community, 
encouraging participation 

 Completion of  a detailed feasibility 
study for a multipurpose/indoor sports 
and community facility by December 
2017 

 1.3 Contribute to cultural 
activities that enhance our 
community 

 Work with the Horsham Historical 
Society to plan for and scope a new 
Heritage Centre  

 1.4 Develop the municipality 
as a desirable place to live, 
work and enjoy for people of 
all ages and abilities 

 Securing funding for CBD Revitalisation 
Project Stage 1 - improved urban 
design  

 

Develop plans for a Town Square by 
December 2018  

 

What we’ll do  

The Council’s four-year priorities  

1.1 Contribute to building a vibrant, diverse and resilient community 

1.1.01 Pursue ongoing funding for a neighbourhood renewal program in Horsham North 

1.1.02 Pursue funding for implementation of the Horsham North Urban Design Framework 
and Railway Corridor Master Plan 

1.1.03 Facilitate ongoing development of community facilities at Cameron Oval, Laharum 

1.1.04 Facilitate ongoing development of community facilities at Haven Recreational 
Reserve 

1.1.06 Implement Volunteer Management Framework 

1.1.07 Develop and implement an Indigenous Reconciliation Action Plan  

1.1.08 Review future use of all kindergartens and Maternal & Child Health, post the 
Horsham North Children's Hub 

1.1.09 Develop a master plan for Dudley Cornell Reserve following the construction of the 
Children's Hub 

1.1.10 Support our local communities in developing community plans and strategies 
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What we’ll do – continued…  

The Council’s four-year priorities  

1.2 Develop a safe, active and healthy community, encouraging participation 

1.2.01 Develop and progressively implement a plan for the redevelopment of the Horsham City 
Oval precinct 

1.2.02 Encourage redevelopment of community facilities at the Horsham Showgrounds 

1.2.04 Implement outcomes from the multipurpose/indoor sports and community facility 
feasibility study 

1.2.06 Support family violence prevention programs & initiatives 

1.2.07 Development of Positive Ageing initiatives 

1.2.08 Review of Youth services in consultation with other agencies and develop a strategy 

1.2.09 Activate the Wimmera River Precinct for the community and visitors (including lights and 
greater presentation) 

1.2.10 Plan and progressively construct shared cycling and walking track paths along the 
Wimmera River -– from Riverside Bridge to Horsham Weir - both sides, including 
improvements to lighting and other facilities 

1.2.11 Improve presentation, lighting and walking track condition around the racecourse 

1.2.12 Encourage the development of a riverside café 

1.2.13 Support planning for review of use of the Riverside Recreation Hub precinct as part of the 
Wimmera River strategy 

1.2.14 Determine Councils future role in Aged Care as a consequence of Commonwealth 
Government Aged Care reforms currently being undertaken 

1.2.15 Support behaviours that reinforce respect and equality for women and address rising 
levels of family violence 

1.2.16 Support behaviours that reinforce respect and equality for all members of the 
community and address rising levels of violence generally 

1.3 Contribute to cultural activities that enhance our community 

1.3.01 Complete Business Plan to determine the viability and funding options for an artist in 
residence facility on the Wimmera River 

1.3.02 Work with the Wesley Committee of Management to review arrangements associated 
with the Wesley PAC 

1.3.04 Continue to develop the Horsham Cinema in the main cinema with improved seating, 
screen and sound in conjunction with the cinema operator  

1.3.05 Work with the Horsham Historical Society to plan for and scope a new Heritage Centre 

1.3.06 Support the Arapiles Historical Society with the Natimuk Museum development  

1.3.07 Form a stronger relation with Wimmera Machinery Field Days committee and their major 
and significant event in the municipality 

1.4 Develop the municipality as a desirable place to live, work and enjoy for people of all 
ages and abilities 

1.4.01 Work with other Councils and relevant agencies to prepare rollout of the National 
Disability Insurance Scheme 

1.4.02 CBD Revitalisation Project – 2016-2025 Stage 1 - improved urban design  

1.4.03 CBD Revitalisation Project – 2016-2025 Stage 2 - Town Square  

1.4.04 Work with Victrack to improve underpasses between Horsham North and wider Horsham 

1.4.05 Review the Domestic Animal Management Plan 
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Strategies and plans that support this goal: (Council will implement selected recommendations) 

 
Active Communities, Positive living, Planning 

for Longevity in the Wimmera 2009-29 

Arts & Cultural Plan 

Community Action Plans 

Community Development Framework 

Community Plans (Dadswells Bridge, 

Horsham, Laharum/Wartook, Natimuk) 

Disability Access and Action Plan 

Early Years Plan 

Health and Wellbeing Plan 

Horsham Rail Corridor Masterplan 

Municipal Emergency Management Plan 

Municipal Fire Management Plan 

Public Arts Implementation Plan 

Sport and Recreation Strategy 

 
 
 

Services and ongoing activities that support this goal: 

 
Animal Management 

Aged & Disability  

 Meals on Wheels 

 Home & Community Care Services 

Health & Wellbeing 

 Environmental Health 

Community Development 

 Community Arts 

 Community Engagement 

 Community Facilities 

 Disability Awareness & Capacity 

 Youth Services 

Community Safety 

 Admin of Community Local Law 3 

 Fire Hazard Enforcement 

Early Years 

 Supported Play Group 

 Maternal & Child Services – Universal 

Library 

Performing Arts 

 Horsham Town Hall Operations 

 Wesley Operations 

Visual Arts 

 Art Gallery 

 Art Gallery Education Program 

 Art Gallery Exhibitions Program 

Emergency Management 

 SES Support 

Wimmera Emergency Management 

Resource Sharing
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Horsham Rural City Council on an ongoing basis will:  

  

 Support the community with governance and management arrangements for 
community sport and recreation assets 

 Support sporting and community organisations to develop and upgrade community 
sport and recreation facilities through relevant funding programs in accordance with 
the Sport and Recreation Plan and other Council plans 

 Provide municipal emergency management services in accordance with Council’s 
Municipal Emergency Management Plan and Emergency Recovery Plan  

 Continue to work in partnership with Police and community safety organisations to 
create a safe, equal and respectful society for everyone 

 Work with the Wesley Committee of Management to review arrangements 
associated with the Wesley PAC  

 Encourage and support appropriate festivals, events and cultural activities within 
the municipality including those that celebrate and promote cultural and religious 
diversity and provide funding for marketing support 

 Participate in the sustainability Victoria “Sustainable Communities” Award program 

 Encourage cultural and diverse community activities and festivals to promote the 
municipality and encourage the use of our community spaces 

 Maintain support as a signatory for Communities of Respect & Equality Alliance 
(CoRE)  
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Sustaining the Economy 
Lead in sustainable growth and economic development 
 

 What we’ll aim for: We’ll track progress in terms of: 

Long-term 
community goal 

Sustaining the Economy  

The Council’s 
four-year 
outcomes 

2.1 Cultivate opportunities for the 
municipality to prosper and pursue 
possibilities for new development 

Complete Stage 1 infrastructure 
development at the Wimmera 
Intermodal Freight Terminal Precinct 
by May 2019 

 2.2 Support initiatives for improved 
transport services in and around 
the municipality 

 

 2.3 Increase visitors to the 
municipality 

Implement the outcomes from the 
Visitor Information Centre review by 
30 June 19 

 2.4 Promote Horsham as a regional 
city 
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What we’ll do   

The Council’s four-year priorities  

2.1  Cultivate opportunities for the municipality to prosper and pursue possibilities 
for new development 

2.1.01 Progress implementation of the Wimmera Intermodal Freight Terminal Precinct 
Plan and encourage opportunities for the establishment of associated industries 
including the mining sector 

2.1.02 Work with the economic and community sectors to maximise opportunities 
arising from the national broadband rollout, including training and awareness of 
on-line retail business opportunities 

2.1.04 Support development opportunities facilitated by the Wartook Valley strategy 

2.1.05 Facilitate further development of the Aerodrome Industrial Estate 

2.1.06 Develop partnerships with industry groups and government  

2.1.07          Support investigations into the community service station at Natimuk 

2.2  Support initiatives for improved transport services in and around the 
municipality 

2.2.01 Work with the business sector to maximise opportunities of the proposed 
Horsham bypass and work with the community to minimise social and 
environmental impacts including the Aerodrome and other community assets 

2.2.02 Support a Western Highway by-pass of Horsham 

2.2.03 Explore, with reference to current planning activities being undertaken, 
opportunities for improved timetabling and passenger rail and bus services to 
Horsham from outside and within the region (including Horsham to Halls Gap, 
Melbourne and Adelaide) 

2.2.04 Investigate the impacts of the relocation of the rail line out of the town area 

2.2.06 Implementation of the roads service (2016-2017), to encompass levels of 
service, construction and maintenance methods (including cost efficiency) 

2.2.07 Horsham Integrated Transport Strategy completed, including:  
• Stage 1 – Strategic road network, including regional highways,  
   railway and Horsham Bypass 
• Stage 2 – Horsham urban area 
• Stage 3 – Rural areas of municipality 

2.2.08 Develop a plan for a further vehicle bridge across the Wimmera River (including 
location) and determine the timing when this should be constructed. 

2.2.09 Support the development of the Grampians Way (ring road) - 'Stage 1 Mt Zero 
Access Road, Stage 2 Establish Picnic sites/viewing areas and signage, Stage 3 
Seal remaining North West alignment (Winfield Rd north of Plantation Rd) 

2.2.10  Provide input to VicRoads on the redevelopment of the Western 
Highway/Hamilton Road/Golf Course Road interection 
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What we’ll do continued… 

The Council’s four-year priorities 

2.3  Increase visitors to the municipality 

2.3.01 Investigate opportunities for the development of the Green Lake/Dock Lake 
recreational precinct 

2.3.02 Pursue opportunities for improvements at the Police Paddock 
Reserve/Horsham North including walking and bike tracks in the vicinity 

2.3.03 Support the development of the Grampians Peak Trail 

2.3.04 Explore opportunities from the 2017-18 Australian and International Motor 
Cross Events 

2.3.05 Investigate marketing and funding through the RMIT for the Zero to Nhill 
Trail 

2.3.06 Investigate opportunities and plan for possible bike trails, Green Lake to 
Horsham, Horsham to Natimuk, Wartook to Zumsteins 

2.4  Promote Horsham as a regional city 

2.4.01 Support the WDA initiative to promote a Grains Centre of Excellence 
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Strategies and plans that support this goal: (Council will implement selected recommendations) 

 
Bicycle and Shared Path Plan 

Economic Development Strategy 

Electric Power Line Operational  

Clearance Plan 

HRCC Tourism Masterplan  

2016-2020 – draft 

Mt Arapiles Tooan State Park Study  

 

Municipal Parking Strategy  

Municipal Strategic Statement 

Sustainability Strategy  

Wimmera Intermodal Freight Terminal 

Precinct Structure Plan 

Services and ongoing activities that support this goal: 

 

Management & Admin 

Planning & Promotional Management & 

Admin 

Planning & Economic Development 

Services 

Economic Development 

 Business Development 

 Industrial Estates 

 Wimmera Business Centre 

 Wimmera Development Association 

 Wimmera Intermodal Freight Terminal 

Parking & Traffic Management 

 Parking Control 

School Crossing Supervision 

Promotions & Tourism 

 Caravan Park 

 Tourism Development 

 Visitor Information Centre 

Promotions of Festivals & Events 
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Horsham Rural City Council on an ongoing basis will:  

 Encourage the growth opportunities for specific sectors including manufacturing, 
mineral sands, retail, viticulture, agriculture, horticulture and grains research 

 Support the Wimmera Mining Sector Plan to maximise long term economic and 
social benefits 

 Encourage business opportunities from water available from the Wimmera Mallee 
Pipeline system 

 Consider targeted trade and economic opportunities associated with business and 
economic sectors in the municipality utilising modern and emerging technology 

 Support and actively participate in the Wimmera Development Association 

 Support future operations and opportunities for the Wimmera Business Centre 
through the Committee of Management to reinforce its ongoing viability and 
effectiveness in fostering new business enterprises 

 Encourage linkages with local business and tourism associations to assist growth and 
prosperity of the retail, commercial and tourism sectors 

 Support investigation of localised renewable energy generation facilities 

 Encourage development of private vacant, unserviced land in the industrial zones 
and for Council to pursue the development of additional industrial sites 

 Pursue opportunities for the establishment of suitable enterprises at Burnt Creek 
Industrial Estate and Horsham Enterprise Estates 

 Actively participate in the Regional Living Expo and program 

 Promote and attract conferences to Horsham 

 Facilitate the attraction of major sporting events 

 Promote and encourage safe bicycle use as a sustainable alternate mode of 
transport, including provision of bicycle parking facilities 

 Continue resourcing tourism, event and festival funding through the Tourism 
Advisory Committee 

 Work with Governments to improve the quality of pre school, primary, secondary 
and tertiary educational services to attract and retain families in the municipality 

 Continue to develop sustainable water reuse projects including reuse of storm water 
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Asset Management 
Meet community and service needs through provision and maintenance of infrastructure 
 

 What we’ll aim for: We’ll track progress in terms of: 

Long-term 
community goal 

Asset Management  

The Council’s 
four-year 
outcomes 

3.1 Determine infrastructure needs 
and expectations through 
consultation with developers and 
the community 

Develop a consultative process for 
community input into road 
construction and maintenance 
priorities for input to the 2018-19 
budget, by April 2018 

 3.2 Ensure projected financial and 
physical programs reflect 
infrastructure needs 

Finalise preparation of asset 
management plans for all main asset 
groups by December 2018 

 3.3 Maintain asset management 
systems that will assist planning 
asset maintenance and capital 
renewal 

Implement improved asset 
management and maintenance 
management systems by December 
2018 

 3.4 Deliver works to develop and 
maintain Council’s physical assets 
for long term sustainability, 
amenity and safety 

Complete, or commit via contracts, 
90% of infrastructure works (by 
value) within the planned financial 
year 
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What we’ll do 

The Council’s four-year priorities 

3.1 Determine infrastructure needs and expectations through consultation with 
developers and the community 

  

3.1.02 Undertake a review of Council infrastructure asset holdings to ensure they meet 
future community needs and longer term implications of ownership 

3.1.03 Purchase additional land for hangar space at Aerodrome including access-way 
development 

3.1.04 Development of an Aerodrome Master Plan and implementation of planning 
overlays to protect the future development space of the Aerodrome 

3.1.05 Develop a prioritised plan for upgrade of community recreation facilities 

3.1.06  Implement a cyclic renewal program for all public convenience facilities in the 
Horsham central business district and across the municipality  

3.1.07 Undertake master planning and major refurbishment of the Aquatic Centre  

3.1.08 Develop improved park and street tree policy as an ‘urban forest plan’ 

3.1.09 Identify and develop new off street parking areas on CBD fringe 

3.1.10 Develop a master plan of streetscape themes and service levels for existing 
streets and new developments 

3.2 Ensure projected financial and physical programs that reflect infrastructure 
needs 

3.2.01 Implementation of the Civic Centre Redevelopment Plan 

3.2.02 Confirm and undertake design and planning for the relocation of the municipal 
depot including potential co-location of Tech Services planning and delivery staff 

3.3 Maintain asset management systems that will assist planning asset 
maintenance and capital renewal 

3.3.01 Develop a maintenance and replacement schedule for all groups of assets 
managed by Council, including heritage listed buildings 

3.3.02 Develop and implement asset management plans for all nominated asset groups 
to assist with long term financial and asset management planning and legislative 
requirements - involve the community in the process 

3.3.03 Develop and implement a fair and transparent pricing policy for all of Council's 
community facilities 

3.4 Deliver works to develop and maintain Council’s physical assets for long term 
sustainability, amenity and safety 

3.4.01 Develop infrastructure that encourages greater participation and use of alternate 
transport options to the city (eg, walking, cycling and public transport) 

3.4.02 Master plan preparation for the Livestock Exchange including potential items 
such as: roofing to cover yards, electronic ramps to replace manual ramps, 
compost turner and Radio Frequency Identification (RFID), solar panels and 
water capture 

3.4.03 Develop and review the Sports and Recreation Strategy 

3.4.04 Develop additional off leash areas for dogs 

3.4.05 Develop improved entrances to all towns (street signage and landscapes) 

3.4.06 Investigate and plan Wesley PAC refurbishment and Jubilee Hall upgrade 
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Strategies and plans that support this goal: (Council will implement selected recommendations) 

 

Asbestos Management Plan 

Asset Management Plan 

Asset Management Improvement Strategy 

Horsham Aerodrome Business Plan 

Horsham South Drainage Strategy  

Road Management Plan 

 

Services and ongoing activities that support this goal: 

 

Management & Admin 

 Technical Services Management & Admin 

Asset Management – Customers, Internal, 

EMG, Council 

Building Asset Management 

Business Activities 

 Aerodrome Operations 

 Livestock Exchange Operations 

 Private Works Recharged 

Operations Management 

 Operations Management 

 Fleet Management 

Rural Infrastructure 

 Bridge Maintenance 

 Road Construction 

 Road Maintenance 

 Quarry Management 

Parks & Gardens 

 Playgrounds 

 Open Spaces 

 Community Housing 

 Street Cleaning 

 

 

 

Streetscapes & Public Conveniences 

 City Centre 

 Public Conveniences 

Street Lighting 

 Street Signage 

 Other Street Assets 

 Tree Maintenance 

Sports & Recreation 

 Aquatic Service 

 Sports Complexes Indoor – Maintenance 

Sports Complexes Outdoor – Ovals, Turf & 

Grass 

 Major Projects  

Urban Infrastructure 

 Footpaths 

 Walking Trails/Paths 

 Stormwater Drainage 

 Off Street Car Parks 

 Road Construction 

 Road Maintenance 
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Horsham Rural City Council on an ongoing basis will: 

 Continue the Horsham central business district upgrade of streetscaping 

 Continue to support the Horsham Bypass implementation  

 Continue construction and implementation of drainage infrastructure for Horsham 
North and Horsham South 

 

 Prioritise risk and condition reports for all assets  

 Continue to actively pursue initiatives to reduce the infrastructure renewal funding gap 

 Encourage greater use of information technology systems for asset and risk 
management, including the Geographic Information System 

 

 Improve and enhance facilities in Horsham including the Visitor Information Centre, 
Horsham Aquatic Centre and Botanical Gardens to attract more visitors to the 
municipality 
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Governance and Business Excellence 
Excel in communication, consultation, governance, leadership and responsible use of 
resources 
 

 What we’ll aim for: We’ll track progress in terms 
of: 

Long-term 
community goal 

Governance and Business 
Excellence 

 

The Council’s 
four-year 
outcomes 

4.1 Continuously improve 
communication and 
engagement with the 
community through effective 
consultation 

Complete an engagement 
process by 30 June 18, with 
community, for the 2018/19 
Council Plan and Budget cycle 
that is more deliberative and 
explains the “why” of council 
services 

 4.2 Manage risk to the 
organisation 

 

 4.3 Be an employer of choice Maintain staff turnover rates at 
under 10% 

 4.4 Achieve high standards of 
organisational performance 

Increase overall score in the 
Community Satisfaction Survey 
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What we’ll do: 

The Council’s four-year priorities 

4.1  Continuously improve communication and engagement with the community through 
effective consultation 

4.1.01 Review the rates strategy and implement  

4.1.02 Feedback to community clearly explaining "why" Council delivers the services that it 
does 

4.1.03 Prepare for a more deliberative approach to community engagement following the 
adoption of the major revisions to the Local Government Act including seeking 
community ideas for prosperity 

4.1.04 Review our communications methods with a view to increasing electronic engagement 
with our customers and the community 

4.2 Manage risk to the organisation 

4.2.01 Review programs for savings/cancellation of services 

4.2.02 Implement a robust financial and performance management system 

4.2.03 Respond to emerging risks through the strategic risk register and internal audit 

4.3 Be an employer of choice 

4.3.01 Investigate opportunities for participating in employee exchange programs 

4.3.02 Pursue implementation of Council’s Workforce Strategy and identify opportunities for 
indigenous/migrant employment 

4.4 Achieve high standards of organisational performance 

4.4.01 Widen the implementation of the Merit Customer Service request tracking system 
across the organisation 

4.4.02 Develop an ICT Strategy for Council including GIS capabilities 

4.4.03 Develop a Management Strategy for Council’s record and data management systems 

4.4.04 Embrace new technology in order to achieve greater efficiencies and outcomes across 
the organisation 

4.4.05 Review sister city relationships as a means of facilitating business, educational and 
cultural networks and exchanges 

4.4.06 Review the Name and Address Register (NAR) database to create single name and 
address database 

4.4.08 Manage the implementation of the major revision to the Local Government Act 

4.4.10 Work with surrounding Shires to identify opportunities for shared services 

4.4.11  Support training and programs relating to family violence and gender equality 

4.4.12 Support cultural awareness training and programs 
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Strategies and plans that support this goal: (Council will implement selected recommendations) 

 
Audit Committee Charter 

Business Continuity Plan 

Customer Service Charter 

Digital Communication Strategy 

Internal Audit Program/Plan 

Occupational Health and Safety Plan 

Risk Management Plan 

Rates Strategy 

Risk Management Strategy 

Service Overview 

Strategic Audit Plan 

Strategic Risk Management Framework 

Strategic Resource Plan 

Volunteer Manual 

 

Services and ongoing activities that support this goal: 

 

Management & Admin 

 Building Operations 

 Corporate Service Management 

 General Office Operations 

Financial Services 

 Treasury Management 

 Financial Reporting 

 Receivables Management – Debtors 

Governance & Leadership 

 CEO Operations 

 Council, Mayor & Councillors 

 Media & Communications                                                                                                                                                                                                                                  

Organisational Development 

 Human Resources 

 Occupational Health & Safety 

Rates & Property Services 

 Rates 

 Valuation & Property Services 

Information & Technology 

 IT Support 

 Software/Hardware   
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Horsham Rural City Council on an ongoing basis will: 

 

 Maintain relationships with other levels of Government and peak bodies including continued 
participation in the Regional Cities Group and Wimmera Development Association 

 Foster improved organisation probity, practices and risk management through the effective 
operation of Council’s Audit Committee 

 Promote staff wellbeing and fitness 

 Continue to improve performance reporting and regular management reporting across all areas of 
Council 

 Continue to participate in cadetship/scholarship programs 

 Apply continuous improvement and review all Council’s processes and services 

 Strengthen business unit planning to enhance overall organisational planning and performance 

  Encourage Councillors to participate in professional development  

 Implement Council’s Risk Management Strategy and Risk Action Plan under the guidance of the Risk 
Management Committee 

 Maintain a detailed strategic risk register and prudent financial and risk management controls in 
accordance with the Risk Management Strategy 

  Ensure that Council has in place systems and processes to comply with relevant legislation 
requirements and obligations 

 Provide regular reporting to Council on the status of Key Stakeholder, advocacy and significant 
relationships 
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Natural and Built Environments
Lead in environmental best practice, create a municipality for the future and plan for the impacts of 
climate change   
Encourage and increase awareness of environmental responsibilities within Council and the 
community, whilst planning for a growing municipality and implement practices that minimise our 
environmental footprint and contribute to a sustainable future 

 What we’ll aim for: We’ll track progress in terms of: 

Long-term 
community goal Natural Environment 

 

The Council’s 
four-year 
outcomes 

5.1 Promote sustainability by 
encouraging sound 
environmental practice 

Update and promote our Sustainability 
Strategy by June 2018 

Install solar panels on at least two Council 
buildings by June 2018 

 5.2 Plan for rural and urban 
land use to create a 
sustainable municipality for 
the future 

90% of planning permits issued within the 60 
day statutory period 

 

Complete at least one major strategic 
planning review prior to 30 June 18 
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What we’ll do: 

The Council’s four-year priorities 

5.1           Promote sustainability by encouraging sound environmental practice 

5.1.01 Investigate opportunities for the use of Renewable energy for Council facilities 
including Solar Panels where feasible on Council buildings and facilities 

5.1.02 Review Council’s Environment Sustainability Strategy and lead the community in 
environmentally sustainable practices to improve management of our natural 
environment 

5.1.03 Develop a Climate Change Response Strategy for Council operations 

5.1.04 Support the Natimuk Community Energy Project 

5.1.05 Establish a sustainability reserve for the ongoing funding of sustainability related 
projects. 

5.1.06 Develop and implement a Waste Management Strategy 

5.1.07 Explore GWM recycled water use within the community 

5.1.08 Optimise use of water basins - capturing storm water 

5.1.09 Investigate and support renewable energy opportunities throughout the 
municipalities 

5.1.10 Investigate options for shade at sporting facilities, recreational facilities and public 
spaces across the municipality 

5.2 Plan for rural and urban land use to create a sustainable municipality for the 
future 

5.2.01 Complete the Horsham South Structure Plan 

5.2.02 Complete the Rural Land Use Strategy  

5.2.03 Complete the Public Open Space Strategy  

5.2.04 Complete the Wimmera River Corridor Strategy  

5.2.05 Review and further develop planning controls for heritage items through the 
completion of heritage studies 

5.2.06 Encourage the upgrade of heritage facades on shop fronts along key retail strips 
and investigate possible contributions from Councils commercial property reserve 

5.2.07 Amend the Planning Scheme to implement the recommendations from flood 
investigations 
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Strategies and plans that support this goal: (Council will implement selected recommendations) 

        
Environment Management Plan 

Environment Sustainability Strategy 

Roadside Vegetation Management Plan 

Street Tree Strategy 

Sustainable Water Usage Plan 

Wartook Valley Strategy 

Wimmera River Improvement Plan 

 
 

Services and ongoing activities that support this goal: 

 
Building Services Regulatory 

 Building Approvals 

Planning Services 

 Statutory Planning 

Waste Management Services 

 Garbage Services 

 Recycling 

 Transfer Stations & Landfills 

Parks & Gardens 

 Waterways, Foreshores & Wetlands 

Natural Resource Management 

 Fire Protection Works 

 Other Street Assets 

 Roadside Vegetation Management 

 

   

 

Horsham Rural City Council on an ongoing basis will:  

 Look to reduce Council’s carbon footprint and lead through example with energy efficiency 
initiatives 

 Support the Wimmera Mining Sector Plan to minimise environmental impacts for the 
municipality 

 Support investigation of localised renewable energy generation facilities 

 Promote and encourage safe bicycle use as a sustainable alternate mode of transport,  
including provision of bicycle parking facilities 

 Continue to develop sustainable water reuse projects including reuse of storm water 
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Four-year priorities completed during the term of this Council 

Goal 1 

1.1.05      Complete construction of the Kalkee Road Children’s and Community Hub and  
commence operations 

1.2.03      Complete a detailed feasibility study for a multipurpose/indoor sports and community 
facility 

1.2.05      Development of the Health and Wellbeing plan 2017 

1.3.03      Develop a public art action plan 

 

Goal 2  

2.1.03      Develop an Economic Development Strategy 

2.2.05      Review Municipal Parking Strategy 

 

Goal 3 

3.1.01      Develop improved pedestrian access (bridges) across the Wimmera River in Horsham, in  
partnership with land developers 

3.2.03      Review and update Road Management plan 

 

Goal 4 

4.4.07      Renew HRCC external website 

4.4.09      Review need for more HR resources 

 

Goal 5 

 

 
 
 
 

APPENDIX 10.2B



   Council Plan 2017 – 2021       37 

 

Local Government Performance Reporting Framework 

The Victorian Government has been working with Councils to develop and continually review 
the Local Government Performance Reporting Framework (LGPRF) which ensures that all 
Councils are measuring and reporting on their performance in a consistent way. 

The Local Government Amendment (Performance Reporting and Accountability) Act 2013, 
came into operation on 18 April 2014, and amended the Local Government Act 1989 in 
preparation for Victoria’s new performance reporting framework. 

The new legislation and framework improves public accountability, strategic and financial 
planning, and reporting requirements across local government. 

From July 2014, the LGPRF became mandatory for implementation by Councils as part of the 
planning and reporting cycle for the 2014-2015 financial year.  

Councils report against a standard set of indicators that allow benchmarking of results. This 
gives the community better access to information about how their Councils are performing 
across a range of areas. Results are published each year via www.knowyourcouncil.vic.gov.au.  

A comprehensive range of service areas were initially considered with the list currently refined 
to nine common local government services plus five optional service areas. Horsham Rural City 
Council can also voluntarily develop indicators surrounding further service areas. 

A Governance and Management checklist also forms part of the framework to ensure Horsham 
Rural City Council have appropriate Policies, Plans and Frameworks in place surrounding areas 
such as Risk, Emergencies, Assets, Fraud, Community Engagement and Financial Management.  

 

Governance Food Safety 

Statutory Planning Maternal and Child Health 

Roads Home and Community Care (optional) 

Libraries Economic Development (optional) 

Aquatic Centre Sports Grounds (optional) 

Waste Collection Immunisation (optional) 

Animal Management Street Sweeping (optional) 
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Strategic Resource Plan 
The Strategic Resource Plan identifies the financial and non-financial resources required over the 
four-year period of 2018-2022. The purpose of the Strategic Resource Plan is to ensure adequate 
resources are available to maintain services at levels established by the Council and to 
implement the Council Plan priorities. It also helps to establish a basis from which to measure 
Council’s adherence to its policies and strategies and to plan for long-term financial sustainability 
for the municipality. 

Development of the plan 
The four-year Council Financial Plan has been prepared in accordance with the requirements of 
the Local Government Act 1989. The Act requires the Council to prepare and approve a four-year 
Council Plan, including a Strategic Resource Plan. The Strategic Resource Plan includes a four-
year financial estimate that comprises the standard statements of the Comprehensive Income 
Statement, Balance Sheet, Statement of Changes in Equity, Statement of Cash Flows, Statement 
of Capital Works, Statement of Human Resources, four-year Capital Works Expenditure and a 
Summary of planned Human Resources Expenditure.  

The Strategic Resource Plan is revised annually as part of the annual review of the Council Plan 
and is also informed through the annual budget process. Projections are based on Council’s four 
year priorities and ongoing service delivery levels. 

Economic environment and key financial assumptions 
The Strategic Resource Plan is prepared and revised annually based on the latest economic and 
financial information available at the time of its preparation. As economic and financial variables 
change over time, the plan is adjusted accordingly to take account of these movements. 
The key financial assumptions underpinning the Strategic Resource Plan are detailed in Table 1.  

Table 1: Financial assumptions of Strategic Resource Plan 

 2018-2019 2019-2020 2020-2021 2021-2022 

Rates increase 2.25% 2.2% 2.2% 2.2% 

CPI 2.0% 2.0% 2.0% 2.0% 

Total revenue increase 0.5% -2.1% 12.9% 4.4% 

Total cost increase 6.1% 0.4% -3.1% 1.6% 

Investment returns 2.2% 2.2%  2.2%  2.2% 

The Strategic Resource Plan was developed through a rigorous process, and is based on the 
following key information: 

• Audited financial statements as at 30 June 2017 

• 2018-19 Council Budget  

• A range of assumptions about changes in future income and expenditure associated with 

 meeting current levels of services 
• Economic environment - financial indicators based on external sources 

• The need to comply with the principles of sound financial management as contained in the Act 

• Prudently manage financial risks relating to debt, assets and liabilities 
• Provide reasonable stability in the level of rate burden 
• Consider the financial effects of Council decisions on future generations 
• Provide full, accurate and timely disclosure of financial information 
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Key objectives of the 
financial plan 
The key objectives that underpin the financial 
plan include: 

• maintain the existing range and level of 
service provision and where possible 
develop the capacity to grow and add new 
services 

• maintain a strong cash position, ensuring 
that Council remains financially 
sustainable in the long term 

• a trend towards an underlying operating 
surplus 

• maintain debt levels below prudential 
guidelines 

• continue to pursue recurrent grant 
funding for strategic capital funds from the 
state and federal governments 

Table 2: Key financial indicators of the Strategic Resource Plan 

Key Financial Indicators 

 Budget Strategic Resource Plan 

 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 2020-21 

 ($000’s) ($000’s) ($000’s) ($000’s) 

Underlying Surplus/(deficit) 1,475 171 8,403 10,169 

Total Revenue 52,489 51,384 58,407 60,590 

Total Operating Expenditure 51,014 51,213 49,644 50,421 

Gross Capital Expenditure 15,055 16,737 27,583 22,939 

Cash Inflow/(Outflow) (2,635) (701) (726) 358 

Cash Assets 10,956 10,255 9,531 9,890 

Asset Renewal Ratio 1 0.76 1.09 1.15 0.91 

1 Asset Renewal Ratio = Capital Expenditure (Renewal) / Depreciation 

• provide for rate increases that establish a 
sustainable funding level, including 
increasing capital funding for asset 
renewal  

• a rate increase contained within the State 
Governments Rate Cap for 2018/19 of 
2.25% with the assumption that the cap 
will remain at 2%  

• this reflects expected minimal general 
cost increases but does not allow for 
continued growth in service demand 
across the municipality. Any growth will 
need to be met through improving 
efficiencies in existing operations and 
services 

• ensure critical asset renewal items are 
funded annually over the timeframe of 
the plan 

• rating strategy that provides stability in 
the rate burden  

The Council recognises the need for long-term financial 
planning and will embark on the development of a 10-
year financial plan in future updates. 
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Horsham Rural City Council comprehensive income statement for the four years ended 30 June 
2022 

 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 
  $’000   $’000   $’000   $’000  

Income     

Rates and garbage charge  26,702 27,443 28,200 28,994 

Grants - Operating (recurrent)  8,123 8,286 8,451 8,620 

Grants - Operating (non recurrent)  4,205 3,292 230 230 

Grants - Capital (recurrent)  888 995 995 995 

Grants - Capital (non recurrent)  2,596 451 10,130 10,374 

User charges and other fines  6,162 6,285 6,411 6,539 

Other income  2,361 2,411 2,476 2,541 

Contributions - cash  70 204 200 540 

Contributions - non monetary  900 900 900 900 

Statutory fees & fines  484 504 524 544 

Net gain/(loss) on disposal of property, 
infrastructure, plant and equipment  

(42) 558 (525) 258 

Fair value adjustments for investment 
property 

10 25 25 25 

Share of net profits of associates 30 30 30 30 

Total income 52,489  51,384 58,047  60,590  

 

Expenses 

    

Employee costs 17,970 18,366 18,770 19,183 

Materials and services 20,500 20,268 17,978 18,026 

Borrowing costs  295 260 365 510 

Depreciation 10,900 11,060 11,220 11,380 

Bad and doubtful debts 72 76 80 84 

Other expenses 277 283 331 338 

Written down value of assets disposed  1000   900   900   900  

Total expenses 51,014  51,213   49,644   50,421  

Surplus (deficit) for the year 1,475 171 8,403 10,169 

Other comprehensive income     

Net asset revaluation increment  5,000 5,000  10,000 

Comprehensive result 6,475 5,171 8,403 20,169 

The above comprehensive income statement should be read in conjunction with the 
accompanying other information. 
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Horsham Rural City Council balance sheet for the four years ended 30 June 2022 

 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 

  $’000   $’000   $’000   $’000  

Current assets     

Cash and Cash equivalents 10,956 10,255 9,531 9,890 

Trade and other receivables 1,615 2,000 2,410 2,582 

Financial assets 17,800 17,800 17,800 17,800 

Other assets 955 974 993 1,000 

Inventories 700 714 728 736 

Non-current assets held for sale 350 350 350 350 

Total current assets 32,376 32,093 31,812 32,358 

Non-current assets     

Trade and other receivables 200 178 156 134 

Investment property 2,500 2,525 2,550 2,575 

Investments in associates 1,308 1,338 1,368 1,398 

Property, infrastructure, plant & equipment 468,282 478,074 490,973 511,982 

Total non-current assets 472,290 482,115 495,047 516,089 

Total assets 504,666 514,208 526,859 548,447 

Current liabilities     

Trade and other payables 6,550 6,772 6,850 7,051 

Interest-bearing loans and borrowings 546 806 809 851 

Provisions 4,901 4,921 4,803 5,048 

Total current liabilities 11,997 12,499 12,462 12,950 

Non-current liabilities     

Provisions 2,499 3,118 2,975 2,607 

Interest-bearing loans and borrowings 5,738 8,988 13,416 14,715 

Total non-current liabilities  8,237 12,106 16,391 17,322 

Total liabilities  20,234 24,605 28,853 30,272 

Net assets 484,432 489,603 498,006 518,175 

Equity     

Accumulated surplus 237,543 238,711 247,643 257,260 

Reserves - asset replacement 18,333 17,336 16,807 17,359 

Reserves - asset revaluation 228,556 233,556 233,556 243,556 

Total equity 484,432 489,603 498,006 518,175 

The above balance sheet should be read in conjunction with the accompanying other 
information. 
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Horsham Rural City Council statement of changes in equity for the four years ended  
30 June 2022 

  Accumulated   Revaluation    Other  

  Surplus   Reserve   Reserves  

 $’000 $’000 $’000 

2019       

Balance at beginning of the financial year 233,166 223,556 21,235 

Surplus for the year  1,475   

Net asset revaluation increment   5,000  

Transfer to Reserves  (4,132)  4,132 

Transfer from Reserves  7,034  (7,034) 

Balance at end of the financial year 237,543 228,556 18,333 

2020    

Balance at beginning of the financial year 237,543 228,556 18,333 

Surplus for the year  171   

Net asset revaluation increment  5,000  

Transfer to Reserves (4,332)  4,332 

Transfer from Reserves 5,329  (5,329) 

Balance at end of the financial year 238,711 233,556 17,336 

2021    

Balance at beginning of the financial year 238,711 233,556 17,336 

Surplus for the year  8,403   

Net asset revaluation increment    

Transfer to Reserves (4,132)  4,132 

Transfer from Reserves 4,661  (4,661) 

Balance at end of the financial year 247,643 233,556 16,807 

2022    

Balance at beginning of the financial year 247,643 233,556 16,807 

Surplus for the year  10,169   

Net asset revaluation increment  10,000  

Transfer to Reserves (4,132)  4,132 

Transfer from Reserves 3,580  (3,580) 

Balance at end of the financial year 257,260 243,556 17,359 

The above statement of changes in equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying 
other information. 
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Horsham Rural City Council statement of cash flows for the four years ended  
30 June 2022 

 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 

 Inflows / Inflows / Inflows / Inflows / 

 (Outflows) (Outflows) (Outflows) (Outflows) 

 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

Cash flows from operating activities     

Receipts     

General rates & charges 26,627 27,368 28,110 28,894 

Statutory fees & fines 464 484 504 514 

User Charges & other fines (incl. GST) 5,862 6,085 6,211 6,339 

Contributions (inclusive of GST) 30 164 160 500 

Interest 445 485 525 531 

Government grants operations (incl.  GST) 11,641 11,178 8,281 8,450 

Government grants capital (inclusive of  
GST) 

3,284 1,246 10,925 11,169 

Other revenue (inclusive of GST)  3,734 4,080 4,123 4,202 

Total Receipts 52,087 51,090 58,839 60,599 

Payments     

Employee costs (17,270) (18,066) (18,470) (18,883) 

Materials and consumables (19,800) (19,568) (17,778) (17,826) 

Other expenses (1,977) (2,283) (2,331) (2,338) 

Total Payments (38,833) (39,698) (38,358) (38,824) 

Net cash provided by (used in) operating 
activities 

13,040 11,173 20,260 21,552 

Cash flows from investing activities     

Payments for property, infrastructure, 
plant & equipment  

(15,055) (16,737) (27,583) (22,939) 

Proceeds from property, infrastructure, 
plant & equipment  

214 1,614 2,531 914 

Net cash provided by (used in) investing 
activities 

(14,841) (15,123) (25,052) (22,025) 

Cash flows from financing activities     

Finance Costs (295) (260) (365) (510) 

Repayment of borrowings (542) (546) (806) (809) 

Proceeds from borrowings  4,055 5,237 2,150 

Net cash provided by (used in) financing 
activities 

(837) 3,249 4,066 831 

Net increase/(decrease) in cash & cash 
equivalents 

(2,638) (701) (726) 358 

Cash & cash equivalents at the beginning 
of the financial year 

13,594 10,956 10,257 9,532 

Cash & cash equivalents at the end of the 
financial year 

10,956 10,255 9,531 9,890 

The above statement of cash flow should be read in conjunction with the accompanying other 
information. 
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Horsham Rural City Council statement of capital works for the four years ended  
30 June 2022 

 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 
 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

Property      

Land   1,000  

Buildings 1,437 4,955 14,335 11,438 

Total Property 1,437 4,955 15,355 11,438 

Plant and equipment     

Plant, equipment & other   1,759 1,759 1,759 1,759 

Furniture & office equipment 294 100 100 100 

Total Plant and equipment  2,053 1,859 1,859 1,859 

Infrastructure      

Road assets  6,940 5,608 5,704 7,262 

Bridges  210 220 130 130 

Footpaths and cycleways  1,007 600 500 410 

Drainage   100   

Recreational, leisure and community facilities  1,346 200 50 450 

Waste management  1,090 2,145  405 

Parks, open space and streetscapes  51 150 3,470 70 

Off street car parks  40 15 15 15 

Other infrastructure  681 885 500 900 

Total Infrastructure  11,565 9,923 10,369 9,642 
Total capital works expenditure  15,055 16,737 27,583 22,939 
Represented by:      

Asset Renewal  8,330 12,030 12,880 10,371 

Asset Upgrade  1,895 1,942 5,309 5,077 

New Assets  4,830 2,765 9,394 7,491 
Total capital works expenditure  15,055 16,737 27,583 22,939 

The above statement of capital works should be read in conjunction with the accompanying 
other information. 

  Funding sources 
Represented by:      

Grants  3,484 1,446 11,125 11,369 

Contributions to Capex  55 204 200 540 

Council cash  11,516 11,032 11,021 8,880 

Borrowings  4,055 5,237 2,150 
Total capital works expenditure  15,055 16,737 27,583 22,939 
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Horsham Rural City Council statement of human resources for the four years ended  
30 June 2022 

 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 
 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

Staff expenditure     

Employee Costs - Operating  17,970 18,366 18,770 19,183 

Employee Costs - Capital 898 916 935 953 

Total staff expenditure  18,868 19,282 19,705 20,136 

     

Employees  202 202 202 202 

Total staff numbers   202 202 202 202 

The above statement of human resources should be read in conjunction with the accompanying 
other information. 
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Horsham Rural City Council summary of planned resources expenditure for the four years ended 
30 June 2022 

 2018/19  Permanent 
Full time  

Permanent 
Part Time 

 $’000  $’000 $’000 

Community and enterprise services  4,400  2,294 2,106 

Corporate services 3,649  3,051 598 

Planning and economic services  2,141  1,915 226 

Technical services  8,678  8,488 190 

Total staff expenditure  18,868  15,748 3,120 

     

 

 

 

 2018/19 
FTE 

 Permanent 
Full time  

Permanent 
Part Time 

     

Community and enterprise services  45  20 25 

Corporate services  35  28 7 

Planning and economic services  22  18 4 

Technical services  100  98 2 

Total permanent staff 202  164 38 
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Active Communities, Positive Living, 
Planning for Longevity in the 
Wimmera plan – A joint strategy 
aimed at ensuring that the Wimmera 
continues to be a region where 
residents are able to age well and 
remain active within their local 
communities. 

Advocacy – Series of actions taken and 
issues highlighted to change ‘what is’ 
into ‘what could be’ 

Agency – An organisation that has 
been established to provide a 
particular service in the community. 

Best Value Program – A State 
Government policy which is applied to 
services provided by Council based on 
six principles, eg, quality and cost 
standards, responsiveness, 
accessibility, continuous improvement 
and consultation. 

Burnt Creek Industrial Estate – 
Restricted serviced large lot industrial 
land at Burnt Creek situated four 
kilometres south of Horsham. 

Central Activity District Strategy – A 
strategy that provides guidance about 
land use and development. 

Changing Places Toilet Facility – 
Accessible toilets with extra features 
and more space including: a height 
adjustable adult-sized changing bench, 
a tracking hoist system, space and a 
safe and clean environment. 

Climate Change – A significant and 
lasting change in the statistical 
distribution of weather patterns over 
time periods, ranging from decades to 
millions of years. 

Commitments – Objectives that are a 
specific, measurable statement of 
what will be done to achieve our 
goals. 

Community Engagement Strategy – A 
strategy developed by Council to plan 
how we are going to conduct 
community consultation.  It helps us 
work out who we need to consult with 
and what the best way of consulting is. 

Council Plan – Outlines Council’s 
process of defining its 
strategy/direction and making 
decisions on allocating resources to 
pursue this strategy/direction. 

Cultural Development Plan – A plan 
aimed at enriching the Horsham 
community by creating a diverse and 
inclusive arts environment where 
contemporary and heritage cultures 
are celebrated. 

Disability Access and Action Plan – A 
plan developed by Council that 
identifies goals and actions to reduce 
barriers created by attitudes with 
practices and structures to ensure that 
all people can participate equally in 
the life of our community.  

Environment Sustainability Strategy – 
A strategy developed by Council that 
focuses on environment sustainability 
practices. 

Geographic Information System – A 
system designed to capture, store, 
manipulate, analyse, manage and 
present all types of geographical data. 

Grampians Peak Trail – A long 
distance walking track through the 
Grampians National Park. 

Grampians Way – A proposed tourist 
route around the Grampians National 
Park.  

Guiding Principles – Principles that 
inform the work that Council 
undertakes. 

Health and Wellbeing Plan – Outlines 
goals and actions that guide Council 
creating a local community in which 
people can achieve maximum health 
and wellbeing. 

Horsham City Framework for 
Managing Growth – A strategic land 
use planning study to manage the 
growth of the municipality.  

Horsham Enterprise Estate – Serviced 
industrial land between Golf Course 
Road and Plumpton Road, Horsham.   

Infrastructure Renewal Funding Gap – 
The annual shortfall in spending 
needed to maintain Council 
infrastructure.  

Key Direction – The strategic objective 
or desired future such as achievement 
of a goal or a solution to a problem. 

Key Performance Indicators – A type 
of performance measurement used to 
evaluate progress towards strategic 
goals.   

Local Government Act – Legislation 
which provides a framework for the 
establishment and operation of 
Councils in Victoria. 

Makers Studio – A community facility 
funded by Horsham Rural City Council 
which includes a large studio space 
and gallery located adjacent to the 
Horsham Library. 

Mission – A statement of purpose. A 
Mission should guide the actions of 
the organisation and spell out its 
overall goal, provide a path and guide 
decision-making.   

Mt Arapiles Tooan State Park study – 
A study that explores the opportunity 
for sensitive development of visitor 
facilities at Mt Arapiles to help attract 
longer stays in the region and provide 
economic benefits for the area. 

Municipal Early Years Plan – A plan 
that outlines early years services and 
opportunities for children in the 
municipality aged 0 to 8 years. 

Municipal Emergency Management 
Plan and Emergency Recovery Plan – 
A plan that outlines emergency 
management and recovery processes 
for the municipality. 

Municipality – A city, town, or village, 
incorporated for local self-
government. 

Municipal Bicycle Plan – A plan 
developed by Council that encourages 
active travel in the municipality. 
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Municipal Strategic Statement – 
Outlines objectives for the future 
growth, development and 
management of land in the 
municipality and sets out strategies to 
achieve these objectives 

Planning Framework – Sets out the 
broad principles required to guide the 
Horsham Rural City Council Planning 
process. 

Public Art – Artworks that have been 
planned and executed with the specific 
intention of being sited or staged in the 
physical public domain, generally 
outdoors and accessible to all.   

Regional Character Study – A study 
that identifies the valued 
characteristics of residential areas in 
the region.  

Regional Cities Group – Includes the 
municipalities of Ballarat, Greater 
Bendigo, Greater Geelong, Horsham, 
Latrobe, Mildura, Greater Shepparton, 
Wangaratta, Warrnambool and 
Wondonga – the 10 largest cities 
outside of metropolitan Melbourne. 

Regional Living Expo – An expo held at 
the Melbourne Convention and 
Exhibition Centre each year that 
showcases the outstanding 
opportunities available in regional and 
rural Victoria. 

Regional Waste  Management 
Strategy – A regional waste 
management strategy for the 
Grampians Regional Waste 
Management Group which comprises 
of the municipalities of Horsham Rural 
City, Ararat Rural City, Yarriambiack 
Shire and Northern  Grampians Shire 
Council.   

Risk Management Strategy – A 
strategy developed by Council that 
promotes an organisation wide 
approach to risk management.   

Road Management Plan – A plan that 
establishes procedures and systems for 
the maintenance of public roads in the 
municipality.   

Roadside Vegetation Management 
Strategy – A strategy developed by 
Council to assist in the management of 
roadside vegetation. 

Special Charges Scheme – Legislation 
under the Local Government Act (1989) 
that allows Councils to recover the cost 
of works from property owners who 
will gain special benefits from that 
work. 

Sport and Recreation Advisory 
Committee – An advisory committee of 
Council whose role is to provide advice 
on sport and recreation matters. 

Sport and Recreation Plan – A five year 
strategy that aims to increase and 
maintain participation in sport and 
recreation in the municipality.   

Strategic Resource Plan – Outlines the 
resources required to achieve Council’s 
commitments as detailed in the Council 
Plan. 

Urban Design Framework – A 
framework that deals with the design 
of buildings, public spaces, pedestrian 
and vehicle access and landscape 
themes.   

Tourism Advisory Committee – A 
Statutory Committee of Council whose 
role is to advise Council on innovative 
ways to promote the municipality 
ensuring that existing and potential 
retail, commerce, tourism, art and 
cultural enterprises receive maximum 
exposure. 

Tourism and Major Events Master Plan 
– A plan adopted by the Tourism 
Advisory Committee that aims to 
increase visitation, economic growth 
and sustainability through the provision 
of quality event support, regional 
marketing and customer service to 
visitors, businesses and the community.   

Values – Our principal or standards - 
what is important to the organisation.  

Vision – An aspirational description of 
what the organisation would like to 
achieve or accomplish in the mid to 
long term.  

  Western Highway – The Western 
Highway is part of the principal route 
linking Melbourne and Adelaide, with a 
length of approximately 314 kilometres.   

Wimmera Mining Sector Plan – A plan 
that informs Councils, regional 
businesses and communities, potential 
investors and property owners about 
new opportunities through exposure to 
a potential increase in mining activities 
in the region.  

Wimmera Intermodal Freight Terminal 
– A 23.5 hectare terminal at Dooen that 
provides a central location for grain 
storage facilities and grain export 
processors, access to freight depots, 
grain silos and processing plans and 
builds on the region’s nationally 
significant and export focused grains 
industry.  

Wimmera Southern Mallee Regional 
Strategic Plan – Outlines the strengths, 
challenges and a way forward for 
communities, businesses and the 
unique environment of the Wimmera 
Southern Mallee region which 
encompasses the municipalities of 
Buloke, Hindmarsh, Horsham, Northern 
Grampians, West Wimmera and 
Yarriambiack. 

Wimmera Southern Mallee Regional 
Growth Plan – Provides a regional 
approach to land use planning in the 
Wimmera Southern Mallee.  It covers 
the municipalities of Hindmarsh, 
Horsham, Northern Grampians, West 
Wimmera and Yarriambiack and 
identifies opportunities for encouraging 
and accommodating growth and 
managing change over the next 30 
years. 

Wimmera Development Association – 
The peak economic development 
organisation for the Wimmera 
Southern Mallee region. 

Workforce Strategy – A strategy that 
has determined what Council’s 
workforce will need to look like in the 
future to deliver long term strategic 
objectives. 
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Mayor’s Introduction  
 
I am pleased to release the proposed 2018-19 Horsham Rural City Council budget to the community 
for comment and public submissions. 

This proposed budget has been written in the context of the Draft 2018-2022 Council Plan, which is 
also currently out for public submissions.  The Council Plan outlines our key strategic objectives and 
directions, as we work to build a better municipality by delivering improved services, facilities and 
opportunities for the community under the five goals of:                      

1.         Community and Cultural Development 
2.         Sustaining the Economy 
3.         Asset Management 
4.         Governance and Business Excellence 
5.         Natural and Built Environments 

This document details the resources required over the next year to fund the large range of services 
we provide to the community.  It also includes details of proposed capital expenditure allocations to 
improve and renew our city’s physical infrastructure, buildings and operational assets, as well as 
funding proposals for a range of operating initiatives. 

As Councillors, it is our job to listen to the community and understand your priorities.  This year, 
Council will again be undertaking a range of activities to engage with the community to help further 
inform the proposed budget.  

This budget proposes a rate increase of 2.25%, which is in-line with the Fair Go Rates System rate 
cap announced by the Minister for Local Government in December 2017. Horsham Rural City Council 
successfully applied to the Essential Services Commission for a 1% increase above the rate cap in 
2016-17 to allow for renewal of our ageing infrastructure, as we have done now since 2008-09. In 
2017-18, we funded a further 1% infrastructure levy contribution from within the rate cap and have 
made provision for this again for 2018-19. This has been achieved whilst still maintaining the standard 
of delivery on all of our extensive services, and commencing the full year’s operations of the new 
Kalkee Road Community and Children’s Hub.  This has been possible by continuing to maintain tight 
budgetary control, achieving some innovative efficiencies and utilising rates growth funds from new 
development within the community during 2017-18. 

The garbage charge has risen by an additional $33 for residential garbage collection service due to 
some significant cost increases in the cost to council for recycling services. Council is working to 
provide a tip voucher to affected ratepayers to partially help compensate for this increased cost.   

In this proposed budget, $15.05 million has been allocated towards capital works expenditure - $8.32 
million is for renewal works, $1.89 million for asset upgrades and $4.83 million for new assets.  New 
assets include: $2.49 million for core infrastructure assets for the further development of the Wimmera 
Intermodal Freight Terminal, $0.98 million for new plant and equipment, $0.34 million for footpaths 
and cycle-ways and $0.77 million for buildings.  

A significant renewal project is the $1.32 million refurbishment of the outdoor pool with new pipework, 
gutters and wet-deck concourse. Council’s infrastructure renewal fund will be increased again by a 
further 1% of the rate revenue, or $0.23 million, to take it to $2.40 million. Of this, $1.84 million will be 
spent on Council’s roads. Overall, Council is spending an extra $0.40 million on roads from general 
revenues (11.7% increase from last year – which is well above the 2.25% rate cap). Total spending 
on roads, however, has decreased by $0.46 million due to Federal funding for the Roads to Recovery 
program returning to normal level following a $1.11 million increase in 2017-18.  

This year the Appendix D has been added to this report to provide more detailed information on many 
of the significant capital works being proposed by council. 

The proposed budget was developed through a rigorous process of consultation and review and 
Council endorses it as financially responsible. 

 
Cr Pam Clarke 
Mayor 
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Executive summary 
 
Council has prepared a Budget for the 2018-19 financial year that sees rate increases remain within 
the state government imposed rate cap of 2.25%, maintains service delivery, continues with 
operational initiatives to become more efficient and effective in the way services are delivered, whilst 
still investing in new and renewal of ageing infrastructure. 
 
The State Government introduced the “Fair Go Rates System” in 2016-17 that places a cap on rates 
for all 79 Council’s across the state. The cap has been set by the Minister at a maximum increase of 
2.5% for 2016-17, 2.0% for 2017-18 and now 2.25% for 2018-19. Councils are able to apply to the 
Essential Services Commission for a rate cap variation. Council applied for a 1% variation in 2016-17 
but has not elected to do so in 2017-18 or 2018-19, yet has continued to increase its infrastructure 
renewal commitments and continue service delivery through its existing rate capped budget.   
 
Council has a range of both internal and external cost pressures to contend with and still recognises 
the need to play an important role as the regional city for the western area of the state, with the 
provision of quality services to more than just our own residents.  
 
Key budget information is provided below about the rate increase, operating result, services, cash and 
investments, capital works, financial position, financial sustainability and strategic objectives of the 
Council. Council has continued to deliver a budget that is balanced on a cash basis.  
 

1. Key things we are funding: 

 

This year’s operations include $3.16 million in grants and expenditure to fund the Grampians Peak 
Trail. This is a project being supported by Council, for which we will receive a federal grant, however, 
this will be passed on in full to Parks Victoria who have full responsibility for this project.  
 
In terms of ongoing operations and service delivery, Council has not made any cuts to service levels 
within the community and in fact has continued to fund $0.49 million of new initiatives to drive further 
efficiencies and improve our effectiveness. Council has also brought on-line the operations of the new 
Kalkee Road Community and Children’s Hub. 
 
Council has also increased funding from general revenue for capital works by 4.3% from $5.477m to 
$5.714m, nearly double the 2.25% rate cap. Overall spending on infrastructure (roads, bridges, 
footpaths, cycle-ways and drainage) has increased by 9% with roads specifically increased by 11.7%. 
 
 

a) Operational initiatives: 

The following are some highlights in operational initiatives by each group, a full list is provided in 
Appendix A: 
 
Community Services 

• Community Facilities and Halls Pricing Policy Impacts - $30k 
It is proposed to introduce a new approach to the charges and pricing of community facilities 
and this may lead to the need to make some funding adjustments to some community groups. 
This fund will allow for that transitional change to occur.  

• Early Years Plan Review - $15k 
Current plan is out of date with current practises and needs to reflect the new Children’s Hub 
operations. 

• Horsham North Urban Design Framework (UDF) Initiatives - $15k 
Short term actions re the Horsham North UDF, including infrastructure and community 
engagement. 

• Social Infrastructure Framework - $60k 
Effectively and efficiently plan for the physical, community and human services infrastructure 
across the municipality. 
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Corporate Services 

• Civica Version 7 Upgrade - $30k 
Civica is council’s main corporate management information system handling our finances and 
rates systems. A significant upgrade to the software has been released and it is necessary for 
this upgrade to be implemented if we wish to take full advantage of new features and 
functionality. 

• Grant Applications Project Estimates - $20k 
In the past when grant applications have been made we have obtained quotes for works 
which then leads to expectations from those providing the quote that they may be contracted 
the work. By providing this fund we can pay contractors for these initial estimates thereby 
making them more accurate and not creating expectations. 

• IT / Records Trainee - $35k 
We have had a trainee in the Records Unit for the last 12 months and this has been funded 
through the aboriginal reconciliation initiative. Providing a trainee is invaluable for our 
community and provides added resource to council. This trainee would be across both 
records management and basic IT. 
 

Planning and Economic Services 

• Certificate 4 Statutory Compliance Training and Backfill - $40k ($24k general revenue) 
Formal training for 4 staff in the Community Safety Unit re statutory compliance 

• Locking Systems Council Buildings 2017-18, 2018-19 - $15k 
Convert more buildings across to council’s common locking systems 

• Sports Marketing Event Attraction Costs Additional Funding - $15k 
Support for the 2018 PGA Pro-Am Western open golf tournament 
 

Technical Services 

• CBD Shop Front Enhancement and Shade Incentive - $53k ($0 from general revenue) 
Funding for businesses to improve shop front appearances and verandahs in the CBD – 
funded entirely from Firebrace street properties reserve. 

• CBD Revitalisation - $1,360k ($0 from general revenue) 
Significant project that involves both capital and operational expenditure, funded from a mix of 
grants and the CBD reserve. Initiative component includes project management, operational 
costs and relocation of powerlines underground. Capital component will include footpaths 
west of Roberts, Pynsent and McLachlan Streets plus laneway activation and an additional 
public amenities building. 

• Dial Before You Dig Response Software Licence - $20k 
Hosted software to provide a faster response times and a more efficient process to provide 
clear plans for contractors 

• Apex Island Park Reserve Precinct Planning - $20k 
Develop an overall master plan for the Apex Island river front area. 

• E-Waste Management - $50k ($0 from general revenue) 
Will fund the investigation of alternative arrangements for e-waste following the cessation of 
e-waste recycling. Funded from the waste reserve. 

• Road Clearances Tree Clearing/Pruning - $90k 
Increased allocation to improve accessibility of large farm equipment movements of rural 
roads. 

• Sport and Recreation Strategy Review - $40k 
Updating of the 2013-18 Strategy to reflect the changing face of sports and recreation and its 
impact on Health and Wellbeing within the municipality. 

• Sustainability Strategy Review - $40k 
Update the 2010 Strategy that reflects current understanding, actions and priorities. 

 

b) Capital Works: 

The capital works program for the 2018-19 year is expected to be $15.05 million. There will also be 
carried forward works uncompleted from 2017-18 but as yet these are not finalised or factored in to 
the budget, this will be done soon after 30 June. The 2018-19 works are funded from, $3.48 million 
external grants, $0.05 million from general contributions and donations, with the balance of $11.52 
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million from Council cash ($5.71 million from operations, $0.21 million from asset sales and $5.58 
million from reserves). There are no borrowings planned for this year. 

 
Renewal works total $8.33 million or 55% of the overall program (last year was 46%), $2.40 million 
of this is from the tagged rate rises since 2008-09. New works total $4.83 million or 32% and 
upgrade works $1.89 million or 13%. Infrastructure makes up the largest segment of works $11.56 
million or 77%.  

 
The capital expenditure program has been set and prioritised based on Council’s Capital 
Evaluation Model, consideration of priorities from Councillors and Management plus issues of 
available grant funding, completion of design works and general readiness to proceed.  More detail 
on this year’s program is provided in Section 4.5 with a full list in Section 4.5.2.  

 
This year again Council has included its draft capital works program on the Community Map on 
council’s website.  

 
Some highlights of the program are as follows with more detail provided in Appendix D: 

 
Council Plan Goal 1 – Community and Cultural Development 
 

• $0.07 million (Renewal works) - Horsham Town Hall - Hall Selective Restumping Infra 
Gap (plus possible grant funding) 

 
Council Plan Goal 2 – Sustaining the Economy and Environment 
 
• $2.49 million (New works) Industrial Estates - Wimmera Intermodal Freight Terminal core 

infrastructure, including roads, drainage & power/water supply (Grant Dependent) 
 
Council Plan Goal 3 – Asset Management  
 

• $1.32 million (Renewal works) Aquatic Centre - Outdoor Pool Refurbishment - Pipework, 
Gutter, Wet-deck Concourse 

• $0.56 million (Renewal works) Footpath renewal works - Pynsent/Roberts Ave/Wilson 
Stage 2 Paving (Grant Dependent) 

• $0.16 million (New works) Footpaths - Wimmera River Detailed design of a new 
Pedestrian Footbridge - Hamilton Street 

• $1.46 million (Renewal and upgrade works) Urban Road Reconstruction including final 
seals, road drainage and kerb & channel works.  

• $1.90 million (Renewal and upgrade works) Rural Road Reconstruction including final 
seals. 

• $1.36 million (Renewal) Road rehabilitation works 
• $0.30 million (Renewal works) Road Drainage - Urban, Darlot St Drain 
• $0.20 million (New works) Aerodrome Stormwater Detention and Retention System 
• $0.18 million (New works) New Public Conveniences Hamilton St 
• $0.10 million (Upgrade works) Horsham - Operations Management, Depot Relocation 

Design & Estimates 
• $0.10 million (New works) Sports and Recreation, Wimmera Indoor Sports Stadium 
• $1.71 million for plant and equipment replacements 

 
Council Plan Goal 4 – Governance and Business Excellence 
 

• $0.40 million (Renewal, New & Upgrade works) Civic Centre Reception Alterations to 
main customer service entrance 

• $0.10 million (New works)  - CBD Revitalisation Grant CBD extension to Public Wi-Fi 
• $0.08 million (New works) Council chamber amplification and sound system, including 

video conferencing and hearing loop. 
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Council Plan Goal 5 – Natural and Built Environments 
 

• $1.00 million (Renewal & Upgrade works) Waste Transfer Station Improvements - Kenny 
Road  Transfer station upgrade of facility (Grant Dependent) 

• $0.20 million (New works) Sustainability Projects such as, double glazing, solar panels 
and other energy efficiency projects across council facilities 

 

2. Summary of Budget on a Cash Basis 
 

 
 
Council has again delivered a budget that is balanced on a cash basis in line with its objectives in the 
Strategic Resource Plan. This means that rate revenues received plus other general revenue (such 
as interest and untied grants) are equal to the net cash cost of the provision of services and the 
delivery of capital works. The % increase in rates shows as 3.48% as it is a comparison with last 
year’s original budget as opposed to the forecast figures for 2017-18 which takes in to account actual 
rates from growth during 2017-18. See Section 4.1.1 (l) that reconciles these figures. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

2017-18 

Original 

Budget

Draft 2018-19 

Budget

$ Change from 

Prior Year 

Budget

% Change from 

Prior Year Budget

General Revenue Sources:
Rates -22,579,760 -23,364,919 -785,159 3.48%

Rates - Supplementary -140,000 -150,000 -10,000 7.14%

Grants Commission - Federal Recurrent -5,804,717 -6,061,060 -256,343 4.42%

Interest Earned -530,000 -564,500 -34,500 6.51%

Miscellaneous -130,605 -61,791 68,814 -52.69%

Total General Source Income -29,185,082 -30,202,270 -1,017,188 3.49%

Service Delivery:
Income:

All Sources and Programs -13,764,385 -14,218,999 -454,614 3.30%

Expenditure:

Total Salaries 16,819,271 17,579,129 759,858 4.52%

Total Non-Salaries 17,249,393 17,174,373 -75,020 -0.43%

Financing Costs 1,185,650 1,252,986 67,336 5.68%

Total Service Delivery & Finance Costs 21,489,929 21,787,489 297,560 1.38%

Initiatives and Capital:
Initiatives 466,700 499,347 32,647 7.00%

Transfers to/(From) Reserves for Capex -423,762 -203,608 220,154

Infrastructure Gap Reserve 2,174,000 2,404,000 230,000 10.58%

Capital Funding from General Revenue 5,477,584 5,714,600 237,016 4.33%

Total Initiatives & Capital 7,694,522 8,414,339 719,817 9.35%

Total Funded from General Revenue 29,184,451 30,201,828 1,017,377

Deficit / (Surplus) (631) (442) 189
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3. The Rate Rise 
 

 
 

Council’s general rate increases, since 2008-09, have ranged from 4.0% to 5.5% with additional 
tagged rate increases for infrastructure renewal between 1.0% and 2.0%. For three years a 1.0% rate 
rise was also included for the new infrastructure project of the Horsham Town Hall and Performing 
Arts Centre.  
 
2018-19 sees the general increase reduce from 1% to only 1.25% with the 1.0% Infrastructure 
Renewal component included within the overall 2.25% rate cap as set by the Minister. 
 
Council has continued to see minor growth in its rate base with new supplementary rates estimated to 
raise $0.22 million in the 2017-18 year. This is estimated at $0.15 million for 2018-19. This rate growth 
in most years, helps contribute to the delivery of services for a growing population at approximately 
0.6% per annum and helps with servicing new public open spaces arising from new sub-divisions. In 
2018-19 this growth income has been utilised, in part, to balance the budget and allow Council to  
fund the 1% infrastructure renewal reserve and yet still deliver on the same quantity, standard and 
level of service.  
 
Note that for every $100 in taxes paid by Victorian residents, rates make up approximately $3.50. The 
other $96.50 goes to the State and Federal Governments. (www.abs.gov.au) 

 

4. Garbage Charges 

 
Garbage costs will increase by around $33 per service for residential services which is an increase of 
9.44% for 240 litre bin services and 14.5% increase for 120 litre bin services. Approximately $30 of 
this increase is due to changes in the recycling service where the industry charges for recycling 
product have increased due to changes in China’s policy around contaminants in recycling product.  
 
This is impacting on these services for all councils across the nation and relevant authorities are 
working together to look for alternative solutions for recycled product and to contain these costs 
further into the future. 
 
Rural services that do not receive a recycling service are not impacted and their charges have 
increased by approximately 1.4%. 
 

5. Valuations 

Valuations will be as per the General Revaluation dated 1 January 2018, and new values are based 
on the independent assessment of the Valuer General and their agent. A summary of shifts across 
categories are as follows: 
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The general shift in value gives an indication of relative movements between sectors and includes the 
value of new developments in that sector. The final impact for individuals will depend upon their own 
property’s movement in value relative to all other properties in the municipality. Other factors that will 
affect an individual rate payers % change is the impact of the Fire Services Levy which is set by the 
State and is not subject to the rate cap and the user charge for waste which is increasing on average 
by 9% for residential properties which is significantly more than the rate cap due to the increasing 
costs of recycling services. Refer Section 4.1.1 for further Rates and Charges details. 
 

6. Key Statistics 

 

• Total Revenue:    $52.5 million   (2017-18 = $52.4 million) 

• Rates & Charges % of total: 
Revenue:   50.8%   (2017-18 = 48.8%) 

• Total Expenditure:   $51.0 million   (2017-18 = $48.1 million) 

• Salary Costs % of total 
excluding depreciation:  44.8%   (2017-18 = 47.2%) 
 

• Surplus/(Deficit)for the year: $1.47 million surplus (2017-18 = $4.36 million surplus) 
or (Accounting Result) (Refer Income Statement in Section 3) 
 

• Underlying operating result:  $2.09 million deficit  (2017-18 = $1.70 million deficit) 
 (Note: Underlying operating result is an important measure of financial sustainability as it excludes income which is 
to be used for capital, from being allocated to cover operating expenses) 

• Net Increase/(Decrease)in Cash: $2.64 million decrease  (2017-18 = $0.76 million increase) 

or Cash Result  (Refer Statement of Cash Flows in Section 3) 

 

• Total Capital Works Program (Excl carry forwards) $15.05 million   (2017-18 = $18.28 million) 

o $5.71 million from Council operations (Funded from rates and other general revenue) 
– and increase of 4.3% well above the rate cap. 

o $0.00 million from borrowings 
o $0.21 million from asset sales 
o $3.48 million from external grants  
o $5.59 million from cash reserves 
o $0.05 million from contributions 

 
• Total Net Asset Values for Property, 

Infrastructure, Plant & Equipment: $468 million  (2017-18 = $458 million) 
 

• Staff Numbers  

Full-time Equivalents:      202 FTE   (2017-18 = 196 FTE) 
 
Total Staff Numbers:       254   (2017-18 = 248)  

Category

Residential 4% -0.6%

Farms 17% 11.8%

Commercial 12% 6.8%

Industrial 7% 2.3%

Culture & Recreational -1% -6.6%

Overall Average 9% 3.5%

Valuation Change 

Increase / 

(Decrease)

Rating Change 

Increase / 

(Decrease)
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7. Key Budget Influences 
 
External Influences 
The following external influences have been taken in to consideration in the preparation of the 2018-
19 Budget as they are likely to impact significantly on the services delivered by council: 
 

• Rate capping: 2018-19 was the third year of Rate Capping within the Victorian Local 
Government Sector. The actual rate cap for 2018-19 was 2.25%. 

• Operating costs: Local Government Cost Index typically increases by approximately 1% more 
than CPI. This is because the CPI is based on a weighted basket of household goods and 
services which are quite different from those of local governments. Consumer Price Index 
(CPI) for the 12 months to 30 June 2017 was 2.2% and is expected to remain at this low level.  

• Wage movement: Australian Average Weekly Earnings (AWE) – growth trend for all sectors 
full-time adult ordinary time earnings in the 12 months to May 2017 was 2.1%.  

• Grants Commission: In 2014-15 the Federal Government ceased indexation of the Grants 
Commission funds thereby locking in a reduction in real terms.  The freeze on indexation has 
applied for the years from 2014-15 to 2016-17. The cumulative impact over the 3 years was 
close to $1.0m with an ongoing impact in the order of $0.45m. Indexation resumed in 2017-18 
and is anticipated that for 2018-19 increases will be minimal due to current low CPI forecasts. 

• Statutory Superannuation: contributions are now locked in at 9.5% until 2021-22.  

• Defined Benefits Superannuation: Council contributed $2.9m from reserves in 2012-13 
towards the defined benefits superannuation shortfall, and has been putting aside $100k per 
annum for potential further contributions. This has continued for the 2018-19 budget. The 
Vested Benefits Index for the fund was 103.1% of value as at the 30 June 2017. Should the 
value fall to 97% then Councils will be asked to make a further contribution. 

• Utility costs: Electricity costs are expected to rise significantly as a new power agreement is 
under negotiation. Exact increase is as yet unknown but has been factored in at 17.25%. 
Generally speaking, power and gas costs have continued to rise, but at the same time council 
has been installing solar panels which will help to reduce ongoing costs of electricity. Savings 
from ongoing operations will be taken to the sustainability reserve in order to help fund 
additional projects in to the future. Water costs are estimated to rise at around 2% in line with 
Grampians Wimmera Mallee Water cost rises.  

• Fuel: Council operates a significant number of vehicles and plant. Fuel costs have remained 
relatively stable in recent years but pricing movements are very difficult to predict and hence 
have been factored in at CPI only. 

• Insurance costs: At this stage it is not clear what will happen with insurance premiums. 
However the expectation is that they should not rise by more than CPI. Workcover insurance 
premiums are anticipated to fall as Council has commenced under the MAV self-insurance 
scheme. 

• Interest rates on investments: Interest rates have been slowly falling over the last 12 months 
from 1.9% down to 1.67% (for 28 day term deposits). This downward trend ceased in Sept 16 
with longer term rates now around 2.2%. 

• EPA levies: Expected to rise higher than CPI at 2.3%.  

• Increases in the costs of waste recycling services due to China’s new policy regarding the 
level of contaminants in exported recyclable materials. 

 

Internal Influences impacting on the Council Budget: 

• Horsham Town Hall: operational costs for the town hall and potential revenues are now well 
understood and resourcing was reviewed during 2016-17. 

• Kalkee Road Community and Children’s Hub: construction was completed in January 2018, 
and additional operational costs have been included in the budget. 
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• Wage movement: The council’s EBA runs until 30 June 19 and the annual wage increase has 
been fixed at 2.1% or $26 for each of the 3 years. On top of the EBA 2.1% there is a further 
0.4% factored in for end of band payments and for staff movements within band. 

• Rating Strategy: The council’s rating strategy was last extensively reviewed in 2013-14 and 
no major changes have been proposed in 2018-19.  

• Revaluation: 2018 is a revaluation year. There has been significant increases in value well 
above general CPI levels with overall values increasing by 9.13% and farm values on average 
increasing by 17.21%. This difference between the farm sector increases and all other sector 
increases has been a consistent trend over the past decade or more. The State Government 
has announced that from 1 July 2018 valuations will be undertaken on an annual basis rather 
than every 2 years. Exact impact of this change is not yet fully understood. 

• Asset renewal Funds: Council is responsible for a range of ageing infrastructure. There is 
however a shortfall between the required spend to maintain all assets to an appropriate 
standard and the available funds. This is known as the asset or infrastructure renewal gap 
and is currently approximately $4m per annum.  

Our current Asset Management Policy calls for an annual rate increase of up to 2.0% to 
specifically contribute to this shortfall. A 2% rate increase was tagged for the years from 
2008-09 to 2011-12. For the years from 2012-13 to 2015-16 only a 1% rate increase was 
tagged to contribute to the renewal gap. In 2016-17 council successfully applied to the 
Essential Services Commission for a specific 1% rate increase above the Rate Cap to 
continue with this initiative. In 2017-18 and again in 2018-19 an additional 1% was added 
even though Council did not increase its rates by more than the state government rate cap. 

 

8. Budget wish list  
 

Each year Council prepares its budget with the inclusion of grants from both the Federal and State 
Governments where it believes there is a reasonable opportunity of success. The following table 
details the projects that are dependent upon successfully obtaining grants for them to proceed and 
the status of the relevant grant funding as at April 2018: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Project Description Total Project 

Cost

Grant 

Certain

Grant not yet 

Obtained

Pynsent/Roberts Ave/Wilson Stage 2 Paving, Footpath $560,000 -$280,000

WIFT Precinct Industrial Estate Development of core Infrastructure $2,495,208 -$1,250,000

Transfer station improvements upgrade of facility $1,000,000 -$500,000

Jubilee Hall Kitchenette $99,000 -$66,000

Sustainability Projects $200,000 -$100,000

Outdoor Pool Pipework, Gutter, Wetdeck Concourse $1,316,160 -$200,000

CBD Revitalisation - New Public Conveniences Hamilton St $180,000 -$90,000

CBD Revitalisation relocate powerlines underground (Not Capital) $800,000 -$400,000

CBD Revitalisation Operational Items (Not Capital) $520,000 -$260,000

CBD Revitalisation Grant Laneway Activation $120,000 -$60,000

CBD Revitalisation Grant CBD Public Wi-Fi Implementation $100,000 -$50,000

Total $7,390,368 -$1,450,000 -$1,806,000
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9. Population Growth 
 

 
 
 
How are we travelling against population projections? 
 
Horsham’s role as a regional City for the Wimmera continues to provide opportunities for growth in 
population numbers and expansion of the rate base, however, as some of this growth is from those 
retiring from surrounding farm areas it brings with it the need to maintain our levels of service and in 
some cases grow services to meet the increasing demands. 
 
Horsham is a service centre for the surrounding agricultural region and is the centre for grains 
research within the state which has seen continued growth in agriculture research and development 
investment in the municipality.  
 
The need to provide an appealing and vibrant centre to attract professionals to live and stay is an 
important consideration for Council when planning services. The Estimated Resident Population 
(ERP) data for Horsham Rural City Council was released in June 2016. The new figure for Horsham’s 
ERP is 19,817 which is a net increase of 363 people since June 2011 or an increase of 0.4% per 
annum for the period.  
 
In the next 5 years (to 2021) Horsham is predicted to have increased in population by a further 614 
residents or 0.6% per annum. By 2031 this is set to increase at a similar rate of 0.6% per annum or 
1,300 residents to a population of 22,224 by 2031.  
 
In all there is a predicted population change for Horsham Rural City of 2,701 residents over the 20 
year period of 2011-2031 or an average annual of 0.6% per annum. 
 

2011 2015 2016 2021 2026 2031

Population 19,523 19,774 19,886 20,509 21,370 22,224
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19,000

19,500

20,000

20,500
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1. Link to the Council Plan 
 
This section describes how the Annual Budget links to the achievement of the Council Plan within 
councils overall planning and budgeting framework. This framework guides the Council in identifying 
community needs and aspirations over the long term, medium term (Council Plan) and short term 
(Annual Budget) and how the timing of the planning & budgeting cycle during the year.  

 
 

1.1 Planning and accountability framework 
 
The Strategic Resource Plan, included in the Council Plan, is a rolling four year plan that outlines the 
financial and non-financial resources that Council requires to achieve the Goals (Strategic Objectives) 
described in the Council Plan.  The Annual Budget is then framed within the Strategic Resource Plan, 
taking into account the services and initiatives included in the Annual Budget which contribute to 
achieving the strategic objectives specified in the Council Plan. The diagram below depicts the 
planning and accountability framework for Council. 
 

 
 

The Council Plan is prepared with reference to Council's Planning & Budgeting Framework which was 
adopted by Council in 2017. An important component of the planning framework is the timing of 
activities which are critical to the successful achievement of the planned outcomes. Council’s planning 
cycle is broadly depicted in the following diagram, but will vary each year particularly with respect to 
the timing of community plans and the impacts of Council elections: 
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1.2 Our purpose 
 
Our vision 

A vibrant, inclusive community to live, work, play & invest 
 

Our mission 

Horsham Rural City Council, working with the community, will develop the municipality through strong 
leadership, vision, good governance, responsive services and quality infrastructure, whilst enhancing 
our economy, our liveability, and our natural environment 
 

Our values 

We will be 
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1.3 Goals (Strategic objectives) 
 

Council delivers services and initiatives for 87 separate services, which are in turn grouped into 35 
separate service categories. Each contributes to the achievement of one of the five Goals as set out 
in the Council Plan for the years 2018-22. The following table lists the five Goals as described in the 
Council Plan. 
 

Goals Description 

1. Community and 
Cultural 
Development  

Develop Horsham and the municipality as a diverse, inclusive and vibrant 
community. 

We support our diverse community by developing an environment that aims to 
cater to the shifting needs of our residents. We support innovation and 
encourage artistic and cultural expression to develop our municipality as a great 
place to live. 

2. Sustaining the 
Economy 

Lead in sustainable growth and economic development. 

As our community grows, so our region grows. We welcome new development 
and we aim to support enterprise, small and large whilst advocating for the 
community to shop locally. 

We continue to promote and develop sustainable projects. 

3. Asset Management Meet community and service needs through provision and maintenance of 
infrastructure. 

We strive to ensure infrastructure is in place to support our growing community 
as well as upgrading and maintaining our infrastructure to attract more visitors to 
our municipality. 

4. Governance and 
Business Excellence 

Excel in communication, consultation, governance, leadership and 
responsible use of resources. 

Our goal is to excel in what we deliver and how we deliver it, both within Council 
and to our community. Our staff are our greatest asset so their wellbeing is key 
to learning and high performance. 

5. Natural and Built 
Environments 

Lead in environmental best practise, create a municipality for the future, 
and plan for the impacts of climate. 

Encourage and increase awareness of environmental responsibilities within 
Council and the community, whilst planning for a growing municipality, and 
implement practises that minimise our environmental footprint and contribute to 
a sustainable future. 

 

 

 

2. Services and initiatives and service performance outcome 
indicators 
 
This section provides a description of the services and initiatives to be funded in the Budget for the 
2018/19 year and how these will contribute to achieving the strategic objectives outlined in the 
Council Plan. It also describes several initiatives and service performance outcome indicators for key 
areas of Council’s operations. Council is required by legislation to identify major initiatives, initiatives 
and service performance outcome indicators in the Budget and report against them in their Annual 
Report to support transparency and accountability.  
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2.1 Goal 1 - Community and Cultural Development 

Develop Horsham and the municipality as a diverse, inclusive and vibrant community. 
We support our diverse community by developing an environment that aims to cater to the shifting 
needs of our residents. We support innovation and encourage artistic and cultural expression to 
develop our municipality as a great place to live.  
 
Services 
 

 

  

2017/18 2018/19

Budget Budget

$'000 $'000

Exp 2,114 2,042

Rev 1,945 1,883

NET 169 159

Exp 307 399

Rev 346 408

NET (39) (9)

Exp 908 915

Rev 241 274

NET 667 641

Exp 126 128

Rev 28 39

NET 98 89

Exp 682 860

Rev 340 536

NET 342 324

Exp 278 271

Rev 240 240

NET 38 31

Exp 347 358

Rev 137 149

NET 210 209

Exp 741 749

Rev 183 186

NET 558 563

Exp 405 435

Rev - -

NET 405 435

Exp 1,549 1,724

Rev 1,065 1,234

NET 484 490

Exp 558 570

Rev 151 130

NET 407 440

Net Cost to Council for Goal 1 - Community and Cultural Development 3,339 3,372

Aged and 

Disability

This service provides care to frail aged and disabled persons with 

home care, personal care, respite care along with property 

maintenance services and disabled parking permits.

This service deals with maters concerning Local Laws including 

permits and licences, enforcement and fines and fire hazard 

enforcement.

This service provides support to families with parenting, health and 

development, promotion of health, wellbeing and safety, social 

supports, referrals and linking with local communities.

This service supports public health wellbeing during times of an 

emergency and to support the community to recover from 

emergency events.

This service provides health administration, immunisation, health 

vending machines and other preventative measures under the 

health plan including needle exchange, Tobacco Act reforms and 

mosquito monitoring. A variety of legislative based services and 

functions around environmental health issues are also provided.

Animal 

Management

This service provides animal management through implementation 

of appropriate rules and regulations in relation to keeping of cats, 

dogs and other animals and livestock within the municipality to 

minimise disturbance to residents and the community, and 

ensure public safety. It also includes the operation of Council’s 

dog and cat rehousing program.

This service provides community development and education to 

enhance the capacity and strength of communities in the 

municipality by developing community plans that build on 

strengths and assets and acing as a resource to communities.

This service provides local and regional facilitation and leadership 

for planning, developing and delivering community services to 

meet the needs of the community.

This service surrounds the running of the Horsham Town Hall and 

Horsham Performing Arts Centre operations.

This service provides an important visual art resource for the local 

community and visitors to Horsham through the Horsham 

Regional Art Gallery.

Service area Description of service areas

Community 

Safety

Emergency 

Support

Health and 

Wellbeing

Library

Management 

and 

Administration

Performing Arts

Visual Arts

Early Years

Community 

Development

This service provides maintenance, insurance and other ongoing 

costs for the municipality’s recreation groups and clubs including 

community halls, the Cenotaph and War Memorials, Brass and 

Pipe Bands and Sawyer Park Soundshell.
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Service area breakout 

This section provides further information about each service area by breaking down the 2018/19 
budget into the individual services provided. 
 

 
 
  

2018/19 Service by service area
Exp 

$'000

Rev 

$'000

NET 

$'000

Aged and Disability

Home and Community Care Services 1,783 (1,676) 106

Meals on Wheels 260 (207) 53

Aged and Disability Total 2,042 (1,883) 159

Animal Management

Animal Control 399 (408) (9)

Animal Management Total 399 (408) (9)

Community Development

Community Arts 157 -     157

Community Engagement 231 (87) 144

Community Facilities 177 (25) 152

Disability Awareness and Capacity 153 (129) 24

Youth Services 197 (33) 164

Community Development Total 915 (274) 641

Community Safety

Community Safety Management and Admin 98 (39) 58

Fire Hazard Enforcement 30 30

Community Safety Total 128 (39) 89

Early Years

Education 368 (245) 123

Maternal and Child Health 492 (291) 200

Early Years Total 860 (536) 324

Emergency Support

Emergency Management Recovery 255 (240) 15

SES Support 16 -     16

Emergency Support Total 271 (240) 31

Health and Wellbeing

Environmental Health Regulation 251 (104) 147

Health Promotion and Planning 66 (6) 60

Immunisation 42 (39) 3

Health and Wellbeing Total 358 (149) 209

Library

Library 749 (186) 563

Library Total 749 (186) 563

Management and Admin

Community Services Management 435 435

Management and Admin Total 435 435

Performing Arts

Horsham Town Hall Operations 1,641 (1,163) 478

Wesley Operations 83 (71) 13

Performing Arts Total 1,724 (1,234) 491

Visual Arts

Art Gallery 570 (130) 441

Visual Arts Total 570 (130) 441

Grand Total 8,452 (5,079) 3,373
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Major Initiatives and Capital Works  
 

 
 

 
 
 
Service Performance Outcome Indicators * 

 

 
 

*refer to section 2.6 for information on the calculation of Service Performance Outcome Indicators. 
 
 
  

2018/19 Budgeted Initiatives and Capital Works
Exp 

$

Rev 

$

NET 

$

Community Development

Horsham North Urban Design Framework Initiatives Initiatives 15,000 15,000

Mech. Institute Geneology External Roof Infra Gap Capital 15,000 15,000

Prevention of Violence Against Women Initiatives Initiatives 5,000 5,000

Public Art 18/19 Budget Capital 25,000 25,000

Senior Citizens Building Kitchen Cabinetry And Rep Infra Gap Capital 12,000 12,000

Social Infrastructure Framework Initiatives 60,000 60,000

Community Facilities and Halls Pricing Policy Impacts Initiatives 30,000 30,000

Community Safety

Certif 4 Statutory Compliance Training and Backfill Initiatives 40,347 (16,000) 24,347

Early Years

Early Years Plan Review Initiatives 15,000 15,000

 Nati Rd Kinder Repair Paving And Relevel Building Infra Gap Capital 15,000 15,000

Performing Arts

Town Hall - Hall Selective Restumping Infra Gap Capital 69,700 69,700

Town Hall Addit External Security Cameras Capital 12,000 12,000

Town Hall Permanent Foyer Lighting Capital 20,000 20,000

Visual Arts

Art Gallery Indoor CCTV Blindspot Project Capital 18,000 18,000

Art Gallery Purchased Artworks Capital 25,000 25,000

Grand Total 377,047 (16,000) 361,047

Service Indicator
Actual 

2014/15

Actual 

2015/16

Actual 

2016/17

Forecast 

2017/18

Forecast 

2018/19

Libraries Participation 16.00% 12.85% 12.38% 10.00% 15.00%

Aquatic Facilities Utilisation 9.17 6.7 6.39 8.5 8.5

Animal Management Health and safety 0 2 1 1 2

Food safety Health and safety 100.00% 100.00% 0.00% 100.00% 100.00%

Maternal and Child Health Participation 81.43% 72.82% 83.67% 85.00% 90.00%

79.46% 55.17% 75.00% 85.00% 90.00%
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2.2 Goal 2 - Sustaining the Economy 
 
Lead in sustainable growth and economic development. 
As our community grows, so our region grows. We welcome new development and we aim to support 
enterprise, small and large whilst advocating for the community to shop locally. 
We continue to promote and develop sustainable projects. 
 
Services 

 

  

2017/18 2018/19

Budget Budget

$'000 $'000

Exp 599 522

Rev 277 281

NET 322 241

Exp 557 554

Rev - -

NET 557 554

Exp 376 352

Rev 713 634

NET (337) (282)

Exp 637 640

Rev 95 97

NET 542 543

Net Cost to Council for Goal 2 - Sustaining the Economy 1,084 1,056

Service area Description of service areas

Promotions and 

Tourism

This service provides information and support to visitors accessing 

the Visitor Information Centre. This area also covers tourism 

marketing and development as well as promotion for major events 

and festivals.

Economic 

Development

Management 

and 

Administration

This service provides general administration for all areas of 

planning, building, tourism and economic services areas.

Parking and 

Traffic 

Management

This service provides management of parking infringements, 

maintenance on parking meters, car parking fees, fines and 

associated costs.

This service provides support to the Wimmera Development 

Association, maintenance and administration for the Wimmera 

Business Centre and general economic development and 

promotion for the municipality. Land sales and acquisitions, tree 

plantation and land management costs for the Burnt Creek and 

Enterprise Industrial estates and Wimmera Intermodal Freight 

Terminal, are also provided under this service.
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Service area breakout 

This section provides further information about each service area by breaking down the 2018/19 
budget into the individual services provided. 
 

 
 
 

Major Initiatives and Capital Works 

 
 
 

  

2018/19 Service by service area
Exp 

$'000

Rev 

$'000

NET 

$'000

Economic Development

Business Development 54 -     54

Industrial Estates 29 (28) 1

Wimmera Business Centre 152 (147) 5

Wimmera Development Association 204 204

Wimmera Intermodal Freight Terminal 84 (106) (22)

Economic Development Total 522 (281) 241

Management and Admin

Planning and Economic Development Services 228 228

Planning and Economic Mgt and Admin 326 326

Management and Admin Total 554 554

Parking and Traffic Management

Parking Control 214 (596) (382)

School Crossing Supervision 138 (38) 100

Parking and Traffic Management Total 352 (634) (282)

Promotions and Tourism

Caravan Park 5 (62) (57)

Promotions of Festivals and Events 350 (1) 349

Tourism Promotion 11 -     11

Visitor Info Centre 274 (33) 241

Promotions and Tourism Total 640 (97) 544

Grand Total 2,068 (1,011) 1,057

2018/19 Budgeted Initiatives and Capital Works
Exp 

$

Rev 

$

NET 

$

Economic Development

WIFT Precinct Industrial Estate Development Land Purchase (Grant) Capital 1,814,688 (1,250,000) 564,688

WIFT Precinct Industrial Estate Power/Water Supply Capital 450,000 450,000

WIFT Precinct Industrial Estate Retardation Basin Capital 230,520 230,520

Wimmera Business Skirting Boards, Architraves Infa Gap Capital 25,000 25,000

Parking and Traffic Management

Parking Mobile IT Devices Capital 10,000 10,000

Promotions and Tourism

Sports Marketing Event Attraction Costs Additional Funding Initiatives 15,000 15,000

Grand Total 2,545,208 (1,250,000) 1,295,208
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2.3 Goal 3 – Asset Management 
 
Meet community and service needs through provision and maintenance of infrastructure. 
We strive to ensure infrastructure is in place to support our growing community as well as upgrading 
and maintaining our infrastructure to attract more visitors to our municipality. 
 
Services 

 
 
  

2017/18 2018/19

Budget Budget

$'000 $'000

Exp 760 772

Rev 710 729

NET 50 43

Exp 417 434

Rev 184 190

NET 233 244

Exp 2,480 2,492

Rev 646 646

NET 1,834 1,846

Exp 1,487 1,510

Rev 33 33

NET 1,454 1,477

Exp 2,096 2,212

Rev 73 73

NET 2,023 2,139

Exp 108 111

Rev - -

NET 108 111

Exp 2,421 2,456

Rev 14 14

NET 2,407 2,442

Exp 1,260 1,466

Rev 68 106

NET 1,192 1,360

Exp 1,139 1,220

Rev 3 3

NET 1,136 1,217

Net Cost to Council for Goal 3 - Asset Management 10,437 10,879

Infrastructure - 

Rural

This service is responsible for maintaining and constructing roads, 

streets, bridges and related assets in all non-urban areas of 

Horsham and Natimuk. This includes the VicRoads maintenance 

contract (which excludes major highways) and quarry operations.

Infrastructure - 

Urban

This service provides maintenance and construction of roads, 

streets, bridges and related assets to the required standards 

within Horsham & Natimuk. Maintenance for bicycle tracks, 

drainage, footpaths and of street car parks.

Management 

and 

Administration

This service provides administration and support services for the 

Technical Services department.

Streetscape 

and Public 

Conveniences

This service provides street tree maintenance, tree planning and 

removal, along with city centre maintenance on lighting, signage 

and street furniture, and street cleaning. Climate change initiatives 

such as environmental footprint reduction program fall within this 

service. This service also provides operations and maintenance of 

the six public conveniences in Horsham, one in Natimuk and 

several rural facilities.

Operations 

Management

This service includes management and administration of the 

Operations Department to facilitate the delivery of core functions 

and capital programs.

Parks and 

Gardens

Provision of managed areas for sport, recreation and amenity – 

includes sports grounds, parks, gardens, Botanic gardens and 

playgrounds throughout the municipality.

Sports and 

Recreation

Provision and maintenance of outdoor and indoor sport and 

recreation facilities throughout the municipality including the 

Horsham Aquatic Centre. Also works with community groups and 

usage groups to increase participation.

Service area Description of service areas

Building and 

Asset 

Management

Building Asset Management oversees the facilities management 

and maintenance of Council’s buildings, including compliance and 

safety services (such as asbestos management and essential 

safety measures management).

Business 

Activities

This service includes the Horsham Regional Livestock Exchange, 

which provides weekly sheep sales and fortnightly cattle sales at 

the Burnt Creek Drive facility servicing primary industry across the 

Wimmera. Horsham Regional Livestock Exchange is the fourth 

largest sheep selling centre in Victoria. This service also includes 

the operations of the Horsham Aerodrome which provides a 

regional airport for commercial and private aircraft.
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Service area breakout 

This section provides further information about each service area by breaking down the 2018/19 
budget into the individual services provided. 

 

 
 

  

2018/19 Service by service area
Exp 

$'000

Rev 

$'000

NET 

$'000

Building Asset Management

Building Asset Management 434 (190) 244

Building Asset Management Total 434 (190) 244

Business Activities

Aerodrome Operations 102 (39) 64

Livestock Exchange Operations 471 (486) (14)

Private Works Recharged 198 (205) (7)

Business Activities Total 772 (729) 43

Infrastructure - Rural

Quarry Management 49 (55) (6)

Road Maintenance Rural 2,443 (591) 1,851

Infrastructure - Rural Total 2,492 (646) 1,846

Infrastructure - Urban

Footpaths, Walking Trails/Paths 376 -     376

Off Street Car Parks 22 22

Road Maintenance Urban 1,044 (3) 1,041

Stormwater Drainage 68 (30) 38

Infrastructure - Urban Total 1,510 (33) 1,477

Management and Admin

Asset Management 162 162

Design and Engineering 742 (35) 708

Technical Services Management and Admin 1,308 (38) 1,270

Management and Admin Total 2,212 (73) 2,140

Operations Management

Operations Management Depot 111 -     111

Operations Management Total 111 -     111

Parks and Gardens

Community Housing 60 60

Open Spaces 1,352 (9) 1,343

Street Trees and City Centre 880 (4) 876

Waterways, Foreshores and Wetlands 164 (2) 162

Parks and Gardens Total 2,456 (14) 2,441

Sports and Recreation

Aquatic Centre 773 -     773

Passive Recreation 97 (5) 92

Sports Complexes Indoor 35 (13) 22

Sports Complexes Outdoor-Ovals, Turf and Grass 562 (88) 473

Sports and Recreation Total 1,466 (106) 1,361

Streetscape and Public Conveniences

Other Street Ops 93 93

Public Conveniences 267 (3) 265

Street Cleaning 214 214

Street Lighting 229 -     229

Street Signage 417 417

Streetscape and Public Conveniences Total 1,220 (3) 1,218

Grand Total 12,672 (1,793) 10,880
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Major Initiatives and Capital Works 

 
 
*refer to section 4.5 'Detailed list of Capital Works' 
 
 
 
Service Performance Outcome Indicators 

 

 
 

*refer to section 2.6 for information on the calculation of Service Performance Outcome Indicators. 
 
 

  

2018/19 Budgeted Initiatives and Capital Works
Exp 

$

Rev 

$

NET 

$

Building Asset Management

Asbestos Labelling Initiatives 10,000 10,000

Building Assets Inspections 17/18, 18/19 Initiatives 10,000 10,000

Commercial Properties box gutter / verandah lining Capital 50,000 50,000

Jubilee Hall Kitchenette Capital 99,000 (66,000) 33,000

Locking Systems Council Buildings 17/18, 18/19 Initiatives 15,000 15,000

Business Activities

Aerodrome Stormwater Detention and Retention System Capital 200,000 200,000

Infrastructure - Rural * 3,290,000 3,290,000

Infrastructure - Urban * 2,972,359 (300,000) 2,672,359

Management and Admin

Aerial Imagery Drone Capital 5,000 5,000

Dial Before You Dig Response Software Licence Initiatives 20,000 20,000

Level 2 Bridge Inspection Surveys Initiatives 85,000 85,000

Operations Management

Depot Relocation Design & Estimates Capital 100,000 100,000

Parks and Gardens

All Playgrounds Capital Equipment Replacement OHS Upgrade Capital 31,000 31,000

Botanic Gardens Sprinkler Renewal Infra Gap Capital 20,000 20,000

Road Clearances Tree Clearing/Pruning Initiatives 90,000 90,000

Sports and Recreation

Angling Clubroom/Soundshell Fascias, Paint Infra Gap Capital 28,000 28,000

Aquatic Centre Fascias And Paint Eaves Infra Gap Capital 14,500 14,500

Aquatic Centre Miscellaneous Provision Capital 10,000 10,000

Basketball Building External Door Replacement Infra Gap Capital 4,500 4,500

City Oval Clubrooms Downstairs Changerooms Infra Gap Capital 24,000 24,000

Dudley Cornell Park Reserve Precinct Planning Initiatives 25,000 25,000

Indoor Community Centre/Sports Stadium Capital 100,000 100,000

Outdoor Pool Pipework, Gutter, Wetdeck Concourse Capital 1,316,160 (200,000) 1,116,160

Sport and Recreation Strategy Review Initiatives 40,000 40,000

Sunnyside Masterplan Capital Works Capital 30,000 (10,000) 20,000

Streetscape and Public Conveniences

CBD Revitalisation Grant Laneway Activation Capital 120,000 (60,000) 60,000

CBD Revitalisation Operational Items Initiatives 520,000 (260,000) 260,000

CBD Revitalisation Project Officer Initiatives 40,000 40,000

CBD Revitalisation relocate powerlines underground Initiatives 800,000 (400,000) 400,000

 CBD Shop Front Enhancement and Shade Incentive Initiatives 53,000 53,000

New Public Conveniences Hamilton St Capital 180,000 (90,000) 90,000

Grand Total 10,302,519 (1,386,000) 8,916,519

Service Indicator
Actual 

2014/15

Actual 

2015/16

Actual 

2016/17

Forecast 

2017/18

Forecast 

2018/19

Roads Satisfaction 48 45 44 48 48
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2.4 Goal 4 – Governance and Business Excellence 
 
Excel in communication, consultation, governance, leadership and responsible use of 
resources. 
Our goal is to excel in what we deliver and how we deliver it, both within Council and to our 
community. Our staff are our greatest asset so their wellbeing is key to learning and high 
performance. 
 
Services   

 

 

 

2017/18 2018/19

Budget Budget

$'000 $'000
Exp 920 950

Rev 56 56

NET 864 894

Exp 750 832

Rev 10 -

NET 740 832

Exp 1,049 1,066

Rev - -

NET 1,049 1,066

Exp 1,183 1,356

Rev - -

NET 1,183 1,356

Exp 1,325 1,303

Rev 15 15

NET 1,310 1,288

Exp 727 847

Rev - 70

NET 727 777

Exp 452 440

Rev 60 82

NET 392 358

Net Cost to Council for Goal 4 - Governance and Business Excellence 6,265 6,571

Service area Description of service areas

Financial 

Services

Provides financial services internally to all staff, department

managers, project leaders, Council, etc., plus delivers external

services in the form of information to government and the

community and specific services to Wimmera Development

Association and the Wimmera Regional Library Board.

General 

Revenue

Provides treasury management including additional borrowings and 

interest repayments

Governance 

and Leadership

This service manages and facilitates Council’s governance

services, the implementation of Council decisions and policies,

and compliance with legislative requirements. This service

also includes the office of the Mayor and Councillors, the Chief

Executive and media.

Information and 

Technology

Provides IT hardware and software systems, IT support services

to staff, customer services at Horsham and Natimuk and the

Council’s Records Management service. The goal of this service

is to provide efficient and effective access to the information

needs of staff and the community, and the management of

systems that support this whilst at all times keeping secure

Council’s information assets from accidental or malicious

access, modification or destruction.

Management & 

Administration

This service provides management across the areas of finance, IT, 

rates and organisation development

Organisational 

Development

This service is responsible for human resources, payroll, OHS,

risk management and organisational performance functions.

The Payroll Co-ordinator is also responsible for processing the

payroll for three separate Council related entities, including

the Wimmera Regional Library Corporation, Horsham Public

Cemetery and Wimmera Development Association.

Rates and 

Property 

Services

Rate collection services encompasses collection of Council

rateable income which ensures consistency in debt

management, general rate, municipal and garbage charges.

Property services encompasses, collection of property

valuations, maintaining a strategically focused property

management system and management of Council leases and

licences.
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Service area breakout 

This section provides further information about each service area by breaking down the 2018/19 
budget into the individual services provided. 
 

 

  

2018/19 Service by service area
Exp 

$'000

Rev 

$'000

NET 

$'000

Financial Services

General Financial Services 889 (56) 832

Stores Operation 61 61

Unclassified -     -     -     

Financial Services Total 950 (56) 893

General Revenue

Treasury Management 832 832

General Revenue Total 832 832

Governance and Leadership

CEO Operations 441 -     441

Council, Mayor and Councillors 414 -     414

Media and Communications 210 -     210

Governance and Leadership Total 1,066 -     1,066

Information and Technology

Customer Services 305 305

IT Support/Software and Hardware 884 -     884

Records Management 167 167

Information and Technology Total 1,356 -     1,356

Management & Admin

Civic Centre Office Operations 197 197

Corp Services Management 294 (1) 294

Council Wide Operations 789 (7) 782

Natimuk Office Operations 22 (7) 15

Management & Admin Total 1,303 (15) 1,288

Organisational Development

Human Resources, Payroll 663 (70) 593

Occupational Health and Safety 106 -     106

Organisational Development 78 78

Organisational Development Total 847 (70) 777

Rates and Property Services

Valuation and Property 440 (82) 358

Rates and Property Services Total 440 (82) 358

Grand Total 6,793 (223) 6,570
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Major Initiatives and capital Works 

 
 
 
 
Service Performance Outcome Indicators 

 

 
 

*refer to section 2.6 for information on the calculation of Service Performance Outcome Indicators. 
 
  

2018/19 Budgeted Initiatives and Capital Works
Exp 

$

Rev 

$

NET 

$

Financial Services

Grant Applications Project Estimates Initiatives 20,000 20,000

Information and Technology

Civica Version 7 Upgrade Initiatives 30,000 30,000

IT / Records Trainee Initiatives 35,000 35,000

IT Capital Replacement  IT Dept Capital 24,000 24,000

IT Hardware Upgrades IT Dept Capital 7,800 7,800

IT Software Licences/Upgrades IT Dept Capital 6,000 6,000

Management & Admin

Backup Storage Expansion Capital 10,000 10,000

CBD Revitalisation Grant CBD Public Wi-Fi Implementation Capital 100,000 (50,000) 50,000

Civic Centre Air Conditioner Compressor Infra Gap Capital 14,000 14,000

Civic Centre Reception Alterations/Entrance Capital 400,000 400,000

Expansion Wireless Infrastructure To Depot Capital 3,000 3,000

Local Area Network Switches Incs Office Modification Capital 20,000 20,000

Mobile Device Management Capital 8,000 8,000

Natimuk Office Fascias And Paint Windows Infra Gap Capital 16,500 16,500

Security Audit Action Items Capital 10,000 10,000

Upgrades BIS Server from 2003 To 2016 Capital 5,000 5,000

Audio, Hearing Loop, Video Conferencing for Civic Centre meeting 

rooms / Council chamber

Capital 80,000 80,000

Wireless Links Or VPN To Vic, Wbc Capital 5,000 5,000

Grand Total 794,300 (50,000) 744,300

Service Indicator
Actual 

2014/15

Actual 

2015/16

Actual 

2016/17

Forecast 

2017/18

Forecast 

2018/19

Governance Satisfaction 58 60 58 60 62
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2.5 Goal 5 – Natural and Built Environments 
 
Lead in environmental best practise, create a municipality for the future, and plan for the 
impacts of climate. 
Encourage and increase awareness of environmental responsibilities within Council and the 
community, whilst planning for a growing municipality, and implement practises that minimise our 
environmental footprint and contribute to a sustainable future. 
 
Services 

 
 
 
  

2017/18 2018/19

Budget Budget

$'000 $'000

Exp 551 511

Rev 179 179

NET 372 332

Exp 165 168

Rev 65 68

NET 100 100

Exp 420 421

Rev 150 150

NET 270 271

Exp 15 15

Rev - -

NET 15 15

Exp 4,839 4,415

Rev 5,207 5,573

NET (368) (1,158)

Net Cost to Council for Goal 5 - Natural and Built Environments 389 (440)

Waste 

Management 

Services

This service manages the Dooen Landfill sites, Kenny Road 

Transfer Station and rural transfer stations along with waste 

collection and recyclables collection across both the urban and 

rural areas of the municipality. 

Natural 

Resource 

Management

This service provides a mix of environmental services covering fire 

hazards, fire disaster clean up, grass removal, fire plugs, their 

replacement and markers, footpath cleaning in the CBD and weir 

operations. 

Planning 

Services

This service provides statutory planning services such as planning 

permits, notice of applications, information certificates, scheme 

appeals and subdivision costs. The function of strategic planning, 

which aims to strategically plan the municipality’s needs is also

included.

Sustainability This service manages a range of sustainability related projects 

from Council’s Sustainability Strategy. A reserve is being 

established to facilitate future energy and water deficiency 

projects.

Service area Description of service areas

Building 

Services 

Regulatory

This service provides maters relating to the administration of 

building control including building approval, inspection fees, 

easement approval and State Government levies.
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Service area breakout 

This section provides further information about each service area by breaking down the 2018/19 
budget into the individual services provided. 
 

 
 
 

Major Initiatives 

 
 
 
 

Service Performance Outcome Indicators 
 

 
 

*refer to section 2.6 for information on the calculation of Service Performance Outcome Indicators. 
 
 

 

2018/19 Service by service area
Exp 

$'000

Rev 

$'000

NET 

$'000

Building Services Regulatory

Building Approvals 511 (179) 332

Building Services Regulatory Total 511 (179) 332

Natural Resource Management

Fire Protection Works 51 (4) 47

Roadside Vegetation 117 (64) 53

Natural Resource Management Total 168 (68) 100

Planning Services

Statutory Planning 421 (150) 271

Planning Services Total 421 (150) 271

Sustainability

Sustainability Planning and Projects 15 -     15

Sustainability Total 15 -     15

Waste Management Services

Garbage Services 1,449 (3,193) (1,745)

Recycling 544 544

Transfer Stations and Landfills 2,422 (2,379) 43

Waste Management Services Total 4,415 (5,573) (1,158)

Grand Total 5,530 (5,970) (439)

2018/19 Budgeted Initiatives and Capital Works
Exp 

$

Rev 

$

NET 

$

Sustainability

Sustainability Projects Capital 200,000 (100,000) 100,000

Sustainability Strategy Review Initiatives 40,000 40,000

Waste Management Services

Dooen Landfill Litter Fencing Capital 10,000 10,000

E-Waste Management Initiatives 50,000 50,000

Johns Cell 3 Putrescible Construction Capital 45,000 45,000

Ladlows Stage2B Cell 2 Phase 1 Construction Hardwaste Capital 45,000 45,000

Rehabilitate Dooen Landfill Ladlows Hardwaste 2B West cover Initiatives 440,000 440,000

Transfer station improvements upgrade of facility (Grant Dependent) Capital 1,000,000 (500,000) 500,000

Grand Total 1,830,000 (600,000) 1,230,000

Service Indicator
Actual 

2014/15

Actual 

2015/16

Actual 

2016/17

Forecast 

2017/18

Forecast 

2018/19

Statutory planning Decision making 100.00% 100.00% 0.00% 0.00% 75.00%

Waste collection Waste diversion 20.66% 24.32% 24.16% 24.00% 25.00%
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2.6 Service Performance Outcome Indicators 
 

Service Indicator Performance Measure Computation 

Governance 
 

Satisfaction Satisfaction with Council decisions 
(Community satisfaction rating out of 100 with how Council has 
performed in making decisions in the interests of the community) 
 

Community satisfaction rating out of 100 with how Council has 
performed in making decisions in the interests of the community 

Statutory planning Decision making Council planning decisions upheld at VCAT 
(Percentage of planning application decisions subject to review by 
VCAT and that were not set aside) 

[Number of VCAT decisions that did not set aside Council’s decision in 
relation to a planning application / Number of VCAT decisions in 
relation to planning applications] x100 

Roads 
 

Satisfaction 
 

Satisfaction with sealed local roads 
(Community satisfaction rating out of 100 with how Council has 
performed on the condition of sealed local roads) 
 

Community satisfaction rating out of 100 with how Council has 
performed on the condition of sealed local roads. 

Libraries Participation Active library members 
(Percentage of the municipal population that are active library members) 
 

[Number of active library members / municipal population] x100 

Waste collection 
 

Waste diversion  
 

Kerbside collection waste diverted from landfill 
(Percentage of garbage, recyclables and green organics collected from 
kerbside bins that is diverted from landfill) 
 

[Weight of recyclables and green organics collected from kerbside 
bins / Weight of garbage, recyclables and green organics collected 
from kerbside bins] x100 

Aquatic Facilities 
 

Utilisation 
 

Utilisation of aquatic facilities 
(Number of visits to aquatic facilities per head of municipal population) 
 

Number of visits to aquatic facilities / Municipal population 

Animal 
Management 
 

Health and safety 
 

Animal management prosecutions 
(Number of successful animal management prosecutions)  

Number of successful animal management prosecutions 

Food safety 
 

Health and safety Critical and major non-compliance outcome notifications 
(Percentage of critical and major non-compliance outcome notifications 
that are followed up by Council) 

[Number of critical non-compliance outcome notifications and major 
non-compliance outcome notifications about a food premises followed 
up / Number of critical non-compliance outcome notifications and 
major non-compliance outcome notifications about food premises] 
x100 

Maternal and 
Child Health 

Participation Participation in the MCH service 
(Percentage of children enrolled who participate in the MCH service) 
 
 
Participation in MCH service by Aboriginal children 
(Percentage of Aboriginal children enrolled who participate in the MCH 
service) 
 

[Number of children who attend the MCH service at least once (in the 
year) / Number of children enrolled in the MCH service] x100 
 
 
[Number of Aboriginal children who attend the MCH service at least 
once (in the year) / Number of Aboriginal children enrolled in the MCH 
service] x100 
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2.7 Reconciliation with budgeted operating result 

 
 
 

 
 

Net Cost

(Revenue)

$’000 $’000 $’000

Goal 1 Community and Cultural Development 3,373 8,452 (5,079)

Goal 2 Sustaining the Economy 1,057 2,068 (1,011)

Goal 3 Asset Management 10,879 12,672 (1,793)

Goal 4 Governance and Business Excellence 6,570 6,793 (223)

Goal 5 Natural and Built Environments (440) 5,530 (5,970)

Total 21,439 35,515 (14,076)

Expenses added in:

Depreciation 10,900

Finance costs 295

Other written down value of assets disposed 1,255

Other non-attributable (800)

Deficit before funding sources 33,089

Funding sources added in:
Rates revenue 23,515

Grants commission grant 6,061

Capital grants 3,484

Contributions and other 940

Interest 564

Total funding sources 34,564

Operating (surplus)/deficit for the year (1,475)

Less

Capital grants exc R2R recurrent funding (2,596)

Capital contributions (970)

Underlying (surplus)/deficit for the year 2,091

Exp Rev

APPENDIX 10.2C



                                                                               

Horsham Rural City Council Budget – 2018-19  31 

3. Financial statements 
 
This section presents information in regard to the Financial Statements and Statement of Human 
Resources. The budget information for the year 2018/19 has been supplemented with projections to 
2021/22 extracted from the Strategic Resource Plan. 

 
This section includes the following financial statements prepared in accordance with the Local 
Government Act 1989 and the Local Government (Planning and Reporting) Regulations 2014. 
 
Comprehensive Income Statement 
Balance Sheet 
Statement of Changes in Equity 
Statement of Cash Flows 
Statement of Capital Works 
Statement of Human Resources  
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Comprehensive Income Statement 

For the four years ending 30 June 2022 

 
  

Forecast

Actual

2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22

NOTES $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Income

Rates and garbage charge 4.1.1 25,610 26,702 27,443 28,200 28,994

Statutory fees and fines 4.1.2 482 484 504 524 544

User fees 4.1.3 5,865 6,162 6,285 6,411 6,539

Grants - Operating 4.1.4 12,394 12,328 11,578 8,681 8,850

Grants - Capital 4.1.4 4,190 3,484 1,446 11,125 11,369

Contributions - monetary 542 70 204 200 540

Contributions - non-monetary 800 900 900 900 900

Net gain/(loss) on disposal of 

property, infrastructure, plant 

and equipment

149 (42) 558 (525) 258

Fair value adjustments for 

investment property
24 10 25 25 25

Share of net profits/(losses) of 

associates and joint ventures 
30 30 30 30 30

Other income 4.1.5 2,112 2,361 2,411 2,476 2,541

Total income 52,198 52,489 51,384 58,047 60,590

Expenses

Employee costs 4.1.6 17,191 17,970 18,366 18,770 19,183

Materials and services 4.1.7 18,496 20,500 20,268 17,978 18,026

Depreciation and amortisation 4.1.8 10,800 10,900 11,060 11,220 11,380

Bad and doubtful debts 68 72 76 80 84

Borrowing costs 299 295 260 365 510

Other expenses 4.1.9 326 277 283 331 338

Written down value of assets 

disposed
900 1,000 900 900 900

Total expenses 48,080 51,014 51,213 49,644 50,421

Surplus/(deficit) for the year 4,118 1,475 171 8,403 10,169

Other comprehensive 

income

Net asset revaluation increment 

/(decrement)
5,000 5,000 5,000 - 10,000

Total comprehensive result 9,118 6,475 5,171 8,403 20,169

Strategic Resource Plan

Projections
Budget
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Balance Sheet 

For the four years ending 30 June 2022 

 

 
 

Forecast

Actual

2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22

NOTES $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Assets

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents 13,594 10,956 10,255 9,531 9,890

Trade and other receivables 1,689 1,615 2,000 2,410 2,582

Other financial assets 17,800 17,800 17,800 17,800 17,800

Inventories 624 700 714 728 736

Non-current assets classified as 

held for sale
350 350 350 350 350

Other assets 936 955 974 993 1,000

Total current assets 4.2.1 34,993 32,376 32,093 31,812 32,358

Non-current assets

Trade and other receivables 136 200 178 156 134

Investments in associates, joint 

arrangement and subsidiaries
1,311 1,308 1,338 1,368 1,398

Property, infrastructure, plant & 

equipment
459,419 468,282 478,074 490,973 511,982

Investment property 2,444 2,500 2,525 2,550 2,575

Total non-current assets 4.2.1 463,310 472,290 482,115 495,047 516,089

Total assets 498,303 504,666 514,208 526,859 548,447

Liabilities

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables 5,120 6,550 6,772 6,850 7,051

Provisions 5,461 4,901 4,921 4,803 5,048

Interest-bearing liabilities 4.2.3 542 546 806 809 851

Total current liabilities 4.2.2 11,123 11,997 12,499 12,462 12,950

Non-current liabilities

Provisions 2,938 2,499 3,118 2,975 2,607

Interest-bearing liabilities 4.2.3 6,285 5,738 8,988 13,416 14,715

Total non-current liabilities 4.2.2 9,223 8,237 12,106 16,391 17,322

Total liabilities 20,346 20,234 24,605 28,853 30,272

Net assets 477,957 484,432 489,603 498,006 518,175

Equity

Accumulated surplus 233,166 237,543 238,711 247,643 257,260

Reserves - asset replacement 21,235 18,333 17,336 16,807 17,359

Reserves - asset revaluation 223,556 228,556 233,556 233,556 243,556

Total equity 477,957 484,432 489,603 498,006 518,175

Budget
Strategic Resource Plan

Projections
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Statement of Changes in Equity 

For the four years ending 30 June 2022 

 

 
 
  

Total
Accumulated 

Surplus

Revaluation 

Reserve

Other 

Reserves

NOTES $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

2018 Forecast Actual

Balance at beginning of the financial year 468,839  231,845     218,556     18,438      

Surplus/(deficit) for the year 4,118      4,118        -            -            

Net asset revaluation increment/(decrement) 5,000      -            5,000        -            

Transfers to other reserves -         (4,849)       -            4,849        

Transfers from other reserves -         2,052        -            (2,052)       

Balance at end of the financial year 477,957 233,166 223,556 21,235

2019 Budget

Balance at beginning of the financial year 477,957 233,166 223,556 21,235

Surplus/(deficit) for the year 1,475      1,475        -            -            

Net asset revaluation increment/(decrement) 5,000      -            5,000        -            

Transfers to other reserves 4.3.1 -         (4,132)       -            4,132        

Transfers from other reserves 4.3.1 -         7,034        -            (7,034)       

Balance at end of the financial year 4.3.2 484,432 237,543 228,556 18,333

2020

Balance at beginning of the financial year 484,432 237,543 228,556 18,333

Surplus/(deficit) for the year 171         171           -            -            

Net asset revaluation increment/(decrement) 5,000 -            5,000 -            

Transfers to other reserves -         (4,332) -            4,332

Transfers from other reserves -         5,329 -            (5,329)

489,603 238,711 233,556 17,336

2021

Balance at beginning of the financial year 489,603 238,711 233,556 17,336

Surplus/(deficit) for the year 8,403 8,403 -            -            

Net asset revaluation increment/(decrement) -         -            -            -            

Transfers to other reserves -         (4,132) -            4,132

Transfers from other reserves -         4,661 -            (4,661)

498,006 247,643 233,556 16,807

2022

Balance at beginning of the financial year 498,006 247,643 233,556 16,807

Surplus/(deficit) for the year 10,169 10,169 -            -            

Net asset revaluation increment/(decrement) 10,000 -            10,000 -            

Transfers to other reserves -         (4,132) -            4,132

Transfers from other reserves -         3,580 -            (3,580)

518,175 257,260 243,556 17,359Balance at end of the financial year

Balance at end of the financial year

Balance at end of the financial year
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Statement of Cash Flow 

For the four years ending 30 June 2022 

 

  

2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22

Notes $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Inflows Inflows Inflows Inflows Inflows

(Outflows

)

(Outflows

)

(Outflows) (Outflows) (Outflows)

Rates and charges 25,535 26,627 27,368 28,110 28,894

Statutory fees and fines 462 464 484 504 514

User fees 5,765 5,862 6,085 6,211 6,339

Grants - operating 11,995 11,641 11,178 8,281 8,450

Grants - capital 4,360 3,284 1,246 10,925 11,169

Contributions - monetary 502 30 164 160 500

Interest received 415 445 485 525 531

Other receipts 3,170 3,734 4,080 4,123 4,202

Employee costs (16,491) (17,270) (18,066) (18,470) (18,883)

Materials and services (17,068) (19,800) (19,568) (17,778) (17,826)

Other payments (2,056) (1,977) (2,283) (2,331) (2,338)

Net cash provided by/(used 

in) operating activities 

4.4.1
16,589 13,040 11,173 20,260 21,552

(13,142) (15,055) (16,737) (27,583) (22,939)

929 214 1,614 2,531 914

Payments for investments (4,000) - - - -

Net cash provided by/ (used 

in) investing activities 

4.4.2
(16,213) (14,841) (15,123) (25,052) (22,025)

Finance costs (299) (295) (260) (365) (510)

Proceeds from borrowings 955 - 4,055 5,237 2,150

Repayment of borrowings (451) (542) (546) (806) (809)

Net cash provided by/(used in) 

financing activities 

4.4.3
205 (837) 3,249 4,066 831

Net increase/(decrease) in 

cash & cash equivalents 
581 (2,638) (701) (726) 358

13,013 13,594 10,956 10,257 9,532

13,594 10,956 10,255 9,531 9,890

Strategic Resource Plan 

Projections
Budget

Forecast 

Actual

Cash and cash equivalents at the 

beginning of the financial year 

Cash flows from operating activities

Cash flows from investing activities

Cash and cash equivalents at               

the end of the financial year 

Cash flows from financing activities 

Payments for property, infrastructure, 

plant and equipment 

Proceeds from sale of property, 

infrastructure, plant and equipment 
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Statement of Capital Works 

For the four years ending 30 June 2022 

 

 

  

2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22

NOTES $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Property

Land - - - 1,000 -

Total land - - - 1,000 -

Buildings 3,374 1,437 4,955 14,355 11,438

Total buildings 3,374 1,437 4,955 14,355 11,438

Total property 3,374 1,437 4,955 15,355 11,438

Plant and equipment

1,684 1,759 1,759 1,759 1,759

Fixtures, fittings and furniture 240 294 100 100 100

Total plant and equipment 1,924 2,053 1,859 1,859 1,859

Infrastructure

Roads 5,174 6,940 5,608 5,704 7,262

Bridges 226 210 220 130 130

Footpaths and cycleways 342 1,007 600 500 410

Drainage 25 - 100 - -

Recreational, leisure and 

community facilities
362 1,346 200 50 450

Waste management 815 1,090 2,145 - 405

133 51 150 3,470 70

Aerodromes - 200 - - -

Off street car parks 235 40 15 15 15

Other infrastructure 931 681 885 500 900

Total infrastructure 8,243 11,565 9,923 10,369 9,642

Total capital works 

expenditure
4.5.1 13,541 15,055 16,737 27,583 22,939

Represented by:

New asset expenditure 3,239 4,830 2,765 9,394 7,491

Asset renewal expenditure 7,768 8,330 12,030 12,880 10,371

Asset upgrade expenditure 2,534 1,895 1,942 5,309 5,077

Total capital works 

expenditure
4.5.1 13,541 15,055 16,737 27,583 22,939

Grants 4,190 3,484 1,446 11,125 11,369

Contributions 202 55 204 200 540

Council cash 8,390 11,516 11,032 11,021 8,880

Borrowings 759 - 4,055 5,237 2,150

Total capital works 

expenditure
4.5.1 13,541 15,055 16,737 27,583 22,939

Forecast 

Actual

Strategic Resource Plan 

Projections
Budget

Funding sources represented by:

Plant, machinery and equipment

Parks, open space and streetscapes
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Statement of Human Resources 

For the four years ending 30 June 2022 

 

 

A summary of human resources expenditure categorised according to the organisational structure of 

Council is included below: 

 

 

A summary of the number of full time equivalent (FTE) Council staff in relation to the above 

expenditure is included below: 

  

2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Staff expenditure

Employee costs - operating 17,191 17,970 18,366 18,770 19,183

Employee costs - capital 977 898 916 935 953

Total staff expenditure 18,168 18,868 19,282 19,705 20,136

FTE FTE FTE FTE FTE

Staff numbers

Employees 196 202 202 202 202

Total staff numbers 196 202 202 202 202

Forecast 

Actual

Strategic Resource Plan Projections
Budget

Budget

2018/19 Full Time Part time

$'000 $'000 $'000

4,400 2,294 2,106

3,649 3,051 598

2,141 1,915 226

7,780 8,488 190

17,970 15,748 3,120

Capitalised labour costs 898

Total expenditure 18,868

Permanent

Community and enterprise services

Corporate services

Planning and economic services

Total permanent staff expenditure

Technical services

Budget

2018/19 Full Time Part time

45 20 25

35 28 7

22 18 4

100 98 2

202 164 38

Capitalised labour costs -

Total staff 202

Total permanent staff expenditure

Permanent

Community and enterprise services

Corporate services

Planning and economic services

Technical services
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4. Notes to the financial statements 
 
This section presents detailed information on material components of the financial statements.  
 

4.1 Comprehensive Income Statement  
 

4.1.1 Rates and charges 
 
Rates and charges are required by the Act and the Regulations to be disclosed in Council’s annual 
budget. 
 
In developing the Strategic Resource Plan, rates and charges were identified as an important source 
of revenue. Planning for future rate increases has therefore been an important component of the 
Strategic Resource Planning process. The Fair Go Rates System (FGRS) sets out the maximum 
amount councils may increase rates in a year. For 2018/19 the FGRS cap has been set at 2.25%. 
The cap applies to both general rates and municipal charges and is calculated on the basis of 
council’s average rates and charges.   
 
The level of required rates and charges has been considered in this context, with reference to 
Council's other sources of income and the planned expenditure on services and works to be 
undertaken for the community. 
 
To achieve these objectives while maintaining service levels and a strong capital expenditure 
program, the average general rate and the municipal charge will increase by 2.25% in line with the 
rate cap. This will raise total rates and charges for 2018/19 to $26,685,776. 
 
4.1.1(a) Reconciliation of Rates 
 
The reconciliation of the total rates and charges to the Comprehensive Income Statement is as follows: 

 
*These items are subject to the rate cap established under the FGRS. 
 
 
4.1.1(b) Rate in the dollar 
 
The rate in the dollar to be levied as general rates under Section 158 of the Act for each type or class 

of land compared with the previous financial year 
 

 
  

$ $ $

General rates*      19,478,513      20,177,762           699,249 3.59%

Municipal charge*        3,100,224        3,185,700             85,476 2.76%

Waste management charge        2,891,472        3,172,314           280,842 9.71%

Waste charges on supplementaries             16,224             16,224 n/a

Supplementary rates and rate adjustments           140,000           150,000             10,000 7.14%

Total rates and charges      25,610,209      26,702,000        1,091,791 4.26%

Forecast 

Actual

Budget

2018/19
Change

%

2017/18 2018/19

cents/$CIV cents/$CIV

General rate for rateable residential properties             0.5146             0.4908 -4.62%

General rate for rateable commercial properties             0.5146             0.4908 -4.62%

General rate for rateable industrial properties             0.5146             0.4908 -4.62%

General rate for rateable Culture & Rec. Land             0.2573             0.2454 -4.62%

General rate for rateable farm properties             0.4117             0.3926 -4.64%

Type or class of land Change
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4.1.1(c)Total Rate Revenue from General Rates 
 
The estimated total amount to be raised by general rates in relation to each type or class of land, and 
the estimated total amount to be raised by general rates, compared with the previous financial year 
 

 
 

4.1.1(d) Assessment numbers 

The number of assessments in relation to each type or class of land, and the total number of 

assessments, compared with the previous financial year. 

 
 
 
4.1.1(e) Basis of valuation 
 
The basis of valuation to be used is the Capital Improved Value (CIV). 
 
 
4.1.1(f) Valuation by Type 
 
The estimated total value of each type or class of land, and the estimated total value of land, 
compared with the previous financial year 
 

 
  

2017/18 2018/19

$ $ $ %

Residential      11,659,066      11,591,393 -           67,673 -0.58%

Commercial        1,511,097        1,614,484           103,387 6.84%

Industrial           803,810           822,583             18,773 2.34%

Culture & Rec. Land (50% rate)             16,439             15,362 -            1,077 -6.55%

Farm rate        5,488,101        6,133,939           645,838 11.77%

Total amount to be raised by general rates      19,478,514      20,177,762           699,248 3.59%

Type or class of land
Change

2017/18 2018/19

Number Number Number %

Residential             10,031              9,186 -               845 -8.42%

Commercial                 521                 524                     3 0.58%

Industrial                 417                 418                     1 0.24%

Culture & Rec. Land (0% rate)                   63                   63                   -   0.00%

Culture & Rec. Land (50% rate)                     3                     3                   -   0.00%

Farm rate              2,147              2,159                   12 0.56%

Total number of assessments             13,182             12,353 -               829 -6.29%

Type or class of land
Change

2017/18 2018/19

$ $ $ %

Residential  2,265,659,000  2,361,734,500      96,075,500 4.24%

Commercial     293,645,000     328,949,500      35,304,500 12.02%

Industrial     156,201,000     167,600,500      11,399,500 7.30%

Culture & Rec. Land (0% rate)      19,139,000      19,048,000 -           91,000 -0.48%

Culture & Rec. Land (50% rate)        6,389,000        6,260,000 -         129,000 -2.02%

Farm rate  1,333,034,000  1,562,389,000     229,355,000 17.21%

Total value of land  4,074,067,000  4,445,981,500     371,914,500 9.13%

Type or class of land
Change
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4.1.1(g) Municipal Charge per assessment 
 
The municipal charge under Section 159 of the Act compared with the previous financial year 
 

 
 
 

4.1.1(h) Total revenue from municipal charge 
 
The estimated total amount to be raised by municipal charges compared with the previous financial 
year 
 

 

 
4.1.1(i) Garbage Charges 
 
The rate or unit amount to be levied for each type of service rate or charge under Section 162 of the 
Act compared with the previous financial year 
 

 
 
 
 
4.1.1(j) Total revenue from garbage charges 
 
The estimated total amount to be raised by each type of service rate or charge, and the estimated 
total amount to be raised by service rates and charges, compared with the previous financial year 

 
  

Per Rateable 

Property

Per Rateable 

Property

2017/18 2018/19

$ $ $ %

Municipal                 281                 287                     6 2.14%

 Type of Charge
Change

2017/18 2018/19

$ $ $ %

Municipal        3,100,224        3,185,700             85,476 2.76%

 Type of Charge
Change

Per Rateable 

Property

Per Rateable 

Property

2017/18 2018/19

 $  $  $ %

GAR1 240L RESID URBAN                 360                 394                   34 9.44%

GAR2 240L RESID RURAL                 360                 365                     5 1.39%

GAR5 240L COMMERCIAL                 377                 382                     5 1.33%

GAR6 120L RESID URBAN                 221                 253                   32 14.48%

GAR7 120L RESID RURAL                 221                 224                     3 1.36%

GAR8 120L COMMERCIAL                 360                 365                     5 1.39%

GAR9 240L COMM RECYC                 106                 136                   30 28.30%

 Type of Charge
Change

2017/18 2018/19 2017/18 2018/19 Change

Number Number $ $ $ %

GAR1 240L RESID URBAN              4,580              4,605        1,660,814  1,814,370           153,556 9.25%

GAR2 240L RESID RURAL              1,146              1,169           412,560     426,685             14,125 3.42%

GAR5 240L COMMERCIAL                 307                 336           115,739     128,352             12,613 10.90%

GAR6 120L RESID URBAN              2,675              2,709           591,175     685,377             94,202 15.93%

GAR7 120L RESID RURAL                 344                 351             76,024       78,624              2,600 3.42%

GAR8 120L COMMERCIAL                   80                   82             28,800       29,930              1,130 3.92%

GAR9 240L COMM RECYC                   60                   66              6,360        8,976              2,616 41.13%

Total              9,192              9,318        2,891,472  3,172,314           280,842 9.71%

 Type of Charge
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4.1.1(k) Rates & Charges - Summary 
 
The estimated total amount to be raised by all rates and charges compared with the previous financial 
year 
 

 
 
 
4.1.1(l) Fair Go Rates System Compliance 
 
Horsham Rural City Council is fully compliant with the State Government’s Fair Go Rates System. 
 
 

 
  

2017/18 2018/19

$ $ $ %

General Rates      19,478,513      20,177,762           699,249 3.59%

Municipal Charge        3,100,224        3,185,700             85,476 2.76%

Garbage Charges        2,891,472        3,172,314           280,842 9.71%

Waste charges on supplementaries             16,224             16,224 n/a

Rates from Supplementary Valuations           140,000           150,000             10,000 7.14%

Total Rates and charges      25,610,209      26,702,000        1,091,791 4.26%

Change

2017/18 2018/19

$22,562,299 $23,348,100

            13,116             12,287 

$1,817.98 $1,862.74

2.00% 2.25%

$1,720.21 $1,900.23

$1,854.34 $1,904.65Maximum allowed capped average rate

Capped Average Rate

Budgeted General Rates and Municipal Chrg (Excl Cult & Rec)

Number of rateable properties

Base Average Rates

Maximum Rate Increase (set by the State Government)
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Council’s reconciliation to the rate cap increase: 
 

 
 
 
4.1.1(m) Significant changes 
 

There are no known significant changes which may affect the estimated amounts to be raised by 
rates and charges. However, the total amount to be raised by rates and charges may be affected 
by: 
• The making of supplementary valuations (2018/19: estimated $150,000 and 2017/18 

forecast/actual: $215,474. Full year equivalent for 2017/18 would be $271,017) 

• The variation of returned levels of value (e.g. valuation appeals) 

• Changes of use of land such that rateable land becomes non-rateable land and vice versa 

• Changes of use of land such that residential land becomes business land and vice versa. 

 
4.1.1(n) Differential rates  
 
Rates to be levied 
 
The rate and amount of rates payable in relation to land in each category of differential are: 
• A general rate of 0.3926% (0.3926 cents in the dollar of CIV) for all rateable farm properties. 
 
Each differential rate will be determined by multiplying the Capital Improved Value of rateable land 
(categorised by the characteristics described below) by the relevant percentages indicated above. 

Calculation of Rate Income Notes 2017-18 

Budget

Rates for 

Cap Calc

2018-19 

Draft 

Budget

% Cap

$ %

Notes ----> {1} {2} A

General Rates -22,579,760 -22,579,760

Actual Supplementary Rates {2} B -206,474

Additional Supps est Dec - June {2} C -9,000

Annualise Supp Rates {2} D -55,543

Total Rates Incl Supps -22,579,760 -22,850,777 -23,364,919 2.25% -785,159 3.48%

Rates - Supplementary during year {3} -140,000 -150,000

Total Rates Incl Supps -22,719,760 -23,514,919 -795,159 3.50%

NOTES:

{1}

{2}

{3} The level of Supps in 18-19 is estimated conservatively at $150k. This is a very difficult figure to estimate as 

is dependent upon overall economic growth and new buildings constructed or land sub-divisions 

undertaken.

Change from 17-

18 Budget

Column represents the published rates budget as per the 2017-18 budget documentation

A. The rates cap is based on 2.25% increase on the annualised forecast rates position and not simply the 

budget. This is to ensure that rate growth is not recognised when calculating the cap. 

B. The actual supplementary rates to Mar 18 are $206,474 which is significantly more than the full year 

budget position.

C. An estimate of the rate supps must then be made for the remainder of the year which is estimated to be 

a further $9k of rates for the remainder of this financial year. 

D. Because the Supps occur during the year and apply for only a portion of the year the full yearly effect of 

these rates needs to be calculated in order to determine the base from which to apply the 2.25% cap. 
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Council believes each differential rate will contribute to the equitable and efficient carrying out of 
Council functions. Details of the objectives of each differential rate, the types of classes of land which 
are subject to each differential rate and the uses of each differential rate are set out below. 
 
Farm land 
 
Farm land is any land which, under the Valuation of Land Act 1960 is: 
• Not less than 2 hectares in area 
• That is used primarily for agricultural purposes 
• That is used by a business that has significant and substantial commercial purpose or character, 

seeks to make a profit on a continuous or repetitive basis and is either making a profit or has 
reasonable prospect of making a profit from its activities 

  
Council during 2015/16 undertook a review of its data associated with the classification of land as 
farm land, in order to ensure that all properties below the 60 hectare minimum lot size within the farm 
zone meet the above definition. 
 
The objective of this differential rate is to ensure that all rateable land makes an equitable financial 
contribution to the cost of carrying out the functions of Council, including (but not limited to) the: 
• Construction and maintenance of infrastructure assets 
• Development and provision of health and community services 
• Provision of general support services. 
 
The types and classes of rateable land within this differential rate are those having the relevant 
characteristics described above. 
 
The money raised by the differential rate will be applied to the items of expenditure described in the 
Budget by Council. The level of the rate for land in this category is considered to provide for an 
appropriate contribution to Council’s budgeted expenditure, having regard to the characteristics of the 
land. 
 
The geographic location of the land within this differential rate is wherever it is located within the 
municipal district. The use of the land within this differential rate, in the case of improved land, is any 
use of land. The types of buildings on the land within this differential rate are all buildings already 
constructed on the land or which will be constructed prior to the expiry of the 2017/18 financial year. 
 
Other Concessional Rates - Culture and Recreational Land 

Culture and Recreational land is any outdoor land, which under the provisions of the Cultural and 
Recreational Lands Act 1963 is: 
• Occupied by a body which exists for cultural or recreational purposes and applies its profits in 

promoting the furthering of this purpose 
• The lands must be owned by the body, by the Crown or by Council to be eligible 
• Agricultural showgrounds are specifically included 

 
Council has reviewed its policy in relation to concessions for Cultural and Recreational Organisations 
and has established two concessions, a 50% concession for those organisations that have significant 
revenue raising capacity and a 100% concession for those with limited revenue raising capacity. 
The objective of this concessional rate is to recognise the large contribution that these community 
organisations and the volunteers make to the Municipality in the provision of sporting, cultural and 
recreational activities.  
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4.1.2 Statutory fees and fines 

 

 

 

Statutory fees relate mainly to fees and fines levied in accordance with legislation and include Public 
Health and Wellbeing Act 2008 registrations and parking fines. Increases in statutory fees are made 
in accordance with legislative requirements.  
 
A detailed listing of statutory fees is included in Appendix C.   

 

4.1.3 User fees 

 

 
 
User charges relate mainly to the recovery of service delivery costs through the charging of fees to 
users of Council’s services. User charges are projected to increase by 5% or $0.297 million over 
2017/18. The Horsham Town Hall has continued to have excellent attendances with forecasts of 
future shows adding $163k to this area. 
Transfer station and landfill charges are projected to increase by $66k to cover increasing costs, 
including EPA levy, and operating costs at Horsham Transfer Station and Dooen landfill. 
A detailed listing of fees and charges is included in Appendix C. 

  

Forecast 

Actual
Budget

2017/18 2018/19

$’000 $’000 $’000 %

Infringements and costs 155 144 (11) -7.10%

Court recoveries 54 53 (1) -1.85%

Issue of certificates 15 15 -            0.00%

Local laws - permits & licences 17 23 6 35.29%

Town planning fees 145 145 -            0.00%

Health registrations 96 104 8 8.33%

Total statutory fees and fines 482 484 2 0.41%

Change

Forecast 

Actual
Budget

2017/18 2018/19

$’000 $’000 $’000 %

Animal control 335 393 58 17.31%

Building approvals 179 179 -            0.00%

Community services 12 12 -            0.00%

Administration charges 133 145 12 9.02%

Home and community care services 891 867 (24) -2.69%

Peforming arts charges 961 1,124 163 16.96%

Immunisations 6 6 -            0.00%

Livestock operations 470 486 16 3.40%

Parking meter fees 462 430 (32) -6.93%

Passive recreation 5 5 -            0.00%

Roadside revegatation 10 10 -            0.00%

Sports complexes 55 93 38 69.09%

Transfer station and landfill charges 2,313 2,379 66 2.85%

Visitor information centre income 33 33 -            0.00%

Total user fees 5,865 6,162 297 5.06%

Change
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4.1.4 Grants 
Grants are required by the Act and the Regulations to be disclosed in Council’s annual budget. 

 

Forecast 

Actual
Budget

2017/18 2018/19

$’000 $’000 $’000 %

Grants were received in respect of the following:

Summary of grants

Commonwealth funded grants 11,775         10,991         784-               -7%

State funded grants 4,809            4,822            13                 0%

Total grants received 16,584 15,813 (771) -4.65%

(a)    Operating Grants

Recurrent - Commonwealth Government 

Grants Commission - General allocation 3,798 3,920 122 3%

Grants Commission - Road Const. & Maint. 2,051 2,141 90 4%

General home care 837 850 13 2%

Environmental Health 30 33 3 10%

Recurrent - State Government

Community Facilities 16 16 -                0%

Disability Awareness & Capacity 129 129 -                0%

Home & Community Care Services 217 166 (51) -24%

Libraries 170 173 3 2%

Maternal and child health 336 401 65 19%

Performing Arts 80 80 -                0%

Roadside Vegetation Management 51 54 3 6%

School Crossing Supervision 64 38 (26) -41%

Visual Arts 145 123 (22) -15%

Total recurrent grants 7,924 8,124 200 2.52%

Non-recurrent - Commonwealth Government

Grampians Peak Trail 3,068 3,159 91 3%

Non-recurrent - State Government

Community Engagement 76 109 33 43%

Environmental Health 5 6 1 20%

Other non-recurrent grants -                6 6

Road Maintenance 25 25 -                0%

Street Lighting 1,056 660 (396) -38%

Wimmera Emergency Mgt Resource Sharing 240 240 -                0%

Total non-recurrent grants 4,470 4,205 (265) -5.93%

Total operating grants 12,394 12,329 (65) -0.52%

(b)    Capital Grants

Recurrent - Commonwealth Government 

Roads to recovery 1,991 888 (1,103) -55%

Total recurrent grants 1,991 888 (1,103) -55.40%

Non-recurrent - State Government

Buildings 1,750 256 (1,494) -85%

Footpaths and cycleways -                340 340

Office furniture and equipment -                50 50

Other infrastructure 400 -                (400) -100%

Parks, open space and streetscapes 33 -                (33) -100%

Recreation, leisure and community facilities 16 200 184 1150%

Roads -                1,250 1,250

Waste management -                500 500

Total non-recurrent grants 2,199 2,596 397 18.05%

Total capital grants 4,190 3,484 (706) -16.85%

Total Grants 16,584 15,813 (771) -4.65%

Change
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Grants - operating ($.043 million decrease) 

Operating grants include all monies received from State and Federal sources for the purposes of 
funding the delivery of Council’s services to ratepayers and contributions from other parties towards 
property development costs. Overall, the level of operating grants has decreased by .35% or $.265 
million compared to 2017/18, due to the expected decrease in Home and community services grants 
and known reduction in school crossing supervision grant.  

Grants Commission funding has been budgeted in 2018/19 at a 3% increase which incorporates the 
actual increase received for 17/18 funding, plus a 1% expected increase for the 18/19 allocation.  

The Grampians Peak Trail grant will increase by $0.091 million. This project is auspiced by Council 
but is not a Council asset and all works are being carried out through Parks Victoria, hence the 
revenue is not a capital receipt.  

The large reduction of $.0396 million for street lighting relates to a more accurate assessment of CBD 
revitalisation grant which is made up of several components. 

Grants - capital ($0.706 million increase) 

Capital grants include all monies received from State and Federal sources for the purposes of funding 
the capital works program. Overall the level of capital grants has decreased by 16.85% or $0.706 
million compared to 2017/18.  
 
Additional funding was received for Roads to Recovery grant in 17/18, whereas the budget in 18/19 
reflects the standard yearly allocations, resulting in a $1.103million decrease. Significant one-off 
funding was received in 17/18 Horsham North Children’s Hub ($1.65m), and livestock exchange RFID 
$.040m.  
New grant funding for 18/19 includes development at Wimmera freight terminal $1.25m and potential 
grant at Horsham Transfer Station for facility improvements of $.5m. 

 

4.1.5 Other income 
 

 
 

Other income ($0.25 million increase) 

Other income relates to a range of items such as private works, cost recoups and other miscellaneous 
income items. It also includes interest revenue on investments and rate arrears.  
 
Other income is forecast to increase by 11.79% or $0.25 million compared to 2017/18. Significant 
items in this area include rental income at the children’s hub and recoup of HR services and 
advertising costs from a neighbouring Council.  
 

Forecast 

Actual
Budget

2017/18 2018/19

$’000 $’000 $’000 %

Interest 490 524 34 6.94%

Interest on rates 40 40 -            0.00%

Aerodrome 35 38 3 8.57%

Art gallery 31 32 1 3.23%

Caravan park 60 62 2 3.33%

Childrens hub -            131 131

Commercial property rent 184 190 6 3.26%

External works 205 205 -            0.00%

Human resource services -            70 70

Lease/rental income 76 87 11 14.47%

Vicroads main roads maintenance 566 566 -            0.00%

Wimmera business centre 151 147 (4) -2.65%

Wimmera intermodal freight terminal 104 105 1 0.96%

Other 170 164 (6) -3.53%

Total other income 2,112 2,361 249 11.79%

Change
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4.1.6 Employee costs 
 

 
 

Employee costs ($0.78 million increase) 

Employee costs include all labour related expenditure such as wages and salaries and on-costs such 
as allowances, leave entitlements, employer superannuation, WorkCover, rostered days off, etc.  
Employee costs are forecast to increase by 4.53% or $0.78 million compared to 2017/18. EFT has 
grown this year due to additional staffing for children’s hub (0.7 FTE), 1.1 FTE at Horsham Town Hall, 
0.9 FTE in the business improvement area, organisation development (1 FTE, partly recouped from 
shared service arrangement), and road construction staff 1 FTE. 

 

4.1.7 Materials and services 

 
 

Forecast 

Actual
Budget

2017/18 2018/19

$’000 $’000 $’000 %

Wages and salaries 16,543 17,038 495 2.99%

WorkCover 238 260 22 9.24%

Superannuation 1,387 1,570 183 13.19%

Less amounts capitalised in non-current assets 

constructed by Council
(977) (898) 79 -8.09%

Total employee costs 17,191 17,970 779 4.53%

Change

Forecast 

Actual
Budget

2017/18 2018/19

$’000 $’000 $’000 %

Advertising 186 210 24 12.90%

Building service contractors 324 333 9 2.78%

Contract cleaning 327 381 54 16.51%

Donations 368 349 (19) -5.16%

External plant hire 261 259 (2) -0.77%

External salaries 291 311 20 6.87%

Fringe benefit tax 120 134 14 11.67%

General materials 865 869 4 0.46%

Grampians Peak Trail 3,068 3,160 92 3.00%

Initiative projects 2,194 2,503 309 14.08%

Insurances 416 450 34 8.17%

IT expenditure 459 489 30 6.54%

Library membership 492 495 3 0.61%

Management aquatic centre 110 259 149 135.45%

Management youth centre 144 144 -            0.00%

Performing events expenses 752 831 79 10.51%

Plant operating costs 1,367 1,555 188 13.75%

Power, light & heating 719 843 124 17.25%

Provision of meals on wheels 168 162 (6) -3.57%

Sustainability projects 55 200 145 263.64%

Telephone 170 192 22 12.94%

Waste management expenses 3,591 3,512 (79) -2.20%

Water rates 250 275 25 10.00%

Wimmera Development Association membership 203 204 1 0.49%

Contracts less than $100,000 1,470 1,930 460 31.29%

Materials and services less than $100,000 126 450 324 257.14%

Total materials and services 18,496 20,500 2,004 10.83%

Change
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Materials and services ($1.79 million increase) 

Materials and services include the purchases of consumables, payments to contractors for the 
provision of services and utility costs. Materials and services are forecast to increase by 10.83% or $2 
million compared to 2017/18. This area also includes expenditure on initiatives (increased by $.3 
million) see appendix A for detailed listing. Increased plant operating costs $.19m and increased 
utilities costs $.12 million. There has been a slight decrease in waste management expense of $.79 
million as funds were expended on one off rehabilitation costs in 17/18. 

 

 

4.1.8 Depreciation and amortisation 

 

 
 
Depreciation and amortisation ($0.10 million increase) 

Depreciation is an accounting measure which attempts to allocate the value of an asset over its useful 
life for Council’s property, plant and equipment including infrastructure assets such as roads and 
drains.  
Minimal change is expected in this area with increases due to the construction of the new children’s 
hub and revaluation of council’s buildings taking effect from 1

st
 July 2018. 

 

4.1.9 Other expenses 

 

 
 
Other expenses ($0.05 million decrease) 

Other expenses relate to audit fees, mayoral allowances and operating lease rentals. Council’s 
operating leases were finalised in 17/18 without any new leases being entered into. 
 

  

Forecast 

Actual
Budget

2017/18 2018/19

$’000 $’000 $’000 %

Property 1,283 1,518 235 18.32%

Plant & equipment 992 985 (7) -0.71%

Infrastructure 8,525 8,397 (128) -1.50%

Total depreciation and amortisation 10,800 10,900 100 0.93%

Change

Forecast 

Actual
Budget

2017/18 2018/19

$’000 $’000 $’000 %

Auditors' remuneration - VAGO - audit of

financial statements, performance statements

and grant acquittals

45 49 4 8.89%

Fees for other services provided by auditors 25 25 -            0.00%

Councillors' allowance 203 203 -            0.00%

Operating lease rentals 53 -            (53) -100.00%

Total other expenses 326 277 (49) -15.03%

Change
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4.2 Balance Sheet 
 

4.2.1 Assets 
 
Current Assets ($2.62 million decrease) and Non-Current Assets ($8.98 million increase) 
Cash and cash equivalents include cash and investments such as cash held in the bank, petty cash 
and the value of investments in deposits or other highly liquid investments with short term maturities 
of three months or less. Financial assets are term deposits with a maturity term of greater than 3 
months. These balances are projected to decrease by $2.62 million during the year mainly to fund the 
capital works program. 
 
Trade and other receivables are monies owed to Council by ratepayers and others. Short term 
debtors are expected to remain at similar levels to 17/18. Other assets include items such as 
inventories or stocks held for sale or consumption in Council’s services, prepayments and accrued 
income. 
 
Property, infrastructure, plant and equipment is the largest component of Council’s worth and 
represents the value of all the land, buildings, roads, vehicles, equipment, etc which has been built up 
by Council over many years. The increase in this balance is attributable to the net result of the capital 
works program ($15.06 million of new, upgraded and renewed assets), depreciation of assets ($10.9 
million), the sale of property, plant and equipment ($0.25 million) and an increase associated with the 
revaluation of land and buildings at the end of 2017/18. 
 
 
 
Restricted and unrestricted cash and investments 
 
Cash and cash equivalents held by Council are restricted in part, and not fully available for Council’s 
operations. The budgeted balance sheet statement shows at 30 June 2019 Council will have cash 
and investments of $29.6 million. Council has always taken a strong stance to maintain cash backed 
reserves with the exception of the Industrial Estates Reserve. The analysis of the unrestricted cash 
position is depicted in the following table: 
 

 
 
 
Explanation of items in above table: 
 
Statutory reserves ($0.3 million) 
These funds must be applied for specified statutory purposes in accordance with various legislative 
requirements. While these funds earn interest revenues for Council, the funds are not available for 
other purposes. The balance within these funds is not expected to change substantially. 

Forecast 

Actual
Budget Variance

2017/18 2018/19

$’000 $’000 $

Total cash and cash equivalents 13,594 10,956 (2,638)

Other financial assets 17,800 17,800               -   

Restricted cash and investments 0 0               -   

- Statutory reserves 290 295 5 

- Cash held to fund carry forward capital works 0 0               -   

- Trust funds and deposits 750 550 (200)

Unrestricted cash and investments 32,434 29,601 -2,833

- Discretionary cash reserves (16) (13) 2,901 

- Staff provisions (5) (5) (300)

- Landfill and quarry provisions (3) (3) 600 

Unrestricted cash adjusted for discretionary 

reserves and provisions 8,145 8,513 368
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Cash held to fund carry forward capital works ($0.00 million) 
Carried forward works have not been included in the budget at this point in time due to their uncertain 
nature and amount. It is anticipated there could be between $3 - $5m of uncompleted projects at 30

th
 

June 2019. These projects will be identified early in the new financial year. 
 
Unrestricted cash and investments ($29.6 million) 
The amount shown here is in accordance with the definition of unrestricted cash included in Section 3 
of the Regulations. These funds are free of statutory obligations and the cash is available to meet 
Council’s cash commitments including capital works expenditure from the previous financial year. 
 
Discretionary cash reserves ($13.09 million) 
These funds are shown as discretionary cash backed reserves, as they are not restricted by a 
statutory purpose. Council has made decisions regarding the future use of these funds and unless 
there is a Council resolution these funds should be used for those earmarked purposes. During the 
2018/19 year $4.13 million is budgeted to be transferred to and $7.03 million from Discretionary 
Reserves. The decisions about future use of these funds has been reflected in Council’s Strategic 
Resource Plan and any changes in future use of the funds will be made in the context of the future 
funding requirements set out in the plan. (Section 4.3.1 below describes the purpose and balance of 
each reserve in detail). 
 
Staff provisions ($5.4 million) 
Council is required to recognise annual leave, long service leave and sick leave gratuity amounts 
owing to staff, and whilst the provision is not required to be cash backed under regulations, cash 
funds are available for payout of any of the above items.  
 
Landfill and quarry provisions ($2.6 million) 
Council is obligated to restore the Dooen landfill and other quarry sites to a suitable standard at the 
end of the assets life. The provisions are calculated on the value of expected cost of works to be 
undertaken. Again these provisions are not required to be cash backed under regulations, cash funds 
are available for reinstatement of these items.  
 
Balance available for unrestricted cash adjusted after discretionary reserves and provisions  
($8.5 million) 
These funds are free of all specific Council commitments and represent funds available to meet daily 
cash flow requirements, trade payables estimated at $6m at 30

th
 June 2019, unexpected short term 

needs, future loan principal repayments (total loans outstanding end 18/19 $4.7m) and any budget 
commitments which will be expended in the following year such as grants and contributions.  Council 
regards these funds as the minimum necessary to ensure that it can meet its commitments as and 
when they fall due without borrowing further funds.  
 
 

4.2.2 Liabilities 

Current Liabilities ($0.87 million increase) and Non-Current Liabilities ($.986 million decrease) 
Trade and other payables are those to whom Council owes money as at 30 June. These liabilities are 
budgeted to increase by $1.43 million. 
 
Provisions include accrued long service leave, annual leave, sick leave gratuity, quarry and landfill 
restorations. Employee entitlements are budgeted to increase by $0.34 million.  
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4.2.3 Borrowings 
 
The table below shows information on borrowings specifically required by the Regulations.  
 

 
 
 
Interest-bearing loans and borrowings are borrowings of Council. Council is budgeting to repay loan 
principal of $0.54 million over the year. No new borrowings have been included in the 18/19 budget. 
 
 
 

4.3 Statement of changes in Equity 

4.3.1 Reserves 
 
Although not restricted by statutory purpose, Council has made decisions regarding the future use of 
Reserve funds as described below. Unless there is a Council resolution these funds should be used 
for these earmarked purposes: 
 
CBD and Car Park Development Reserve (30 Jun 19 Balance $1.30 million) 
This reserve is funded mostly by the annual transfer of the profit in the operation of Council’s parking 
meters. Contributions from developers in lieu of car parking spaces are also transferred to this 
reserve. Parking meters fines generally cover the cost of employing parking officers. The account is 
maintained to develop car parking in the CBD; to purchase new and replacement meters; and has 
been to generally develop the CBD area with major road-works and improvements. The rationale for 
the reserve is that the shopping public who contribute through the parking meters see their 
contributions going to improve the CBD area where they have an interest, regardless of whether they 
are residents of Horsham. Council has limited expenditure from this reserve since 2012 to provide for 
any investment that may be required as a consequence on the new Performing Arts Centre’s impact 
on parking. Council has applied for a CBD revitalisation grant which if received will require a matching 
contribution from Council. This reserve will contribute $1.14m during 18/19 towards this project 
including undergrounding of power lines, footpaths and drainage improvements, lighting, public wi-fi, 
watering points, laneway activation, landscaping and furniture, signage and services and public 
amenities. 

Wimmera Business Centre Reserve (30 Jun 19 Balance $0.13 million) 
This reserve was established in 2011 to hold any annual operating surpluses generated by the 
Wimmera Business Centre.  These can be utilised to offset any future deficits or applied to works that 
benefit the Centre’s operations as approved by their Committee of Management. 

Information Technology Reserve (30 Jun 19 Balance $0.51 million) 

The Information Technology reserve is held to allow purchasing of computer related hardware items 
and related software and IT Initiatives. Any under expenditure in the computer area annually is placed 
in this reserve and is held to be expended on forecast or unexpected expenditure in the IT area during 
any particular year. $.017m will be drawn from this reserve in 18/19 to fund capital works. 

Plant Replacement Reserve (30 Jun 19 Balance $4.39 million) 
This reserve is maintained in conjunction with the plant operating account to fund Council’s purchases 
of replacement plant and equipment.  Plant and equipment are charged out on an hourly rate to 
Council operations and the income from this activity is transferred to the plant operating account. 
General maintenance and operating expenditure on plant is debited to that account and the net profit 
or surplus on an annual basis is transferred to this reserve for expenditure on purchases of plant and 
equipment. 

2017/18 2018/19

$ $

Amount borrowed as at 30 June of the prior year 6,322,422 6,826,422

Amount proposed to be borrowed 955,000 -                

Amount projected to be redeemed (451,000) (542,182)

Amount of borrowings as at 30 June 6,826,422 6,284,240
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The rationale for this account is that often the purchases of plant equipment are unevenly spread 
across a number of years, and by maintaining this reserve, it allows Council to ensure that there is 
always a sum of money available to purchase plant when required and that the uneven spread of 
expenditure has no effect on the annual budget.  This account is dependent upon plant operating 
charge-out rates being matched to the plant operating costs and the annualised cost of replacement 
of plant.  An ongoing five-year plant program is prepared in Council’s Fleet Management Program 
which clearly shows that this reserve account does not fall in value in the long term. The net value of 
plant purchases funded from this reserve in 18/19 budget is $1.495m. 

Waste Management Reserve (30 Jun 19 Balance $1.96 million) 
The waste management reserve is created to provide a sum of money to rehabilitate landfills at the 
end of their useful life and to provide funds for other major capital expenditure in the waste 
management area. The account is mainly utilised for the continued expansion and compliance of the 
regional landfill at Dooen. Given the limited funds available and the increasing costs of waste 
management, this account from time to time is utilised to fund other waste management capital works. 
It is important in the long term, not to overdraw this account to the detriment of the establishment or 
expansion of the landfill and that processes are put in place to ensure that there is sufficient monies in 
the waste management reserve to meet the obligations at that time. During 18/19 financial year, 
$1.13m will be drawn from this reserve. Major items funded include $.5m will match grant funding for 
facilities at transfer station and $.44m used for rehabilitation at Dooen landfill. 

Contingency Reserve (30 Jun 19 Balance $0.10 million) 
With the introduction of Council elections every four years and their significant cost, Council allocates 
an annual sum into this reserve to spread this cost. Also included are the costs for Road & Bridge 
asset surveys required under the Road Management Act. 

Wimmera Regional Library Corporation Asset Replacement Reserve (30 Jun 19 Balance $0.04 
million) 
The Wimmera Regional Library Corporation has moved responsibility for asset replacement 
requirements to each member Council to provide funds at the point which assets need to be replaced. 
Council budgets for the replacement of these assets using the reserve system.  

Major Capital Projects Reserve (30 Jun 19 Balance $0.04 million) 
This reserve is to provide for future asset replacements for major strategic projects. Preliminary works 
on three major projects are being funded from this area in 18/19 financial year. $.10m for detailed 
design and specifications for both Wimmera Sports Stadium and Depot Relocation and $.16m 
scoping for Hamilton Street Pedestrian Bridge. 

Infrastructure Gap Reserve (30 Jun 19 Balance $0.15 million) 
Council's Asset Management Plan, through the MAV's STEP program has identified a significant 
infrastructure renewal funding gap. One of the strategies to address this gap has been to levy an 
additional percentage rate rise in its budget which is then specifically targeted to fund asset renewal 
on identified priority Council assets.  This process began in 2007/2008 when a 0.5% rate rise was set.  
A further 1.5% was set the following year and then an additional 2% annual rate rise to 2011/2012, 
1% in 2012/13, 2013/14, 2014/15, 2015/16, 2016/17, 2017/18 and 2018/19. These funds are placed 
in this reserve and the total funds raised are to be expended within the financial year on asset 
renewal to improve the overall condition of Council's asset stocks. 

Open Spaces Contribution Reserve Account (30 Jun 19 Balance $0.29 million) 
The recreation contribution reserve is comprised mainly of developer contributions in lieu of land, 
when subdividing residential areas. There is a statutory requirement that any developers contributions 
to this fund be spent on capital works in relation to purchase of recreation land or development of 
recreation land. 

Road Construction Reserve (30 Jun 19 Balance $0.03 million) 
This reserve is maintained with contributions from developers of rural residential subdivisions.  The 
intention of the reserve is that monies contributed by developers will be expended on roads adjoining 
the rural residential subdivision. 

Sustainability Reserve (30 Jun 19 Balance $0.13 million) 
This reserve was established in 2017-18 and was created to provide some initial funding for projects 
of a sustainability nature such as alternative energy projects, solar panels and LED Lighting, where 
there are expected to be pay backs and ongoing savings in operational costs. 18/19 financial year will 
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see $30k of savings fed back into this reserve with an additional funding allocation of $113k as well. 
$100k will be utilised in 18/19 to match a sustainability grant which becomes available in July 2018. 

Commercial Properties (Firebrace Street) Reserve (30 Jun 19 Balance $0.56 million) 
Council owns commercial properties in Firebrace Street which were the former Shire of Wimmera 
Offices. In association with our appointed real estate agent, the Council regularly reviews the rental 
income and has determined that any increase rental income that resulted should be placed in a 
reserve.  The long term intention of this reserve is to build up sufficient funds to make significant 
improvements to Council’s commercial properties in Firebrace Street. During 18/19 $100k will be used 
to fund business shop front enhancement and shade incentives for shop owners, and to undertake 
verandah repairs on our Firebrace St property. 

Aquatic Centre Reserve (30 Jun 19 Balance $0.20 million) 
This reserve has been established to set aside funds to meet future asset renewal requirements at 
the Centre in accord with its Business Plan.  Council has received a grant to refurbish the outdoor 
pool and wet deck, $335k will be used to match the grant funding in 18/19. 

Industrial Estate Reserve (30 Jun 19 Balance $4.83 million) 
The industrial estate reserve comprises cash, debtors and the value of both undeveloped and 
developed land. All costs in relation to purchase of undeveloped land and the development of land 
into industrial lots are paid from this reserve and the proceeds of the sale or lease of this land to 
developers is returned to the reserve, together with any government grants which may be attracted for 
development of industrial estates. Council has received $1.25m grant funding to develop WIFT 
Precinct, council will match that funding from this reserve during the year. 

Loan Fund Reserves (30 Jun 19 Balance $1.60 million) 
Funds of $162,162 held in this reserve are to assist offset of repayments for projected borrowings for 
major projects in the next 1-2 years.. Other balances to this reserve are sinking fund instalments for 
the interest only loans now been sourced through the MAV Funding Vehicle. This reserve balance will 
increase until 25/26, in that year Council will repay the $4.3m loan. 

Aerodrome Reserve (30 Jun 19 Balance $0.39million) 
This reserve was created to provide for the large resealing program at the aerodrome. The reserve is 
also used to accumulate any landing fees and property lease fees and the funds in the reserve are 
used for development works at the aerodrome. 

Regional Livestock Exchange Reserve (30 Jun 19 Balance $0.13 million) 
The regional livestock exchange reserve was created by the former City of Horsham to accumulate 
funds towards the redevelopment of the saleyards. This reserve has been used in the construction of 
the new livestock exchange at Burnt Creek and the clean-up of the old City Gardens site. The sums 
accumulated in the reserve are now retained to provide for capital developments which may occur at 
the livestock exchange and also to commence a replacement and refurbishment fund to be 
accumulated over future years.  

Drainage Head-works Reserve (30 Jun 19 Balance $0.16 million) 
This reserve is funded by developer contributions in consideration of the amount of drainage run off 
land that they cause as a result of development, and are a contribution to the existing and future 
stormwater drainage head-works of the municipality.  The funds of this reserve are expended on 
major drainage head-works. During 18/19 $.3m will be used to renew drainage from Roberts Avenue 
to Hamilton Street. 

Wimmera Intermodal Freight Terminal (WIFT) (30 Jun 19 Balance $0.53 million) 
This new reserve has been established to meet programmed asset renewal commitments as 
approved by the Committee of Management for the WIFT. 

 

Unfunded Superannuation Reserve (30 Jun 19 Balance $0.70 million) 
This reserve has been created to hold funds for possible future contributions towards Councils 
unfunded superannuation liabilities. 
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4.3.2 Equity 
 
Equity ($6.47 million increase) 
Total equity always equals net assets and is made up of the following components: 
• Asset revaluation reserve which represents the difference between the previously recorded value 

of assets and their current valuations. 
• Other reserves that are funds that Council wishes to separately identify as being set aside to 

meet a specific purpose in the future and to which there is no existing liability. These amounts 
are transferred from the Accumulated Surplus of the Council to be separately disclosed. 

• Accumulated surplus which is the value of all net assets less Reserves that have accumulated 
over time. 

 
4.4 Statement of Cash Flows 
 

4.4.1 Net cash flows provided by/(used in) operating activities 
 
Operating activities ($3.55 million decrease) 
The decrease in cash inflows from operating activities of $3.5 million results from decreases in 
receipts of $1.43 million in grants and $3.28 million increase in payments.   
 

4.4.2 Net cash flows provided by/(used in) investing activities 
 
Investing activities ($1.37 million decrease) 
There is a decrease in payments for investing activities for 2018/19 of $1.37 million which reflects the 
decrease in the capital works program for 2018/19 as compared to the 2017/18 forecast. Carry-
forward works are not included in these numbers.  
 

4.4.3 Net cash flows provided by/(used in) financing activities 

 
Financing activities ($1.04 million increase) 
For 2018/19 the total of principal repayments is $0.54 million and finance charges is $0.30 million 
without any additional borrowings. Council is in its third year of borrowings from the MAV Funding 
Vehicle in which Council receives an interest only loan under the conditions of that arrangement. 
There is an approx. 0.5% to 1.0% savings in financing costs under this arrangement, and Council will 
transfer appropriate cash to a capital reserve to meet the loan redemption at the finalisation of the 
term. For 2018-19 the amount transferred to reserve is $0.42 million. 
 

4.5 Capital works program 
 
This section presents a listing of the capital works projects that will be undertaken for the 2018/19 
year, classified by expenditure type and funding source.  Works are also disclosed as current budget 
or carried forward from prior year. 

 

4.5.1 Summary by Class of asset 
 

 
 

Property: The 18/19 budget reflects a large decrease of $1.93m in buildings being carried out. The 
17/18 budget included $2.15m, being the second year of funding for the Horsham North Children’s 
Hub. 

Forecast 

Actual
Budget

2017/18 2018/19

$’000 $’000 $’000

Property      3,734      1,437 -    2,297 -61.52%

Plant and equipment      1,924      2,053         129 6.70%

Infrastructure     12,622     11,565 -    1,057 -8.37%

Total     18,280     15,055 -    3,225 -17.64%

%
Change
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Infrastructure: WIFT industrial precinct project of $2.5m is included, as well as increased footpath 
works, pedestrian bridge and revitalisation footpath works add $.70m in 18/19. Also major works on 
the Outdoor pool and wetdeck area of $1.3m are also included in the 18/19 budget.  

 

 
 
Property 
The property class comprises buildings and building improvements including community facilities, 
municipal offices, sports facilities and pavilions. 
 
The most significant projects include $0.4m on the Civic Centre new foyer, $0.2m for sustainability 
works on buildings, $0.18m for CBD revitalisation public amenities, and  $0.1m for each of the 
following: Wimmera Sports Stadium and Depot relocation, each receiving design and detailed 
costings.  
 
Plant and equipment 
Plant and equipment includes plant, machinery and equipment, computers and telecommunications. 
The more significant projects include ongoing cyclical replacement of the plant and vehicle fleet ($1.7 
million), $0.1m for CBD revitalisation CBD Public Wi-Fi and $0.19m for computers and 
telecommunications equipment. 
 
Infrastructure 
Infrastructure includes roads, bridges, footpaths and cycleways, drainage, recreation, leisure and 
community facilities, parks, open space and streetscapes, off street car parks and other structures. 
 
Road reconstruction is the most significant at $6.64 million (including $1.81m on roadsworks at 
WIFT), with other expenditure as follows: Waste $1.09 million, Bridges $0.21 million and footpath and 
cycleways $1.0 million. (Full details see 4.5.2 below). 
 
 
Asset renewal ($8.33 million), new assets ($4.83 million) and upgrade ($1.89 million) 
A distinction is made between expenditure on new assets, asset renewal and upgrade. Expenditure 
on asset renewal is expenditure on an existing asset, or on replacing an existing asset that returns the 
service of the asset to its original capability. Expenditure on new assets does not have any element of 
expansion or upgrade of existing assets but will result in an additional burden for future operation, 
maintenance and capital renewal.  (Full details see 4.5.2 below).  
 
Carried forward works 
At the end of each financial year there are projects which are either incomplete or not commenced 
due to factors including planning issues, weather delays, timing of expected grant receipts and 
extended consultation. Because there is great uncertainty in determining carry-forward before the 
financial year end has occurred the decision has been made not to include any estimates carry-
forward items for the initial budget. Once projects are finalised at year end carry-forward amounts will 
be loaded in to the budget. 

New Renewal Upgrade Grants Contrib.
Council 

cash
Borrowings

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $'000 $'000

Property      1,437         770         368         299         256           -        1,181              -   

Plant and equipment      2,053         985      1,036           32           50           25      1,978              -   

Infrastructure     11,565      3,075      6,926      1,564      3,178           30      8,356              -   

Total     15,055      4,830      8,330      1,895      3,484           55     11,515              -   

Asset expenditure types Summary of Funding Sources
Project 

Cost

APPENDIX 10.2C



 
 

Horsham Rural City Council Budget – 2018-19  56 

4.5.2 Capital Works – 2018-19 

 

 

$ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $

PROPERTY

Buildings

CIVIC CENTRE AIR CONDITIONER COMPRESSOR 14,000       14,000 14,000 14,000

CIVIC CENTRE NEW ENTRY FOYER inc SECURITY SYSTEM 400,000    80,000 160,000 160,000 400,000 80,000

NATIMUK OFFICE FASCIAS AND PAINT WINDOWS 16,500       16,500 16,500 16,500

NATI RD KINDER REPAIR PAVING AND RELEVEL BUILDING 15,000       15,000 15,000 15,000

SENIOR CITIZENS BUILDING KITCHEN CABINETRY AND REPLASTERING 12,000       12,000 12,000 12,000

TOWN HALL, HALL SELECTIVE RESTUMPING 69,700       69,700 69,700 69,700

TOWN HALL ADDIT EXTERNAL SECURITY CAMERAS X 4 12,000       12,000 12,000

TOWN HALL PERMANENT FOYER LIGHTING 20,000       20,000 20,000

AQUATIC CENTRE MISC PROVISION 10,000       10,000 10,000

AQUATIC CENTRE FASCIAS AND PAINT EAVES 14,500       14,500 14,500 14,500

CITY OVAL CLUBROOMS DOWNSTAIRS CHANGEROOMS CARPET 24,000       24,000 24,000 24,000

ANGLING CLUBROOMS/SOUNDSHELL FACIAS, PAINT 28,000       28,000 28,000 28,000

WIMMERA SPORTS STADIUM 100,000    100,000 100,000

BASKETBALL STADIUM EXTERNAL DOOR REPLACEMENT 4,500         4,500 4,500 4,500

ART GALLERY INDOOR CCTV BLINDSPOT PROJECT 18,000       18,000 18,000

MECHANICS INSTITUTE - GENEOLOGY EXTERNAL ROOF 15,000       15,000 15,000 15,000

WIM BUSINESS CENTRE SKIRTING BOARDS, ARHITRAVES, INTERNAL PAINTING25,000       25,000 25,000 25,000

JUBILEE HALL KITCHENETTE 99,000       79,200 19,800 66,000 33,000

COM PROPERTIES BUX GUTTER/VERANDAH LINING FOR 50,000       50,000 50,000 50,000

    MACCHIAS TO SPECSAVERS

GENERAL DISABILITY ACCESS PROVISION 10,000       10,000 10,000

DEPOT RELOCATION STAGE 1 DESIGN & DETAILED ESTIMATES 100,000    50,000 50,000 100,000

SUSTAINABILITY PROJECTS 200,000    200,000 100,000 100,000

CBD REVITALISATION CBD PUBLIC AMENITIES 180,000    180,000 90,000 90,000

Sub-Total -  Buildings 1,437,200 368,200 299,200 769,800 256,000 0 0 0 0 440,000 741,200 0 0 0 0 0 50,000 238,200 80,000

TOTAL PROPERTY 1,437,200 368,200 299,200 769,800 256,000 0 0 0 0 440,000 741,200 0 0 0 0 0 50,000 238,200 80,000

FUNDING SOURCE FOR ALL CAPITAL PROJECTS FUNDING SOURCE FOR RENEWAL ASSETS ONLY 

SPECIAL 

RATE/ 

CHRGE/ 

CONTRIB

R2R + 

R2R 

Special

R2R + 

R2R 

Special

SPECIAL 

RATE/ 

CHRGE/ 

CONTRIB

CASH

RESERVES

INFRA- 

STRUCTURE 

RENEWAL

RESERVES

GENERAL

 REVENUE
NEW

TIED 

GRANTS
LOANS

ASSET

 SALES

CASH

RESERVES

GENERAL

 REVENUE
ASSET DESCRIPTION

TOTAL 

COST
RENEWAL UPGRADE

TIED 

GRANTS
LOANS

ASSET

 SALES
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$ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $

PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Plant and Machinery

PLANT 1,709,000 1,007,000 702,000 213,500 1,495,500 213,500 793,500

PUBLIC ART PROJECTS 25,000       25,000 25,000

ART GALLERY ART COLLECTIONS 25,000       25,000 25,000

Sub-Total - Plant & Machinery 1,759,000 1,007,000 0 752,000 0 0 25,000 0 213,500 1,495,500 25,000 0 0 0 0 213,500 793,500 0 0

Furniture, Computers and Telecommunications

LASER PRINTER REPLACEMENT 4,000         4,000 4,000 4,000

REPLACEMENT PC SYSTEMS 20,000       20,000 20,000 20,000

LOCAL AREA NETWORK SWITCHES INCS. OFFICE MODIFICATIONS 20,000       20,000 20,000

AUDIO VISUAL FOR MEETING ROOMS 80,000       80,000 80,000

WIRELESS LINKS OR VPN TO VIC, WBC 5,000         5,000      5,000

SECURITY AUDIT ACTION ITEMS 10,000       10,000 10,000

UPGRADE BIS SERVER FROM 2003 TO 2016 5,000         5,000      5,000

EXPANSION WIRELESS INFRASTRUCTURE TO DEPOT 3,000         3,000      3,000

MOBILE DEVICE MANAGEMENT 8,000         8,000 8,000

BACKUP STORAGE EXPANSION 10,000       5,000 5,000 10,000 5,000

IT HARDWARE UPGRADES 7,800         7,800 7,800

IT SOFTWARE UPGRADES 6,000         6,000 6,000

CBD REVITALISATION CBD WI-FI 100,000    100,000 50,000 50,000

PARKING MOBILE IT DEVICES X 6 UPGRADE INCS BELT PRINTERS X 2 10,000       10,000 10,000

AERIAL IMAGERY DRONE 5,000         5,000 5,000

Sub-Total - Furn & Equip 293,800 29,000 31,800 233,000 50,000 0 0 0 0 225,000 18,800 0 0 0 0 0 29,000 0 0

TOTAL PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 2,052,800 1,036,000 31,800 985,000 50,000 0 25,000 0 213,500 1,720,500 43,800 0 0 0 0 213,500 822,500 0 0

GENERAL

 REVENUE

R2R + 

R2R 

Special

SPECIAL 

RATE/ 

CHRGE/ 

CONTRIB

NEW
TIED 

GRANTS
LOANS

ASSET

 SALES

CASH

RESERVES

GENERAL

 REVENUE

R2R + 

R2R 

Special

SPECIAL 

RATE/ 

CHRGE/ 

CONTRIB

ASSET DESCRIPTION
TOTAL 

COST
RENEWAL UPGRADE

TIED 

GRANTS
LOANS

ASSET

 SALES

CASH

RESERVES

INFRA- 

STRUCTURE 

RENEWAL

RESERVES

FUNDING SOURCE FOR ALL CAPITAL PROJECTS FUNDING SOURCE FOR RENEWAL ASSETS ONLY 
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$ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $

INFRASTRUCTURE

Roads

URBAN ROAD CONSTRUCTION 2018/19 ROAD COMPONENT

MINOR SEAL EXTENSIONS 10,000       10,000 10,000

CONSULTANCY/DESIGN 20,000       20,000 20,000

DERIMAL ST, BANOOL ST TO END 33,000       33,000 33,000 33,000

FEDERATION AVE, KALIMNA TO DRUMMOND 387,000    387,000 387,000 387,000

FEDERATION KALIMNA TO DRUMMOND 62,359       62,359 62,359 62,359

FECHLER AVE, VALENTINE TO KALIMNA 272,000    272,000 272,000 272,000

FREDERICK ST, WAVELL ST TO SEAL CHANGE 170,000    170,000 170,000 170,000

WAVELL ST, KALKEE RD TO QUEEN 104,000    104,000 104,000 104,000

GARDENIA ST, WODONGA DVE TO LAUREL ST 103,000    103,000 103,000 103,000

DERIMAL BANOOL TO END 65,000       65,000 65,000 65,000

LAUREL ST, OLYMPIC TO JACKSON ST 81,000       81,000 81,000 81,000

KERB & CHANNEL - LAUREL ST, OLYMPIC TO JACKSON ST 25,000       25,000 25,000 25,000

URBAN LOCAL RDS FINAL SEALS 110,000    110,000 110,000 110,000

INTERSECTION TREATMENTS URBAN 20,000       20,000 20,000

ROAD DRAINAGE

FECHLER AVE, VALENTINE TO KALIMNA 33,000       33,000 33,000 33,000

FEDERATION AVE, KALIMNA TO DRUMMOND 70,000       70,000 70,000 70,000

OTHER DRAINAGE PIPES:

BAILLIE ST/BENNETT RD INTERSECTION 20,000       20,000 20,000 20,000

EDWARD ST 10,000       10,000 10,000 10,000

SMITH ST 5,000         5,000 5,000 5,000

PALK ST 5,000         5,000 5,000 5,000

ROBERTS AVE 40,000       40,000 40,000 40,000

OTHER

WIFT PRECINCT ESTABLISHMENT RDWRKS/DRAINS 1,814,688 1,814,688 1,250,000 564,688

ASSET

 SALES

CASH

RESERVES

INFRA- 

STRUCTURE 

RENEWAL

RESERVES

R2R + 

R2R 

Special

SPECIAL 

RATE/ 

CHRGE/ 

CONTRIB

R2R + 

R2R 

Special

SPECIAL 

RATE/ 

CHRGE/ 

CONTRIB

LOANS
ASSET

 SALES

CASH

RESERVES

GENERAL

 REVENUE

TIED 

GRANTS
LOANS

FUNDING SOURCE FOR ALL CAPITAL PROJECTS FUNDING SOURCE FOR RENEWAL ASSETS ONLY 

ASSET DESCRIPTION
TOTAL 

COST
RENEWAL UPGRADE NEW

TIED 

GRANTS

GENERAL
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$ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $

Roads - continued

RURAL CONSTRUCTION 2018/19

INTERSECTION/TRAFFIC IMPROVEMENT 15,000       15,000 15,000

CONSULTANTS 5,000         5,000 5,000

MINOR SEAL EXTENSIONS 10,000       10,000 10,000

VEGETATION CLEARANCE RD RECONSTRUCTION 32,500       32,500 32,500 32,500

GRAHAMS BRIDGE RD OSBORNE TO HOLES 230,000    230,000 230,000 230,000

PLUSH HANNANS SMITH RESRVE RD TO LOWER NORTON NURRABIEL 139,000    139,000 139,000

OBREES RD REMALW STATION RD TO WEST 120,000    120,000 120,000 120,000

NORADJUHA TOOEN EAST RD, NAT HAM TO NORAD SILO 215,000    215,000 215,000 215,000

RURAL LOCAL RDS FINAL SEALS 312,500    312,500 312,500 312,500

R2R RURAL ROADS RESHEETING 140,000    140,000 140,000 140,000

WONWONDAH DAD BRDGE 2KM  - 2.96KM RECONST & WIDEN 230,000    82,000 148,000 230,000 82,000

ASPLINS RD WIM HWY TO JOHNS AVE 0 - .98 233,000    233,000 233,000 233,000

PLUSH HANNANS SMITH RESRVE RD TO LOWER NORTON NURRABIEL 143,000    143,000 143,000 143,000

REHABILITATION WORKS

URBAN RESEALS 100,000    100,000 100,000 100,000

RURAL RESEALS 370,000    370,000 370,000 370,000

RURAL RD SHOULDER RESHEETING/RECONSTRUCTION 133,000    133,000 133,000 133,000

RURAL RESHEETING 430,000    430,000 430,000 430,000

RURAL RDS SHOULDER RESHEETING INFRA GAP 322,000    322,000 322,000 322,000

Sub-Total - Roads 6,640,047 4,458,359 322,000 1,859,688 1,250,000 808,359 0 0 0 564,688 4,017,000 0 660,359 0 0 0 0 1,839,000 1,959,000

GENERAL

 REVENUE

R2R + 

R2R 

Special

SPECIAL 

RATE/ 

CHRGE/ 

CONTRIB

NEW
TIED 

GRANTS
LOANS

ASSET

 SALES

CASH

RESERVES

GENERAL

 REVENUE

R2R + 

R2R 

Special

SPECIAL 

RATE/ 

CHRGE/ 

CONTRIB

ASSET DESCRIPTION
TOTAL 

COST
RENEWAL UPGRADE

TIED 

GRANTS
LOANS

ASSET
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RESERVES

INFRA- 

STRUCTURE 

RENEWAL

RESERVES

FUNDING SOURCE FOR ALL CAPITAL PROJECTS FUNDING SOURCE FOR RENEWAL ASSETS ONLY 
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$ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $

Bridges & Major Culverts

LAHARUM RD 13.95 GUARDRAIL 50,000       50,000 50,000 0 50,000

LAHARUM RD 14.57 GUARDRAIL 40,000       40,000 40,000 0 40,000

LAHARUM RD 17.78 GUARDRAIL 40,000       40,000 40,000 0 40,000

BRIDGE STAPLEDONS RD 3.98KM WEST HWY GUARDRAIL 80,000       80,000 80,000 80,000

Sub-Total - Bridges 210,000 210,000 0 0 0 80,000 0 0 0 0 130,000 0 80,000 0 0 0 0 130,000 0

Footpaths and Cycleways

BIKEPATHS FINAL SEALS 50,000       50,000 50,000 0

WIM RIVER PEDESTRIAN BRIDGE EXTENSION OF HAMILTON ST 160,000    160,000 160,000

FOOTPATH WAVELL ST FRASER DR TO UBERGANG CRT (NORTH SIDE) 55,000       55,000 55,000

FOOTPATH CATHCART ST, JOHNSON TO SUNNYSIDE AVE 12,000       12,000 12,000 12,000

FOOTPATH REHABIL - DISABILITY STRATEGY UPGRADE PROJECTS 50,000       50,000 50,000

CBD REVITALISATION PYNSENT/ROBERTS AVE/MCLACHLAN 560,000    336,000 224,000 280,000 280,000 280,000 56,000

CBD REVITALISATION LANEWAY ACTIVATION 120,000    120,000 60,000 60,000

Sub-Total - Footpaths and Cycleways 1,007,000 348,000 324,000 335,000 340,000 0 0 0 0 500,000 167,000 280,000 0 0 0 0 56,000 0 12,000

Drainage

DARLOT ST DRAIN RENEW FUNDED HEADWORKS RESERVE 300,000    300,000 300,000 300,000

Sub-Total - Drainage 300,000 300,000 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 300,000 0 0 0 0 0 0 300,000 0 0

Off Street Car Parks

ROBERTS AVE CARPARK DRAINAGE LINES 40,000       40,000 20,000 20,000

Sub-Total - Off Street Car Parks 40,000 0 40,000 0 0 0 20,000 0 0 0 20,000 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Recreational, leisure and community facilities

OUTDOOR POOL AND WETDECK INC: 1,316,160 1,168,360 147,800 200,000 791,560 324,600 200,000 791,560 176,800

SUNNYSIDE MASTER PLAN CAPITAL WORKS 30,000       30,000 10,000 20,000

Sub-Total - Rec, leisure and community facilities 1,346,160 1,168,360 177,800 0 200,000 0 10,000 0 0 791,560 344,600 200,000 0 0 0 0 791,560 176,800 0

TIED 
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$ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $

Parks, open space and streetscapes

SPRINKLER RENEWAL 20,000       20,000 20,000 20,000

PLAYGROUND EQUIPMENT REPLACEMENT HSM & NATIMUK 31,000       31,000 31,000 31,000

Sub-Total - Parks, open space and streetscapes 51,000 51,000 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 51,000 0 0 0 0 0 0 20,000 31,000

Waste Management

TRANSFER STATION IMPROVEMENTS - UPGRADE OF FACILITY 1,000,000 300,000 700,000 500,000 500,000 300,000

LADLOWS STAGE2B CELL 2 PHASE 1 CONSTRUCTION 45,000       45,000 45,000 45,000

CELL 3 PUTRESCIBLE CONSTRUCTION JOHNS 45,000       45,000 45,000 45,000

Sub-Total - Waste Management 1,090,000 390,000 700,000 0 500,000 0 0 0 0 590,000 0 0 0 0 0 0 390,000 0 0

Aerodromes

STORMWATER DETENTION AND RETENTION SYSTEM 200,000    200,000 200,000

Sub-Total -Aerodrome 200,000 0 0 200,000 0 0 0 0 0 0 200,000 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Other Infrastructure

WIFT PRECINCT ESTABLISHMENT RETARD BASIN 230,520    230,520 230,520

WIFT PRECINCT ESTABLISHMENT POWER/WATER SUPPLY 450,000    450,000 450,000

Sub-Total - Other Infrastructure 680,520 0 0 680,520 0 0 0 0 0 680,520 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

TOTAL INFRASTRUCTURE 11,564,727 6,925,719 1,563,800 3,075,208 2,290,000 888,359 30,000 0 0 3,426,768 4,929,600 480,000 740,359 0 0 0 1,537,560 2,165,800 2,002,000

TOTAL NEW CAPITAL WORKS 2018/19 15,054,727 8,329,919 1,894,800 4,830,008 2,596,000 888,359 55,000 0 213,500 5,587,268 5,714,600 480,000 740,359 0 0 213,500 2,410,060 2,404,000 2,082,000

TIED 
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LOANS
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INFRA- 
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R2R 
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TOTAL 

COST
RENEWAL UPGRADE

FUNDING SOURCE FOR ALL CAPITAL PROJECTS FUNDING SOURCE FOR RENEWAL ASSETS ONLY 

$ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $

PROPERTY 1,437,200 368,200 299,200 769,800 256,000 0 0 0 0 440,000 741,200 0 0 0 0 0 50,000 238,200 80,000

PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 2,052,800 1,036,000 31,800 985,000 50,000 0 25,000 0 213,500 1,720,500 43,800 0 0 0 0 213,500 822,500 0 0

INFRASTRUCTURE 11,564,727 6,925,719 1,563,800 3,075,208 2,290,000 888,359 30,000 0 0 3,426,768 4,929,600 480,000 740,359 0 0 0 1,537,560 2,165,800 2,002,000

TOTAL CAPITAL WORKS 15,054,727 8,329,919 1,894,800 4,830,008 2,596,000 888,359 55,000 0 213,500 5,587,268 5,714,600 480,000 740,359 0 0 213,500 2,410,060 2,404,000 2,082,000

Percentage Spend against each type of works 55% 13% 32%

R2R + 

R2R 

Special

SPECIAL 
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5. Financial performance indicators 

 
The following table highlights Council’s current and projected performance across a range of key 
financial performance indicators. These indicators provide a useful analysis of Council’s financial 
position and performance and should be interpreted in the context of the organisation’s objectives. 
 

 
 

Notes to indicators  
 

1. Adjusted underlying result 

An indicator of the sustainable operating result required to enable Council to continue to provide core 
services and meet its objectives. Improvement in financial performance should be expected over the 
period, although continued losses means reliance on Council's cash reserves or increased debt to 
maintain services. This indicator shows a fluctuating trend over the 4 year SRP, in part influenced by 
the introduction of rate capping and the restrictions this places on Council to be able to raise revenue 
to meet both service delivery needs and asset renewal. 

 

2. Working Capital 

The proportion of current liabilities represented by current assets. Working Capital is slightly in decline 
due to less unrestricted cash being held over the years and increasing current liabilities in the form of 
payables, loan repayments and provisions.  

 

3. Unrestricted Cash 
Unrestricted cash ratio is slightly decreasing over the period of the SRP, as unrestricted held is 
decreasing whilst current liabilities is increasing.  

 

4. Debt compared to rates 
Following a sharp increase from 2014/15 the trend is that debt levels will continue to rise as a result of 
Council’s reliance on debt to fund some of its new capital works program. This will increase our 

Actual Forecast Budget Trend

2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 +/o/-

Adjusted underlying result
Adjusted underlying surplus (deficit) / Adjusted 

underlying revenue
1 6.00% 1.19% -4.27% -2.78% -6.04% -3.37% -

Liquidity
Working Capital Current assets / current liabilities 2 298% 315% 270% 257% 255% 250% -

Unrestricted cash Unrestricted cash / current liabilities 3 36% 17% 16% 12% 14% 16% o

Obligations

Loans and borrowings
Interest bearing loans and borrowings / rate 

revenue
4 25% 27% 24% 36% 50% 54% -

Loans and borrowings
Interest and principal repayments on interest 

bearing loans and borrowings / rate revenue
3.0% 2.9% 3.1% 2.9% 4.2% 4.5% -

Indebtedness Non-current liabilities / own source revenue 28% 27% 23% 33% 44% 45% -

Asset renewal Asset renewal expenses / Asset depreciation 5 78% 72% 76% 109% 115% 91% o

Stability
Rates concentration Rate revenue / adjusted underlying revenue 6 51% 53% 55% 55% 60% 59% -

Rates effort
Rate revenue / CIV of rateable properties in 

the municipality
60% 62% 64% 65% 65% 66% -

Efficiency
Expenditure level Total expenses/ no. of property assessments $3,813 $4,007 $4,251 $4,268 $3,819 $3,879 o

Revenue level
Residential rate revenue / no. of residential 

property assessments
$1,787 $1,840 $1,692 $1,730 $1,768 $1,806 o

Key to Forecast Trend:

 Indicator Measure

N
o

te
s

Workforce turnover

No. of permanent staff resignations & 

terminations / average no. of permanent staff 

for the financial year
9.45% o

+ Forecasts improvement in Council's financial performance/financial position indicator

o Forecasts that Council's financial performance/financial position indicator will be steady

10.76 9.51% 9.45% 9.45% 9.45%

Strategic Resource Plan 

Projections

Operating position

 - Forecasts deterioration in Council's financial performance/financial position indicator

APPENDIX 10.2C



 
 

Horsham Rural City Council Budget – 2018-19  63 

indebtedness ratio to 54% in 21/22 (25% in 16/17) which is still below the upper limit recommended 
by the Auditor General of 60%. This measure and the indebtedness ratio will be over-stated due to 
the new MAV Funding Vehicle arrangements that will see Council’s borrowings being taken out on an 
interest only basis with principal repayments being provided for internally by way of a reserve account. 
This reserve account will not directly be offset against the loan liability. 

 

5. Asset renewal 
This percentage indicates the extent of Council's renewals against its depreciation charge (an 
indication of the decline in value of its existing capital assets). A percentage greater than 100 
indicates Council is maintaining its existing assets, while a percentage less than 100 means its assets 
are deteriorating faster than they are being renewed and future capital expenditure will be required to 
renew assets.  

 

6. Rates concentration 
Reflects extent of reliance on rate revenues to fund all of Council's on-going services. The trend 
indicates that Council will become more reliant on rate revenue compared to all other revenue 
sources. 
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Appendices 
 
The following appendices include voluntary and statutory disclosures of information, which provide 
support for the analysis contained in sections 1 to 5 of this report. 
 
This information has not been included in the main body of the budget report in the interests of clarity 
and conciseness. Council has decided that while the budget report needs to focus on the important 
elements of the budget and provide appropriate analysis, the detail upon which the annual budget is 
based should be provided in the interests of open and transparent local government. 
 
The contents of the appendices are summarised below: 

 

Appendix Nature of information Page 

A Non-capital Initiatives 65 

B Community Grants 66 

C Fees and Charges 68 

D Significant Capital Works Details  86 
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Appendix A 
Non-capital Initiatives 
 

 

  

Expenditure 

Specific 

Income or 

Reserves 

Funded from 

General 

Revenue 

Goal 1 Community and Cultural Development 3,324,821    3,175,474 149,347        

Community Development

Grampians Peak Trail - Parks Victoria 3,159,474    3,159,474 

Community Facilities and Halls Pricing Policy Impacts 30,000         30,000          

Horsham North Urban Design Framework Initiatives 15,000         15,000          

Prevention of Violence Against Women Initiatives 5,000          5,000           

Social Infrastructure Framework 60,000         60,000          

Community Safety

Certificate 4 Statutory Compliance Training and Backfill 40,347         16,000      24,347          

Early Years

Early Years Plan Review 15,000         15,000          

Goal 2 Sustaining the Economy 15,000         15,000          

Promotions and Tourism

Sports Marketing Event Attraction Costs 15,000         15,000          

Goal 3 Asset Management 1,708,000    1,498,000 210,000        

Building Asset Mgt

Asbestos Labelling 10,000         10,000          

Building Assets Inspections 10,000         10,000          

Upgrade Locking Systems on Council Buildings 15,000         15,000          

Mgt and Admin

Dial Before You Dig Response Software Licence 20,000         20,000          

Level 2 Bridge Inspection Surveys 85,000         85,000      

Parks and Gardens

Road Clearances Tree Clearing/Pruning 90,000         90,000          

Sports and Recreation

Apex Island Precinct Planning 25,000         25,000          

Sport and Recreation Strategy Review 40,000         40,000          

Streetscape and Public Conveniences

CBD Revitalisation Operational Items 520,000       520,000    

CBD Revitalisation Project Officer 40,000         40,000      

CBD Revitalisation Relocate Power Lines Underground 800,000       800,000    
 CBD Shop Front Enhancement and Shade Incentive 53,000         53,000      

Goal 4 Governance and Business Excellence 85,000         85,000          

Financial Services

Grant Applications Project Estimates 20,000         20,000          

Information and Technology

Civica Version 7 Upgrade 30,000         30,000          

IT / Records Trainee 35,000         35,000          

Goal 5 Natural and Built Environments 530,000       490,000    40,000          

Sustainability

Sustainability Strategy Review 40,000         40,000          

Waste Management Services

E-Waste Management 50,000         50,000      

Rehabilitate Dooen Landfill Ladlows Hardwaste 2B West cover 440,000       440,000    

Grand Total 5,662,821    5,163,474 499,347        
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Appendix B 

 
 

COUNCIL 

DONATIONS $

COUNCIL 

GRANTS $

SPORT AND RECREATION

AFL Wimmera Mallee Training Equipment for Umpires 500

Horsham Croquet Club Replace Kitchen cupboards 7,700

Horsham Football Netball Club Replace all flooring 8,000

Horsham Lawn Tennis Club Tilt Trailer for equipment transfer 1,600

Horsham Sharks Swimming Club 2 new shade structures 10,000

Kalimna Park Croquet club Mouse proof storage cupboard 450

Laharum Sports Inc. Commercial dishwasher 6,000

Natimuk Golf Club Upgrade 5 tees with instant turf 2,000

Noradjuha Quantong Football Netball Club Fridge for healthy food options 684

Parkrun ParkRun program in Horsham 5,000

Taylors Lake Football Netball Club Upgrade of switchboard 10,000

Annual Allocation to assist funding applications 20,000

Sport & Recreation Advisory Committee Contingency 5,000

Specific Donation - Horsham Basketball Stadium (Lease) 15,500

Community maintained Recreation Reserve maintenance allocation

Dock Lake 11,800

Laharum 11,800

Kalkee 5,900

Pimpinio 5,900

Quantong 11,800

Riverside (Equestrian Outdoor Surface) 500

Noradjuha 500

Natimuk Showgrounds 5,900

Toolondo 500

Coughlin Park (HRCC allocation of outdoor staff resources) 11,800

TOTAL COMMUNITY GRANTS FOR SPORT AND RECREATION 106,900 51,934

HALLS INFRASTRUCTURE

CWA Hall Committee of Management Defibrillator 1,400

Dooen Public Hall Roof Insulation 4,744

Hamilton Lamb Hall Paving of nature strip 4,000

Laharum Hall Committee Lining of skillion roof 2,500

Taylors Lake Hall Split system Air-conditioner 5,000

Insurance levy for Public Halls 15,000

(Brimpaen, Dadswells Bridge, Dooen, Haven, Jung, Kanagulk, Laharum , Mitre 

Natimuk, Noradjuha, Riverside, Sai lors Home Hall, Taylors Lake, Telangatuk

Toolondo, Wonwondah, Clear Lake School, Hamilton Lamb Hall)

TOTAL COMMUNITY GRANTS FOR HALLS 15,000 17,644

KINDERGARTENS

Green Park Casuarina Kindergarten Blinds for Acacia verandah area 3,875

Natimuk Road Kindergarten Replacement of rubber soft fall 10,000

Maintenance Grants of $830 for Council's 6 Kindergartens 4,980

TOTAL COMMUNITY GRANTS FOR KINDERGARTENS 4,980 13,875

GENERAL WELFARE AND COMMUNITY SERVICES

Christian Emergency Food Centre Inc Food Hampers 2,230

Horsham College Chaplaincy Committee 5,460

Wimmera River Imp Committee 8,000

Wimmera River Imp Committee-Police paddock 2,350

Wimmera Toy Library Replacement Toys 1,000

Wimmera Toy Library Storage Bays for new HUB 3,500

TOTAL COMMUNITY GRANTS FOR WELFARE & COMMUNITY SERVICES 19,040 3,500

COMMUNITY GRANTS AND DONATIONS 2018/2019
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COUNCIL 

DONATIONS $

COUNCIL 

GRANTS $

ORGANISATIONS

3rd Horsham Brownie Guides Repairs to Roof 1,548

Arapiles Community Theatre Community workshops/exhibitions 1,000

Horsham 2nd Scouts Security lighting 2,500

Horsham Historical Society Binding of local newspapers 2,550

Horsham Urban Landcare Group Support of Landcare events 2,000

North West Grampians Lions Branch Christine Middleton  performance 1,000

Oasis Wimmera Support Activities - Jubilee Hall 3,000

U3A Horsham & District Inc. Support of Tai Chi program 600

Wimmera Association for Genealogy Annual support 310

Wimmera Live Steam & Model Engineering Society Safety improvements 5,000

Wimmera Filipino-Australian Club Inc Bowling Tournament 1,000

Wimmera Mobility Group Support Group excursion 600

Wimmera Pride Project Support group program/activities 4,000

Horsham City Pipe Band Support of Council events 1,670

Horsham Rural City Brass Band Support of Council events 1,670

Natimuk Brass Band Support of Council events 1,670

Dadswells Bridge Hall - newsletter Newsletter 250

Natimuk & District Progress Association Monthly newsletter 1,500

North West Grampians Newsletter Monthly newsletter 1,500

Wonwondah North Hall - Newsletter Newsletter 250

Charitable Organisations - refund of rates 10,400

(Red Cross, St Vincent de Paul, Salvation Army, Axis Worx, Jacobs Well)

Federation University Horsham Campus - Nursing award 300

Longerenong Citizenship Prize 300

Horsham Secondary College Senior Achievement Award 200

Horsham College - Alternate Pathways Achievement Award 200

St Brigid's College Senior Achievement Award 200

Holy Trinity Lutheran College Senior Achievement Award 200

Rural Toilet allocation 2,500

(includes  Clear Lake Recreation Reserve $515)

General Contingency 17,000

TOTAL COMMUNITY GRANTS TO ORGANISATIONS 23,120 41,798

EVENTS

Arapiles Cycling Event Committee Re-useable signage for Event 450

Art Is Festival Event support 6,800

Business Horsham Community guest speaker 3,500

Horsham & District Orchid Society Hire of college hall for event 840

Horsham Calisthenics College Annual Calisthenics Competition 1,100

Horsham Christian Ministers Association Carols by Candlelight 3,500

Horsham Fishing Competition Inc. Support of fishing competition 5,000

Horsham Flying Club Equipment/Advert support 2 events 5,000

Horsham Mother's Day Classic Support Mothers Day Classic event 1,000

Horsham Motorcycle Club Ambulance for World Junior MX 6,000

Horsham Patchwork Quilters Inc. Cover Town Hall Hire for exhibition 3,608

Kannamaroo Committee of Management Friday/Saturday evenings 5,000

Natimuk Agricultural & Pastoral Society Factory MC Freestyle performance 4,000

Natimuk Farmers Market Plus Musician at Market (4 markets) 900

Operation 19:14 Action Team Children's activities 3,630

Rotary Club of Horsham East

Support Wimmera Science & 

Engineering Challenge 7,820

Wimmera & Southern Mallee Careers Expo Support of key note speaker 4,000

Wimmera Growers of Australian Plants Inc 12th FJC Rogers Seminar 3 days 3,400

Wimmera Rockers Danceworld Support band hire 2,200

TOAL COMMUNITY GRANTS FOR EVENTS 3,500 64,248

SUB - TOTALS 172,540 192,999

GRAND TOTAL COMMUNITY GRANTS AND DONATIONS 2018/2019 365,539

COMMUNITY GRANTS AND DONATIONS 2018/2019
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Appendix C 
Fees and Charges Schedules 
 
This appendix presents the fees and charges of a statutory and non-statutory nature that are charged 
in respect to various goods and services provided during the 2018/19 year. 
 

 

charges listed do not  include GST unless otherwise stated

Service Description
Charge 

Frequency

Charge 

2017/18

Charge 

2018/19

Year of last 

increase

REGIONAL LIVESTOCK EXCHANGE 

Associated agents general fee Annual 60,700.00 62,500.00 2017/18

Truck wash- Purchase Avdata Key 40.00 40.00 2010/11

Occasional users - tray trucks/trailers per 3 mins 7.20 7.40 2016/17

min charge 3 mins

Coin in the slot 2 minutes 2.00 2.00 2002/03

Occasional users - semi-trailers 20.00 20.00 2010/11

General Sale Dues as Follows  :-

Cattle (not bulls) Per Head/Day 12.00 12.30 2017/18

Bulls Per Head/Day 12.00 12.30 2017/18

Calves Per Head/Day 4.50 4.60 2017/18

Sheep Per Head/Day 0.78 0.83 2017/18

Goats Per Head/Day 0.78 0.83 2017/18

Note:  For Private Sales, General Sales Dues apply.  

Note:  Additional Fee for Mob Selling pending if applicable.

Holding Fees

Every person who rents or uses pens or other accommodation

for cattle for any purpose other than the sale of cattle at

any market provided by the Council, for any of the following :-

Sheep Per Head/Day 0.29 0.30 2017/18

Goats Per Head/Day 0.29 0.30 2017/18

Cattle Per Head/Day 3.40 3.50 2017/18

 

Weighing Fee

Cattle (Other than for sale)  Per Head 5.60 5.80 2017/18

Holding Paddock Fee

sheep and lambs Per Head/Day 0.29 0.30 2017/18

there is no charge on stock held in yards on the first night

All  stock is to be removed from sell ing yards by the lunchtime Friday

after a sale or stock wil l  be placed on agistment where a fee is applicable   

Disposal Fee Per Head 31.00 32.00 2017/18

Ear tagging - Cattle Per Head 31.00 32.00 2017/18

Ear tagging - Sheep/Goats Per Head 2.00 New

Initial  sheep/goat tagging fee relating to the introduction of electronic ear tagging.

This fee to be reviewed in January 2019.
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SUNDRY CHARGES

Weddings at Gardens - Hire Charge GST inclusive Each Time 75.00 80.00 2017/18

Booking fee for wedding photographs GST inclusive 75.00 80.00 2017/18

Emergency Bore Water Charge

 -  al l  water in excess of 20,000 KL per year - $1.00 per additional KL 1.00 1.00 2009/10

Community Local Law No. 3

Permit to Burn each permit 40.00 40.00 2017/18

Permit to collect firewood from Council road/place each permit 20.00 22.50 2017/18

Permit to display vehicle or goods for sale each permit 140.00 145.00 2017/18

Footpath Advertising Permit 140.00 145.00 2017/18

Footpath Display Table Permit 140.00 145.00 2017/18

Footpath Table & Chairs Permit - per chairs - unlicensed premise 22.00 24.00 2017/18

Footpath Table & Chairs Permit - per chairs - l icenced premise 43.00 46.00 2017/18

Each 260.00 270.00 2017/18

Each 260.00 270.00 2017/18

Each 10.00 10.00 2017/18

Refer to 'Local Laws General Fees & Charges' for further permit fees applicable

Road Opening Fees & Re-Instatement Charges      

Permit  Fee 60.00 70.00 2015/16

Opening Gravelled Surface Permit Fee 50.00 70.00 2017/18

Opening Bitumen or Concrete Footpath Permit Fee 75.00 70.00 2017/18

Opening Removal of Kerb & Channel Permit Fee 75.00 70.00 2017/18

Opening Sealed Roadways per sq m 85.00 70.00 2017/18

Opening Tap into Stormwater drain Permit Fee 55.00 70.00 2017/18

Boring Boring Under Road (No disturbance to pavement) Permit Fee 70.00 70.00 2017/18

Vehicle Construction of Kerb Crossing - permit fee Permit Fee 80.00 70.00 2017/18

Crossings

Public Ruling charges as varied from To Be Advised

Authorities time to time by MAV

Special Work Minimum Charge 45.00 45.00

Road closure, etc.

Builders Footpath Repair & Crossing Deposit 700.00 700.00 2011/12

(Fixed as per Local Law No. 3)

Building Services 

As per Building Control Fees & Charges

Permit Administration Fee

Hazard and Unsightly Property Clean Up by Contractor - Council  Administration 

Fee. Plus costs associated with clean up and removal. Failure to adhere to 

Clean Up or Unsightly Property Notice.

Clean Up by Contractor - Council  Administration Fee. Plus all  costs associated 

with clean up and removal. Clean up of i l legally dumped and otherwise not 

properly disposed of items and refuse. 
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(excludes GST unless otherwise stated)

Service Description
Unit of 

Measure

Charge

 2017/18

Charge

 2018/19

Inspections

Additional / Other / Miscellaneous Inspection (Minimum one-hour charge) Hour 150.00 155.00

Inspections for Private Building Surveyors (Minimum one-hour charge) Hour 260.00 270.00

Illegal / Unapproved Building Work

Consideration of Approval of Il legal or Unapproved Building Work Each

Report and Consent (July 2018)

Application for report and consent 

Part 5  -  Siting

Part 6  -  Projections Reg 109

Part 8  -  Building above or below certain public facil ities - Reg 134(2);

  Septic Systems - Reg 132(1); Build over an easement vested in Council - Reg 130

Part 10 - Flooding - Reg 153 & Reg 154

Each Prescribed fee 283.40

Application for report & consent pursuant to s29a - Demolition of Building Each Prescribed fee 83.10

Application for report & consent for protection of the publ ic Reg 116(4) Each Prescribed fee 287.60

Application for report & consent for location of point of stormwater discharge 

Reg 133(2)

Each Prescribed fee 141.20

Request for Information (July 2018)

Requests for information (Property Information Requests) 

(Regulation 326(1), 326(2) and 326(3))

Each Prescribed fee 46.10

Request for Professional Advice / Consultation

(Minimum one-hour charge. Charged by the hour)

Hour 160.00 165.00

File Retrieval / Search

File Retrieval – Minor Document 

(for example, Copy of Building / Occupancy Permit/ Plans)

Each $10.00

(+ photocopying)

20.00

File Retrieval / Search (for example, Permit History) Each $70.00

(+ photocopying)

80.00

Amended Building Permit

Amended Building Permit – Minor Alterations Each 90.00 130.00

Amended Building Permit – Major Alterations (+ additional inspections) Each 170.00 200.00

Time Extension – Building Permit (amended permit required - first request) Each 150.00 200.00

Time Extension – Building Permit (amended permit required - second request) Each N/A N/A

Amended Plans (Minimum one-hour charge. Charged by the hour) Hour 160.00 165.00

Refunds

Withdrawn Application – Permit Lodged Not Yet Assessed Retained 270.00 280.00

Withdrawn Application – Permit Assessed Not Yet Issued Retained 30% of fees 

(Minimum $370.00)

30% of fees 

(Minimum $370.00)

Permit Cancellation – After Permit Issued Retained Permit fees retained Permit fees retained

(Refund only for inspections not carried out, based on inspection fee at time of cancellation)

Permit Cancellation – After Permit Expired Retained No refund No refund

Lodgement Fee (July 2018)

Lodgement fee for Private Building Surveyors

(Submission of Section 80, 30, & 73) (lodged via hard copy / email / facsimile)

Each Prescribed fee 118.92

Events

Place of Public Entertainment (POPE) Occupancy Permit Each 375.00 390.00

Temporary Siting Approval or Temporary Structure Inspection Each 240.00 250.00

Entertainment / Event Consideration, Notification, and Approval - No Permit 

Required

Each 10.00 15.00

Note: Fees may be negotiated based on volume and economies of scale and scope.

Event Fees & Charges are GST inclusive 

(Cost of Building Permit + 50%) 
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Title: Horsham Town Hall: Floor Replacement  
Council Plan Goal: Council Plan Goal 1 – Community and Cultural Development 

Service: Performing Arts 

Asset category: Horsham Town Hall Operations 

Project Leader: Director Community Services (Kevin O’Brien) 

 

Fund Source Renewal Upgrade New Total 

General Revenue $69,700   $69,700 

External Grants     

Contributions     

Reserves     

Total $69,700   $69,700 

Project background 
During the major refurbishment project at the town hall, the replacement of the performing arts 
centre floor in the existing Town Hall was not funded for upgrade. The entire floor now requires 
replacement including restumping.  
 
The full replacement of the floor is subject to an external grant from Heritage Victoria for $200,000 
which has not been included in the budget at this point in time. If it is not successful, there will be a 
partial replacement of the floor including restumping from the allocated general revenue funds.  
 

 
 

What are the proposed works? 
The project will reconstruct the timber floor and floor surface of the original heritage auditorium of 
the Horsham Town Hall in accordance with heritage principles.  
 
The work entails taking up the old floorboards and skirtings, under taking sub-floor repairs and re 
construction as required and then replacing floorboards and skirtings as per the existing floor.  

Why are we doing it? 
The floorboards have come to the end of their useful life. The floor is uneven due to the stumps not 
being consistently at the same level.  
 
The condition of the town hall floor is critical for the Town Hall being fully utilised. A range of major 
events and conferences are conducted at the town hall. 

When is it likely to happen? 
Between 31 August 2018 and 30 September 2018.  
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Title: WIFT Precinct Industrial Estate - Infrastructure 
Council Plan Goal: Council Plan Goal 2 – Sustaining the Economy and Environment 

Service: Economic Development – New Works 

Asset category: Industrial Estate 

Project Leader: Director Planning and Economic (Angela Murphy) 

 

Fund Source Renewal Upgrade New Total 

General Revenue     

External Grants   $1,250,000 $1,250,000 

Contributions     

Reserves   $1,245,208 $1,245,208 

Total   $2,495,208 $2,495,208 

Project background 
The WIFT (Wimmera Intermodal Freight Terminal) is the key export freight hub for the Wimmera, 
based within the 470 hectare WIFT Precinct and is located 12km of north of Horsham at Dooen.  

The $16.75 million WIFT project was completed in August 2012 on 23.5 hectares. This important 
strategic investment for the Wimmera region will provide vital freight infrastructure for the 
Wimmera region for the next 50+ years.  The relocation of the terminal from central Horsham 
removed heavy vehicle traffic from urban areas and addressed the lack of growth potential at the 
central Horsham site.  

The WIFT is located on the national rail freight network, providing a central location in the Wimmera 
for specialist grain handling facilities and providing improved access to ports and processing plants 
to build on the regions significant grain industry. 

The WIFT Precinct Structure Plan was developed in December 2012 to guide the future development 
of the WIFT Precinct Industrial Estate.  The plan details developing and growing key regional 
industries with a value added export focus and the WIFT Precinct Stage 1 Development project 
delivers on this plan. The Planning Scheme Amendment for the Precinct to rezone the land from 
farming to special use zone was gazetted in December 2017, with preparation of the development 
plan underway.  

The vision of the developed WIFT Precinct Industrial Estate is to facilitate the relocation of current 
large agribusiness operations, packing plants, and transport operators from within Horsham to 
purpose built facilities outside of town.  

A closer alignment with the Freight Hub will help drive down production and transport costs for 
those businesses that relocate to the WIFT. Industrial land within the urban boundaries could then 
be utilised by more appropriate businesses, thus helping to achieve Horsham's long term land use 
plans.  
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What are the proposed works? 
Stage 1 development of the WIFT Precinct is a 100 hectare area that will provide industrial 

allotments varying in size from 2 to 21 hectares.  

 

The lots will be fully serviced with road access, street lighting, drainage, water and high voltage 

backbone along Freight Terminal Road as a result of this project. 

 

 

Why are we doing it? 
The key outcome of this project will be the development of the first stage of the WIFT Precinct to 
support future growth and exports from the region’s broadacre agricultural sector and developing 
mining industry.  
 
This project will enable the development of a quality industrial precinct that will attract industry 
investment and create jobs. In the short term, this project will help Horsham Rural City Council to 
secure investment by grain and hay processing companies. 

When is it likely to happen? 
Infrastructure works are proposed to commence in the second half of 2018 with completion of the 
project to occur in mid-2019. 
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Title: Aquatic Centre – Outdoor Pool Refurbishment 
Council Plan Goal: Council Plan Goal 3 – Asset Management 

Service: Community Services – Renewal Works 

Asset category: Aquatic Centre – Sports and Recreation 

Project Leader: Director Community Services (Kevin O’Brien) 

 

Fund Source Renewal Upgrade New Total 

General Revenue $324,600   $324,600 

External Grants $52,200 $147,800  $200,000 

Contributions     

Reserves $791,560   $791,560 

Total $1,168,360 $147,800  $1,316,160 

Project background 
The outdoor pool is more than 50 years old. There are significant leaks in both the pool shell and also 
from the pipes connecting the pool to the filtration system. The concourse is uneven and of fair 
appearance. The hob around the pool restricts access. The pool does not meet swimming competition 
standards. Most components of the outdoor pool have come to their useful life. The redevelopment 
of the outdoor pool was highlighted as infrastructure  
required in the 2017 Horsham Aquatic Centre Master Plan. 

 
 

What are the proposed works? 
Replace the concrete hob surrounding Horsham’s 50 metre outdoor Olympic Pool with a Wet Deck. 
New pool shell/skin with new pipework and new pool concourse. 

Why are we doing it? 
The project will improve accessibility to the outdoor pool and the new pool shell will result in a 
significant reduction of loss of water due to the condition of current pool shell and associated 
pipework.  
 
A new shell will result in the pool being of a size to allow for swimming competition times to be 
recognised. There will also be improve surveillance by lifeguards by the hob being removed thus 
enhancing safety and a reduction in chemical usage.  

When is it likely to happen? 
August 2018 to December 2018.  
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Title: Footpath Renewal works 
Council Plan Goal: Council Plan Goal 3 – Asset Management 

Service: Footpaths & Cycle-ways 

Asset category: Footpaths 

Project Leader: Director Technical Services (John Martin) 

 

Fund Source Renewal Upgrade New Total 

General Revenue  $100,000 $67,000 $167,000 

External Grants $116,000 $224,000  $340,000 

Contributions     

Reserves $232,000  $108,000 $340,000 

Total $348,000 $324,000 $175,000 $847,000 

Project background 
Each year Council funds works on cycle ways and footpaths. The extent of the works is influenced by 
individual grants that may be received. This year includes an amount of $340,000 from an external 
grant for CBD revitalisation. 

What are the proposed works? 
The proposed works that are funded for 2018-19 are: 

 

 Bike path final seals $50,000 (last year $50,000) 

 Footpaths new works for the north side of Wavell Street from 
Fraser Drive to Uebergang Crt $55,000 

 Footpath renewal works for Cathcart Street, Johnson to 
Sunnyside Avenue $12,000 

 Various footpath rehabilitation works  aligned to Council’s 
Disability Strategy $50,000 

 Footpath upgrades, Pynsent Street, Roberts Ave, McLachlan 
Street $560,000 as part of the CBD revitalisation grant 

 $120,000 for the activation of selected laneways in the CBD as 
part of the CBD revitalisation grant 

Why are we doing it? 
Bike paths: Unsealed bike paths tend to deteriorate faster, creating the renewal and maintenance 
burden to the Council.  

Use of 50K to seal some of those unsealed bike paths will result in significant benefit by extending the 
life of the asset and reduce the maintenance demand. 

Footpath: Footpath renewal works are undertaken to bring the deteriorated assets to the current 
engineering standards. Doing this also reduces the risk of pedestrians tripping over. 

New footpath works are programmed in accordance with the Footpath Construction Policy which aims 
to include at least on each of the following footpath segment in the construction program. 
 

 Where footpaths have disappeared. 

 On main collector or link roads, to provide a footpath on both sides of the road. 

 On other streets, where there is no footpath on either side. 
 
Currently proposed new footpath works fits into both second and third dot points. 

CBD revitalisation – Identifies the prioritisation of walkability and support for cycling, particularly from 
May Park through to the Wimmera River. Upgrades to footpaths will ensure a standardised pavement 
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aesthetic and use of uniform material. Improvements to footpaths are needed to remove steep cross-
falls and trip hazards and will provide a cohesive walking network within the CBD. 

When is it likely to happen? 
Majority of these works will be undertaken by HRCC’s in-house construction crew, but at times 
contractors are used to help complete the program.  
 
Most of these projects will be completed between October 2018 and April 2019 (construction season). 
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Title: Wimmera River Detailed Design of a New 
Pedestrian Footbridge – Hamilton Street 

Council Plan Goal: Council Plan Goal 3 – Asset Management 

Service: Technical Services – New Works 

Asset category: Footpaths – Infrastructure – Urban  

Project Leader: Director Technical Services (John Martin) 

 

Fund Source Renewal Upgrade New Total 

General Revenue     

External Grants     

Contributions     

Reserves   $160,000 $160,000 

Total   $160,000 $160,000 

Project background 
The proposed project is the outcome of community discussions over a number of years, and has been 
identified as a major project in the Wimmera River Corridor Strategy which endeavours to make the 
most of Horsham’s best natural asset; the Wimmera River. 

The proposed pedestrian bridge is either mentioned in and/or contributes to a number of Horsham 
Rural City Council strategies and plans, including: 

 Horsham Council Plan 2017 – 2020 
 Horsham Municipal Strategic Statement January 2015 (approval pending) 
 Horsham Community Plan 2013 
 Horsham Municipal Bicycle and Shared Path Plan 2012 – 2016 
 Wimmera Regional Transport Group “Bridges to Recovery Strategy” 
 Horsham Framework for Managing Growth, November 2013 
 Horsham Integrated Transport Strategy 
 Towards Zero 2016 – 2020 Victoria’s Road Safety Strategy 
 Health and Wellbeing Plan 2017-2021 
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What are the proposed works? 
The proposed project involves the design and construction of a new pedestrian bridge across the 
Wimmera River to the east of the Western Highway, near the intersection of Hamilton Street and 
Menadue Street that can be accessed by pedestrians, cyclists and mobility vehicles alike.  It is intended 
that the bridge will connect with existing walking tracks along the Wimmera River by the provision of 
new linking paths on river frontage, which is generally under the control of Council, either as public 
and private land. 

Why are we doing it? 
The intended outcomes of the proposed project are as follows: 

 Provision of a pedestrian, cyclist and mobility vehicle crossing at the eastern end of Horsham
between residential developments, the CBD, sporting grounds, showgrounds reserve and
several schools

 Completion of a second walking track loop along the eastern extent of the Wimmera River to
encourage community exercise and increase social interaction

 Increased pedestrian and cyclist connectivity between the north and south sides of the
Wimmera River, increasing the overall liveliness of the town

When is it likely to happen? 
The proposed stages and estimated time frames for the project are listed below: 

Stage 1: Undertake planning and investigation activities to assist in the development of a concept 
plan for a two- or three-span concrete pedestrian bridge. Including but not limited to; feature 
surveys, geotechnical investigations, environmental investigations, cultural heritage management 
plan, native title assessment, flood plain modelling, structural concepts and cost estimates. (Current 
to mid-2018) 

Stage 2: Detailed design of all bridge components, community engagement, preparation of formal 
construction contract (Mid to late 2018) 

Stage 3: Public Tender (Estimated late 2018) 

Stage 4: Construction of bridge, ramps and linking paths (Estimated 2019-2020) 
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Title: Urban Road Reconstruction (including Final Seals) 
Council Plan Goal: Council Plan Goal 3 – Asset Management 

Service: Roads 

Asset category: Urban Road Construction – Infrastructure 

Project Leader: Director Technical Services (John Martin) 

Fund Source Renewal Upgrade New Total 

General Revenue $165,000 $20,000 $30,000 $215,000 

External Grants $62,359 $62,359 

Contributions 

Reserves $1,185,000 $1,185,000 

Total $1,412,359 $20,000 $30,000 $1,462,359 

Project background 
Each year Council allocates funding towards urban road construction which includes final seals, minor 
seal extensions and general works. This is funded from a mix of general revenues, the infrastructure 
renewal reserve and the Federal Government Roads to Recovery Program. This year $1,462,359 has 
been funded which is 22.1% down on the 2017-18 funding of $1,876,000, due to a $1.1 million 
reduction in the Roads to Recovery Program since last year. 

What are the proposed works? 
 Minor seal extensions $10,000

 Consultancy & design costs $20,000

 Renewal of Derimal Street, Banool Street to the end $98,000

 Renewal of Federation Ave, Kalimna to Drummond St $387,000

 Renewal of Fechler Ave, Valentine to Kalimna $272,000

 Renewal of Wavell St, Kalkee Rd to Queen St $ 104,000

 Renewal of Gardenia St from Wodonga Dr to Lauriel St $103,000

 Renewal of Laurel St, Olympic to Jackson St, including kerb and channel $106,000

 Various urban road final seals and intersection treatments  $130,000

 $62,359 for the renewal of Federation Ave from Kalimna to Drummond St

Why are we doing it? 
Urban roads are 188 km’s in total which is only 6.3% of our road network, but they are generally of a 
higher standard than rural roads. Capital expenditure on roads is 38.2% of our total capital budget in 
2018-19 and is 70.3% of our capital expenditure from general revenues. Council has increased the 
funding of our road assets by tagging a set percentage of rates for this purpose for the past 10 years 
and now allocates $2.4 million for renewal in 2018-19. 

When is it likely to happen? 

Project Proposed Timeline 

Fechler Street July 2018 to October 2018 

Federation Street September 2018 to December 2018 

Derimal Street December 2018 to February 2019 

Laurel Street February 2019 to April 2019 

Wavell Street September 2018 to December 2018 

Gardenia Street January 2019 to April 2019 

Urban Final Seals October 2018 – January 2019 
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       Title: Rural Road Reconstruction (including Final Seals) 
Council Plan Goal: Council Plan Goal 3 – Asset Management 

Service: Roads 

Asset category: Rural Road Construction – Infrastructure 

Project Leader: Director Technical Services (John Martin) 

Fund Source Renewal Upgrade New Total 

General Revenue $575,000 $154,000 $15,000 $744,000 

External Grants $678,000 $148,000 $826,000 

Contributions 

Reserves $335,000 $335,000 

Total $1,588,000 $154,000 $15,000 $1,905,000 

Project background 
Each year Council allocates funding towards rural road construction, funded from a mix of general 
revenues, from the infrastructure renewal reserve and receives funds mostly through the Federal 
Government Roads to Recovery program.  

This year $1,079,000 has been funded from Council funds which is a 20.7% increase on the 2017-18 
funding of $894,000. However there has been a significant reduction in funding from the Roads to 
Recovery program ($1.1million less), as over the last 2 years this program received extra funding from 
the fuel excise scheme.  

What are the proposed works? 
The following works are included in the overall program: 

 $15,000 for intersection and traffic improvement upgrades

 $5,000 for consultancies for design and development

 $10,000 for minor seal extensions

 $32,500 for vegetation clearance associated with road
reconstructions

 $230,000 for the Graham’s Bridge Rd from Osborne to Holes
Road

 $282,000 for Plush Hannan’s Road from Smith Reserve Rd to the
Lower Norton-Nurrabiel Road

 $120,000 for O’Brees Rd from Remlaw Station Road to the west

 $215,000 for Noradjuha-Tooan east Rd from the Natimuk
Hamilton Rd to the Noradjuha silo

 $312,500 for a range of final seals on local rural roads

 $140,000 for rural road re-sheeting ($320,000 last year)

 Rural road upgrading (widening) and renewal for Wonwondah-Dadswells Bridge Rd
$230,000

Why are we doing it? 
Council’s rural roads comprise 93.6% of our total road network. Capital expenditure on roads is 38.2% 
of our total capital budget in 2018-19 and is 70.3% of our capital expenditure from general revenues.  
Due to the nature of our sub-soils, roads tend to deteriorate quicker than in other places across the 
state. They are an integral to the economic output of the region from our farming operations and 
related businesses. Council has increased the funding for the renewal of our road assets by tagging a 
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set percentage of rates for this purpose each year, this is an initiative that has been in place for the 
last 10 years and now allocates $2.4 million for renewal in 2018-19. 

When is it likely to happen? 
The road program is complex and weather and seasonal dependent. As such works will be carried out 
over the proposed timeline: 
 

Projects Proposed Timelines 

Asplins Road October 2018 to Nov 2018 

Plush Hannans Road December 2018 to January 2019 

Grahams Bridge Road October 2018 to February 2019 

O Brees Road January 2019 to February 2019 

Noradjuha Tooen East Road November 2018 to March 2019 

Wonwondah Dadswells Bridge Road February 2019 to March 2019 

Rural Final Seals October 2018 to February 2019 

Rural Road Resheet March 2019 to June 2019 

Intersection upgrade, consultancies design, 
Minor Seal extension and vegetation clearance 

1 July 2018 to 30 June 2019 
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Title: Rehabilitation Roadworks 
Council Plan Goal: Council Plan Goal 3 – Asset Management 

Service: Roads 

Asset category: Rural & Urban Road Construction – Infrastructure 

Project Leader: Director Technical Services (John Martin) 

 

Fund Source Renewal Upgrade New Total 

General Revenue $1,035,000   $1,035,000 

External Grants     

Contributions     

Reserves $322,000   $322,000 

Total $1,357,000   $1,357,000 

Project background 
Each year Council allocates funding road rehabilitation which include renewal of unsealed shoulders, 
gravel road pavement and rural and urban sealed road surfaces. This is funded from a mix of general 
revenues and the infrastructure gap reserve. This year $1,357,000 has been funded which is an 8.3% 
increase on the 2017-18 funding of $1,253,000. 

What are the proposed works? 
The following works are included in the overall 

program: 

 $100,000 for urban reseals 11.1% increase 
(last year $90,000) 

 $370,000 for rural reseals 13.5% decrease 
(last year $420,000) 

 $455,000 for rural shoulder re-sheeting 
and construction  7.5% increase (last year 
$423,000) 

 $430,000 for rural re-sheeting 34.5% increase (Last Year $320,000) 

Why are we doing it? 
Council’s rural roads comprise 93.6% of our total road network. Capital expenditure on roads is 38.2% 

of our total capital budget in 2018-19 and is 70.3% of our capital expenditure from general revenues. 

Due to the nature of the sub-soils within the municipality roads tend to deteriorate quicker than in 

other places across the state. They are an integral to the economic output of the region from our 

farming operations and related businesses. Council has been increasing funding for the renewal of our 

road assets by tagging a set percentage of rates for this purpose each year, this is an initiative that has 

been in place for the last 10 years and now allocates $2.4 million for renewal in 2018-19. 

When is it likely to happen? 
Projects Proposed Timeline 

Urban Reseals October 2018 to February 2019 

Rural Reseals October 2018 to February 2019 

Shoulder Reseheet October 2018 to May 2019 

Gravel Pavement Resheet March 2019 to June 2019 
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Title: Darlot Street Drain 
Council Plan Goal: Council Plan Goal 3 – Asset Management 

Service: Technical Services – Renewal Works 

Asset category: Road Drainage – Infrastructure – Urban  

Project Leader: Director Technical Services (John Martin) 

 

Fund Source Renewal Upgrade New Total 

General Revenue     

External Grants     

Contributions     

Reserves $300,000   $300,000 

Total $300,000   $300,000 

Project background 
As a part of our routine CCTV inspection of various drainage, this section was identified to be in the 
critical condition as it is failing in various locations. This section of drain a critical part of our drainage 
network as it carries the stormwater from majority of Darlot, Wilson and Pynsent Streets. Failure of 
this drain will create a significant flooding issue as well as disruption of traffic in one of the City’s 
busiest roads, Darlot Street. 
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What are the proposed works? 
Rehabilitation of stormwater drain under Darlot Street. This is an old brick drain 750mm diameter.  

The proposal is to undertake the fibre glass lining of this drain to restrengthen the drain and prevent 
the leakage without disturbing the traffic on the road. 

Why are we doing it? 
Rehabilitation of drainage network (renewal). 

When is it likely to happen? 
October 2018 to March 2019.  
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Title: Aerodrome Stormwater Detention and Retention 
System 

Council Plan Goal: Council Plan Goal 3 – Asset Management 

Service: Business Activities – Aerodrome 

Asset category: Drainage 

Project Leader: Director Technical Services (John Martin) 

 

Fund Source Renewal Upgrade New Total 

General Revenue   $200,000 $200,000 

External Grants     

Contributions     

Reserves     

Total   $200,000 $200,000 

Project background 
This project will mitigate the impacts of concentrated stormwater flows from the aerodrome that are 
affecting surrounding landowners. 

What are the proposed works? 
 Development of an overall drainage plan for 

the long term requirements. 

 First phase to address the north-west drainage 
catchment. 

 Construction of an underground stormwater 
storage tank, tied to the existing Aerodrome 
drainage system, likely using a geosynthetic 
liner with “rainsmart” style plastic modules for 
the structure 

 Permanent sump pump system to discharge to disposal pipeline 

 Permanent underground supply of electricity to pump system 

 Disposal pipeline – 1500 m to reach top of slope 

 Roadside drainage maintenance to allow gravitation of water from pipeline 

 On-farm drain establishment – connect road drains to final destination 

 Development of detailed plans for subsequent stages / budgets 

Why are we doing it? 
Draft Aerodrome Master Plan 2016 (not endorsed), identifies the need for drainage works as 
follows: 

The sealed runways and taxiways of the aerodrome contribute to drainage flows that impact 
on surrounding roads and farmland. In particular, a depression on Geodetic Road to the 
north of the aerodrome receives some of these drainage flows. An associated issue with this 
is the pooling of water in periods of heavy rainfall. This can attract birds to the area which 
increases risk of aircraft damage for operators using the Aerodrome. It is recommended that 
Council develop a detailed drainage plan for the area to mitigate these impacts. (p 61) 

When is it likely to happen? 
March/April 2019. 
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Title: New Public Conveniences Hamilton Street 
Council Plan Goal: Council Plan Goal 3 – Asset Management 

Service: Technical Services – New Works 

Asset category: Streetscape and Public Conveniences 

Project Leader: Director Technical Services (John Martin) 

 

Fund Source Renewal Upgrade New Total 

General Revenue     

External Grants   $90,000 $90,000 

Contributions     

Reserves   $90,000 $90,000 

Total   $180,000 $180,000 

Project background 
Part of the CBD Revitalisation grant funding application under the Federal Government’s Building 
Better Regions Fund. 
 
 

What are the proposed works? 
Construction of an aesthetically pleasing public toilet. 

Why are we doing it? 
The need for additional toilets in the southern part of the CBD has been recognised for several years. 
More recently, the CBD Revitalisation work has identified the importance of a link between the CBD 
and the River. The provision of toilets along this route, at Hamilton St, will help to encourage people 
to walk between the river and the CBD. 

When is it likely to happen? 
Standard pre-manufactured toilets can be installed relatively quickly, once a funding announcement 
is made by the Federal Government.
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Title: Depot Relocation Design and Cost Estimates 
Council Plan Goal: Council Plan Goal 3 – Asset Management 

Service: Operations Management - Depot 

Asset category: Buildings 

Project Leader: Director Technical Services (John Martin) 

 

Fund Source Renewal Upgrade New Total 

General Revenue     

External Grants     

Contributions     

Reserves  $50,000 $50,000 $100,000 

Total  $50,000 $50,000 $100,000 

Project background 
Council has identified the depot 
relocation project as the number one 
priority for the long term capital 
works program. Work has already 
started to undertake environmental 
survey of the current site and to 
determine some initial costs 
estimates. 
 
The current depot is located in a prime 
residential area within the CBD and 
also close to waterways. It is not an 
appropriate location for these 
operations.  
 
Council has explored several potential locations but a decision on a new site has not been reached.  
Likewise, there have been some initial early design concepts generated.   

What are the proposed works? 
The proposed work to be undertaken is to determine a location for the new depot and to finalise 
costs and designs. 

Why are we doing it? 
There are a range of issues with the current site from aging infrastructure, to elements that are not 
meeting current standards, such as emulsion and waste oil storage, truck wash run off, too few toilets, 
poor security, and of most concern to large plant and truck operators- negotiating the town’s traffic 
and roads in the early morning and late afternoon. 

When is it likely to happen? 
The planning work that has been funded in 2018-19 is scheduled for completion in this year, after 
which it is anticipated that works will be able to commence in 2019-20.  
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Title: Wimmera Sports Stadium 
Council Plan Goal: Council Plan Goal 3 – Asset Management 

Service: Sport & Recreation – Sports Complexes Indoor 

Asset category: Buildings 

Project Leader: Director Technical Services (John Martin) 

 

Fund Source Renewal Upgrade New Total 

General Revenue     

External Grants     

Contributions     

Reserves   $100,000 $100,000 

Total   $100,000 $100,000 

 

Project background 
A new, large and modern indoor sports facility has been a long-held desire in the Horsham community.  
This community aspiration was reiterated in 2013 when the Sport and Recreation Strategy 2013 – 
2018 was completed. 
 
In 2016, Council undertook the Horsham Multi-Use Indoor Sports Stadium Plan Feasibility Study. This 
report again supported the need to provide a new multi-use indoor sports stadium in Horsham that 
catered for a number of sports, with capacity to meet long-term community needs.  
 
It quantified this as a minimum four-indoor court facility with spectator seating, six squash courts and 
supporting amenities.  
 
In 2017, Council engaged architects to assist in design concepts and site selection and subsequently 
delivered a Business Case and Concept Design Report.  
 
This identified McBryde St as a preferred site for the stadium because of the existing facilities there, 
its proximity to a range of other sporting facilities and its connection to the Wimmera River. The 
Stadium’s location has since been the subject of community debate.  

 

 
 

What are the proposed works? 
Preparation of design and tender documentation ready for tendering, in preparedness for funding. 

This includes final planning and other statutory approval processes. 
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Why are we doing it? 
The timing of many government grant programs is such that projects need to be well developed in 

preparation for funding announcements, as works often need to commence soon after a grant is 

announced.  

 

Government is also often seeking “shovel-ready” projects so that they can see the results of their 

funding announcements in a timely manner. 

 

By having design and tender documentation ready, Council has a much greater opportunity to take 

advantage of government grant programs.  

When is it likely to happen? 
The preparation of these tender ready documents will start after further work is done to finalise the 

acceptance of the Wimmera Sports Stadium proposals by the community and then Council.  

The duration of these works is only several months, and will be able to be completed within the 

financial year, allowing for significant further engagement with the community and Council to 

resolve outstanding issues. 
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Title: Plant and Equipment Replacements 
Council Plan Goal: Council Plan Goal 3 – Asset Management 

Service: Operations Management 

Asset category: Plant and Equipment Replacements 

Project Leader: Director Technical Services (John Martin) 

 

Fund Source Renewal Upgrade New Total 

General Revenue     

External Grants     

Contributions $213,500   $213,500 

Reserves $793,500  $702,000 $1,495,500 

Total $1,007,000  $702,000 $1,709,000 

Project background 
The purchases of plant equipment are unevenly spread across a number of years.  
 
A plant and Equipment reserve is maintained so Council can ensure that there are always funds 
available to purchase plant when required, and that the uneven spread of expenditure has no effect 
on the annual budget.   
 
This account is dependent upon plant operating charge-out rates being matched to the plant 
operating costs and the annualised cost of replacement of plant.   
 
An ongoing five-year plant program is prepared in Council’s Fleet Management Program which clearly 
shows that this reserve account does not fall in value in the long term.  
 

What are the proposed works? 
The following items are the major items of plant that are scheduled for purchase/replacement 
during 2018-19: 
 

 Large New Wheeled Loader 

 Large FWA Tractor (Approx. 200HP) 

 Medium Sized Crew Cab Tipper Truck with 
Crane 

 Approx. 6 Tonne Excavator 

 4 – 5 Tonne Pad Foot Roller 

 Approx. 15” Wood Chipper 
 New Solar Powered Traffic Lights 

Why are we doing it? 
Operating with the most efficient and appropriate equipment for the task is essential for efficient 
operations and the provision of a high standard of service. 

When is it likely to happen? 
Plant purchases take place during the year based on a detailed plant replacement schedule.  
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Title: Civic Centre – Front Entrance & Customer 
Reception area 

Council Plan Goal: Council Plan Goal 4 – Governance and Business Excellence 

Service: Customer Services 

Asset category: Buildings 

Project Leader: Director Corporate Services (Graeme Harrison) 

 

Fund Source Renewal Upgrade New Total 

General Revenue $80,000 $160,000 $260,000 $400,000 

External Grants     

Contributions     

Reserves     

Total $80,000 $160,000 $260,000 $400,000 

Project background 
The Civic Centre was constructed in the 1960s and was built to accommodate the two Councils of 
Horsham City and Wimmera Shire. These two Councils were amalgamated in 1996.  
 
Over the years there have been some minor works undertaken within the building but no significant 
upgrades have occurred. Due to growing needs and changes to operations Council undertook a master 
planning exercise for the upgrading of the Civic Centre in 2010.  
 
This Master Planning identified approximately $5.5 million of works that could be undertaken in four 
stages that would improve the overall functionality of the building and create a more modern 
operating environment and better customer interactions.  
 
Work was undertaken in 2017 to improve the use of the Council Chamber and make it a more 
functional space. In turn this freed up some space for staff operations. 
  

Currently there are works scheduled for 2018 to undertake some minor office refurbishments to shift 
functional work teams within the building so that those with a key need to interact with customers 
are located on the ground floor level and not the basement.  
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What are the proposed works? 
The proposed works are to extend the front airlock and corridor space to create a single large 
customer reception area for both general enquiries and for building, planning and community safety.  
 
Universal access principles will also be achieved and security to the building will be improved. 

Why are we doing it? 
The main issues to be addressed in undertaking these works are: 

 Will improve customer interactions by creating a single point of entry (currently customers may 
need to go left, right or downstairs when they enter the front foyer) 

 Universal access – there is no lift to the basement to the building, planning & community safety 
customer service area 

 The current foyer (corridor) is really only currently used as a thoroughfare to other destinations, 
so is well under-utilised 

 Better utilisation of the corridor will free up further space within the building for staff 
accommodation in order to accommodate a growing organisation. 

 It will create a more professional image for Council 

 There are OH&S issues as currently the public can enter the entire building unimpeded and 
these changes will allow facilitate improved building security 

 the current customer service area is dysfunctional with serious concerns around privacy, safety, 
security and performance 

 These changes will extend the life of the existing building without the need to undertake the 
major works from the master plan for a number of years.  

When is it likely to happen? 
The current stage of minor refurbishments are due to be undertaken mid 2018 ($100k funded in 17-
18 budget).  
 
This next stage of works will need to be considered in light of those changes and may in fact need to 
occur first before the current planned works.  
 
A project control group will assess this requirement. Works would be expected to be completed in 
2018-19. 
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Title: CBD Public Wi-Fi - CBD Revitalisation Grant 
Council Plan Goal: Council Plan Goal 4 – Governance and Business Excellence 

Service: Information & Technology 

Asset category: Computers & Telecommunications 

Project Leader: Director Corporate Services (Graeme Harrison) 

 

Fund Source Renewal Upgrade New Total 

General Revenue     

External Grants     

Contributions     

Reserves   $50,000 $50,000 

Total   $100,000 $100,000 

 

Project background 
The CBD Revitalisation Project (Stage 1) includes the roll-out of free public Wi-Fi to an extended CBD 
area that will include Horsham Aquatic Centre, Horsham City Oval, the Sound Shell as well as providing 
improved coverage in the central CBD area. 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

What are the proposed works? 
The CBD Revitalisation Project (Stage 1) includes the roll-out of free public Wi-Fi to an extended CBD 
area that will include the Aquatic Centre, City Oval and the Sound Shell, as well as providing improved 
coverage in the central CBD area. 

Why are we doing it? 
Proposed works are being undertaken to expand the coverage of free Wi-Fi within the community for 
both residents and visitors to the CBD. Digital technologies and connectivity are important for the 
good functioning of our community in to the future. 

When is it likely to happen? 
Works will only commence when funding has been confirmed. Works will likely commence in 2019.  
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Title: Audio, Hearing Loop, Video Conferencing for Civic 
Centre meeting rooms / Council chamber 

Council Plan Goal: Council Plan Goal 4 – Governance and Business Excellence 

Service: Management & Administration 

Asset category: Computers & Telecommunications 

Project Leader: Director Corporate Services (Graeme Harrison) 

 

Fund Source Renewal Upgrade New Total 

General Revenue     

External Grants     

Contributions     

Reserves   $80,000 $80,000 

Total   $80,000 $80,000 

Project background 
Following recent refurbishments to the Council chamber and reception meeting spaces, there has 
been a need identified to improve the public sound system in the Council chamber during meetings.  
This includes the installation of a hearing loop and options for video conferencing to occur across the 
meeting rooms. 
 

What are the proposed works? 
It is proposed to install wireless microphones, a 
hearing loop and related sound systems for 
improved public accessibility to public Council 
meetings. 

Also video conferencing services are required to 
facilitate improved video conferencing options 
across the three public meeting rooms in the Civic 
Centre.  

The exact hardware and technologies have as yet 
not been resolved although a significant amount of 
planning and investigation has been undertaken. 

Why are we doing it? 
To improve accessibility for the public and the hard of hearing and to offer video conferencing as an 
option within the meeting room spaces. 

When is it likely to happen? 
Equipment will likely be installed during 2018. Exact timing is dependent on the final solution and 
the procurement process that will be required. 
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Title: Transfer Station Improvements Upgrade of Facility  
Council Plan Goal: Council Plan Goal 5 – Natural and Built Environments 

Service: Waste Management 

Asset category: Waste Management Infrastructure 

Project Leader: Director Technical Services (John Martin) 

 

Fund Source Renewal Upgrade New Total 

General Revenue     

External Grants  $500,000  $500,000 

Contributions     

Reserves $300,000 $200,000  $500,000 

Total $300,000 $700,000  $1,000,000 

Project background 
Improvements to facilitate better recycling of waste. 

What are the proposed 

works? 
The key infrastructure upgrades are: 
• A new drive through recycling shed 

strategically located before the 
weighbridge area. 

• Two new weighbridges for vehicles 
entering and exiting site 

• Installation of modern weighbridge 
software with number plate 
recognition and surveillance 
equipment (CCTV Cameras) for viewing of incoming waste loads. 

• Minor earthworks and new pavement for recycling shed and weighbridge approaches. 
• A new gatehouse positioned between the weighbridges to allow the gatehouse 

attendant to speak directly to users and to view vehicles leaving the weighbridge. 
• New roofing over existing bins and public drop-off areas for municipal and hard waste (2 

bays currently uncovered).  The provision of roofing over the unloading and waste 
storage areas is a best practice measure which aims to minimise ingress of water, 
contamination of stormwater and odour issues. 

• New roof flashing to close gap over existing tip shop to minimise dust and rain entering 
the shop area. 

• New fencing and garden areas near entrance to enhance the aesthetics of the facility. 
• New traffic management and wayfinding signage throughout site. 

Why are we doing it? 
The Horsham Transfer Station Upgrade Business Case Report (December 2017) summarised the key 
improvements/outcomes to be as follows: 

• Resource recovery 
• Diversion of recyclable materials from landfill 
• Operational efficiency 
• Reporting & record keeping 
• Site safety 
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• Environmental protection 
To add further context to the above, the following key points should be considered:  

1) The Grampians Central West Waste and Resource Recovery Implementation Plan 2017 
(Regional Plan) (attached) recommends the facility upgrade for inclusion in the plan’s 
infrastructure scheduling. The Horsham Transfer Station if one of 8 key regional 
infrastructure projects recommended in the Regional Plan.   

2) This project will provide a significant upgrade to the Horsham Transfer station which will 
result in a modern facility, featuring best practice design to cater for the needs of the city of 
Horsham and surrounding municipality. 

3) Increased tonnages of materials to be diverted (from Landfill) as a result of the project - the 
Grampians Central West Waste and Resource Recovery Implementation Plan (Regional Plan) 
notes (pg.19)  that: 

“the recovery of the majority of resource materials is lower in the Grampians Central West 
region compared to state trends and could be significantly improved. In total the region only 
recovers around 13 per cent of materials through reprocessing.  Particularly poor recovery 
streams are glass (recovery rate 0.1%) and plastics (recovery rate 2%).” 

4) Key operational improvements resulting from the project include: 

• Increased public queuing available on site to reduce vehicles backing up in Kenny Road 

• Weight based billing for all customers to provide more accurate data and records of 
residual waste tonnages 

• Modern weighbridge software will streamline the receipt of waste and payment process 
with provision to adopt an automated system in the future. 

• Greater undercover storage areas for waste. 

When is it likely to happen? 
The timing on this project is subject to the announcement of funding by Sustainability Victoria, 
which is currently overdue. 

Per the grant application, key milestones are anticipated to be as follows: 

 01/07/2018 – Commencement of detailed design 

 01/01/2019 - Completion of Detailed Design 

 01/03/2019 - Award of Construction Contract(s) 

 01/01/2020 - Completion of Phase 1 works 

 01/07/2020 - Completion of Phase 2 works 

 01/11/2020 - Completion of Phase 3 works 

 01/12/2020 - Issue certificate of Practical Completion to Contractor 

 31/12/2020 - Project Completion & Closeout 
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Title: Sustainability Projects 
Council Plan Goal: Council Plan Goal 5 – Natural and Built Environments 

Service: Sustainability 

Asset category: Buildings 

Project Leader: Director Technical Services (John Martin) 

 

Fund Source Renewal Upgrade New Total 

General Revenue     

External Grants   $100,000 $100,000 

Contributions     

Reserves   $100,000 $100,000 

Total   $200,000 $200,000 

Project background 
Council introduced Goal 5 in to the Council Plan in 2016-17 to improve the focus on environmental 
and planning matters, rather than just including these items with in our Economic Development goal.  
Council had not until recently implemented alternative energy options or energy efficiency options in 
the municipality. In 2016-17 Council installed 99kwh’s of solar panels on the roof of the Civic Centre. 
Sustainability Victoria has advised Council that it will receive $100,000 in funding for energy efficiency 
and renewable energy upgrades on high-consuming assets, providing Council also invests $100,000 
for this purpose. 

What are the proposed works? 
The proposed works are not fully documented and designed but 
include the following possible items: 

 Energy efficient lighting for the Wimmera Business Centre and 
Mibus Centre (other major buildings have already been 
completed) 

 Solar panels for the Aquatic Centre, Wimmera Business centre, 
Mibus Centre, Horsham Town Hall and community halls 

 Biomass boiler for the Aquatic Centre 

 Double glazing for the Civic Centre 

 Southbank energy efficient street lighting 
 
Additional to the above possible works, Sustainability Victoria is offering opportunities of 
funding for the preparation of Emissions Profiles and Emission Reduction Action Plans and 
to undertake detailed energy audits on priority Council-owned sites. 

Why are we doing it? 
Council recognises the need to reduce the consumption of non-renewables both from an 
environmental perspective and a financial perspective. Rising energy costs are putting pressures on 
Council’s operations and can easily be offset by the installation of renewable energy options where 
possible. Solar panels particularly are becoming more affordable and the payback period is decreasing. 

When is it likely to happen? 
During 2018-19, exact projects and dates have not as yet been determined. 
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1 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

The Local Government Act 1989 does not require Council to develop a Rating Strategy; however it has been 

strongly encouraged for Council to implement a Strategy and make it available to the public through the 

budget process. 

 

The State Government in 2016-17 introduced the “Fair Go Rates System” that places a cap on rates for all 

79 Council’s across the state. The cap for 2018-19 was set by the Minister at a maximum increase of 2.25% 

unless a variation was applied for to the Essential Services Commission. Council did not apply for a variation 

for 2018-19. Council did apply for a variation in 2016-17 and was successful in obtaining an additional 1% 

increase to continue its program of infrastructure renewal. Council has however still continued to set aside 

1% of rate income to fund additional infrastructure renewal but has done this within the 2.25% rate cap, by 

making savings and efficiencies in operations. 

 

This Rates Strategy balances the need to fund the various Council services available to ratepayers with the 

need to consider equity in the levying of rates and services provided. To this end rates are levied based on 

property capital improved values, with consideration of a differential for the farming sector, a flat 

municipal charge, and user charges for garbage services. User fees are charged where a service provides a 

specific benefit to a group or particular individuals, as opposed to “public goods”, these being services 

providing a broad benefit to the community. In the case of public goods it is often difficult or impractical to 

exclude non-payers from the benefits or to attribute costs. 

 

During 2013-14 Council undertook a significant review of this Rates Strategy. It considered all aspects of the 

current rating strategy to ask the question as to whether the current policy in place is still appropriate in 

terms of the key equity and efficiency principles. Council also called for submissions from the public and 

submissions received through the process were considered in the drafting of the final strategy.  

 

Council has again considered each of the policy positions within the Rates Strategy, during the 2018-19 

budget development process. In doing so it believes that the current strategy provides a fair and equitable 

approach to the distribution of the rate burden within the community.  

 

Council continues to fully understand the need to maintain stability in the rate burden and that equity 

principles are always considered.  

 

2 SUMMARY OF CHANGES TO STRATEGY IN 2018-19 

The Rates Strategy has remained unchanged for 2018-19. The following issues were discussed at more 

length with the following decisions: 

1) Municipal Charge 

Council will increase the municipal charge from $281 to $287 for the 2018-19 year. This is a 2.14% 

increase which is in close alignment with the capped rate rise of 2.25%. (see sections 3.3 & 4.6). 

 

2) Differential Rates – Farm Sector 

Council proposes to continue with a differential for the farm sector in recognition of the changes to 

relative property values, the high value of land as an input to farm operations, and in recognition of 

some lesser access to services associated with the rural isolation of the majority of the farming sector.  

Council will maintain the farm differential at 80% of the General Rate but will review this in detail later 

in 2018 for the 2019-20 Budget Planning cycle. 
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3 LEGISLATIVE FRAMEWORK 

3.1 Rating Objectives set out in Legislation 
Council Objectives in the Local Government Act 1989 (The Act) Section 3C (2) (f) require the “equitable 

imposition of rates and charges”. 

 

Section 136 (2) (b) requires Council to pursue spending and rating policies that are consistent with a 

“reasonable degree of stability in the level of rates burden”. (See Appendix 1) 

 

3.2 Property Rates and Local Government 
Current Victorian legislation originates from the English Ratings Act, including the Poor Relief Act 1601, the 

Poor Rate Act 1801 and the Rating and Valuation Act 1925. It is the accepted philosophy that “property” 

benefits in a particular way from the services provided by local government, and therefore “property” 

should contribute to the cost of local government. From a tax system perspective, it is very practicable as 

the rate payer does not have to keep records or lodge a return. 

 

3.3  Available Rating Options 
 

3.3.1 General Rate (or Ad valorem rate) 

A general (or Ad valorem) rate is struck based on cents in the dollar of each property’s valuation. Under 

Section 157 of The Act Council can use one of three valuation methods, capital improved value (CIV), net 

annual vale (NAV) or site value (SV). Valuations occurring up to January 2018 were undertaken on a two 

year basis, with supplementary valuations able to be done where there are sales in subdivisions and 

consolidations, as well as following the construction and demolition of buildings.  

 

Changes were made to the Valuation of Land Act during 2017 that from 2019 it will be compulsory for 

Council’s valuations to be undertaken through the Valuer General’s Office and that valuations will be 

undertaken on an  annual basis. 

 

3.3.2 Differential Rates 

Section 161A of The Act allows Council to strike a different rate in the dollar for separate property classes, if 

Council uses CIV as the system of valuation. Section 161 (2) states that Council must specify the 

characteristics of the land which are the criteria for declaring a differential rate and the objectives of the 

differential rate. These objectives must include: a definition of the types and classes, a statement of the 

reasons for the level of the rate and the identification of the types or classes of land. 

 

Section 161 (5) of The Act states the highest differential rate must be no more than 4 times the lowest 

differential rate. 

 

Under Section 161 (2A) Council must have regard to any Ministerial Guidelines made before declaring a 

differential rate. The Minister issued Guidelines in April 2013. These guidelines attempt to spell out clearly 

what types and classes of land may be considered for differentials and also those that are not appropriate 

for differentials or need to be “carefully considered”. Geographic Location may also be considered as a 

basis for the use of a differential. The guidelines summarize the following types and classes of land that 

may be considered for a differential: 

 

“Must give consideration” to reducing the rate burden through a reduced differential rate 

• Farm land 

• Retirement villages 

 

“Appropriate” for differential rates 

• General land 
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• Residential land 

• Farm land 

• Commercial land 

• Industrial land 

• Retirement villages 

• Vacant land 

• Derelict land 

• Cultural & recreational 

 

“Carefully considered” as to whether they are appropriate for a differential rate 

• Holiday Rental 

• Extractive 

• Landfill 

• Dryland farming 

• Irrigation farm land 

• Automobile manufacturing land 

• Petroleum Production 

• Aluminium Production 

 

“Would not be appropriate” to declare a differential 

• Electronic gaming venue 

• Liquor licensed venues 

• Business premises defined by hours of trade 

• Fast food franchises 

 

3.3.3 Municipal Charges 

Under Section 159 of the Act Council may issue a flat rate Municipal charge “to cover some of the 

administrative costs of Council”. The total revenues raised from a Municipal Charge cannot be more than 

20% of the total raised from the combination of municipal charge and general rates, and there are also 

provisions which allow exemptions for farmland making up single farm enterprises. The Local Government 

Act defines a “single farm enterprise” as being 2 or more rateable properties which are farmland and are 

farmed as a single enterprise and occupied by the same person or persons, whether or not they are 

contiguous. 

 

Alternatively, a “single farm enterprise” can be 2 or more properties if all except one are farmland that is 

farmed as a single enterprise occupied by the same person or persons and one which is contiguous with at 

least one of the other properties is the principal place of that person or one of those persons. 

 

The Act provides for a person to apply for exemption on such land providing it is not claimed for at least 

one other rateable property in that enterprise and, where a farm enterprise is occupied by more than one 

person, an exemption is not claimed for more than one principal place of residence. 

 

Using criteria applied since 1996 in accordance with the above, separate properties making up a single farm 

enterprise, with or without one principal place of residence, pay one charge only and for every additional 

principal place of residence within that farming enterprise another charge is made. 

 

3.3.4 Service Rates and Service Charges  

Section 162 of The Act allows Council to set a service rate or charge across a broad range of Council 

services. In determining if services should be funded by specific charges or through rates, Council has to 

consider the aspect of whether services are either entirely or partially “public goods”, these being services 

providing a broad benefit to the community rather than a particular benefit to individuals or groups.  In the 

case of public goods it is often difficult or impractical to exclude non-payers from the benefits or to 

attribute costs.   
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Where possible, Council sets user charges based on the cost of provision of those services where there is 

clearly a direct benefit to users, such as the garbage collection service, in which the revenue from the 

charges for household garbage services and others are set to meet the total cost of all waste services, 

including collection, treatment and disposal. 

 

At the same time small scale services or those where it would be difficult to attribute costs or collect fees 

are funded through rates. 

 

3.3.5 Special Rates and Charges 

A Special Rate or Charge may be applied under Section 163 of The Act. Council may declare a special rate if 

Council considers that a specific project “is or will be of special benefit to the persons required to pay the 

special rate”. This section of the Act has been the subject of many challenges as to what is a “special 

benefit”. A 1999 VCAT ruling said “if a benefit accrues to the land so as to make it more desirable and 

therefore more valuable for sale, the owner derives a special benefit even if his or her present use of the 

land does not provide it there and then”. 

 

3.3.6 Other Rating System Considerations 

• Payment options – use of a variety of payment options can be considered but quarterly options must 

be offered 

• Incentives can be offered for prompt or early payment 

• Rebates and concessions can be offered under Section 169 

• Waivers and deferrals can be granted under Section 171 

• Interest is charged on late payments under Section 172 

• Council debt collection policies 

• The ability to sell properties to recover unpaid rates under Section 181 

 

3.4  Accepted Rating Principles 
A Rating Strategy must allow Council to carry out its functions efficiently, simply and transparently with 

Council striking a balance between the following competing objectives. How we balance between these 

conflicting goals is largely a political decision and needs to take into account the views and opinions of the 

community. 

As rates are based on property values it is essentially a wealth based tax. There is a direct relationship 

between property holdings and disadvantage – less wealthy people tend to own lower valued housing 

stock. Property owners with higher valued assets generally have a greater capacity to pay. 

 

3.4.1 Equity 

Issues of equity are judgemental in nature and are complex and subjective. There are a number of key 

aspects of equity that need to be considered: 

 

Horizontal equity - ratepayers in similar situations should pay similar amounts. 

Vertical equity – the view that those better off should pay more than those worse off. 

 

However, these can conflict with the next two equity principles, the benefit or “user pays” principle and 

that of capacity to pay.  

 

Benefit principle points to the fact that some groups may have more access to Council services. 

Capacity to pay principle is that some will have a greater or lesser capacity to pay the assessed rates, 

particularly as property value is unrealized wealth and a ratepayer may be asset rich and cash poor. 

 

3.4.2 Simplicity 

All reviews of taxation have argued that simplicity is a critical goal. Certainly the simpler the rating system is 

the easier it is for ratepayers to understand, although the simplicity goal can often conflict with other goals. 
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3.4.3 Efficiency and Effectiveness 

Efficiency can be defined as the ratio of ends produced (outputs) to means used (inputs). Being more 

efficient, means that the burden on ratepayers can be reduced or ratepayer’s utility can be increased by 

limited resources being diverted to more productive areas. Effectiveness is measured in the ability of 

Councils to achieve specific objectives. For services where users are price sensitive, direct charging can 

influence demand patterns and thus lead to greater allocative efficiency. 

 

4 HISTORICAL ANALYSIS 

In 2005 Council developed a Rating Strategy, which was adopted in conjunction with the adoption of the 

2005-06 Budget. Council has annually reviewed this strategy as part of its budget process, but in 2013-14 as 

a response to budget submissions received, it undertook to do a more detailed review of its entire Rating 

Strategy in order to investigate the concerns raised by some sectors within the community. Further to this 

the Victorian Auditor General’s Report into the results from the 2012-13 audits highlighted the need for 

Council’s to “apply a robust and strategic approach to the collection and use of revenue through rates and 

charges” and to improve the quality of the Rates Strategy and to implement a rating policy. 

Council during the 2013-14 review looked in depth at the various elements of its current rating package, 

the objective being to consider ways in which these could be varied to “more equitably and efficiently 

distribute the rates burden in the municipality”. 

In determining if services should be funded by specific charges or through rates, Council has to consider the 

aspect of whether services are either entirely or partially “public goods”, these being services providing a 

broad benefit to the community rather than a particular benefit to individuals or groups.  In the case of 

public goods it is often difficult or impractical to exclude non-payers from the benefits or to attribute costs.  

Where possible, Council sets user charges based on the cost of provision of those services where there is 

clearly a direct benefit to users, such as the garbage collection service, in which the revenue from the 

charges for household garbage services are set to meet the total cost of all waste services, including 

collection, treatment and disposal (but excluding Council overheads). 

At the same time small scale services or those where it would be difficult to attribute costs or collect fees 

are funded through rates. 

The system currently in use in Horsham Rural City Council consists of the following: 

• Differential Rates based on Capital Improved Valuations multiplied by specified rates in the dollar, 

being General (Residential, Commercial & Industrial) and Farm rates. 

• A flat Municipal Charge levied on all rateable properties, with exemptions for properties making up 

single farm enterprises and cultural and recreational lands. 

• Cultural and Recreational Rates levied on recreational land based on Capital Improved Valuations at 

concessional rates in the dollar. 

• Rate exempt status for specified charitable and other properties, both as required by legislation and 

under Council discretion. 

• Garbage Service charges based on the type and size of the services provided, with a discretionary 

service for those outside the residential urban areas of Horsham and Natimuk, including the provision 

of a free-to-user recycling service for residential garbage service recipients. 

• Deferments and/or waivers of rates and charges in specific hardship cases. 

• Rebates and Concessions are offered in some circumstances as set out in legislation such as for the 

State funded Pensioner Rebate Scheme but also as per Council policy and other agreements. 
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4.1  Council Rate Changes 

Council in 2018-19 is expected to raise 44.5% of its total revenue from rates. In 2003-04 the percentage was 

36.5%. Individual years in between may have varied slightly due to specific non-recurrent grants which may 

distort this measure. 

Council Rate increases since 2002-03 are shown in the following graph: 

 

4.2  Valuations 

Council currently chooses to rate properties based on the Capital Improved Value (CIV) method, on the 

basis that this more accurately reflects the true value of the property, and also under the Act it allows 

Council to be able to apply differential rates when they believe they are applicable. Council undertakes its 

valuations over a two year cycle in accordance with the Valuation of Land Act 1960 and has appointed the 

Valuer General as the Valuation Authority who in turn employs an independent contract Valuer. 

The last revaluation was undertaken effective January 2018, and in future will occur each year rather than 

every second year, following legislative changes introduced in to parliament in 2017. 

Analysing property valuation changes is complex as individual properties will change differently within a 

sector and the overall valuations are influenced by development within individual sectors also. That said, 

the change between property values at the 2018 valuations versus the 2016 Valuations are shown in the 

following table: 

 

Suburb Assess
2016 Valuations 

Budget 2017-18

2018 Valuations 

Budget 2018-19

Average % Valuation 

Increase / (Decrease)

01 Residential 9,186 2,265,659,000 2,361,734,500 4.24%

05 Commercial 524 293,645,000 328,949,500 12.02%

06 Industrial 418 156,201,000 167,600,500 7.30%

General Sector 10,128 2,715,505,000 2,858,284,500 5.26%

02 Farm 2,159 1,333,034,000 1,562,389,000 17.21%

03 Cult/Rec/Other 66 25,528,000 25,308,000 -0.86%

Overall 12,353 4,074,067,000 4,445,981,500 9.13%
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The impact of the 2018 Revaluations were considered by Council when reviewing the farm differential for 

2018-19. It is intended to review the farm differential further when looking at the Rates Strategy in time for 

the 2019-20 Budget cycle and as part of the Council Planning processes later in 2018. 

During the period since 2002-03 there have been some years where the relative valuations have varied 

significantly between the farm sector and the general sector. In 2012 the General Sector rose on average by 

7.6% whilst the Farm Sector only rose on average by 3.9%.  

There are also often large variations between revaluation years and these are expected to be reduced due 

to revaluations occurring on an annual basis rather than every second year. 

The valuation increase for the Farm Sector shows there has been significant growth in wealth (in terms of 

property values) for this sector relative to the general sector, however it also means that the Farm sector 

has increasingly had to shoulder a higher portion of the rate burden. 

 

New property assessments and additional value has been created by way of new sub-divisions and 

constructions in the General Sector specifically but to a lesser extent in the Farm Sector as well. These new 

properties have helped contribute to rate revenue in total and have thus reduced the rate burden for all 

categories of properties. 

4.3  The Municipal Charge 
 

The municipal charge cannot be more than 20% of the total rates charged, Council’s 2018-19 charge of 

$287.00 will raise 13.6% of this total.  

 

The municipal charge is intended to cover some of the “administrative costs” of a Council, examples of 

which are elections, governance, valuations and corporate expenses. The present level in Horsham is the 

result of applying the charge of $95.00 set at the time of municipal restructure in 1995 until 1997-98, after 

which changes in the amount of the charge have followed the annual rate percentage increases declared by 

Council, except for 2014-15 and 2015-16 when there was no increase to the municipal charge.  Council 

determined in 2016-17 to again increase the charge in-line with the overall rate increase and this approach 

has been maintained.  

 

For 2018-19 Council will also increase the Municipal Charge by 2.14% which is slightly below the 2.25% Rate 

Cap due to rounding to the nearest dollar. 
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4.4  Use of Differentials 

Until the year 2000, Council levied a uniform rate in the dollar on all properties, whether they are 

residential, commercial, industrial or farm. It then resolved that the equity of the rating system would be 

enhanced if the different characteristics of the farming sector were recognized by applying a differential 

rate at 95% of the general rate applied to all other non-concessional rateable properties. 

 

Taking the above into account the farm rate was determined in the year 2000 after noting the relative 

changes in valuations between the farming and residential sectors in particular following the 2000 

revaluation, and the lower accessibility of the farming sector to some of the services provided in the 

municipality generally.  In doing so Council was mindful that a concession granted to one sector has to paid 

for by all others but it believes that the equity principle is furthered by the application of this differential. 

 

In 2010-11, Council further reduced its differential rate to benefit the farming sector from 95% to 90% (of 

the general rate) having considered the outcomes of its biennial revaluation, the impact of low commodity 

prices on farming incomes and uncertainty about the continuation of the Exceptional Circumstances 

financial support (which was subsequently withdrawn). In doing so, it considered the issue of geographical 

distance from standard Council services and the ability of farmers to use and access those services. 

 

In 2014-15, Council reduced its differential by a further 10% to 80% of the general rate, in recognition of 

the changes to relative property values, the high value of land as an input to farm operations, and in 

recognition of some lesser access to services associated with the rural isolation of the majority of the 

farming sector.  

 

The farm differential has remained unchanged in the subsequent years since 2014-15. 

  

4.5  Concessions and Rebates 

The most important rate concession available to ratepayers is the Municipal Rates Pension Concession set 

at a maximum of half the rates and charges levied on eligible pensioners. This is fully funded by the State 

Government. Eligible pensioners will also be entitled to receive a concession on their Fire Services Property 

Levy.  The total concession amounts for 16-17 were $268.30.  The 2017-18 concession amounts have not 

been released to date. 

 

There are currently no known Councils that offer a rate rebate for Health Care Cards, and Council has 

decided not to offer any further rate concessions. No additional rebate is offered to pensioners as Council is 

mindful that a concession given to one sector has to be paid for by another 

Other concessions are given to the Office of Housing (Department of Human Services) 50% of their total 

general rates (excluding the Municipal charge) on the low value rental units, for disadvantaged sectors of 

the community.  Council provides rebates for properties which are involved in Sport, Cultural & 

Recreational activities under the Culture and Recreational Rates Concession policy which was adopted with 

the 2015-16 Council Budget. 

 

4.6  Payment of Rates 
 

Rates may be paid by quarterly instalment or as a yearly lump sum payment in February. The Council also 

widely publicises the opportunity it allows for paying rates by arrangement throughout the year as it can be 

managed and encourages ratepayers who may be having difficulty to discuss payment arrangements with 

rates staff.  Council considered moving to quarterly only payment options for the 2013-14 year and again in 

2017-18, but elected to continue to offer a lump sum option in February, in consideration of the benefits 

specifically to the farm sector. 
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In accordance with the Local Government Act 1989, Council must, as far as practicable, levy all general 

rates, municipal charges, service rates and service charges which are declared in a financial year in the 

same financial year.  Council have made a determination not to claim back rates on a property. 

 

4.7  Garbage and Recycling Services 

Council provides for the collection and disposal of household garbage, as well as providing for the 

depositing of industrial and other waste to landfill. A 240 litre bin service has been in existence since before 

municipal restructure, with weekly collection using bins supplied by the Council to householders in the 

urban area, and to commercial and industrial premises on request.  The service is mandatory for all 

residential tenements in the urban areas of Horsham and Natimuk. 

From the year 2000 Council has offered a residential 240 litre bin service to rural properties where this is 

feasible, as well as to residential properties in rural townships.  The service is optional and the charge the 

same as in urban areas, although the provision cost is substantially greater due to the increased travelling 

involved in collection.  However, Council’s view is that rural dwellers should not be financially penalized to 

provide the service and that cross subsidization is justified in this case. 

In 2001 Council extended the garbage service by providing an optional 120 litre service at a reduced charge, 

with the two-fold purpose of leading to a reduction of garbage going to landfill and to encourage recycling.  

Again some cross subsidization occurs as the collection costs are not substantially less for the small bins, 

but Council believes the strategy outlined justifies this. 

Council resolved in 2002 to add a recycling bin service for residential users using distinctively coloured 

wheeled bins. Recycling bins are provided only on request.  Not all rural users have been offered the service 

as it is not practical at this stage. The cost of the residential recycling service is included in the overall 

garbage charge and in 2018-19 this has increased by approximately $30 due to national issues with 

recycling and contamination issues for the market of recyclable products in to China.  Relevant state bodies 

are working with industry to look at alternative markets and products to keep these costs down in the 

future. 

At the request of the occupiers of some commercial premises the Council agreed in 2008 to provide a 

recycling service. This chargeable service will be restricted to occupiers not using the Council’s commercial 

garbage service, for which the recycling service is at no additional cost.  
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5 RATING PRINCIPLES AND COUNCIL POLICY 

5.1 HORIZONTAL EQUITY 

Principle:  Council considers issues of horizontal equity when developing its rating strategy 

Rationale:  To ensure that people in similar economic circumstances are treated similarly 

Issues: • Levels of Government with more diverse taxing and investigative powers and resources 

struggle to achieve this and use a broad range of taxing instruments from income and 

assets tests, consumption versus income taxation etc.  It is difficult to expect a property tax 

system alone to deal practically with this issue.   

Council Policy  

Position: Council will consider (where possible) issues of horizontal equity in its rating strategy. 

 

5.2 VERTICAL EQUITY 

Principle:  Council considers issues of vertical equity when developing its rating strategy 

Rationale:  The amount of tax to be paid varies in accordance with an individual’s economic 

circumstances. 

Issues: • Economic circumstances can be very subjective, depending upon how we define and 

measure this. Similar circumstances may be judged differently based on wealth, income 

and expenditure. 

 •Information around individual economic circumstances is not freely available to Council 

Council Policy  

Position: Council will consider (where possible) issues of vertical equity in its rating strategy. 

5.3 USER PAYS PRINCIPLE 

Principle:  Council considers the “benefit” or “user pays” principle 

Rationale:  The benefit principle points to the fact that some groups may have more access to Council 

services. 

Issues: •  More use of user charges, special rates and service charges lend themselves better to 

 dealing with the issue of benefit.  

• Another issue to consider here is that of the degree of “public” good in a service. A 

public good is something where it is difficult or impractical to exclude non-payers from 

the benefit.  A user charge can be used where the benefit of a particular service can be 

mapped to an individual ratepayer.  

• A comprehensive analysis of access to services is extremely costly, complex and difficult 

to determine with many subjective judgement calls to be made.  In some ways arguing 

of the benefit principle with respect to Council rates is like trying to do the same for 

income tax that is used to fund a wide range of universally accessed services.  

It might be argued that a country ratepayer derives less benefit from library services or 

street lighting than their town counterparts but the reverse may be argued with 

respect to the cost of repairing rural roads that are seldom travelled on by the urban 

ratepayer.  

• Many services are not location specific.  

• Access is not synonymous with consumption.  

• Residents can travel or use technology to access services. 

• Services provided in different locations within the municipality have different costs e.g. 

waste collection in rural areas may be more costly than in urban areas etc.  
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• Rates are a property wealth tax based on valuation of properties and not based upon 

access to services. 

• Services are available on a “whole of life” basis i.e. different services are accessed at 

different points during a person’s life. 

Council Policy  

Position: Council will consider user pays opportunities where-ever practicable. 

5.4  CAPACITY TO PAY 

Principle:  Council considers issues of capacity to pay when developing its rating strategy 

Rationale:  Some groups may have a greater or lesser capacity to pay i.e. asset rich but income poor 

Issues: • Council does not have access to income information for  ratepayers. This would be 

necessary to assess this aspect of rating equity; however individuals may apply on hardship 

grounds to have their rates deferred or interest waived and in doing so need to provide 

Council with some of this information   

Council Policy  

Position: Council will consider (where possible) issues of capacity to pay in its rating strategy. 

 

5.5 RATE EXEMPTIONS FOR CHARITABLE AND OTHER PROPERTIES 

Principle:  Rate exempt status for specified charitable and other properties, both as required by 

legislation and under Council discretion. 

Rationale:  The Local Government Act provides for limited exemption of certain categories of 

properties from rating, Section 154 sets out what land is non-rateable.  Primarily those 

regarded as being used for charitable purposes, as well as specified types of property, such 

as those used for mining. Most Government and Council owned properties, including 

educational institutions and hospitals, are also included in non-rated categories. 

Issues: • Some degree of discretion needs to be applied when looking at some charities as they 

may often be almost commercial in nature.  

• A detailed review of non-rateable assessments is undertaken on a regular basis. 

Council Policy  

Position: Council provides exemptions in accordance with Section 154 of the Local Government Act. 

Additional to this Council applies a policy (See Section 5.21) to refund rates payable by 

charities which are conducting revenue raising activities involving second hand retail shops 

(These facilities are specifically excluded from exemption under Section 154 (4)(c)).  

 Council has made a submission to the State Government’s review of the Local Government 

Act seeking to have the exemption granted to the mining industry removed. The removal of 

this exemption has been included in the initial bill that was circulated to the community in 

early 2018. The final outcome of this will not be known until later in 2018 when and if the 

new Local Government Act passes in to legislation. 

 

5.6 FLAT MUNICIPAL CHARGE 

Principle:  A flat Municipal Charge may be levied.  

Rationale:  A fixed component of the rating structure is provided as recognition of the fact that all 

rateable properties have an obligation to contribute to the basic operations of Council i.e. 

its Administrative functions 

Issues:  • The higher the municipal charge the more regressive the tax i.e. benefits higher valued 

properties 
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 •The higher the municipal charge the greater is the benefit to farms with multiple 

assessments that are eligible for the “single farm enterprise” exemption. 

• A municipal charge may be used by a council to collect a portion of revenue not linked to 

property value but paid equally by all ratepayers  

• The charge cannot be more than 20% of total rates 

• Because the municipal charge is a fixed charge, it is regressive, meaning that as the value 

of properties decrease, the municipal charge increases as a percentage of rates paid, thus 

the total burden is reduced on higher value properties. 

 • A reduction in the level of the municipal charge would benefit lower valued properties, 

but any reduction would need to be balanced by an increase in the ad-valorem rate 

accordingly which would increase the rates on all properties across all sectors. 

• Some Council’s tie the municipal charge to specific administrative or governance costs 

and set it accordingly. 

• Council has considered the effect of lowering the level of the charge and consequently 

raising the ad-valorem rate to compensate.  

Council Policy  

Position: On the grounds of equity and transparency the Council has considered different levels of 

municipal charge and the effects on different classes of ratepayers and different valued 

properties. It has also looked at the great variation in municipal charges levied in 

neighbouring municipalities, some having no municipal charge at all. It has reviewed the 

level of administrative costs that this charge contributes towards and believes that the 

current rate does reflect a reasonable recovery of these fixed costs of Council, be it at the 

higher end of the scale across the state. 

 

Council will increase the municipal charge from the current rate of $281 for 2017-18 to 

$287 for 2018-19, in accordance with the ad-valorem rate rise, as near as practicable to the 

nearest dollar. 

 

5.7 CULTURAL AND RECREATIONAL EXEMPTIONS AND CONCESSIONS 

Principle:  Rates levied under the Cultural and Recreational Lands Act 1993 are levied at concessional 

rates of 0% and 50% of the general rate. 

Rationale:  Under the provisions of the Cultural and Recreational Lands Act 1963 most Councils levy 

rates on outdoor cultural and recreational facilities at concessional rates.  These lands must 

be occupied by a body which exists for an outdoor recreational purpose and which applies 

its profits in promoting the furthering of this purpose. The lands must be owned by the 

body or owned by the Crown or Council to be eligible.  Agricultural showgrounds are 

specifically included. Indoor bodies may be exempt as charities under Section 154 of the 

Local Government Act 1989, on the basis of providing a general community benefit. 

 Council during 2014-15 undertook a detailed review of culture and recreational 

assessments within the municipality and developed a policy to guide officers in applying 

the principles. This policy clearly defines eligibility criteria and reduces the previous 20% 

concessional rate to 0% i.e. no rates to be levied and the upper rate of 60% has been 

reduced to 50%. Council believes this recognises the role that Culture and Recreational 

groups play in the provision of services to the community. These groups do have access to 

some services in their own right but largely, themselves, are part of the cultural and 

recreational service provision within the community. This new policy reduces the rate 

burden on these groups within the community and attempts to clarify the grey areas in the 

decision process, to help provide consistency and fairness in the way in which Council 

approaches this matter. 

Issues: • The rates payable are to be determined by Councils according to the amount considered 

by them to be reasonable having regard to the services provided and the benefit to the 

community.  
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 • Council sets rates which differentiate between those which have significant fund raising 

capacity and those which do not. 

• The levels are discretionary and as a consequence have been reviewed so that the lower 

rate aligns with the full exemption that may be granted to groups under Section 154 of the 

Local Government Act. 

 • The upper rate has been reduced from 60% to 50% to provide some further concession 

to these groups in recognition of the general community benefit they provide. 

Council Policy  

Position: Rates are set at 50% (for those with significant revenue raising capacity) and 0% (for those 

with little revenue raising capacity) of the General rate. No municipal charge is made on 

these properties.  

 
5.8  VALUATION METHOD 

Principle:  Rates are levied based on property Capital Improved Values (CIV) 

Rationale:  Recognises the impact of Capital improvements and hence is more progressive taxation. 

Issues:  • Of the 79 Councils in the state 75 use CIV as the valuation method.  

• Use of CIV allows the use of differential rates 

Council Policy  

Position: Council believes that using CIV values satisfies the equity principles and allows council to 

utilize differential rates within its strategy. 

 

5.9 CLASSIFICATION OF FARMING ASSESSMENTS 

Principle:  Council uses the definition of “farm land’ as set out in the Valuation of Land Act 1960 

Rationale:  Requirement is that land be not less than 2 hectares in area and be used primarily for 

grazing, dairying and other animal raising, horticulture, or the growing of crops of any kind 

and is used by a business with a significant commercial purpose or character, which seeks 

to make a profit from those activities. The classification is made by the Council Valuer 

during biennial revaluations. 

 

Issues: • Councils with a farm differential may introduce a policy whereby only farms that meet 

additional selection criteria are eligible for the farm rate differential. 

 • Council would need to consider minimum assessment size, how to take in to account 

single farm enterprises, how to take in to account leasing arrangements, provide a process 

for exceptions following written application from the ratepayer and any other factors that 

Council may wish to consider. 

 • Costs of administering such system would be high and therefore may only be justifiable 

were the differential to be significantly increased 

 • Council in 2015-16 undertook a significant review of all farm properties under 60 hectares 

to ensure that they were engaged in a business. 60 hectares was chosen as the lower limit 

due to it being the minimum lot subdivision allowable in the farm zone of Council’s 

planning scheme.  

Council Policy  

Position: Council believes that the current policy of linking the definition of Farm Land to what is 

contained in the Valuation of Land Act is consistent with other government policies and is 

easy and low cost to administer.  Council requires further information to be provided 

regarding farm properties that are less than 60 hectares to confirm that they are in fact 

undertaking a farming enterprise. 
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5.10 SUPPLEMENTARY VALUATIONS 

Principle:  Supplementary valuations are completed during the year as required. 

Rationale:  The Valuation of Land Act allows for Councils to have its Valuer make regular inspections 

following sales in subdivisions and consolidations as well as following the construction and 

demolition of buildings so that the maximum financial benefit can be gained from 

development as it occurs in the municipality, while at the same time ensuring that rates are 

levied equitably and transparently on new and changed properties 

Issues:  • there is some discretion as to what is an appropriate level of change in value upon which 

a supplementary valuation should be made. 

Council Policy  

Position: Council has the policy to undertake supplementary valuations on a regular basis 

throughout the year, where there is a significant change to the capital improvements or 

where there is a new assessment or property consolidation required. The additional 

revenue generated during the year assists in maintaining the rate in the dollar at the lowest 

level and is both transparent and satisfies the equity principles within the rating strategy. 

 

5.11 DEFERMENTS DISCOUNTS AND/OR WAIVERS 

Principle:  Deferments, discounts and/or waivers of rates and charges are available in specific 

hardship cases  

Rationale:  Section 169, 170 & 171 of the Act allows for people in designated groups to access this i.e. 

pensioner rate discount or for individual cases of hardship  

Issues:  • Council has traditionally not granted waivers or discounts 

• Deferrals mean little lost revenue to Council and it picks up on the equity issue of capacity 

to pay, by delaying payment until assets are realised at a later date. 

Council Policy  

Position: Council has a separate and specific policy for the handling of hardship cases which allows 

deferment of all or part of rates for varying times depending on circumstances, interest 

may also be waived in hardship cases. Applicants are required to specify the hardship 

grounds, on consideration of which Council may grant a deferment, which would generally 

continue until circumstances change, the land is sold or the person dies, when the rates 

and interest deferred would be taken from the sale proceeds. Council has in the past only 

granted interest waivers for hardship. 

  

 Council administers the state government funded pensioner rebate scheme. 

 

In 2017-18 Council looked at whether a concession or rebate could be granted for Health 

Care Card holders but have not elected to do this. 

 

In relation to the Rating of Granny Flats, where a flat that is constructed on land on which 

there had previously been one dwelling only and where such flat is occupied by the elderly 

or disabled pensioner relatives of the occupier of the adjacent house, Council will waive the 

rates and charges over and above the pensioner concession granted, providing the 

pensioners make an application for such a waiver each year before rate payment is due. 
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5.12 REBATES AND CONCESSIONS 

Principle:  Rebates and Concessions may be offered for a number of reasons as defined in Section 169 

of the Act. 

Rationale:  Primarily “to assist the proper development of the municipal district” or to assist the 

preservation and /or restoration of places “of historical or environmental interest” 

Issues: • Council may offer rebates and concessions as it deems appropriate, and as established 

through clear policy direction. 

 • Council provides for the state funded pensioner rebate scheme 

 • Other rate concession considered in the past were on land with Conservation Covenants 

issued by the Trust for Nature for landowners undertaking conservation of their land, which 

has been suggested by the Trust as being appropriate and desirable.   

 • An option for a rebate or concession to be offered for relevant landholders in return for 

weed management has been discussed. However the administrative burden for such a 

scheme would be significant and outweigh the benefits. 

 • A specific rebate has been granted under an historical agreement, to provide 50% general 

rate concession (excluding the Municipal charge) on the low value rental units owned by 

the Department of Human Services. 

Council Policy  

Position:  Other concessional arrangements that are in place are covered off with specific contractual 

agreements. 

  

 Council determined in 1998 that no rate rebates or concessions would be granted to 

properties on which a conservation covenant has been executed.  Such covenants would be 

incorporated into the attributes considered by the Valuer when determining the Capital 

Improved Value of the land. 

 

5.13 DIFFERENTIAL FARM RATES 

Principle:  A differential may be offered for farming land 

Rationale:  A differential is considered appropriate for farm land under the Ministerial Guidelines for 

use of differentials, and it is a specific requirement of these Guidelines for Council to 

consider a reduced differential for this category of land use. 

 

Issues: • Whilst the Ministerial Guidelines say Council “must” consider farmland for a reduced 

differential, they also say that Dryland farming and Irrigation farm land needs to be 

“carefully considered” as to whether a differential is appropriate. 

• Can be based on a reduced access to services compared to residential properties, and this 

reduced access is not reflected in the property values.  

• In taking in to account the extent of usage of services or capacity to pay Council needs to 

satisfy itself that the situation is consistent across the majority of properties within a 

property class. 

• The extent to which relative property values may have varied between sectors may also 

be considered as an aspect that has made the rates burden inequitable for this particular 

sector 

• An excessive rate burden is applied on farmers due to their land holding having a 

significantly greater value than for other small businesses 

 • A lower valuation base encourages land use consistent with farming activities and 

conservation of areas which are suited to agricultural pursuits. 

• Agriculture producers are unable to pass on increases in costs to prices 

• Farms are seen as more susceptible or fragile than other commercial or industrial 

operations 
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• Rates are an allowable deduction for tax purposes and often include the principle place of 

residence 

Council Policy  

Position: Council will continue with a differential for the farm sector in recognition of changes to 

relative property values, the high value of land as an input to farm operations,   and in 

recognition of some lesser access to services associated with their rural isolation of the 

majority of the sector. The farm differential will remain at 80% of the General Rate, 

effective for 2018-19. 

 Council recognises the need to consider this matter in more detail later in 2018 for the 

2019-20 planning cycle. 

5.14 DIFFERENTIAL FOR RETIREMENT VILLAGES 

 
Principle:  A differential may be offered for Retirement Villages 

Rationale:  A differential is considered appropriate for Retirement Villages under the Ministerial 

Guidelines for use of differentials, and it is a specific requirement of these Guidelines for 

Council to consider a differential for this category of land use. 

 

Issues: • A lower differential for this class of properties may be considered appropriate, based on 

the reduced number of services accessed by residents of retirement villages. 

 • Savings in capital investment to council for roads, footpaths, drainage, street lighting, car 

parking and landscaping 

 • Council benefits from increased rate revenue because of the density of retirement village 

housing 

Council Policy  

Position: Council has reviewed the Retirement Villages within the Municipality and does not believe 

there is any basis on which to offer a differential. The average value of assessments within 

a Retirement Village is on the lower end of the scale and many of the services of Council 

are available to and utilised by tenants of Retirement Villages. 

 

5.15 DIFFERENTIAL FOR OTHER CLASSES OF LAND USE 
 

Principle:  A differential may be offered for range of other classes of land use under the current 

Ministerial Guidelines (See section 3 “Legislative Framework” and Appendix 2) 

Rationale:  A differential may be offered under the Ministerial Guidelines. 

 

Issues: • A higher differential for other class of properties as defined in the Guidelines may be 

argued for a number of other policy reasons of Council. 

Council Policy  

Position: Council does not consider any other differential as appropriate for any of the other listed 

categories of land use within the Ministerial Guidelines. 

 

5.16 DIFFERENTIAL FOR GEOGRAPHIC REASONS 

Principle:  A differential may be offered for definable Geographic areas 

Rationale:  A differential may be offered under the Ministerial Guidelines. 

 

Issues: • A lower differential for this class of properties may be considered appropriate based 

upon, the distance from Horsham and therefore the ability to access services. 

 • In practice this would be very difficult to measure as to where the line should be and how 

to administer. 
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 • Council has attempted to undertake some modelling work on this aspect, but in doing so 

has identified many complicating factors that would make this concept difficult to 

implement in practice. 

• In taking in to account the extent of usage of services Council needs to satisfy itself that 

the situation is consistent across the majority of properties within a property class. 

Council Policy  

Position: Whilst Council recognises the issue as being applicable to outer geographic areas of the 

Municipality the costs and inability to position and administer a suitable line on a map 

would outweigh the benefits of introducing such a differential. 

 

5.17 GARBAGE & RECYCLING SERVICES – USER PAYS 

Principle:  Garbage Services are compulsory for Natimuk and Horsham and are charged on a user pays 

principle. Recycling Services are included as part of the Garbage Services. 

Rationale:  Appropriate to have a user charge as the service can be clearly tagged to those that use it. 

The calculation is done on a cost recovery basis. Recycling is included to encourage 

recycling which helps reduce landfill costs. To charge separately may result in some people 

cancelling the service. 

Issues: • The calculation of the garbage charge is on a cost recovery basis but does not currently 

pick up on a contribution towards Council’s general administration or overhead. 

• During 2017-18 the acceptable levels of contaminants in recyclable product delivered to 

China was reduced thereby impacting the recycling market. This resulted in a cost increase 

to council of approximately $30 per recycling service. Council has passed this charge on 

though the garbage charge to those properties receiving the service, and is intending to 

provide a one-off tip voucher to partially compensate for this cost. 

Council Policy  

Position: Council will continue to charge Garbage and Recycling Service combined and on a cost 

recovery basis, with the exclusion of Council overheads. 

 

 Council will charge any increases in recycling costs only to those properties that receive a 

recycling service. 

 

 Council will provide a one-off yearly tip voucher to properties that receive the a recycling 

service. 

 

5.18 SPECIAL RATES AND CHARGES 

Principle:  Special rates and Charges may be utilised  

Rationale:  These have been utilised principally for drainage, footpaths and road schemes where the 

“benefit” to individual ratepayers can be clearly identified. 

Issues: • Greater use of Special Charges when there are clearly “special benefits” that can be 

identified would help address some of the Equity issues around the benefit principle. 

Council Policy  

Position: Council will continue to use special rates and charges wherever it believes these may be 

appropriate. 

5.19 PAYMENT OPTIONS AND INTEREST CHARGES 

Principle:  Payment options – we must offer quarterly instalments but may also offer other options 

such as a lump sum payment  
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Rationale:  Lump sum payment option has remained in February largely due to the preference by the 

farming community to pay annually at this time. Interest can be charged on overdue 

payments. 

Issues: • Farming has changed in recent years and farm incomes are now often spread differently 

across the year. 

• Compulsory quarterly payments would offer opportunities for improved efficiencies in 

how the rates department operates and better debt management and cash-flow 

management for Council and potentially ratepayers alike. 

• Quarterly payments have been modelled to show there would be minimal extra costs to 

annual payers and can still be paid in full at the time of the first instalment on 30 Sept. 

• Council has a policy for the charging of interest on late payments in accordance with the 

Local Government Act provisions and in the interests of fairness and transparency.  

• Council authorises a credit management company to take prompt action where payment 

is not made by due dates or where payment arrangements are not followed by ratepayers. 

   

Council Policy  

Position: Payment method, current offering: In person, BPay, PostBillPay, credit card. Others not 

currently offered: direct debit, online, smartphone App, etc. Council will look to expand the 

options available for payment as and when possible. 

 

Council in 2017-18 reviewed the February lump sum payment option and considered the 

benefits of moving to quarterly only payments, but did not elect to make a change at this 

point in time. This has not been reviewed in 2018-19. 

 

5.20 EARLY PAYMENT DISCOUNTS 

Principle:  Early payment discount may be offered if rates are paid early. 

Rationale:  Early payment benefits council by improvements to cashflow. 

Issues: • The question of a discount on early payment of rates has been looked at previously by 

Council. In a survey in 2003 few ratepayers indicated that they would be attracted by a 

discount.  

• The discount may be seen to benefit ratepayers in the community with greater 

cashflow 
• There is a cost to the discount itself, plus additional administrative and system costs. 

Council Policy  

Position: Council does not offer a discount for early payment. 

 

5.21 RATING OF RETAIL PREMISES OF CHARITABLE ORGANISATIONS 

Principle:  The Local Government Act provides in Section 154 (4) that any part of land used for the 

retail sale of goods cannot be regarded as used exclusively for charitable purposes and is 

thus ratable. 

Rationale:  These are commercial operations that are not charitable by nature and hence they should 

be rated. 

Issues: • These retail premises operate in order to both raise income for their charitable cause and 

also to provide a cheap source of recycled clothing which provides a social benefit to the 

community.. 

Council Policy  
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Position: For the purpose of charging rates, the Council Valuer be asked to separately value that part 

of land not rated which is occupied by a charitable organisation and used for the retail sale 

of goods so as to allow that part to be separately rated. 

Council will then make an annual Community Donation / Grant equivalent to the rates 

charged to the charitable organisations so rated in accordance with this policy. 

 

Appendix 1 

 

Extracts from the Local Government Act 1989 

 

 

APPENDIX 10.2D



 

HRCC Rates Strategy 2018-19 Page 11 

 

 

APPENDIX 10.2D



 

HRCC Rates Strategy 2018-19 Page 12 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

APPENDIX 10.2D



APPENDIX 10.2E



APPENDIX 10.2E



APPENDIX 10.2E



APPENDIX 10.2E



APPENDIX 10.2F



Category Description

2017-18 2018‐19 Increase $ Increase %

Inc GST Inc GST

Memberships Health and Wellness Startup Fee 89.00 99.00 10.00$    11.2%
Health and Wellness Startup Fee - 6 Month Commit and Save 20.00 25.00 5.00$       25.0% ** A figure that is able to be sold as an offer, otherwise it was $20.45)
Health and Wellness 40.00 40.90 0.90$       2.3%
Health and Wellness Family - Existing ONLY 32.85 33.55 0.70$       2.1%
Health and Wellness Concession 32.85 33.55 0.70$       2.1%
Health and Wellness Concession Family - Existing ONLY 24.70 25.25 0.55$       2.2%
Health and Wellness Family - 4 people - Existing ONLY 99.40 101.60 2.20$       2.2%
Health and Wellness Corporate 32.85 33.55 0.70$       2.1%

‐$        
Teen Gym 23.50 24.00 0.50$       2.1%
Joining Fee 45.45 25.00 20.45‐$    ‐45.0%
Pryme Movers 23.50 24.00 0.50$       2.1%
Joining Fee 45.45 25.00 20.45‐$    ‐45.0%

‐$        
Aquatic Startup Fee 63.00 25.00 38.00‐$    ‐60.3%
Aquatic Startup Fee- Child 30.60 25.00 5.60‐$       ‐18.3%
Aquatic 26.80 27.40 0.60$       2.2%
Aquatic Family - - Existing ONLY 21.50 21.95 0.45$       2.1%
Aquatic Concession 21.50 21.95 0.45$       2.1%
Aquatic Concession Family - - Existing ONLY 16.10 16.45 0.35$       2.2%
Aquatic Family - 4 people - Existing ONLY 64.40 65.80 1.40$       2.2%
Aquatic Corporate 21.50 21.95 0.45$       2.1%

‐$        
Rec Swim Adult Swim 5.60 5.80 0.20$       3.6%

Child/Concession Swim 4.60 4.80 0.20$       4.3%
Family Swim 10.00 10.30 0.30$       3.0%

‐$        
Swimming Lessons Swimming Lesson Membership 33.10 33.80 0.70$       2.1%

Swimming Lesson Plus Family- Existing ONLY 26.50 27.05 0.55$       2.1%
‐$        

Private Lesson (30 mins) 44.60 45.60 1.00$       2.2%
Swimming Lesson Private Lesson Family- Existing ONLY 35.60 36.60 1.00$       2.8%
Adult/Aquaguard/Pre-Club 42.70 43.60 0.90$       2.1%

‐$        
Schools - Aquatic Swimming Lesson (YMCA instructor) 30 min - per participant 4.65 4.75 0.10$       2.2%

Swimming Lesson (YMCA instructor) 45 min - per participant 6.10 6.25 0.15$       2.5%
Swimming Lesson (YMCA instructor) 60 min - per participant 7.35 7.55 0.20$       2.7%
Swimming Lesson (School instructor) - per participant 3.35 3.45 0.10$       3.0%
Swimming Lesson (YMCA instructors) - per participant 9.20 9.45 0.25$       2.7%

‐$        
Swimming Carnivals Schools - per entrance 1.70 1.75 0.05$       2.9%

Carnival Hire 170.00 100.00 70.00‐$    ‐41.2%
Swim Club (within operating hours) - per participant 3.60 3.70 0.10$       2.8%

‐$        
Facility Rental Community Studio - 1 hour 43.00 43.00 ‐$         0.0%

HORSHAM AQUATIC CENTRE FEE STRUCTURE
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Creche - 1 hour 43.00 43.00 ‐$         0.0%
Recreation Hall - 1 hour 43.00 43.00 ‐$         0.0%
Lane Hire - 1 hour 43.00 43.00 ‐$         0.0%
Any additional hours (50% off) 21.50 21.50 ‐$         0.0%

‐$        
Other Shower 3.60 3.70 0.10$       2.8%

Locker 2.00 2.00 ‐$         0.0%
‐$        

Health Club Casual Gym 15.70 16.10 0.40$       2.5%
Casual Gym conc 12.40 12.70 0.30$       2.4%
Health Consult & Program Induction 87.00 89.00 2.00$       2.3%

‐$        
Group Fitness Casual Class 15.70 16.10 0.40$       2.5%

Casual Class Concession 12.40 12.70 0.30$       2.4%
Casual Class Group Booking 12.40 12.70 0.30$       2.4%
Pryme Movers 8.20 8.40 0.20$       2.4%

‐$        
‐$        

Birthday Parties Non catered - Community Studio 15.50 15.90 0.40$       2.6%
Deposit 50.00 50.00 ‐$         0.0%

‐$        
Personal Training 1/2hr Session Individual 41.00 42.00 1.00$       2.4%

1/2hr Session 2 Person (total) 26.00 26.50 0.50$       1.9%
1/2hr Session 3 Person (total) 16.00 16.40 0.40$       2.5%

‐$        
AAA (Special School) School Instructed swim 3.20 3.30 0.10$       3.1%

HAC Instructor Swimming Lesson (1hr) 7.00 7.15 0.15$       2.1%
Gym Session instructed (30mins) 7.35 7.50 0.15$       2.1%

‐$        
AAA Group Fitness class 7.00 7.15 0.15$       2.1%

Group Swim 3.10 3.20 0.10$       3.2%
Group Gym Session 7.60 7.75 0.15$       2.0%

‐$        
Older Adults Private Group Fitness Class 8.20 8.40 0.20$       2.4%

‐$        
Creche member booking 6.20 6.40 0.20$       3.2%

non-member booking 8.10 8.30 0.20$       2.5%
member families 11.40 11.70 0.30$       2.6%
non-members families 15.20 15.60 0.40$       2.6%

Average: 2.18%
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